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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

hconaz

ek EEL L

The Board of Directors
Ciubank, N A

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of Citibank, N A and subsidiaries {the Company),
which compnise the consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consohdated
statements of income, comprehensive tncome, changes in
stockholder’s equity, and cash flows for the years then ended
and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management 1s responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with U 8 generally accepted accounting
principles, this includes the design, 1mplementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

Auditors’ Responsibility
Qur responstbility 1s to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures 1o obtatn audut
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consohidated financial statements T'he procedures selected
depend on the auditors” judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of matenial misstatement of the consohdated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to

2

the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements n order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances An audit
also includes evaluatng the approprateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentaticn of the consohdated financial statements
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion

Optmion

In our opinion, the consohdated financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all matenal respects, the financial
posttion of Citibank. N A and subsidiaries as of December 31.
2014 and 2013, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for the years then ended n accordance with U §
generally accepted accounting principles

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

We also have examined n accordance with attestation
standards established by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Company s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Comnuttee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commussion (COSO}) and our report dated March
20, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s
assertion that the Company maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting

KPMer LLP

New York New York
March 20, 2015

CITIBANK N A 2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS




CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

Years ended December 31

In nullions of dollars 2014 2013
Revenues
Interest revenue b3 47,474 % 471,728
Interest expense 8,028 9154
Net mnterest revenue 39,446 §$ 38,574
Comnussiens and fees 10,103 § 10,406
Principal transactions 4,215 5,546
Net realized gains (losses) on sales of investments 369 525
Other-than-temporary impairment losses on investments

Gross impairment losses (338) (174)

Less Impairments recognized in AOCI _ —

Net impairment losses recogmzed in eamings 3 (338) § (174
Other revenue $ 1,703 § 762
Total non-interest revenucs s 16,052 § 17,065
Total revenues, net of interest expense b3 55,498 § 55,639
Provisions for credit losses and for benefits and claims
Provision for loan losses $ 3989 § 4,817
Policyholder benefits and claims 41 61
Provision (release) for unfunded lending commitments (136) 86
Total provisions for credit losses and for benefits and claums S 3,894 § 4,964
Operating expenses
Compensation and benefiis S 14,339 § 14,188
Premises and equipment 2,157 2,230
Other operating 19,018 14,000
Total operating expenses 35,514 % 30,418
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 16,090 3 20,257
Provision for income taxes 5,639 6,193
Income from continuing operations $ 10,451 § 14,064
Discontinued operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ 17 § (84)
Gain on sale — 206
Provision (benefit} for income taxes 15 (214)
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes $ 28 336
Net income before attribution of noncentrolling nterests s 10,453 § 14,400
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interesis 104 100
Net income attributable to Citibank, N A s 10,349 § 14,300

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these Consolhidated Financial Statements

CITIBANK, N A 2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years ended December 31,

In millions of dollars 2014 2013

Net income before attribution of noncontrolling interests S 10453 § 14,400
Add Ciibank, N A ’s other comprehensive mcome (loss)

Net change 1n unrealized gains and losses on mvestment securities, net of taxes $ 1,554 § {2,380)
Net change in cash flow hedges, net of taxes 254 864
Benefit plans hability adjustment, net of taxes!” (516) 449
Net change 1n foreign currency translation adjustment, net of taxes and hedges (3,168) (1,146)
Citibank, N A ’s total other comprehensive imcome (loss) $ (1,876) § (2,213)
Total comprehensive income before attribution of noncontrolling interests h) 8,577 % 12,187
Less Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 104 100
Citibank, N A ’s comprehensive income $ 8473 § 12,087

(1) Pnmanly reflects adjustments based on the final year-end actuarial valuations of the Company s pension and postretirement plans changes i mortality
assumpttons and amoriization of amounts previously recogmzed in Orher comprehensive mcome

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these Consohdated Finangial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31,

In millions of dollars except shares and per share amounts 2014 2013
Assets
Cash and due from banks (tncleding segregated cash and other deposits) 29,182 § 26,687
Deposits with banks 121,354 156,485
Federal funds sold and secunties bomrowed or purchased under agreements 1o resell

(including $237 and $269 at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, at fair value) 62,504 68,203
Trading account assets (including $552 and $1,285 pledged to creditors at December 31, 2014 and 2013,

respectively) 168,880 150,584
Investments

Available for Sale (including $5,839 and $7,974 pledged to creditors as of December 31, 2014 and December

31, 2013, respectively) 276,602 256,783
Held to Matunity 17,238 2,719
Non-Marketable Equity Securities (including $108 and $100 at far value as of December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013 respectively) 6,520 7,073

Total Investments 300,360 $ 266,575
Loans, net of unearned income (including $4,322 and $4,607 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively,

at fair value) 587,007 600,946
Allowance for loan losses (12,255) (15,693)
Total loans, net 574,752 § 585,253
Goodwill 11,126 11,630
Intangible assets and mongage servicing rights (MSRs) (including $1,845 and $2,718 at December 31, 2014

and 201 3, respectively, at fair value, related to MSRs) 5,683 6,879
Interest and fees receivable 4,590 4,451
Other assets (including $2,593 and $2,925 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, at fair value) 78,350 79,045
Total assets 1,356,781 § 1,355,792

The following table presents certain assets of consolidated variable interest entities (VIESs), which are included 1n the

Consolidated Balance Sheet above The assets in the table below include only those assets that can be used to settle obligations of
consolidated VIEs on the following page and are 1n excess of those cbligations Additionally, the assets in the table below include
third-party assets of consolidated VIEs only, and exclude intercompany balances that eliminate in consohdation

December 31,

In millions of dollars 2014 2013
Assets of consolidated VIEs that can only be used to settle obligations of consolidated VIEs
Cash and due from banks 140 § 71
Trading account assets 450 544
[nvestments 7,027 8,441
Loans, net of unearned income

Consumer (including $0 and $910 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, at fair value) 63,808 58,717

Corporate (including 30 and $14 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, at fair value} 29,441 31,410
Loans, net of unearned income 93,249 § 90,127

Allowance for loan losses (2,643) (3,048)
Total loans, net 90,606 3 87,079
Other assets 320 721
Total assets of consolidated VIEs that can only be used to settle obligations of consolidated VIEs 98,543 3 96,856

Statement continues on the next page
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(Continued)

December 31,
In midlions of dollars except shares and per share amounts 2014 2013
Liabihties
Non-interest-bearing deposits n U S offices $ 131,079 § 131,624
Interest-bearing deposits in U S offices 324,482 319,481
Non-interest-bearing deposits 1n offices outside the U § 60,190 59,410
Interest-bearing depostis in offices outside the U § 400,011 470,326
Total deposits (including $1,684 and $1,677 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, at fair value) s 915,762 § 980,841
Trading account habilities 71,113 42,761
Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under agreements to repurchase 15,425 19,046
Short-term borrowings (including $22 and $25 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, at fair value) 31,370 39,717
Long-term debt (including $958 and $1,904 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respecuvely, at fair value) 89,358 74,451
Accrued taxes and other expenses 7.333 7,305
Other liabilities (including $1,598 and $1,823 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, at fair value) 72,396 43,376
Tatal habiities A 1,208,757 § 1,207,497

Citabank, N A stockholder’s equity
Caputal stock ($20 par value, authorized shares 41,500,000, 1ssued and outstanding shares 37,534,553

n cach year) S 751 § 751
Surplus 138,997 138,702
Retained earnings 19,635 18,236
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (12,008) (10,132)
Total Citibank, N A stockholder’s equity § 147,375 §$ 147,557
Noncontrolling interest 649 738
Total equity $ 148,024 §$ 148,295
Total hamlities and equaty s 1,356,781 § 1,355,792

The following table presents certain habihities of consohdated VIEs, which are included in the Consolidated Batance Sheet above
The habilities in the table below include third-party habilities of consolhidated VIEs only and exclude intercompany balances that
eliminate 1n consolidation The hiabilities also exclude amounts where creditors or beneficial interest holders have recourse to the
general credit of Citibank, N A

December 31,

in milirons of dollars 2014 2013
Liabilities of consolidated VIEs for which creditors or beneficaal interest holders

do not have recourse to the general credit of Catibank, N A
Short-term borrowings ] 20,494 § 22,050
Long-term debt (including $0 and $909 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, at fair value) 38,088 34,553
Other halitzes 488 574
Total hiabilities of consohidated VIEs for which creditors or beneficial interest holders do not

have recourse to the general credit of Citibank, N A s 59,070 $ 57,177

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY

Years ended December 31

In midhons of dollars except shares 2014 2013
Common stock ($20 par value)

Balance, beginning of year—shares 37,534,553 1n 2014 and 2013 $ 751 3 751
Balance, end of year—shares 37,534,553 1n 2014 and 2013 $ 751 § 751
Surplus

Balance, beginning of year b 138,702 § 138,521
Capital contnbution from parent company 1 200
Employee benefit plans 65 122
Unearned compensation 19 (95)
Other — (46}
Balance, end of year $ 138,997 § 138,702
Retained earnings

Balance, beginning of year s 18,236 $ 16,161
Citibank, N A ’s net income 10,349 14,300
Dividends paid 1o parent company (8,900) (12,200)
Mark-to-market on stock options (36) (2%)
Other ! 36 _
Balance, end of year s 19,635 § 18,236
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance, beginning of year b3 (10,13) § (7,.919)
Net change 1n Citibank, N A ’s Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (1,876) (2,213)
Balance, end of year s (12,008) $ (10,132}
Total Citibank, N A stockholder’s equity $ 147,375 § 147,557
Noncontrolling interest

Balance, beginning of year ) 738 % 734
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest shareholders 104 100
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interest shareholders (90) (63)
Net change in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (106) an
All other 3 (16)
Net change in noncontrolling interests ) (895 4
Balance, end of year s 649 § 738
Total equity s 148,024 § 148,295

(1) Credit relases 10 the merger of Citicorp Data Systems, Inc into Citicorp Credit Services, Inc (USA)

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an imtegral part of these Conselidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31,

In muthons of dollars 2014 2013
Cash flows from operating activities of continuing operations
Net income before attribution of noncontrolling interests s 10,453 §$ 14,400
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 104 100
Cititbank’s net Income s 10,349 § 14,300
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes 2 Il
Gamn on sale of discontinued operations, net of taxes — 325
Income from continuing operations—excluding noncontrolling imterests s 10,347 § 13,964
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used 1n
operating activities of continuing operatigns—excluding noncontrolling interests
Depreciation and amortization ) 2,280 § 2,130
Deferred tax expense 2,684 3,753
Provision for loan losses 3,989 4,817
Realized gains from sales of investments (369) (525)
Net impatrment losses recogruzed in earnings 338 174
Change n trading account assets (18,296) 24 807
Change in trading account liabiliues 28,352 (11,817)
Change n loans held-for-sale (1,638) 4,833
Change n other assets (461) (1,072)
Change n other liabilities 8415 (385)
Other, net 4,847 2,171
Total adjustments h] 30,141 § 28,886
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations—excluding
noncontrolhing interests 3 40,488 3 42,850
Cash flows from 1nvesting activities of continuing operations
Change m deposits with banks $ 35,131 § (68,131)
Change 1n federal funds sold and secunties borrowed
or purchased under agreements to resell 5,699 605
Change 1n loans (2,144) (34,107
Proceeds from sales and secuntizations of loans 4,599 8,983
Change in investments, net (33,754) 3,266
Caputal expenditures on premises and equipment and capitalized sofiware (1,882) (2,037
Proceeds from sales of premises and equipment, subsidiaries and affiliates,
and repossessed assets 380 402
Net cash provided by (used 1n) investing actnities of continuing operations b} 8,029 § (91,019)
Cash flows from financing activities of confinuing operations
[1vidends paid $ (8,900) § (12,200)
Capital contributions from parent company 211 200
Change 1n federal funds purchased and secunities loaned
or sold under agreements to repurchase (3.621) (1,204)
Change 1n long-term debt, net 15,771 12,374
Change 1n deposits (44,474) 39,656
Change n short-term botrowings (2,837) 4,695
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities of continuing operations s (43,850 § 43,521
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents s 2,172) § (1,479
Net cash used i discontinued operations S — 3 (10)
Change in cash and due from banks s 2,495 § {6,137)
Cash and due from banks at begmning of year 26,687 32,824
Cash and due from banks at end of year < 29,182 § 26,687

Statement continues on the next page
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Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information for continung operations

Cash paid during the penod for income taxes 3,934 § 3,404
Cash paid during the pertod for interest 7,546 8,139
Non-cash investing activities

Change 1n loans due to consolidation/deconsolidation of VIEs (3714) 8 6,718
Transfers to loans held-for-sale from loans 12,400 16,200
Transfers to OREQ and other repossessed assets 218 190
Non-cash financing activities

Decrease in deposits associated with reclassification to HFS (20,605) § —
Increase n short-term borrowings due to conselidation of VIEs 500 6,718
Decrease n long-term debt due to deconsohdation of VIEs (864) —

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these Consohdated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 ORGANIZATION

Citibank, N A (together with uis consolidated subsidiaries,
Citibank or the Company) ts a direct wholly owned subsidiary
of Citicorp which 15 a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of
Citigroup Inc, a Delaware corporation and a financial holding
company under the Bank Holding Company Act (Citigroup
and its consolidated subsidianies 1s referred to herein as

Citigroup”) Citibank was originally orgamized on June 16,
1812 and 1s currently a national banking association
organized under the National Bank Act of 1864 Citibank s
principal offerings include consumer finance credit cards,
mortgage lending and retasl banking products and services,
investment banking, commercial banking cash management,
trade finance and e-commerce products and services, and
private banking products and services

At December 31, 2014 Ciibank had 863 U S branches
within 13 states and the District of Columbia and 874 non-

U S branches in 56 countries and territories (including
branches of subsidiaries in certain countries around the world)

Sigmificant Ciugroup legal entities that are not a part of
Citibank include Banco Nacional de Mexico (Banamex),
OneMain Financial (North American consumer finance
business) and primary broker-dealer subsidiaries including
Citigroup Global Markets Inc (CGMTI) and Citigroup Global
Markets Lamuted (CGML)

The Company 1s subject to regulation and examination
primarily by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
(OCC) and also by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(FDIC) and the Federal Reserve Board (FRB) The foreign
branches, representative offices and subsidiaries of Citibank
are subject to regulation and examination by their respective
country’s financial regulators as weli as by the OCC and the
FRB

These consolidated financial statements and Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 1n
the United States (GAAP)

Certain reclassifications have been made to the pnior
penod s financial statements and notes to conform to the
current period’s presentation  These include presentation
changes on the Consolidated Balance Sheet associated with
related party transactions

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through
March 20 2015, which 1s the date its Consolidated Financial
Statements were 1ssued

Additional information about Cittbank and Citigroup 1s
available in Citigroup s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
vear ended December 31 2014. filed with the U § Secunities
and Exchange Commussion on February 25 2015

CITIBANK, N A 2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Principles of Consohdation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts
of Citibank and 1ts subsidiaries prepared in accordance with
GAAP The Company consolidates subsidiaries in which it
holds, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the voting
rights or where 1t exercises control Entities where the
Company holds 20% to 50% of the voung rights and/or has
the abtlity to exercise significant influence, other than
investments of designated venlure capital subsidiaries or
mvestments accounted for at fair value under the fair value
option, arc accounted for under the equity method and the
pro rata share of their income (loss) 1s included in Other
revenue Income from investments 1n less than 20%-owned
companies 15 recogmzed when dividends are received As
discussed 1in more detail 1n Note 19 to the Consolidated
Finanaial Statements, Cittbank consolidates entities deemed
1o be vanable interest entities when Citibank 1s determuned
10 be the primary beneficiary Gains and losses on the
disposiuon of branches, subsidiaries affihates, buildings
and other investments are included in Gther revenue

Variable Interest Entities

An entity 1s referred to as a vanable interest entity (VIE) 1f it
meets the critenia outhned 1n Accounting Standards
Codification {ASC) Topic 810. Consolidation, which are (1)
the cntuity has equity that 1s insufficient to permut the entity to
finance 1ts activities without additional subordinated
financial support from other parties, or (n) the entity has
equity investors that cannot make significant decisions about
the entity s operations or that do not absorb their
proportionate share of the entity s expected losses or
expected returns

The Company consolidates a VIE when 1t has both the
power to direct the acuivities that most stgmificantly impact
the VIE's economic performance and a right to receive
benefits or the obligation to absorb losses of the entity that
could be potentially significant to the VIE (that 15, Citibank
ts the primary beneficiary}

In addition to vanable interests held in consolidated
VIEs, the Company has variable mterests 1n other VIEs that
are not conschidated because the Company 1s not the primary
beneficiary These include multi-seller finance companies
certain collateralized debt obligations (CDOs), many
structured finance transactions and various investment funds
However, these VIEs and all other unconsolidated VIEs are
monitored by the Company to assess whether any events
have occurred lo cause 1ts pnmary beneficiary status to
change These events include

= purchases or sales of variable interests by Citibank or an
unrelated third party which cause Citibank s overall
vanable interest ownership to change,

« changes in contractual arrangements that reallocate
expected losses and restdual returns among the vanable
interest holders,

* changes in the party that has power to direct the
activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the
entity’s economic performance, and

»  providing financial support to an entity that results in an
implicit variable interest

All other entities not deemed 1o be VIEs with which the
Company has invelvement are evaluated for consohdation
under other subtopics of ASC 810

Foreign Currency Translation
Assets and lrabilities of Citibank’s foreign operations are
translated from their respective functional currencies into
U S dollars using period-end spot foreign-eaxchange rates
The effects of those translation adjustments are reported in
Accumulated other comprehensive tncome (loss}, a
component of stockholder's equity along with any related
hedge and tax eftects until realized upon sale or substantial
hquidation of the foreign operation Revenues and expenses
of Citibank s foreign operations are translated monthly from
their respective functional currencies into U 8 dollars at
amounts that approaimate weighted average exchange rates
For transactions whose terms are denominated in a
currency other than the functonal currency including
transactions denominated 1n the local currencies of foreign
operaticns with the U § dollar as their functional currency,
the effects of changes in exchange rates are primanily
included in Principal transactions, along with the related
effects of any economic hedges Instruments used to hedge
foreign currency exposures include foreign currency
forward, option and swap contracts and 1n certain instances,
designated 1ssues of non-U § dollar debt Foreign operations
n countries with highly inflationary economies designate the
U S dollar as their functional currency with the effects of
changes i exchange rates primanly included 1n Other
revenue

Investment Securities
Investments include fixed income and equity securities
FNxed income instruments include bonds notes and
redeemable preferred stocks as well as certain loan-backed
and structured securities that are subject to prepayment risk
Equity securities include common and nonredeemable
preferred stock

Investment securities are classified and accounted for as
follows

+  Fixed income securities classified as  held-to-maturity
are securities that the Company has both the ability and
the intent to hold unul matunty and are camed at
amortized cost Interest income on such securities 1s
included in Interest revenue

»  Fixed income securities and marketable equity securities
classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value
with changes in fair value reported in Accumdated
other comprehensive mcome (loss), a component of
Stockholder's equity net of applicable income taxes and
hedges Realized gains and losses on sales are included
i income primarily on a specific identification cost
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basts Interest and dividend income on such securities 1s
included in Interest revenue

»  Cerlain investments in non-marketable equity securities
and certain investments that would otherwise have been
accounted for using the equity method are carried at fair
value, since the Company has elected to apply fair value
accounting Changes in fair value of such investments
are recorded 1n earnings

*  Certain non-marketable equity securities are camied at
cost and are pertodically assessed for other-than-
temporary impairment as described in Note 12 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements

For investments n fixed income securities classified as
held-to-maturty or available-for-sale the accrual of interest
income 1s suspended for investments that are 1n default or for
which 1t 1s likely that future interest payments will not be
made as scheduled

Investment securities are subject to evaluation for other-
than-temporary impairment as described 1in Note 12 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Company uses a number of valuation techmques for
investments carried at fair value, which are described in
Note 22 to the Consohdated Financial Statements Realized
gains and losses on sales of investments are included in
earnings

Tradmg Account Assets and Liabilities

Trading account assets include debt and marketable equity
securities, derivatives in a recetvable position, residual
interests in securitizations and physical commeodities
inventory [n addition, as described 1n Note 23 to the
Conschdated Financial Statements certain assets that
Citibank has elected to carry at fair value under the fair value
option, such as loans and purchased guarantees are also
included in Trading account assets

Trading account liabilites include securities sold. not
yet purchased (short positions) and derivatives in a net
payable position as well as certain habilities that Citibank
has elected to carry at fair value (as described 1in Note 23 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements)

Other than physical commodities inventory, all trading
account assets and habthities are carried at fair value
Revenues generated from trading assets and trading
ltabilities are generally reported 1n Principal transactions
and include realized gains and losses as well as unrealized
gains and losses resulting fram changes in the fair value of
such instruments Interest income on trading assets 1s
recorded in Interest revenue reduced by interest expense on
trading habilities

Physical commodities inventory 1s carried at the lower
of cost or market with related losses reported in Principal
transactions Realized gains and losses on sales of
commodities tnventory are included in Principal
transactions Invesiments in unallocated precious metals
accounts (gold, silver platinum and palladium) are
accounted for as hybrid instruments containing a debt host
contract and an embedded non-financial derivative
instrument indexed to the price of the relevant precious
metal The embedded derivative instrument 1s separated
from the debt host contract and accounted for at fair value
The debt host contract 15 accounted for at fair value under
the fair value option, as described 1in Note 23 to the
Consolidated Finaneiat Statements

Dervatives used for trading purposes include interest
rate currency, equity, credit and commodity swap
agreements, options caps and floors warrants and financial
and commodity futures and forward contracts Denvative
asset and liability positions are presented net by counterparty
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet when a valid master
netting agreement exists and the other conditions set out in
ASC 210-20, Balance Sheet—QOffsetning, are met See Note
20 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Company uses a number of techniques to determine
the fair value of trading assets and liabiliies, which are
described 1n Note 22 to the Consolhidated Financial
Statements
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Securities Borrowed and Securities Loaned
Seccurities borrowing and lending transactions generally do
not constitute a sale of the underlying securities for
accounting purposes and are treated as collateralized
financing transactions Such transactions are recorded at the
amount of proceeds advanced or recerved pius accrued
interest As described in Note 23 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. the Company has elected to apply fair
value accounting to a number of securities borrowing and
lending transactions Fees paid or recerved for all securities
lending and borrowing transactions are recorded in Interest
expense or Inrerest revenue at the contractually speecified
rate

The Company monitors the fair value of securities
borrowed or loaned on a daily basis and obtains or posts
additional collateral in order to maintain contractual margtn
protection

As described 1n Note 22 to the Consohdated Financial
Statements, the Company uses a discounted cash flow
technique to determine the fair vatue of securities lending
and borrowing transactions

Repurchase and Resale Agreements
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase (repos) and
securities purchased under agreements to resell (reverse
repos) generally do not constitute a sale of the underlying
securities for accounting purposes and are treated as
collateralized financing transactions As described in Note
23 1o the Consohidated Financial Statements, the Company
has elected to apply fair value accounting to the majority of
such transactions, with changes i farr value reported 1n
earnings Any transactions for which fair value accounung
has not been elected are recorded at the amount of cash
advanced or recerved plus accrued interest Irrespective of
whether the Company has elected fair value accounting,
interest paid or recerved on all repo and reverse repo
transactions i1s recorded in [nferest expense or Interest
revenue at the contractually specified rate

Where the conditions of ASC 210-20-45-11, Balance
Sheer-Offsetting Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase
Agreements, are met, repos and reverse repos are presented
net on the Consclidated Balance Sheet

The Company’s policy 1s to take possession of securities
purchased under reverse repurchase agreements The
Company monitors the fair value of securities subject to
repurchase or resale on a daily basis and obtains or posts
additional collateral in order to maintain contractual margin
protection

As described 1n Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Company uses a discounted cash flow
technique to determine the fair value of repo and reverse
repo transactions

Loans

Loans are reported at thew outstanding principal balances net
of any unearned income and unamortized deferred fees and
costs except that credit card receivable balances also include
accrued interest and fees Loan origination fees and certain
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direct origination costs are generally deferred and recognized ‘
as adjustments to income over the hives of the related loans

As described tn Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Citibank has elected fair value accounting for
certain loans Such loans are carned at fair value with
changes in fair value reported 1n earnings Interest income on
such loans 1s recorded in [nferest revernue at the contractually
specified rate

Loans for which the fair value option has not been
elected are classified upon origination or acquisition as
either held-for-investment or held-for-sale This
classification 1s based on management s iutial intent and
ability with regard to those loans

Loans that are held-for-investment are classified as
Loans, net of unearned income on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet, and the related cash flows are included within the
cash flows from investing activities category in the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on the line Change in
loans However when the initial intent for holding a loan has
changed from held-for-investment to held-for-sale, the loan
15 reclassified to held-for-sale, but the related cash flows
continue to be reporied in cash flows from nvesting
activities in the Consohdated Statement of Cash Flows on
the line Proceeds from sales and securiizations of loans !

Consumer loans
Consumer loans represent loans and leases managed
primarily by the Company's Consumer Businesses

Consumer non-accrual and re-aging policies
As a general rule, interest accrual ceases for installment and
real estate (both open- and closed-end) loans when payments
are 90 days contractually past due For credit cards and other
unsecured revolving loans however, Citibank generally
accrues interest until payments are 180 days past due Asa
result of QCC guidance, home equity loans are classified as |
non-accrual 1f the related residential first mortgage 1s 90 \
days or more past due Also as a result of OCC guidance, }
morigage loans discharged through Chapter 7 bankrupicy |
other than FHA-wnsured loans are classified as non-accrual
Commercial market loans are placed on a cash (non-accrual)
basis when 1t 1s determuined, based on actual experience and a
forward-looking assessment of the collectabihity of the loan
in full that the payment of interest or principal 15 doubtful or
when nterest or principal 1s 90 days past due
Loans that have been modified to grant a concession to a
borrower in financial difficulty may not be accruing interest
at the time of the modification The policy for returning such
modified loans to accrual status varies by product and/or
region Modified loans are returned to accrual status 1f a
credit evaluation at the time of or subsequent to, the
modification indicates the borrower 1s able to meet the
restructured terms, and the borrower 1s current and has
demonstrated a reasonable perod of sustained payment
performance (minimumn six months of consecutive :
payments) !
For U S consumer loans, generally one of the
conditions to qualify for modification (s that a mimimum
number of payments (typically ranging from one to three)
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must be made Upon modification the loan 1s re-aged 1o
current status However re-aging practices for certain open-
ended consumer loans such as credit cards, are governed by
Federal Financial Insututions Examination Council (FFIEC)
guidelines For open-ended consumer loans subject to FFIEC
guidelines, one of the conditions for the loan to be re-aged to
current status 15 that at least three consecutive minimum
monthly payments or the equivalent amount must be
received In addition. under FFIEC guidelines, the number of
times that such a loan can be re-aged 15 subject to hmitations
(generally once 1in 12 months and twice in five years)
Furthermore, Federal Housing Administration (FHA) and
Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) loans may only be
modified under those respective agencies guidelines and
payments are not always required (n order to re-age a
modified loan to current

Consumer charge-off polictes
Citibank’s charge-off policies follow the general guidelines
below

»  Unsecured installment loans are charged off at 120 days
contractually past due

*  Unsecured revolving loans and credit card loans are
charged off at 180 days contractually past due

*  Loans secured with non-real estate collateral are written
down to the estimated value of the collateral, less costs
to sell, at 120 days contractually past due

*  Real estate-secured loans are written down to the
estrnated value of the property. less costs to sell, at 180
days contractually past due

«  Real estate-secured loans are charged off no later than
180 days contractually past due if a decision has been
made not to foreclose on the loans

+  Unsecured loans 1n bankruptcy are charged off within
60 days of notification of filing by the bankruptcy court
or in accordance with Citibank’s charge-off policy,
whichever occurs earlier

»  Consistent with OCC guidance, real estate-secured loans
that were discharged through Chapter 7 bankruptey
other than FHA-insured loans, are written down to the
estimated value of the property. less costs to sell Other
real estate-secured loans in bankruptcy are written down
to the estimated value of the property less costs to sell,
at the later of 60 days after notification or 60 days
contractually past due

»  Commercial market loans are written down to the extent
that principal 1s judged to be uncollectable

Corporate loans

Corporate loans represent loans and leases managed by the
Company's Corporate Banking Businesses Corporate loans
are 1dentified as impaired and placed on a cash (non-accrual)
basis when 1t 15 determined, based on actual experience and a
forward-looking assessment of the collectability of the loan
i full that the payment of interest or principal 1s doubtful or
when interest or principal 1s 90 days past due except when
the loan 1s well collateralized and in the process of
collection Any interest accrued on impatred corporate loans
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and leases 1s reversed at 90 days and charged against current
earnings, and interest 1s thereafter included 1n earnings only
to the extent actually recetved in cash When there 15 doubt
regarding the ulumate collectability of principal all cash
receipts are thereafter applied to reduce the recorded
investment in the loan

Impaired corporate loans and leases are written down to
the extent that principal 1s deemed to be uncollectable
Impaired collateral-dependent loans and leases, where
repayment 1s expected 1o be provided solely by the sale of
the underlying collateral and there are no other available and
reliable sources of repayment are written down to the lower
of cost or collateral value Cash-basis loans are returned to
accrual status when all contractual principal and interest
amounts are reasonably assured of repayment and there is a
sustained period of repayment performance 1n accordance
with the contractual terms

Loans Held-for-Sale

Corporate and consumer loans that have been 1dentified for
sale are classified as loans held-for-sale and included in
Other assets The practice of Citibank’s U § prime mortgage
business has been to sell substantially all of its conforming
loans As such, U 8 prime mortgage conforming loans are
classified as held-for-sale and the fair value option 15 elected
at origination with changes in fair value recorded in Other
revenue With the exception of those loans for which the fair
value option has been elected held-for-sale loans are
accounted for at the lower of cost or market value, with any
write-downs or subsequent recoveries charged to Other
revenue The related cash flows are classified in the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in the cash flows
from operating activities category on the line Change in
loans held-for-sale

Allowance for Loan Losses

Allowance for loan losses represents management s best
estimate of probable losses inherent in the portfolio,
wcluding probable losses related to large individually
evaluated impaired loans and troubled debt restructurings
Attribution of the allowance 1s made for analytical purposes
only. and the entire allowance 1s available to absorb probable
loan losses inherent in the overall portfolio Additions to the
allowance are made through the Provision for loan losses
Loan losses are deducted from the allowance and subsequent
recoveries are added Assets recerved 1 exchange for loan
claims 1n a restructuring are inttially recorded at fair value
with any gain or loss reflected as a recovery or charge-off to
the provision

Consumer loans

For consumer loans each portfolio of non-modified smaller-
balance homogeneous loans 1s independently evaluated by
product type (e g . residential mortgage, credit card, ete ) for
impairment 1n accordance with ASC 450 Contingencies
{formerly SFAS 5) The allowance for loan losses attributed
to these loans Is established via a process that estmates the
probable losses inherent in the specific portfohe This
process includes migration analysis 1n which historical

CITIBANK, N A 2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS




delinquency and credit loss experience 1s applied to the
current aging of the portfolio, together with analyses that
reflect current and anticipated economitc conditions
tncluding changes 1n housing prices and unemployment
trends Citibank’s allowance for loan losses under ASC 450
only constders contractual principal amounts due, except for
credit card loans where estimated loss amounts related to
accrued interest receivable are also included

Management also considers overall portfolio indicators,
including historical credit Josses delinquent non-performing
and classified loans trends in volumes and terms of loans an
evaluation of overall credit quality, the credit process,
including lending policics and procedures, and economic,
geographical, product and other environmental factors

Separate valuation allowances are determined for
impaired smaller-balance homogeneous loans whose terms
have been modified in a troubled debt restructuring (TDR)
Long-term modification programs, as well as short-term
(less than 12 months) modifications originated since January
1, 2011 that provide concessions (such as interest rate
reductions) to borrowers in financial difficulty, are reported
as TDRs In addiien loan modifications that involve a trial
period are reported as TDRs at the start of the tnal penod
The allowance for loan losses for TDRs 1s determined
accordance with ASC 310-10-35 Recervables—Subsequent
Measurement (formerly SFAS 114) considering all available
evidence including as appropriate, the present value of the
expected future cash flows discounted at the loan s original
contractual effective rate, the secondary market value of the
loan and the fair value of collateral less disposal costs These
expected cash flows incorporate modification program
default rate assumptions The ongwnal contractual effective
rate for credit card loans 1s the pre-modification rate, which
may include interest rate increases under the original
contractual agreement with the borrower

Valuation allowances for commercial market loans,
which are classifiably managed Consumer loans, are
determined in the same manner as for Corporate loans and
are described in more detail in the following section
Generally, an asset-specific component 1s calculated under
ASC 310-10-35 on an individual basis for larger-balance,
non-homogencous loans that are considered imparired and the
allowance for the rematnder of the classifiably managed
Consumer loan portfolio 1s calculated under ASC 450 using
a statistical methodology that may be supplemented by
management adjustment

Corporate loans

In the corporate portfolios the Aflowance for loan losses
includes an asset-specific component and a statistically
based component The asset-specific component 15
calculated under ASC 310-10-35, on an individual basis for
larger-balance non-homogeneous loans, which are
considered impaired An asset-specific allowance s
established when the discounted cash flows, collateral value
(less disposal costs) or observable market price of the
impaired loan are lower than 1ts carrying value This
allowance considers the borrower s overall financial
condition resources, and payment record, the prospects for
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support from any financially responsible guarantors
(discussed further below) and, 1f appropriate, the realizable
value of any collateral The asset-specific component of the
allowance for smaller balance impaired loans 1s calculated
on a pool basis considening historical loss experience

The allowance for the remainder of the loan portfolio 1s
determined under ASC 450, using a statisical methodology,
supplemented by management judgment The statistical
analysis considers the portfolio’s size, remaining tenor and
credit quality as measured by internal risk ratings assigned to
individual credut facihities, which reflect probability of
default and loss given default The statistical analysis
considers historical default rates and historical loss severity
in the event of default, including historical average levels
and historical vaniability The result 15 an estimated range for
inherent losses The best estimate within the range 1s then
determined by management s quantitative and quahtative
assessment of current conditions, including general
economic conditions specific industry and geographic
trends, and internal factors including portiolio
concentrations, trends 1n internal credit quality indicators,
and current and past underwnting standards

For both the asset-specific and the statistically based
components of the Alfowance for loan losses management
may incorporate guarantor support The financial
wherewithal of the guarantor 1s evaluated as apphicable,
based on net worth cash flow statements and personal or
company financial statements which are updated and
reviewed at least annually Citibank seeks performance on
guarantee arrangements 1n the normal course of business
Seeking performance entails obtaining satisfactory
cooperation from the guarantor or borrower n the specific
situation This regular cooperation 1s indicative of pursuit
and successful enforcement of the guarantee, the exposure 15
reduced without the expense and burden of pursuing a legal
remedy A guarantor s reputation and wilhngness to work
with Citibank 15 evaluated based on the historical experience
with the guarantor and the knowledge of the marketplace In
the rare event that the guarantor 1s unwilling or unable to
perform or facihtate borrower cooperation, Citibank pursues
a legal remedy, however, enforcing a guarantee via legal
action against the guarantor 1s not the primary means of
resolving a troubled loan situation and rarely occurs If
Citibank does not pursue a legal remedy, 1t 1s because
Citibank does not believe that the guarantor has the financial
wherewithal to perform regardless of legal action or because
there are legal limitations on simultanecusly pursuing
guarantors and forectosure A guarantor’s reputation does not
impact Citibank’s deciston or ability to seek performance
under the guarantee

In cases where a guarantee 1s a factor in the assessment
of loan losses, 1t 15 included via adjustment to the loan s
internal nsk rating. which in turn 1s the basis for the
adjustment to the statistically based component of the
Allowance for loan losses To date, 1t 1s only 1n rare
circumstances that an impaired commercial loan or
commercial real estate loan 1s carried at a value 1n excess of
the appraised value due to a guarantee
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When Citibank s monitoring of the loan indicates that
the guarantor’s wherewithal to pay Is uncertain or has
deteriorated, there 15 either no change in the nsk rating,
because the guarantor s credit support was never intially
factored 1n or the risk rating 1s adjusted to reflect that
uncertainty or deterioration Accordingly, a guarantor s
ultimate failure to perform or a lack of legal enforcement of
the guarantee does not materially impact the atlowance for
loan losses as there 1s typically no further significant
adjustment of the loan s risk rating at that time Where
Citibank 15 not seeking performance under the guarantee
contract, 1t provides for loan losses as 1f the loans were non-
performing and not guaranteed

Reserve Esthnates and Policies
Management provides reserves for an estimate of probable
losses inherent 1n the funded loan portfolio on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet 1n the form of an allowance for
loan losses These reserves are established 1n accordance
with Cittbank’s credit reserve policies, as approved by the
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors Citibank s Chief
Risk Officer and Chief Financial Officer review the
adequacy of the credit loss reserves each quarter with
representatives from the risk management and finance staffs
for each applicable business area Applicable business areas
include those having classifiably managed portfolios where
internal credit-risk ratings are assigned or modified
Consumer loans, where concessions were granted due to the
borrowers financial difficulties

The above-mentioned representatives for these business
areas present recommended reserve balances for their funded
and unfunded lending portfolios along with supporting
quantitative and qualitative data discussed below

Estimated probable losses for non-performing, non-
homogeneous exposures within a business Iine s classifiably
managed porifoho and 1mpaned smaller-balance
homogeneous loans whose terms have been modified due 1o
the borrowers’ financial difficulties, where it was deternmned
that a concession was granted to the borrower

Consideration may be given to the following as appropnate
when determining this estimate (1) the present value of
expected future cash flows discounted at the loan s oniginal
effective rate, (1) the borrower’s overall financial condition.
resources and payment record, and (wu) the prospects for
support from financially responsible guarantors or the
realtzable value of any collateral En the determination of the
allowance for loan losses for TDRs. management considers a
combination of historical re-default rates, the current
economic environment and the nature of the modification
program when forecasting expected cash flows When
impairment 1s measured based on the present value of
expected future cash flows, the entire change in present
value 15 recorded in the Prowvision for loan losses

Statistically calculated losses 1nherent in the classifiably
managed por tfolio for performing and de mininus non-
perforning exposures The calculation 1s based on (1)
Citibank's internal system of credit-risk ratings which are
analogous to the risk ratings of the major rating agencies,
and (1) hustorical default and loss data including rating
agency information regarding default rates from 1983 to
2013 and internal data dating to the early 1970s on severity
of losses 1n the event of default Adjustments may be made
to this data Such adjustments include (1) staustically
calculated estimates to cover the historical fluctuation of the
default rates over the credit cycle. the historical variability of
loss severity among defaulted loans and the degree to which
there are large obligor concentrations 1n the global portfolio,
and (11} adjustments made for specific known items such as
current environmental factors and credit trends

In addition, representatives from each of the risk
management and finance staffs that cover business areas
with delinquency-managed portfolios contaiming smaller-
balance homogeneous loans present thetr recommended
reserve balances based on leading credit indicators,
including loan delinquencies and changes in portfolio size as
well as economic trends. including current and future
housing prices, unemployment, length of time 1n foreclosure
costs to sell and GDP This methodology 1s applied
separately for each individual product within each
geographic regien 1n which these portfohios exist

This evaluation process 1s subject to numerous estimates
and judgments The frequency of default nsk ratings, loss
recovery rates. the size and diversity of individual large
credits, and the ability of borrowers with foreign currency
obligations to obtain the foreign currency necessary for
orderly debt servicing among other things are all taken into
account during this review Changes n these estimates could
have a direct impact on the credit costs 1n any period and
could result in a change 1n the allowance

Allowance for Unfunded Lending Commuments

A similar approach to the allowance for loan losses 1s used
for calculating a reserve for the expected losses refated to
unfunded lending commitments and standby letters of credit
This reserve s classified on the balance sheet in Other
habidities Changes to the allowance for unfunded lending
commitments are recorded in the Provision for unfunded
lending commutments

Mortgage Servicing Rights
Mortgage servicing rights (MSRs) are recognized as
intangible assets when purchased or when the Company sells
or secuntizes loans acquired through purchase or ongination
and retains the right to service the loans Mortgage servicing
rights are accounted for at fair value, with changes n value
recorded in Other revenue 1in the Company s Consolidated
Statement of Income

Additional information on the Company s MSRs can be
found 1n Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Citibank Residential Mortgages—Representations and
Warranties

in connection with Cittbank’s sales of residential mortgage
loans to the U § government-sponsored entities (GSEs) and
private investors, as well as through private-label
securnitizations, Citibank typically makes representations and
warranties that the loans sold meet certain requirements,
such as the loan s compliance with any applicable loan
criteria established by the buyer and the vahdity of the lien
securing the loan The specific representations and
warranties made by Ciubank 1n any particular transaction
depend on, among other things, the nature of the transaction
and the requirements of the investor

These sales expose Crtibank to potential claims for
alleged breaches of its representations and warranties In the
event of a breach of its representations and warranties,
Citibank could be required either to repurchase the mortgage
loans with the identified defects (generally at unpaid
principal balance plus accrued interest) or to indemnify
{make-whole} the investors for their losses on these loans

Citibank has recorded a repurchase reserve for its
potential repurchase or make-whole hability regarding
residential mortgage representation and warranty claims
Beginming in 2013, Citibank has considered private-label
residential mortgage securitization representatton and
warranty claims as part of its litigatton accrual analysis and
not as part of 1ts repurchase reserve Accordingly Citibank s
repurchase reserve has been recorded for purposes of its
potential representation and warranty repurchase liability
resulting from 1ts whole loan sales to the GSEs and, to a
lesser extent private investors

In the case of a repurchase. Ciibank will bear any
subsequent credit loss on the mortgage loan and the loan 1s
typically considered a credit-imparred 1oan and accounted
for under AICPA Statement of Position (SOP) 03-3,
*Accounting for Certain Loans and Debt Securities Acquired
in a Transfer * (now incorporated into ASC 310-30,
Receivables-Loans and Debt Securittes Acquired with
Deteriorated Credit Quality) (SOP 03-3)

In the case of a repurchase of a credit-impaired SOP
03-3 loan, the difference between the loan s fair value and
unpaid principal balance at the ume of the repurchase 1s
recorded as a utilization of the repurchase reserve  Make-
whole payments to the investor are also treated as
utihzations and charged directly against the reserve The
repurchase reserve 1s estimated when Citibank sells loans
(recorded as an adjustment to the gain on sale which 1s
included 1n Other revenue 1n the Consolidated Statement of
Income) Any change in estimate 1s recorded in Other
revenue

Goodwll

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over
the fair value of net 1angible and intangible assets acquired
Goodwill 1s subject to annual impairment testing and
between annual tests 1f an event occurs or circumstances
change that would more-likely-than-not reduce the fair value
of a reporting umt below 1ts carrying amount

Under ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other the
Company has an option to assess quahtative factors to
determune 1f 1t 1s necessary to perform the goodwaill
mmparment test [f, afier assessing the totality of events or
circumstances, the Company determines that 1t 1s not more-
likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit 13 less
than its carrying amount no further testing 15 necessary If,
however, the Company determines that 1t 1s more-likely-
than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit 1s less than 1ts
carrying amount, then the Company should perform the first
step of the two-step goodwill impairment test

The Company has an unconditional option to bypass the
qualitative assessment for any reporting unit 1n any reporting
period and proceed directly to the first step of the goodwill
impairment test Furthermore on any business dispositions
goodwill 1s allocated to the business disposed of based on
the ratio of the fair value of the business disposed of to the
fair value of the reporting unit

The first step requires a comparison of the fair value of
the individual reporting unit to its carrying value, including
goodwill If the fair value of the reporting unit 15 1n excess of
the carrying value the related goodwall 1s considered not to
be impaired and no further analysis is necessary If the
carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value,
there 1s an indication of potential impairment and a second
step of testing 1s performed to measure the amount of
impairment, if any, for that reporting unit

Lf required. the second step involves calculauing the
implied fair value of goodwill for each of the affected
reporting units The implied fair value of goodwill 1s
determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill
recognized in a business combination, which 1s the excess of
the fair value of the reporting unit determined 1n step one
over the fair value of the net assets and 1dentifiable
intangibles as 1f the reporting unit were being acquired If the
amount of the goodwill allocated to the reporting unit
exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill n the pro
forma purchase price allocation, an impairment charge 1s
recorded for the excess A recogmized impairment charge
cannot exceed the amount of goodwall allocated to a
reporting unit and cannot subsequently be reversed even if
the fair value of the reporting unit recovers

Additional information on Citibank s goodwtll
impairment testing can be found 1n Note 15 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements
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Intangible Assets
Intangible assets, including core deposit intangibles, present
value of future profits, purchased credit card relationships,
other customer relattonships, and other intangible assets, but
excluding MSRs, are amortized over their estimated useful
lives Intangible assets deemed to have indefinite useful
lives, primanly certain asset management contracts and trade
names, are not amortized and are subject to annual
impairment tests An impairment exists 1f the carrying value
of the indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair value
For other intangible assets subject to amortization an
impairment 15 recognized if the carrying amount 15 not
recoverable and exceeds the fair value of the intangible
assel

Similar to the goodwill impairment analysis 1n
performing the annual impairment analysis for indefinite-
lived intangible assets Citibank may and has elected to
bypass the optional qualitaive assessment, choosing instead
to perform a quanutative analysis

Other Assets and Other Liabilities

Other assets include, among other items, foans held-for-sale,
deferred tax assets, equity method investments, interest and
fees recevable, premises and equipment (including
purchased and developed software), repossessed assets, and
other recervables Other habtiiies include, among other
items, accrued expenses and other payables, deferred tax
hahilities, and reserves for legal claims, taxes, unfunded
lending commitments reposiioning reserves, and other
matters

Other Real Estate Owned and Repossessed Assets

Real estate or other assets received through foreclosure or
repossession are generally reported in Other assets net of a
valuation allowance for selling costs and subsequent declines
in fair value

Securitizations
The Company primarily securitizes credit card recervables
and mortgages Other types of securtized assets include
corporate debt instruments (1n cash and synthetic form)

There are two key accounting determinations that must
be made relating to secunuizations Ciubank first makes a
determunation as to whether the securitization entty must be
consolhidated Second, it determines whether the transfer of
financial assets to the entity 15 considered a sale under
GAAP If the secuntization entity 15 a VIE the Company
consolidates the VIE 1f 1t 1s the primary beneficiary (as
discussed in  Vanable Interest Entittes” above) For all other
secuntization entities determined not to be VIEs 1n which
Crtibank participates, consolidation s based on which party
has voting control of the entity, giving consideration to
removal and hquidation nghts 1n certain partnership
structures Only secuntization entities controlled by Citibank
are consohdated

Interests in the securitized and sold assets may be
retained n the form of subordinated or semor interest-only
strips subordinated tranches, spread accounts and servicing
rights In credit eard securitizations the Company retains a
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seller’s interest i1n the credit card receivables transferred to
the trusts, which 1s not 1n secuntized form In the case of
consohdated securitization entities. including the credit card
trusts. these retained interests are not reported on Citibank’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet The securitized loans remain on
the balance sheet Substantially all of the Consumer loans
sold or secunitized through non-consolidated trusts by
Citibank are U § pnme residential morigage loans Retained
interests 1n non-consolidated mortgage securitization trusts
are classified as Trading account assets except for MSRs.
which are included in fntangible assets and morigage
servictag rights on Ciubank’s Consolidated Balance Sheet

Debt

Short-term borrowings and Long-term debt are accounted for
at amortized cost, except where the Company has elected to
report the debt instruments, including certain structured
notes at fair value, or the debt 1s 1n a fair value hedging
relationship

Transfers of Financial Assets
For a transfer of financial assets to be considered a sale (1)
the assets must have been legally 1solated from the
Company, even in bankruptcy or other receivership, (11) the
purchaser must have the right to pledge or sell the assets
transferred or 1f the purchaser 15 an entity whose sole
purpose 1s to engage tn securtization and asset-backed
financing activities through the issuance of beneficial
interests and that entity 15 constramed from pledging the
assets It receives, each beneficial interest holder must have
the right to sell or pledge their beneficial interests, and (11}
the Company may not have an option or obligation to
reacquire the assets

If these sale requirements are met, the assets are
removed from the Company s Consclidated Balance Sheet
1f the conditions for sale are not met, the transfer 1s
considered to be a secured borrowing, the assets remain on
the Consohdated Balance Sheet and the sale proceeds are
recognized as the Company’s liability A legal opinion on a
sale generally 15 obtatned for complex transactions or where
the Company has continuing involvement with assets
transferred or with the securitization entity For a transfer to
be eligible for sale accounting those opinions must state that
the asset transfer would be considered a sale and that the
assets transferred would not be consolidated with the
Company s other assets in the event of the Company’s
insolvency

For a transfer of a portion of a financial asset to be
considered a sale, the portion transferred must meet the
defimition of a participating interest A participating interest
must represent a pro rata ownership 1 an entire financial
asset, all cash flows must be divided proportionately with
the same priority of payment, no participating interest in the
transferred asset may be subordinated to the interest of
another participating interest holder, and no party may have
the right to pledge or exchange the entire financial asset
unless all participating interest holders agree Otherwise, the
transfer 1s accounted for as a secured borrowing
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See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for further discussion

Risk Management Activihes—Dernvatives Used for
Hedging Purposes
The Company manages 1ts exposures to market rate
movements outside 1ts trading activities by modifying the
asset and liability mix erther directly or through the use of
derivative financial products, including interest-rate swaps
futures, forwards and purchased options, as well as foreign-
exchange contracts These end-user denvatives are carned at
fair value \n Other assets, Other habthties, Tradimg account
assets and Trading account habiies

To qualify as an accounting hedge under the hedge
accounting rules (versus an economic hedge where hedge
accounting Is not sought), a derivative must be highly
effective (n oftsetting the risk designated as being hedged
The hedge relationship must be formally documented at
inception, detailing the particular risk management objective
and strategy for the hedge This includes the item and risk
being hedged, the denivative being used and how
effectiveness will be assessed and ineffectiveness measured
The effectiveness of these hedging relationships 1s evaluated
both on a retrospective and prospective basis, typically using
quantitative measures of correlation with hedge
ineffectiveness measured and recorded 1n current earnings

[fa hedge relationship 1s not highly effective, it no
longer qualifies as an accounting hedge and hedge
accounting may not be applied Any gains or losses
attributable to the derivatives, as well as subsequent changes
in fair value, are recogmized in Qther revenue or Principal
transactions with no offset to the hedged item, similar to
trading dervauves

The foregoing criteria are apphed on a decentralized
basis consistent with the level at which market nisk 1s
managed but are subject to various hmuts and controls The
underlying asset, lability or forecasted transaction may be
an individual 1tem or a portfolio of similar items

For fair value hedges 1n which derivatives hedge the
fair value of assets or habilities changes n the fair value of
dervatives are reflected 1n Other revenue together with
changes in the fair value of the hedged 1tem related to the
hedged risk These amounts are expected 1o, and generally
do offset each other Any net amount, representing hedge
meffecuveness 1s reflected in current earnings Ciibank s
fair value hedges are primanly hedges of fixed-rate long-
term debt and available-for-sale secunties

For cash flow hedges, in which derivatives hedge the
variability of cash flows related to floating- and fixed-rate
assets lrabilhities or forecasted transactions the accounting
treatment depends on the effectiveness of the hedge To the
extent these derivatives are effective 1n offsetting the
vanabhhity of the hedged cash flows, the effective portion of
the changes in the derivatives™ fair values will not be
included 1n current earmngs, but 1s reported in Accumudated
other comprehensive income (loss) These changes in fair
value will be included in earnings of future periods when the
hedged cash flows impact earmings To the extent these
derivatives are not effective. changes in their fair values are
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immediately included in Other revenue Citibank’s cash flow
hedges primarily include hedges of floating-rate debt and
floating-rate assets, including loans and securities
purchased under agreements to resell, as well as rollovers of
short-term fined-rate habilities and floating-rate Liabilities
and forecasted debt 1ssuances

For net investment hedges in which derivatives hedge
the foreign currency exposure of a net investment i a
foreign operation the accounting treatment will similarly
depend on the effectiveness of the hedge The effective
portion of the change 1 fair value of the denvative,
meluding any forward premium or discount, s reflected in
Accunulated other comprehensive income (loss) as part of
the foreign currency translation adjustment

For those accounting hedge relationships that are
terminated or when hedge designations are removed, the
hedge accounting treaiment described in the paragraphs
above 15 no longer applied Instead. the end-user derivative 1s
terminated or transferred to the trading account For fairr
value hedges, any changes in the fair value of the hedged
item remarin as part of the basts of the asset or liability and
are ultimately reflected as an element of the yield For cash
flow hedges, any changes in fair value of the end-user
derivative remain in Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) and are included 1n eamings of future periods
when the hedged cash flows impact earnings However, 1f 1t
becomes probable that some or all of the hedged forecasted
transactions will not occur, any amounts that rematn in
Accunulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to
these transactions are immediately reflected in Other
revenie

End-user derivatives that are economic hedges rather
than qualifying for hedge accounting are also carned at fawr
value, with changes in value included in Principal
transactions or Other revenue Citibank often uses economic
hedges when qualifying for hedge accounting would be too
complex or operationally burdensome Examples are hedges
of the credit nsk component of commercial loans and loan
commuiments Citibank periodically evaluates 1ts hedging
strategies 1n other areas and may designate either a
qualifying hedge or an economic hedge, after considering the
relative costs and benefits Economic hedges are also
employed when the hedged ntem itself 1s marked to market
through current earnings, such as hedges of commitments to
originate one-to-four-family mortgage loans to be held for
sale and MSRs See Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for a further discussion of the Company s
hedging and derivative activities

Employee Benefits Expense

Employee benefits expense includes current service costs of
pension and other postretirement benefit plans (which are
accrued on a current basis) contributions and unrestricted
awards under other employee plans the amortization of
restricted stock awards and costs of other employee benefits
For 1ts most significant penston and postretirement benefit
plans (Significant Plans), Citigroup measures and discloses
plan obligations, plan assets and periodic plan expense
quarterly instead of annually The effect of remeasuring the
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Significant Plan obligations and assets by updating plan
actuarial assumptions on a quarterly basis 1s reflected 1n
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and
penodic plan expense The Company recognizes its
proportionate share of Citigroup's benefit plans' assets
liabiliies, AOCI and benefit expense All other plans (All
Other Plans) are remeasured annually See Note 8 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense related to
Citigroup stock and option awards over the requisite service
period. generally based on the mstruments” grant-date fair
value reduced by expected forfeitures Compensation cost
related to awards granted to employees who meet certain age
plus years-of-service requirements (retirement-ehgible
employees) 1s accrued 1n the year prior to the grant date, in
the same manner as the accrual for cash incentive
compensation Certan stock awards with performance
conditions or certain clawback provisions are subject to
variable accounting pursuant to which the associated
compensation expensc fluctuates with changes in Citigroup’s
stock price See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Income Taxes
The Company 1s subject to the income tax laws of the U 8§
and 1ts states and municipahities, and the foreign jurisdictions
in which 1t operates These tax laws are complex and subject
to different interpretations by the taxpayer and the relevant
governmental taxing authorities In establishing a proviston
for income tax expense the Company must make judgments
and nterpretations about the application of these inherently
complex tax laws The Company must also make estimates
about when 1n the future certain items will affect taxable
mcome 1n the various tax jurisdictions, both domestic and
foreign

Disputes over interpretations of the tax laws may be
subject to review and adjudication by the court systems of
the various tax junisdictions or may be settled with the taxing
authonty upon exammation or audit The Company treats
interest and penalties on income taxes as a component of
Income tax expense

Deferred taxes are recorded for the future consequences
of events that have been recogmzed for financial statements
or tax returns based upon enacted tax laws and rates
Deferred tax assets are recognized subject to management’s
judgment that realization 1s more-likely-than-not FASB
Interpretation No 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes (FIN 48) {(now incorporated into ASC 740,
Income Taxes}, sets out a consistent framework to determine
the appropriate level of tax reserves to maintain for uncertain
tax positions This interpretation uses a two-step approach
wheretn a tax benefit 1s recognized 1 a position 1s more-
likely-than-not to be sustained The amount of the benefit 1s
then measured to be the highest tax benefit that 1s greater
than 50% likely to be realized ASC 740 also sets out
disclosure requirements to enhance transparency of an
entily’'s tax reserves

See Note 9 10 the Consolidated Financial Statements for
a further description of the Company s tax provision and
related iIncome tax assets and habthties

Commussions, Underwnting and Principal Transactions
Commussions revenues are recognized in income when
earned Underwriting revenues are recognized in income
typically at the closing of the transaction Principal
transactions revenues are recognized 1n income on a trade-
date basis See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for a description of the Company’s revenue
recognition policies for commussions and fees and Note 6 to
the Consolidated Financial Staternents for details of principal
transactions revenue

Use of Estimates

Management must make estimates and assumptions that
atfect the Consolidated Financial Statements and the related
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Such
estimates are uscd in connection with certain fair value
measurements See Note 22 to the Consolidated Mnancial
Statements for further discussions on estimates used in the
determination of fair value Morgover, estimates are
significant in determining the amounts of other-than-
temporary impairments, imparrments of goodwill and other
intangtble assets provisions for probable losses that may
arise from credit-related exposures and probable and
cstimable losses related to liigation and regulatory
proceedings, and tax reserves While management makes its
best judgment, actual amounts or results could differ from
those estimates Current market conditions increase the risk
and complexty of the judgments in these estimates

Cash Flows

Cash equivalents are defined as those amounts included in
Cash and due from banks Cash flows from nisk management
activities are classified in the same category as the related
assets and liabilities

Related Party Transactions

The Company has related party transactions with certain of
its subsidiaries and affiliates Thesc transactions which are
primarily short-term 1n nature. include cash accounts,
collateralized financing transactions margin accounts
derivative transactions, charges for operational support and
the borrowing and lending of funds, and are entered 1nto 1n
the ordinary course of business
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ACCOUNTING CHANGES

Accounting for Share-Based Payments with Performance
Targets

In June 2014, the FASB 1ssued Accounting Standards Update
(ASU) No 2014-12 Accounting for Share-Based Payments
When the Terms of an Award Provide That a Performance
Target Could Be Achieved after the Requusite Service Period
(a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force) The
ASU prescribes the accounting to be applied to share-based
awards that contain performance targets the outcome of
which will only be confirmed afier the employee’s service
period associated with the award has ended Citibank elected
10 adopt th1s ASU in 2014 The impact of adopuing the ASU
was not material

Discontinued Operations and Sigmificant Disposals
The FASB 1ssued ASU No 2014-08 Presentation of
Financtal Statements (Topic 810) and Property, Plant, and
Equipment (Topic 360), Reporung Discontinued Operations
and Dusclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity
(ASU 2014-08) in Apnil 2014 ASU 2014-08 changes the
criteria for reporting discontinued operations while
enhancing disclosures Under the ASU. only disposals
representing a strategic shift having a major effect on an
entity s operations and financial results, such as a disposal of’
a major geographic area a major line of business or a major
equity method investment may be presented as discontinued
operations Additionaily, the ASU requires expanded
disclosures about discontinued operations that will provide
more information about the assets habilities, income and
expenses of discontinued operations

The Company carly-adopted the ASU in 2014 on a
prospecuive basis for all disposals (or classifications as held-
for-sale)} of components of an entity that occurred on or after
April 1 2014 As a result of the adoption of the ASU, fewer
disposals will now qualify for reporting as discontinued
operations, however disclosure of the pretax income
attributable to a disposal of a significant part of an
organization that does not quahfy for discontinued
operations reporting ts required  The impact of adopting the
ASU was not matenal

Accounting for the Cumulative Translation Adjustment
upon Derecognition of Certamn Foreign Subsidiaries

In March 2013, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2013-05, Foreign
Currency Matters (Topic 830) Parent s Aceounting for the
Cumulative Translation Adjustment upon Derecogmition of
Certain Subsidiaries or Groups of Assets within a Foreign
Entity or of an Investment in a Foreign Entily (a consensus
of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force) This ASU clanfies
the accounting for the cumulative translation adjustment
(CTA) when a parent etther sells a part or all of its
investment 1n a foreign entity or no longer holds a
controlling financial interest 1n a subsidiary or group of
assets that 15 a nonprofit activity or a business within a
foreign entity The ASU requires the CTA to remain in equity
until the foreign entity 1s disposed of or it 1s completely or
substantially liquidated
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I'ms ASU became effective for Ciibank on January |
2014 and was apphed on a prospective basis The accounting
prescribed in this ASU 1s consistent with Citibank s prior
practice and, as a result, adoption did not result in any
impact to the Company

Classification of Certain Government-Guaranteed
Mortgage Loans upon Foreclosure
In August 2014, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2014-14,
Recewvables—Troubled Debt Restructuring by Creditors
(Subtopic 310-40) Classification of Certarn Government-
Gua anteed Mortgage Loans upon Foreclosure, which
requires that a mortgage loan be derecognized and a separate
other receivable be recognized upon foreclosure 1if the
following conditions are met (1) the loan has a government
guarantee that 1s not separable from the loan before
foreclosure, {11) at the ttme of foreclosure, the creditor has
the intent to convey the real estate property to the guarantor
and make a claim on the guarantee and the creditor has the
ability to recover under that claim, and (u11) at the time of
foreclosure, any amount of the claim that 1s determined on
the basis of the fair value of the real estate 1s fixed Upon
foreclosure, the separate other recervable 1s measured based
on the amount of the loan balance (principal and interest)
expected to be recovered from the guarantor

Citibank early adopted the ASU on a modified
retrospective basis in 2014, which resulted in reclassifying
approximately $130 million of foreclosed assets from Other
Real Estate Owned to a separate other receivable that 1s
mcluded in Other assets Given the modified retrospective
approach to adoption, prior years have not been restated
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FUTURE APPLICATION OF ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

Accounting for Investments in Tax Credit Partnerships
In January 2014, the FASB 1ssued ASU 2014-01,
Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323)
Accounning for Investments in Qualified Affordable Housing
Projects Any transition adjustment 1s reflected as an
adjustment to retained eamings in the earliest period
presented (retrospective apphcation)

The ASU 15 applicable to Citlbank s portfolio of low
income housing tax credit (LIHTC) partnership interests
The new standard widens the scope of investments eligible
to elect to apply a new alternative method, the proportional
amortization method, under which the cost of the investment
15 amortized to tax expense tn proportion to the amount of
Lax credits and other tax benefits received Citibank qualifies
to elect the proportional amortization method under the ASU
for 1ts entire LIHTC portfolio  These investments are
currently accounted for under the equity method, which
results in losses {due to amortization of the investment)
being recognized in Orher revenue and tax credits and
benefits being recognized in the /ncome tax expense hne In
contrast, the proportional amortizatien method combines the
amortization of the investment and receipt of the tax credits/
benefits into one line, Income tax expense

Citibank adopted ASU 2014-01 1n January of 2015
The adoption of this ASU will reduce Retwined earnings by
approximately $339 million, Other assets by approximately
$166 million, and deferred tax assets by approximately $173
mtllion, each in January of 2015

Revenue Recognition

In May 2014, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2014-09, Revenue
from Contracts with Customers which requires an entity to
recognize the amount of revenue to which 1t expects to be
entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers The ASU will replace most existing revenue
recognition guidance in GAAP when 1t becomes effective on
January 1,2017 Early application 1s not permutted The
standard permuts the use of erther the retrospective or
cumulative effect transiion method  The Company 1s
evaluating the effect that ASU 2014-09 will have on 1ts
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures
The Company has not yet selected a transiion method nor
has 1t determined the effect of the standard on 1ts financial
statements

Accounting for Repurchase-to-Matunity Transactions

In June 2014 the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2014-11, Transfers
and Servicing (Topic 860) Repurchase-to-Maturity
Transactions, Repurchase Financings, and Disclosures The
ASU changes the accounting for repurchase-to-maturity
transactions and linked repurchase financings to secured
borrowed accounung which is consistent with the
accounting for other repurchase agreements The ASU also
requires disclosures about transfers accounted for as sales in
transactions that are economically simular to repurchase
agreements and about the types of collateral pledged in
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repurchase agreements and similar transactions accounted
for as secured borrowings The ASU s provisions became
effecuve for Citi from the first quarter of 2015, with the
exception of the collateral disclosures which will be
effective from the second quarter of 2015 The effect of
adopting the ASU 1s required to be reflected as a cumulative
effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of
the period of adoption Adoption of the ASU did not have a
matenal effect on the Company s financial statements

Measuring the Financial Assets and Liabahties of a
Consohdated Collaterahized Financial Entaty

In August 2014, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2014-13,
Consolidation (Topic 810) Measuring the Financial Assets
and the Financial Liabiiies of a Consolidated
Collateralized Financing Entity which provides two
alternative methods for measuning the fair value of a
consolhidated Collateralized Financing Entity s (CFE)
financial assets and financial habilities This election 1s made
separately for each CFE subject to the scope of the ASU
The first method requires the fair value of the financial
assets and habilities to be measured using the requirements
of ASC Topic 820, Faur Value Measurements and
Disclosures, with any differences between the fair value of
the financial assets and financial lhiabihties being atiributed
to the CFE and reflected in earnings 1n the consolidated
statement of income The alternative method requires
measuring both the financial assets and financial hiabilities
using the more observable of the fair value of the assets or
habilities The alternative method would also take into
consideration the carrying value of any beneficial interests of
the CFE held by the parent, including those representing
compensation for services and the carrying value of any
nonfinancial assets held temporanly The ASU will be
effective for Ciibank from the first quarter of 2016 and 1s
not expected to have a material effect on the Company

Accounting for Derivatives Hybrid Financial
Instruments
In November 2014 the FASB issued ASU No 2014-16
Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) Deter mining Whether
the Host Contract in a Hybrid Financial Instrument Issued
i the Form of a Share Is More Akin to Debt or to Equuy
The ASU will require an entity to evaluate the economic
characteristics and nisks of an entire hybnd financial
instrument 1ssued in the form of a share (including the
embedded derivative feature) in order to determine whether
the nature of the host contract 1s more akin to debt or equity
Additionally, the ASU clanfies that no single term or feature
would necessarily determine the economie charactenstics
and nsks of the host contract, therefore an entity should use
judgment based on an evaluauon of all the relevant terms
and features

This ASU 1s effective for Citibank from the first quarter
of 2016 with early adoption permitted Ciubank may choose
to report the effects of initial adoption as a cumulative-effect
adjustment to retained earnings as of January t 2016 or
apply the guidance retrospectively to all prior periods The
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impact of adopting this ASU 15 not expected to be matenial 10
Citibank

Accounting for Financial Instruments-Credit Losses
In December 2012 the FASB 1ssued a proposed ASU.
Financial Instruments—Credit Losses This proposed ASU,
or exposure drafl, was 1ssued for public comment in order to
allow stakeholders the opportunity to review the proposal
and provide comments to the FASB and does not constitute
accounting gutdance until a final ASU s 1ssued

The cxposure draft contains proposed guidance
developed by the FASB with the goal of improving financial
reporting about expected credit losses on loans securities
and other financial assets held by financial institutions and
other organizations T'he exposure draft proposes a new
accounting model intended to require earlier recognition of
credit losses. while also providing additional transparency
about credit risk

The FASB’s proposed model would utilize an ‘expected
credit loss * measurement objective for the recognition of
credit losses for loans, held-to-matunty securities and other
receivables at the time the financial asset 1s originated or
acquired and adjusted each period for changes 1n expected
credit losses For available-for-sale securittes where fair
value 1s less than cost, impairment would be recognized 1n
the allowance for credit losses and adjusted each period for
changes 1n credit This would replace the multiple existing
impairment models in GAAP, which generally require that a
loss be incurred before 1t 1s recogmzed

The FASB's proposed model represents a significant
departure from existing GAAP, and may result in material
changes to the Company s accounting for financial
instruments The impact of the FASB s final ASU on the
Company s financial statements will be assessed when 1t 1s
issucd The exposure draft does not contain a proposed
effective date, this would be included in the final ASU, when
1ssued

Consohidation

In February 2015, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2015-02,
Consolidation (Topic 810) Amendments to the
Consolidation Analysis, which is intended to improve certain
areas of consolidation guidance for legal entities such as
himuted partnerships, limited hiability compantes, and
securitization structures The ASU will reduce the number of
consolidation models The ASU will be effective on January
1 2016 Early adoption 1s permitted including adoption 1n
an interim period The Company 15 evaluating the effect that
ASU 2015-02 will have on 1ts Consolidated Financial
Statements
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3 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT
DISPOSALS

Sale of Brazil Credicard Business

On December 20, 2013 Citibank soid its branded cards and
consummer finance business 1n Brazil (Credicard) for
approximately 31 24 billion  The sale resulted in a pretax gan
of $206 mulhon (3325 million after-tax) In 2014, resolution
of certain contingencies related to the disposal are reported as
Income (loss) from disconnnued operations Credicard 1s
reported as Discontinued operations for all periods presented
Summanzed financial information for Discontinued
operations for Credicard follows

In mitions of dollars 2014 2013
Total revenues, net of interest

expense ¥ $ 69 § 1012
Income (loss) from discontinued

operations 63 (48)
Gaun (loss) on sale — 206
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 11 (138)

Income from discontinued
operations, net of taxes S 52 3 296

(1) Total revenues include gain or loss on sale tf applicable

Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations

in millions of dotlars 2014 2013
Cash flows from operating acuvities s — 3 197
Cash flows from investing activities _— (207)
Cash flows from financing activities — —
Net cash provided by (used i)

discontinued operations § — 3 (10)

Sale of Egg Banlkang ple Credit Card Business

In Apnl 2011 Citibank completed the sale of the Egg
Banking plc (Egg) credit card business Summarized financial
information for Discontinued operations for the operations
related to Egg follows

In millions of dollars 2014 2013
Total revenues, net of mierest expense '’ 8 5% —
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (46) (62)

Gain (loss) on sale — —
Provision (benefit) for mcome taxes (16) (22)

Loss from discontinued
operations, net of taxes h) (30) § (40)

(1) ‘Total revenues include gain or loss on sale 1f apphicabte

Cash flows from Discontnued operations related to Egg
were not matenal for all perieds presented

Audit of Citibank German Consumer Tax Group
Citibank sold 1ts German retail banking operations in 2007 and
reported them as Disconninued operanons During the third
guarter 0f 2013 German tax authonties concluded their audit
of Ciibank’s German consumer tax group for the years
2005-2008 This resolution resulted in a pretax benefit of $27
million and a tax benefit of $57 million ($85 mullion total net
income benefit) dunng the third quarter of 2013 all of which
was included in Discontinued operations During 2014
residual costs associated with German retail banking
operations resulted n a tax expense of $20 million

Combined Results for Discontinued Operations

The following 1s summarized financial information for
Credicard, Egg and previous Discontinued operations for
which Citibank continues to have minimal residual costs
associated with the sales

In mutlhions of dotiars 2014 2013
Total revenues, net of interest

expense " h) 4% 1,012
Income (loss) from discontmued

operaltons 17 (34)
Gam on sale — 206
Provision (benefit} for income taxes 15 (214)
Income (loss) from discontinued

operations, net of taxes $ 2 8 336

(1) Total revenues include gain or loss on sale, 1f applicable

Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations

In millions of doilars

Cash flows from operating activitics $ — § 197
Cash flows from investing activities — (207)
Cash flows from financing activities — —

Net cash provided by discontinued
operations S — 3 (10)

Sigmficant Disposals

The following sales were 1dentified as significant disposals
includig the assets and habilities that were reclassified to
held-for-sale within Other assets and Other habilines on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet and the frcome (loss) before taxes
(benefits) related to each business

Agreement to Sell Japan Retail Banking Business

On December 25, 2014 Ciubank entered into an agreement to
sell its Japan retail banking business The sale which 1s
subject to regulatory approvals and other customary closing
conditions 15 expected to occur by the fourth quarter of 2015
and result 1n an after-tax gain upon completion Income before
taxes for the period in which the individually significant
component was classified as held-for-sale and for all prior
pertods are as follows

In muthons of dollars 2014 2013

Income (loss) before taxes 5 (5% 3
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The following assets and liabilities for the Japan retail banking
business were 1dentified and reclassified to held-for-sale
within Qther assets and Other habilities on the Consohdated
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2014

In millions of dollars December 31, 2014
Assets

Cash and deposits with banks 5 151
Loans (net of allewance of $2 million) 544
Goodwill 51
Other assets, advances to/from subs 19,854
Other assets 66
Total assets g 20,666
Liabilities

Deposits s 20,605
Other hamhities 61
Total lhabihties $ 20,666

Sale of Spain Consumer Operations

On September 22, 2014, Citibank sold 1ts consumer operations
1n Spain, including $1 7 billion of consumer loans {net of
allowance), $3 4 billion of assets under management. $2 2
billion of customer deposits, 45 branches, 48 ATMs and 938
employees, with the buyer assuming the related current
pension commutments at closing The transaction generated a
pretax gan on sale of $327 rmilhion ($205 million after-tax)
Income before taxes for the penod 1in which the individually
significant component was classified as held-for-sale and for
all pror periods are as follows

In millions of dollars 2014 2013
Income before taxes $373 $59

Sale of Greece Consumer Operations

On September 30, 2014, Citibank sold 1ts consumer operations
in Greece including $353 million of consumer loans (net of
allowance), $1 1 billion of assets under management, $1 2
billion of customer deposits 20 branches, 85 ATMs and 719
employees, with the buyer assuming certain linmited pension
obligations related to Diners™ Club s employees at closing The
transaction generated a pretax gamn on sale of $209 nullion
($91 mullion after-tax) Income before taxes for the period in
which the individually significant component was classified as
held-for-sale and for all prior periods are as follows

in mitlions of doflars 2014 2013
Income before taxes 5133 $(113)
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4 INTEREST REVENUE AND EXPENSE

For the vears ended December 31 2014 and 2013,
respectively, [nterest revenue and Inierest expense consisted of
the following

In mithons of dollars 2014 2013
Interest revenue
Loan interest, including fees $ 36,689 § 37150
Deposits with banks 830 851
Federal funds sold, securities borrowed or

purchased under agreements to resell 1,094 1,189
Invesiments, including dividends 5,822 5,388
Trading account assets'” 2,727 2,803
Other interest 312 347
Total interest revenue $§ 47474 § 47728
Interest expense
Dcposnsm § 5368 § 6,133

Federal funds purchased and securities
loaned or sold under agreements to

repurchase 236 270
Trading account liabilines'” 139 132
Short-term borrow ings 487 515
Long-term debt 1,798 2,104
Total interest expense $ 8028 § 9154
Net interest revenue § 39446 $ 38574
Provision for loan losses 3,989 4,817

Net interest revenue after

provision for loan losses § 35457 § 33,757

(1} Centain interest expense on Trading account habilities 1s reported as a
reduction of interest revenue from Trading account assets

(2) Includes deposit insurance fees and charges of 3870 million and $972
mullion for the years ended December 31 2014 and 2013 respectively
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5 COMMISSIONS AND FEES

The table below sets forth Citibank’s Comanissions and fees
revenue for the years ended December 31 2014 and 2013,
respectively The pnimary components of Comnussions and
Jfees revenue for the year ended December 31 2014 were asset
management and other fiduciary fees, credit card and bank
card fees and transaction services fces

Asset management and other fiduciary fees include fees
earned for securities safekeeping and processing services,
performing transfers, paying agent. or dividend reinvestment
services, fees from clean or documentary letters of credit, and
endorsements or other guarantee arrangements that facilntate
customer financing or performance

Credit card and bank card fees are pnmarily composed of
interchange revenue and certain card fees, including annual
fees, reduced by reward program costs Interchange revenue
and fees are recognized when earned, except for annual card
fees which are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis
over a 12-month pertod Reward costs are recogruzed when
points are earned by the customers

The following table presents Comnussions and fees
revenue for the years ended December 31

I milltons of dollars 2014 2013

Asset management and other fiduciary fees § 3,374 § 3,369
Credit cards and bank cards 1,618 1,851
Trade and secuniuies services 1,678 1,658
Insurance related 721 738
Checking-related 351 401
Corporate finance!” 498 451
Loan servicing 378 499
Other 1,485 1,439

Total commissions and fees $ 10,103 § 10,406

(1} Primanly consists of fees earned from structunng and underwrniting loan
syndications
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6 PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS

Principal transactions revenue consists of realized and
unrealized gains and losses from trading activities Trading
activities include revenues from fixed income, equities, credit
and commodities products and foreign exchange transactions
Not included in the table below 1s the impact of net interest
revenue related to trading activities, which 1s an integral part
of trading activities” profitability See Note 4 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for information about net
interest revenue related to trading activities Principal
transactions include CVA (credit valuation adjustments on
derivatives) and DVA (debt valuation adjustments on 1ssucd
liabilities, for which the fair value option has been elected)
The following table presents principal transactions revenue for
the years ended December 31

In millions of dollars 2014 2013
Interest rate contracts P $ 2,112 § 3848
Foreign exchange contracts @ 2,135 2,190
Equity contracts *? (131) (463)
Commodity and other contracts 189 98
Credit products and denivatives ® (90) (127)
Total § 4215 § 5546

(1) Includes revenues from government securities and corporate debt
municipal secunties preferred stock mortgage secunties and other debt
instruments Also includes spot and forward trading of currencies and
exchange-traded and over-the-counter (OTC) currency options, options
on fixed income securities, interest rate swaps, Currency swaps swap
options caps and floors financial futures, OTC options, and forward
contracts on fined income secunties

(2) Includes revenues from foreign exchange spot, forward, option and swap
contracts as well as FX translation gains and losses

(3) Includes revenues from commen, preferred and converiible preferred
stock, convertible corporate debt, equity-linked notes and exchange-
traded and OTC equity options and warrants

(4) Includes revenues from commodity swaps options, futures and forward
contracts and various commodity trades

(5) Includes revenues from structured credit products
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7 INCENTIVE PLANS

Discretionary Annual Incentive Awards

Citibank participates in various Crtigroup stock-based and
other deferred incentive programs Citigroup grants
immediate cash bonus payments, deferred cash awards, stock
payments and restricted and deferred stock awards as part of
its discretionary annual incentive award program involving a
large segment of Citigroup s employees worldwide including
employees of the Company

Discretionary annual incentive awards are generally
awarded 1n the first quarter of the year based upon the
previous year s performance Awards valued at less than U §
$100.000 (or the local currency equivalent) are generally pard
entirely in the form of an immediate cash bonus Pursuant to
Citigroup pohicy and/or regulatory requirements, certamn
employees and officers are subject to mandatory deferrals of
incentive pay and generally receive 25% to 60% of their
awards in a combination of restricted or deferred stock and
deferred cash Discretionary annual incentive awards to many
employees in the EU are subject to deferral requirements
regardless of the total award value with 50% of the immediate
ncentive dehvered in the form of a stock payment or stock
unit award subject to a restriction on sale or transfer or hold
back (generally, for six months)

Deferred annual incentive awards are generally delivered
as two awards—a restricted or deferred stock award under
Cit1 s Capital Accumulation Program (CAP) and a deferred
cash award The applicable mix of CAP and deferred cash
awards may vary based on the employee s mimumum deferral
requirement and the country of employment In some cases,
the entire deferral will be in the form of either a CAP or
deferred cash award

Subject to certain exceptions (principally for retirement-
eligible employees) continuous employment within Citigroup
15 required to vest in CAP and deferred cash awards Post-
employment vesting by reurement-echigible employees and
participants who meet other conditions 1s generally
conditioned upon their refraining from competition with
Citigroup during the remaining vesting period unless the
employment relationship has been terminated by Citigroup
under certain conditions

Generally, the CAP and deferred cash awards vest in
equal annual installments over three- or four-year periods
Vested CAP awards are delivered in shares of Citigroup
common stock Deferred cash awards are payable 1n cash and
earn a fixed notional rate of interest that 1s paid only 1If and
when the underlying principal award amount vests Generally.
in the EU, vested CAP shares are subject to a restriction on
sale or transfer after vesting, and vested deferred cash awards
are subject to hold back (generally for six months in each
case)

Unvested CAP and deferred cash awards made in January
2011 or later are subject to one or more clawback provisions
that apply 1n certatn circumstances. including in the case of
employee nisk-limit violations or other misconduct or where
the awards were based on earnings that were misstated CAP
awards made to certain employees tn February 2013 and later
are subject to a formulaic performance-based vesting
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condition pursuant to which amounts otherwise scheduled to
vest will be reduced based on the amount of any pretax loss in
the participant s business in the calendar year preceding the
scheduled vesting date For CAP awards made in February
2013 and later a mintmum reduction of 20% applies for the
first dollar of loss

[n additton, deferred cash awards made to certain
employees in February 2013 and later are subject to a
discretionary performance-based vesting condition under
which an amount otherwise scheduled to vest may be reduced
in the event of a material adverse outcome for which a
participant has stignificant responsibility ©  Deferred cash
awards made to these employees in February 2014 and later
are subject to an additional clawback provision pursuant to
which unvested awards may be canceled if the employee
engaged in misconduct or exercised materially imprudent
judgment, or failed to supervise or escalate the behavior of
other employees who did

Certain CAP and other stock-based awards, including
those to participants in the EU that are subject to certain
discretionary clawback provisions, are subject to vanable
accounting pursuant to which the associated value of the
award fluctuates with changes in Citigroup s common stock
price until the date that the award 1s settled, either in cash or
shares For these awards, the total amount that will be
recognized as expense cannot be determined in full until the
settlement date

Compensation Allowances

In 2013 and 2014 certain employees of Citibank’s U K
regulated entities were granted fixed allowances 1n addition 1o
salary and annual incentive awards Generally, these cash
allowances are payable in equal installments during the
service year and the following year or two years The
payments cease if the employee does not continue te meet
applicable service or other requirements The allowance
payments are not subject to performance conditions or
clawback Duiscretionary incentives awarded for performance
years 2013 and 2014 to employees receiving allowances were
at reduced levels and subject 10 greater deferral requirements,
of up to 100% 1n some cases

Sign-on and Long-Term Retention Awards

Stock awards, deferred cash awards and grants of stock
options may be made at various times durtng the year as sign-
on awards to induce new hires to Jjoin Citibank or to high-
potential employees as long-term retention awards

Vesting periods and other terms and conditions pertaining to
these awards tend to vary by grant Generally, recipients must
remain employed through the vesting dates to vest in the
awards except in cases of death. disability or involuntary
termination other than for “gross misconduct These awards
do not usually provide for post-employment vesting by
retirement-ehigible participants  Any stock option grants are
for Ciugroup common stock with exercise prices that are no
less than the fair market value at the time of grant
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Performance Share Units

Certain executive ofTicers were awarded a target number of
performance share units (PSUs) on February 19 2013, for
performance 1n 2012, and to a broader group of executives on
February 18, 2014 and February 18, 2015, for performance 1n
2013 and 2014, respectively PSUs will be earned only to the
extent that Citigroup attains specified performance goals
relating to Citigroup s return on assets and relative total
shareholder return against peers over the three-year period
beginning with the year of award The actual doilar amounts
ultimately carned could vary from zero, if performance goals
are not met. to as much as 150% of target, i performance
goals are meaningfully exceeded The value of each PSU 15
equal to the value of one share of Ciigroup common stock
The value of the award will fluctuate with changes in
Citigroup’s stock price and the attainment of the specified
performance goals for each award, until it 15 settled solely n
cash after the end of the performance period

Stock Option Programs
Stock options have not been granted to Citibank’s employees
as part of the annual incentive award programs since 2009

On February 14 2011 Citigroup granted options
exercisable for approximately 2 9 million shares of Citigroup
common stock to certain of 1ts executive officers The options
have six-year terms and vested 1n three equal annual
installments The exercise price of the options 15 $49 10, equal
to the closing price of a share of Citigroup common stock on
the grant date Upon exercise of the options before the fifth
anmiversary of the grant date, the shares received on exercise
(net of the amount required to pay taxes and the exercise
price) are subject to a one-year transfer restriction

The February 14, 2011 grant 1s the only prior stock
option grant that was not fully vested by January 1, 2014 and
as a result, 1S the only grant that resulted in an amount of
compensation expense 1n 2014 All other stock option grants
were fully vested at December 31, 2013, and as a result
Citibank will not incur any future compensation expense
related to those grants

Profit Sharing Plan

The 2010 Key Employee Profit Sharing Plan (KEPSP) entitled
participants to profit-sharing payments calculated with
reference to the pretax income of Citicorp (as defined in the

KEPSP) over a performance measurement period of January 1,

2010, through December 31. 2013 Generally, if a participant
remained employed and all other conditions to vesting and
payment were satisfied, the participant became entitled to
payment Payments were made in cash, except for UK
participants who, pursuant to regulatory requirements
received 50% of their payment in Citigroup commeon stock
that was subject to a six-month sale restriction

Other Variable Incentive Compensation

Employees of Cittbank participate in various incentive plans
globally that are used to motivate and reward performance
prnimanly in the areas of sales operational excellence and
customer satisfaction Participation in these plans is generally
ltrmited to employees who are not ehgible for discretionary
annual tncentive awards

Summary
Except for awards subject to vanable accounting, the total
expense recognized for stock awards represents the grant date
fair value of such awards, which 1s generally recognized as a
charge to Income ratably over the vesting period, other than
for awards to retirement-eligible employees and immediately
vested awards Whenever awards are made or are expected to
be made to retirement-ehgible employees, the charge to
income 1s accelerated based on when the applicable conditions
to retirement eligibility were or will be met If the employee 1s
retirement eligible on the grant date, or the award 1s vested at
grant date the entire expense 1s recogmzed in the year prior to
grant

Recipients of Citigroup stock awards generally do not
have any stockholder rights until shares are delivered upon
vesting or exercise, or after the expiration of applicable
required holding periods Recipients of restricted or deferred
stock awards and stock unit awards, however, may be enuitled
to recerve dividends or dividend-equivalent pay ments during
the vesting period Recipients of restricted stock awards
generally are entitled to vote the shares in their award during
the vesting period Once a stock award vests, the shares are
freely transferable unless they are subject to a resteiction on
sale or transfer for a specified period Pursuant to a stock
ownership commitment, certain executives have commuited to
holding most of their vested shares indefimitely

The Company recognized compensation expense of $193
million and $217 muthenr n 2014 and 2013, respectively,
relating to its stock-based and deferred compensation
programs
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§ RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Pension and Postretirement Benefits
The Company participates 1n several noncontributory defined
benefit pension plans sponsored by Citigroup Inc covering
certain U § employees and has various defined benefit
pension and termination indemnity plans covering employees
outside the United States

Citigroup's U § qualified defined benefit plan was {rozen
effective January 1, 2008 for most employees Accordingly. no
addivonal compensation-based contributions were credited to
the cash balance portion of the plan for existing plan
participants after 2007 However certain employees covered
under the prior final pay plan formula continue to accrue
benefits

The Company also participates in a number of
noncontributory nonqualified pension plans These plans,

which are unfunded, provide supplemental defined pension
benefits to certain U S employees With the exception of
certain employees covered under the prior final average pay
formula the benefits under these plans were frozen in prior
years

The Company alse participates in postretirernent health
care and life insurance benefits offered by Citigroup to certain
ehgible U S retired employees, as well as to certain eligible
employees outside the United States

The Company s allocated share of the related net funded
status of the plans and net amount recognized 1n equity are
recognized in the Company s Consolidated Balance Sheet and
summarized 1n the table below

Pension plans Postretirement benefit plans
Us plansm Non-U S plans US plans Non-U § plans
In miilions of dollars 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Net funded status (liability) ) (964) 3 (212)8 (733) 8 (7178 391§ (326)% 338 % (3409
Net decrease recogmized in equity § 2,265 5 14658 919 § 991 |8 44 3 {4748 102 § 116

(9]

The net funded status reported above for the U S plans 1s composed of $(4335) mullion for the qualified pension plan and $(529) mulhon for the nongualified

penston plans for 2014 For 2013, the net funded status 1s composed of $260 mllion for the quahfied pension plan and $(472) million for the nonqualified pension

plans

The Company s allocated share of the related net (benefit) expense for the plans 15 recognized in the Company s Consolidated

Statement of Income and summarized 1n the table below

Pension plans Postretirement benefit plans
US plans' Non-U § plans US plans Non-U S plans
In milhons of doflars 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Net (benefit) expense S (69) § (63)|8 256 $ 191 |8 13 5 1318 85 42

()

The net (benefit) expense reported above for the U S plans 1s composed of $(101) mllion for the guahfied pension plan and $32 mithion for the nonqualified

pension plans for 2014 For 2013, the net (benefit} expense 1s composed of ${96) mullion for the qualified pension plan and $33 miilien for the nonqualified

pension plans

Plan Assumptions

Citigroup utilizes a number of assumptions to determine plan
obligations and expense Changes in one or a combination of
these assumptions will have an impact on the Company’s
pension and postretirement projected benefit obligation
{PBO) funded status and benefit expense Changes in the
plans funded status resulting from changes in the PBO and
fair value of plan assets will have a corresponding 1mpact on
Accunlated other comprehensive tncome (loss) A discussion
of certain key assumptions follows

Discount Rate
The discount rates for the U § pension and postretirement
plans were selected by reference to a Ciugroup-specific
analysis using each plan s specific cash flows and compared
with high quality corporate bond indices for reasonableness
Citigroup s policy 1s to round to the nearest five hundredths of
a percent

Accordingly at December 31 2014 the discount rate was
set at 4 00% for the qualified pension plan. 3 90% for the
nonqualified pension plans and 3 80% for the postretirement
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plans At December 31, 2013, the discount rate was set at
4 75% for the qualified and nenqualified pension plans and
4 35% for the postretirement plans

Effective Apnl 1, 2013. Citigroup changed to a quarterly
measurement approach for its Sigmificant Plans, including the
U S qualified pension and U S postretirement plans For
these Sigmf{icant Plans. the 2014 rates were utilized to
calculate the December 31 2014 benefit obligation and will be
used to determine the 2015 first quarter expense The 2013
rates were utilized to calculate the December 31 2013 benefit
obligat:on and used for the 2014 first quarter expense

The discount rates for the non-U § pension and
postretirement plans are selected by reference to high quality
corporate bond rates in countries that have developed
corporate bond markets However where developed corporate
bond markets do not exist, the discount rates are selected by
reference to local government bond rates with a premium
added to reflect the additional risk for corporate bonds n
certain counties
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Expected Rate of Return
Citigroup determines its assumptions for the expected rate of
return on plan assets for its U § pension and postretirement
plans using a “building block™ approach which focuses on
ranges of anticipated rates of return for each asset class A
weighted average range of nominal rates 1s then determined
based on target allocations to each asset class Market
performance over a number of earlier years 1s evaluated
covering a wide range of economic conditions to determine
whether there are sound reasons for projecting any past trends

Citigroup considers the expected rate of return to be a
long-term assessment of return expectations and does not
anticipate changing this assumption unless there are
significant changes n investment strategy or economic
conditions This contrasts with the selection of the discount
rate and certain other assumptions which are reconsidered
annually (or quarterly for the Significant Plans) in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles

The expected rate of return for the U S pension and
postretirement plans was 7 00% at December 31, 2014 and
2013 The expected return on assets reflects the expected
annual appreciation of the plan assets and reduces the annual
pension expense of Citigroup The expected return on assets 1s
deducted from the sum of service cost, interest cost and other
components of pension expense 1o arrive at the net pension
{benefit) expense

The following table shows the expected rate of return
used n determiming Ciugroup's pension expense compared to
the actual rate of return on plan assets for 2014 and 2013 for
the U S pension and postretirement plans

Adjustments were made to the RP-2014 tables and to the
long-term rate of mortality improvement to reflect Citigroup
specific expenence As a result, the Company's allocated
share of the U § qualified and nonqualified pension and
postretirement plans PBO at December 31 2014 increased
by $545 million and 1ts funded status and AOCI decreased by
$545 million (3333 milhon, net of tax) In addition, the
Company's allocated share of the 2015 qualified and
nongualified pension and postretirement benefit expense 15
expected to increase by approxumately $33 million

Health Care Cost-Trend Rate
Assumed health care cost-trend rates were as follows

2014 2013
Expected rate of return 700% 7 00%
Actual rate of return'” 780% 6 00%

(1)  Actual rates of return are presented net of fees

Mortality Tables

At December 31, 2014, the Company adopted the Retirement
Plan 2014 (RP-2014) and Mortality Projections 2014
(MP-2014) mortality tables for the U § plans

2014 2013
Mortahty
Us plans“'m

Pension RP-2014/MP-2014  IRS RP-2000(2014)

Postretirement RP-2014/MP-2014 IRS RP-2000(2014)

(1} The RP-2014 table 1s the white-collar RP-2014 table, with a 4%
increase In rates to reflect the Citigroup-specific mortality experience
The MP-2014 projection scale includes a phase-out of the assumed
rates of improvement from 2015 to 2027

(2) The IRS montahty table (static version) includes a 7-year projection
(from the measurement date) after retirement and 15-year projection
(from the measurement date) prior to retrement using Projection
Scale AA

2014 2013

Health-care cost increase rate for US Plans
Following year 750% 8 00%
Ultimate rate to which cost increase 15 assumed

to decline 500 500
Year 1n which the ulumate rate 1s reached™ 2020 2020
(1)  Weghted average for plans with different following year and ultimate

rates

Plan Assets

Third-party investment managers and advisors provide their
services to Citigroup’s U § pension and postretirement plans
Assets are rebalanced as Citigroup’s Pension Plan Investment
Commuttee deems appropriate Citigroup’s investment
strategy with respect to its pension and postretirement assets
1s to maintain a globally diversified investment portfolio
across several asset classes that are targeted to produce a total
return that when combined with Citigroup’s contributions to
the plans, will maintain the plans ability to meet all required
benefit obligations

Investment Strategy

Citigroup’s global pension and postretirement funds
investment strategies are 1o invest in a prudent manner for the
exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants Risk 1s
controlled through diversification of asset types and
investments 1n domestic and international equities fixed-
mcome securities and cash and short-term investments The
target asset allocation in most locations outside the U § 15
primarily 1in equity and debt securities These allocations may
vary by geographic region and couniry depending on the
nature of applicable obligations and various other regional
constderations The wide variation in the actual range of plan
asset allocations for the funded non-U S plans 15 a result of
differing local statutory requirements and economic
condiions For example, 1n certain countries local law
requires that all pension plan assets must be invested in fixed-
imcome investments, government funds or local-country
securities
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Sigmificant Concentrations of Risk 1n Plan Assets

The assets of Citigroup’s pension and postretirement plans are
diversified to imit the impact of any individual investment
The U § qualified pension plan is diversified across multiple
asset classes with publicly traded fixed income hedge funds
publicly traded equity, and private equity representing the
most significant asset allocations Investments in these four
asset classes are further diversified across funds managers,
strategies, vintages, sectors and geographies depending on the
specific characteristics of each asset class The pension assets
for Ciigroup s largest non-U S plans are primanly invested n
publicly traded fixed income and publicly traded equity
securities

Oversight and Risk Management Practices

The framework for Citigroup’s pension oversight process
includes monitoring of retirement plans by plan fiductaries
and/or management at the global, reglonal or country level as
appropriate Independent risk management contributes to the
risk oversight and monutoring for Citigroup™s U § qualified
pension plan and non-U 8 Significant Pension Plans
Although the specific components of the oversight process are
tailored to the requirements of each region country and plan,
the following elements are common to Citigroup’s monitoring
and risk management process

»  periodic asset/liability management studies and strategic
asset allocation reviews,

+  penodic monitoring of funding levels and funding ratios,

+  penedic monitoring of compliance with asset allocation
guidelines,

«  periodic monitoring of asset class and/or investment
manager performance against benchmarks, and

+  perodic rnisk capital analysis and stress testing

Postemployment Plans
The Company partictpates in postemployment plans sponsored
by Citigroup that provide income continuation and health and
welfare benefits to certain cligible U § employees on long-
term disabihity

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company s
allocated share of the plans” funded status recognized in the
Company s Consolidated Balance Sheet was $(165) million
and $(163) million. respectively The amounts recogmzed 1n
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of
December 31 2014 and 2013 were $(24) million and $(39)
muilion, respectively The Company s allocated share of the
net expense recogmized 1n the Consohdated Statement of
Income during 2014 and 2013 was $19 mullion and $29
mullion, respectively

Effective January 1, 2014, Citigroup made changes to its
postemployment plans that limit the penod for which future
disabled employees are ehigible for continued company
subsidized medical benefits

The following table summarizes certain assumptions used
in determining the postemployment benefit obligations and net
benefit expense for the Citigroup’s U S postemployment
plans

33

2014 2013
Discount rate 345% 4 05%
Health-care cost increase rate
Following year 7 50% 8 00%
Ulumate rate to which cost increase 1s
assumed to decline 500 500
Year in which the ultimate rate 1s reached 2020 2020

Defined Contribution Plans
I he Company participates in several defined contribution
plans in the U § and certain non-U S locations, all of which
are admimstered 1n accordance with local laws The most
significant defined contribution plan 1s the Citigroup 401(k)
Plan sponsored by Citigroup Inc inthe U 8

Under the Citigroup 401(k) Plan. eligible U S employees
recerve matching contributions of up to 6% of their ehigible
compensation for 2014 and 2013, subject to statutory limits
Additionally for eligible employees whose eligible
compensation is $100,000 or less. a fixed contribution of up to
2% of compensation 1s provided All contributions made by
the plan sponsor are invested according to each participant s
individual elections The Company’s allocated pretax expense
associated with the Citigroup 401(k) Plan amounted to
approximately $224 million and $228 million for the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively
Citibank sponsors the Citibuilder 401(k) Plan for Puerto Rico,
a defined contnibution plan, under which eligible employees
receive a matching contribution of up to 6% of their eligible
compensation for 2014 and 2013 The 2014 and 2013
matching contributions were provided for all employees tin
Puerto Rico at all compensation levels All contributions made
by the plan sponsor are invested according to participants
individual elections Additionally for eligible employees
whose compensation 1s $100 000 or less. a fixed contribution
of up to 2% of compensation 1s provided The Company s
pretax expense associated with the Citibwilder 401(k) Plan for
Puerto Rico amounted to approximately $1 million and $2
million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
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9. INCOME TAXES

The Company 1s included n the Citigroup consohidated
federal tax return and 1s party to a tax sharing agreement with
Citigroup Under such agreement the Company 1s entitled to
a tax benefit for its losses and credits that are recognized 1n
Ciugroup’s Consolidated Financial Statements  Settlements
between the Company and Citigroup of current taxes occur
throughout the year The Company also files in consohdated
and combined state income tax returns with Citigroup and/or
other of 1ts subsidiaries, and files other separate state income
tax returns

Income Taxes
Details of the Company’s income tax provision for the years
ended December 31 are presented in the table below

In mithons of dollars 2014 2013
Current

Federal $ 396 §$ (265)
Fereign 2424 2,669
State 135 36
Total current income taxes $ 2955 % 2,440
Deferred

Federal $ 1,844 § 3246
Foreign (24) (16)
State 864 523
Total deferred income taxes § 2684 § 3,753

Provision for income tax on continuing
gperations before noncontrolhing

interests' S 5639 %5 6,193
Provision {benefit) for income taxes on
discontinued operations 15 214

Income tax expense (benefit} reporied 1n
stockholder's equity related to

Foreign currency translation (251) (460)
Securities available-for-sale 930 (1,417}
Cash flow hedges 156 541
Pension hiability adjustments (304) 245
Income taxes before noncontrolling
interests $ 6,185 § 4388

(1} Includes the effect of securities transactions and other-than-temporary-
impawrment (OTTI) losses resulting in a provision (benefit) of $129
million and $(1138) mullion n 2014 and $184 mulhon and $(61) milhon 1n
2013, respectively

Tax Rate

The reconcihation of the federal statutory income tax rate to
the Company's effective income tax rate applicable to income
from continuing operations (before noncontrolling interests)
for the years ended December 31 was as follows

2014 2013

Federal statutory rate 350% 35 0%
State mcome taxes, net of federal benefit 26 19
Foreign income tax rate differential 15 (14)
Tax advantaged investments “41) (36)
Nondeductible legal and related expenses 65 00
Basis difference in affihates 23) 00
Effect of tax law changes 15 02)
Audit settlements (10 "N
Other, net (06} 04)
Effective income tax rate 351% 30 6%
Deferred Incone Taxes
Deferred income taxes at December 31 related to the
following

In millrons of doliars 2014 2013
Deferred tax assets

Credit loss deduction S 5143 % 5242
Deferred compensation and employee

benefits 1,517 1,278
Restructuring and settlement reserves 811 881
Unremitted foreign earnings 2,854 4,098
Investments and loan basis differences 2,674 4,551
Cash flow hedges 452 620
Tax credit and net operating loss carry-

forwards 8,777 8,903
Fixed assets and leases 1,510 417
Other deferred tax assets 1,247 1,001
Gross deferred tax assets $ 24985 3 26,991
Vatuation allowance — —
Deferred tax assets after valuation

allowance $ 24985 § 26,991
Deferred tax habilities

Intangibles 22) 411
Other deferred tax habilities s (406) $ (456)
Gross deferred tax habilities ) (428) $ (45)
Net deferred tax asset S 24557 3 26,946
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Unrecognized Tax Benefits The {otal amounts of unrecogmized tax benefits at

The following 1s a roll-forward of the Company’s December 31, 2014 and 2013 that, if recognized, would affect

unrecognized tax benefits the Company s effective tax rate were $522 million and $425
million respectively The remamnder of the uncertain tax

fn mithons of doilars 2014 2013 positions has offsetting amounts 0 other jurisdictions or these

Total unrecognized tax benefits at positions are temporary differences
January 1 $ 593 § 1,589

Net amount of increases tor current

year’s tax positions 92 38
Gross amount of increases (decreases)

for prior years’ {ax positions 162 (26)
Gross amount of decreases for prior

years® tax positions (146) @477
Amounts of decreases relating to

settlements (25) (531
Reductions due te lapse of statutes of

limatation (23) 4
Foreign exchange, acquisitions and

dispositions 4 4

Total unrecognized tax benefits at
December 31 L3 657 § 593

Interest and penalties (not imcluded i "total unrecognized tax benefits" in the table above) are a component of the Provision for
income taxes

2014 23
In milions of doliars Pretax Netoftax  Pretax Net of tax
Total interest and penalties 1o the Consolidated Balance Sheet at January 1 ) 133 § 114 § 347 § 223
Total interest and penalties in the Consolidated Statement of lncome 28 17 (80) 53
Total interest and penalues in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31 212 132 183 114
Citibank currently 1s under audit by the Internal Revenue The following are the major tax jurisdictions 1n which the
Service and other major taxing Jurisdictions around the world Company and 1ts affiliates operate and the earliest tax year
It 15 thus reasonably possible that significant changes n the subject to examimnation
gross balance of unrecognized tax benefits may occur within
the next 12 months, although Citibank does not expect such Jurisdiction Tax year
audits to result in amounts that would cause a significant United States 2012
change to its effecttve tax rate other than as discussed below New York State and City 2006
Citibank expects to conclude its IRS audit for the United Kmgdom 2013
2012-2013 cycle within the next 12 months The gross Ireland 2010
uncertain tax positions at December 31. 2014 for the items that India 2010
may be resolved are as much as $93 milhon Because of the -
number and nature of the 1ssues remaining to be resolved, the Hong Kong 2008
potential tax benefit to continuing operations could be Singapore 2007
anywhere from $0 to $93 mullion In additton Citibank may Brazil 2010

conclude certain state and local tax audits within the next 12
months The gross uncertain tax positions at December 31,
2014 are as much as $93 million In addition, there 1s gross
interest of as much as $123 million The potential tax benefit
to continuing operations could be anywhere between $0 and
$137 mullion, excluding interest

Foreign Earnings
Foreign pretax earnings approximated $8 2 billion in 2014 and
$11 4 billion 1n 2013 As a national banking association,
Cuibank and its U S substdiaries are subject to U § taxation
currently on all foreign pretax earmings earned by a foreign
branch Pretay earmings of a foreign subsidiary or affiliate are
subject to U § taxation when effectively repatriated The
Company provides income taxes on the undistributed earmings
of non-U S subsidiaries, except to the extent that such
earnings are indefinitely invested outside the U §

At December 31 2014, 534 2 bilhon of accumulated
undistributed earnings of non-U S subsidiaries were
mdefinitely invesied Atthe existing U S federal income tax
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rate, additional taxes (net of U S foreign tax credits) of $8 5
billion would have to be provided if such earnings were
remitted currently The current year’s effect on the income tax
expense from continuing operations 1s included in the
~Foreign income tax rate differential” line in the reconcihiation
of the federal statutory rate to the Company s effective income
tax rate

Income taxes are not provided on the Company s “savings
bank base year bad debt reserves that arose before 1988,
because, under current U S tax rules such taxes will become
payable only to the extent such amounts are distributed 1n
excess of hmits prescribed by federal law At December 31
2014, the amount of the base year reserves totaled
approximately $358 million (subject to a tax of $125 million)

Deferred Tax Assets
Foreign tax credit carry-forwards expire between 2017 and
2023 and the state and local net operating loss carry-forwards
between 2015 and 2034

The Company had no valuation allowance on deferred tax
assets al December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013
Although it 15 not assured, the Company believes that the
realization of the recogmzed net deferred tax asset of $24 6
billion at December 31, 2014 15 more-likely-than-not based on
the recogrution of its federal and certain state deferred tax
assets in Citigroup s financial statements and expectations as
to future taxable income 1n jurisdictions 1in which the other
deferred tax assets arise and available tax planning strategies
(as defined 1n ASC 740, Income Taxes) that would be
implemented, 1f necessary, to prevent a carry-forward from
expiring
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10 FEDERAL FUNDS, SECURITIES BORROWED,
LOANED, AND SUBJECT TO REPURCHASE/RESALE
AGREEMENTS

Federal funds sold and securities borrowed or purchased
under agreements lo resell, at their respective carrying values,
consisted of the following at December 31

In millions of dollars 2014 2013
Federal funds sold $ — 20
Secunities purchased under agreements to

resell 55,062 59,171
Deposits pard for secunites borrowed 7,442 9,012
Total $ 62,504 § 068,203

Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under
agreements to repurchase, at their respective carrying values,
consisted of the following at December 31

In milons of dollars 2014 2013
Federal funds purchased ] 334 5 910
Securities sold under agreements to

repurchase 11,001 13,463
Deposits recerved for secunities loaned 4,090 4,673
Total $ 15425 3 19,046

The resale and repurchase agreements represent
collateralized financing transactions The Company executes
the transactions primanly to facilitate customer financing
activity

It 1s the Company s policy to take possession of the
underlying collateral, momtor its market value relative to the
amounts due under the agreements and. when necessary,
require prompt transfer of additonal collateral in order o
maintain contractual margin protection Collateral typically
consists of government and government-agency sccurities,
corporate and municipal bonds and mortgage-backed and
other asset-backed securities

The resale and repurchase agreements are generally
documented under industry standard agreements that allow the
prompt close-out of all transactions {including the hqudation
of secunities held) and the offsetting of obligations to return
cash or securities as the case may be. by the non-defaulting
party, following a payment default or other type of default
under the relevant master agreement Events of default
generally include (1) failure to deliver cash or securities as
required under the transaction, (1) fatlure to provide or return
cash or securities as used for margiming purposes (1n1) breach
of representation (1v) cross-default to another transaction
entered into among the parues or. 1n some cases their
affiliates, and (v) a repudhation of obligations under the
agreement The counterparty that receives the securnities 1n
these transactions 1s generally unrestricted in its use of the
securities with the exception of transactions executed on a tri-
party basis, where the collateral 1s maintained by a custodian
and operaticnal limitations may restrict its use of the
securities

A substantial portion of the resale and repurchase
agreements are recorded at fair value as described in Note 22
to the Consolidated Financial Statements The remaining
pertion 1s carried at the amount of cash initially advanced or
received, plus accrued interest, as specified in the respective
agreements

The securities borrowing and lending agreements also
represent collateralized financing transactions similar to the
resale and repurchase agreements  Collateral typically
consists of government and government-agency securities and
corporate debt and equity secunties

Simular to the resale and repurchase agreements, securities
borrowing and lending agreements are generally documented
under mdustry standard agreements that allow the prompt
close-out of all transactions (including the liquidation of
securities held) and the offsetting of obligations to return cash
or securities as the case may be by the non-defaulung party,
following a payment or other default by the other party under
the relevant master agreement Events of default and rights to
use securities under the securities borrowing and lending
agreements are similar 1o the resale and repurchase
agreements referenced above

A substantial portion of securities borrowing and lending
agreements 15 recorded at the amount of cash advanced or
received The remaining portion 1s recorded at fair value as
the Company elected the fair value option for certain securities
borrowed and loaned portfohos, as described in Note 23 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements With respect to securities
loaned, the Company receives cash collateral 1n an amount
generally in excess of the market value of the securities
loaned The Company monitors the market value of securities
borrowed and secunitics loaned on a daily basis and obtains or
posts addiional collateral 1n order to maintain contractual
margin protection

The enforceability of offsetting nights incorporated 1n the
master netting agreements for resale and repurchase
agreements and secunities borrowing and lending agreements
1s evidenced to the extent that a supportive legal opinion has
been obtamned from counsel of recognized standing that
provides the requisite level of certainty regarding the
enforceability of these agicements and that the exercise of
rights by the non-defaulting party to terminate and close-out
transactions on a net basis under these agreements will not be
stayed. or avoided under applicable law upon an event of
default including bankruptcy insolvency or similar
proceeding

A legal opinion may not have been sought or obtained for
certain jurisdictions where local law 15 silent or sufficiently
ambiguous to determine the enforceability of offsetting rights
or where adverse case law or conflicting regulation may cast
doubt on the enforceability of such rights In some
Jurisdictions and for some counterparty types, the insolvency
law for a particular counterparty type may be nonexistent or
unclear as overlapping regimes may exist For example, this
may be the case for certain sovereigns municipalities. central
banks and U § penston plans
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The following tables present the gross and net resale and
repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and lending
agreements and the related offsetting amount permitied under
ASC 210-20-45, as of December 31. 2014 and December 31
2013 The tables also include amounts related to financial
mstruments that are not permitted 1o be offset under ASC
210-20-45 but would be eligible for offselting to the extent an

event of default occurred and a legal opinion supporting
enforceability of the offsetting nights has been obtained
Remaining exposures continue to be secured by financial
collateral, but the Company may not have sought or been able
to obtain a legal opinion evidencing enforceability of the
offsetting nght

As of December 31, 2014

Gross amounts

Amounts
not offset on the
Consolidated Balance

Net amounts of
assets included

Gross amounts offset on the on the Sheet but eligible for
of recogmized Consohdated Conschdated offsetting upon N
In mithions of dollars assets Balance Sheet™  Batance Sheet™  counterparty default™  amounts™
Secunties purchased under agreements to
resell 5 58,202 § 3,140 § 55,062 § 29,263 § 25,794
Deposits paid for securities borrowed 7,442 — 7,442 4,366 3,076
Total S 65,644 § 3,140 § 62,504 § 33,634 S 28,870

Gross amounts
offset on the

Gross amounts

Amounts
not offset on the
Consolidated Balance
Sheet but ehgible for

Net amounts of
habihhies
included on

of recogmized Consohdated the Consohdated offsetting upon Net
In milhons of doliars habilities Balance Sheet™” Balance Sheet™  counterparty default™  amounts™
Secunties sold under agreements lo
repurchase s 14,141 § 3,140 § 11,601 § 3,703 § 7,298
Deposits recerved for securities loaned 4,090 — 4,090 — 4,090
Total $ 18,231 § 3,140 $ 15,091 § 3,703 § 11,338

As of December 31, 2013

Gross amounts

Amounts
not offset on the
Consolidated Balance

Net amounts of
assets included

Gross amounts offset on the on the Sheet but eligible for
of recogmzed Consolidated Consolidated offsetting upon N
in milhans of dolars assets Balance Sheet'”  Balance Sheet”  counterpanty default”  amounts'?
Securities purchased under agreements to
resell 5 59,227 § 56 % 59,171 § 338312 § 25,339
Deposits paid for securnities borrowed 9,012 — 9,012 4,670 4,342
Total 5 68,239 § 56 % 68,183 § 38,502 $ 29,681

Gross amounts

(Gross amounts offset on the

of recogmized

Consohdated

Amounts
not offset on the
Consohdated Balance
Sheet but ehgible for
offseting upon

Net amounts of
hiabihties included on
the Consohidated

Net ’
amounts’

In multions of dollars habiliies Balance Sheet'" Balance Sheet'”? counterparty default®®
Securities sold under agreements to

repurchase 3 13,519 § 56 $ 13,463 §$ 7,269 § 6,194
Deposits recerved for securities loaned 4,673 —_ 4,673 — 4,673
Total s 18,192 § 56 § 18,136 § 7,269 $ 10,867

(13 Includes financial instruments subject to enforceable master netting agreements that are permutted to be offset under ASC 210-20-45

{2) The total of this column for each penod excludes Federal funds sold/purchased See table on prior page

(3} Includes finantial instruments subject to enforceable master netting agreements that are not permitted to be offset under ASC 210-20-45 but would be eligible for
offsesting 10 the extent an event of default has occurred and a legal optmon supporting enforceability of the offsetting nght has been obtained

(4) Remaining exposures continue to be secured by financial collateral, but the Company may not have sought or been able te obtain a legal optnion evidencing
enforceability of the offsetung nght
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11 TRADING ACCOUNT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Trading account assets and Trading account liabilitres at farr
value, consisted of the following at December 31

It milhions of dollars 2014 2013

Trading account assets

Mortgage-backed securities &V

US government-sponsored

agency guaranteed $ 11,257 § 10,070
Commercial 53 —
Non-U S residential — 1
Total mortgage-backed secunties $ 11,310 § 10,0711
US Treasury and federal agencies

US Treasunes $ 6079 $ 378
Total US Treasury and federal

agencies $ 6,079 $§ 3,786
State and municipal securities $§ 2720 § 2600
Foreign government securities 32,760 34,984
Corporate 8,015 10,464
Derivatives @ 73,007 51,476
Equity secunties 23,150 26,228
Asset-backed securities™ 36 50
Other trading assets®™ 11,803 10,925
Total trading account assets 5168,880 $150,584
Trading account habilities
Secunties sold, not yet purchased § 7.683 % 6256
Derivatives 63,430 36,505
Total trading account habihities $ 7,113 § 42761

(1) The Company nvests in mortgage-backed and asset-backed secunties
These securitzations are generally considered VIEs The Company s
maximum exposure to loss from these VIEs 1s equal to the camrying
amount of the secunties, which 1s reflected in the table above For
morigage-backed and asset-backed securitizations in which the Company
has other invol vement, information 15 provided in Note 19 to the
Consolidated Financial Staternents

(2} Presented net pursuant to master netting agreements See Note 20 to the
Consolhdated Financial Statements for a discussion regarding the
accounting and reporting for denvatives

(3} Includes investments 1n unallocated precious metals, as disclosed 1n Note
23 to the Consolidated Financial Statements Also includes physical
commodities accounted for at the lower of cost or farr value
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12. INVESTMENTS

Overview

December 31,
In millions of dollars 2014 2013
Securniuies available-for-sale (AFS) § 276,602 § 256,783
Debt secunties held-to-matunty (HTM) 17,238 2,719
Non-marketable equity securities carned at fair value @ 108 100
Non-markeiable equity securities carned at cost & 6,412 6,973

Total investments

$ 300,360 § 266,575

(1) Camed at amortized cost, including any impairment for secunties that have credit-related impairment
(2) Unrealized gains and losses for non-marketable equity secunties carned at fair value are recogmized 1n earnings
(3) Prumanly consists of shares 1ssued by the Federat Reserve Bank, the Federal Home Loan Banks, foreign central banks and vanous clearing houses of which

Citibank 15 2 member

The following table presents interest and dividends on
investments for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

In millions of dollars 2014 2013
Taxable interest S 4979 § 4,260
Interest exempt from U S federal income

tax 420 708
Dividends 423 420
Total interest and dividends $ 5822 % 5388

The following table presents realized gains and losses on
all investments for the vears ended December 31, 2014 and
2013 The gross reahized investment losses exclude losses
from other-than-temporary impairment (OTTI)

In millrons of dollars 2014 2013
Gross realized investment gains s 796 § 1,301
Gross realized investment losses (427 (776)
Net realized gaimns § 369 § 525

40

Ciubank has sold certain debt securities that were
classified as HI'M These sales were in response to significant
deterioration in the creditworthiness of the 1ssuers or
securities In addition, other securities were reclassified 1o
AFS investments in response to significant credit deterioration
or because a substantial portion of the secunities’ principal
outstanding at acquisition has been collected Because
Cittbank generally intends to sell the secuntics Citibank
recorded OTTI on the secunties The following table sets
forth for the periods indicated gatn (loss) on HTM securities
sold, securities reclassified to AFS and OTTI recorded on AFS
securities reclassified

In nmullions of dollars 2014 2013
Carrying value of HTM securities sold $ 3 3% 583
Net realized gain (loss) on sale of

HTM secunties — (104)
Carrying value of securities reclassified to

AFS 795 285
OTTI losses on securities reclassified

10 AFS (11) 6l1)
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Secunties Availlable-for-Sale
The amortized cost and fair value of AFS securities at December 31 2014 and 2013 were as follows

U S Treasury and federal
agency secunities

2014 2013
Gross Gross 1 Gross CGross
Amortized unrealhized wunreahzed 1 Amortized unrealized unrealized

In milhons of dollars cost gamns' Losses Fair value | cost gains') losses™  Fair value
Debt securities AFS i
Mortgage-backed secunties™ I
U S government-agency !

guaranteed § 3506 S 576 § 126 8 35476 3§ 41858 b3 369 b 861 § 41,366

Prime 1 1 — | 2 — — 2

Non-U § residential 8,247 67 7 8,307 ! 9976 93 4 10,067

Total mortgage-backed securiies § 43,274 § 644 M 133 S 43.785: § 51836 b 464 $ 865 § 51435
i
1
1
1

US Treasury $ 109936 s 317 5 127 $110,126 1+ § 68,579 $ 438 3 145 § 683872
Agency obligations 12,79¢ 37 13 12,814 } 18,184 90 66 18,208
Total US Treasury and federal i

agency securitics $ 122726 $§ 354 8§ 140 5122940} § 86763 % 528 % 211 § 87,080
State and municipal”™ § 12843 § 128 § 921 $ 12,0471 $ 20,123 $ 172 3 1,936 $ 18359
Foreign government 76,099 520 252 76,367 I 76,440 178 453 76,165
Corporate 7,393 39 53 7378 ! 6,467 50 44 6,473
Asset-backed securines® 11,810 24 58 11,776 ! 14,153 33 119 14,067
Other debt securities 661 — — 661 : 710 | — 711
Total debt securities AFS § 274806 S 1,706 S 1,558 S274954( $256492 § 1426 $ 3,628 $254,290
Marketable equity securitics AFS  § 1,371 $ 277 § — § 1,648 : $ 2547 3§ 35 $ 89 § 2493
Total securities AFS $ 276177 S 1,983 S 1,558 8276602, $255,035 $§ 1,461 $ 3,717 $256,783

(1

Gross unrealized gains and losses as presented do not include the impact of munonty investments and the related allocattons and pick-up of unreahzed gains and
losses of AFS secunties These amounts totaled unrealized gans of $34 million and $32 mtllion as of December 31 2014 and 2013 respectively

(2) The Company wnvests in mortgage-backed and asset-backed secunties These secunitizations are generally considered VIEs The Company s maximum exposure
10 loss from these VIEs 1s equal to the carrying amount of the secunties which is reflected in the table above For mortgage-backed and asset-backed
securilizations 1n which the Company has other involvement, see Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(3) The gross unrealized losses on state and municipal debt secunties are pnmanly attnibutable to the effects of fair value hedge accounting  Specifically, Citibank
hedges the LIBOR-benchmark interest rate component of certain fixed-rate tax-exempt state and municipal debt secunties utilizing LIBOR-based interest rate
swaps Dunng the hedge period losses incurred on the LIBOR-hedging swaps recorded in earmings were substantially offset by gains on the state and muntcipal
debt secunties aitnibutable to changes in the LIBOR Swap Rate being hedged However because the LIBOR Swap Rate decreased sigmificantly duning the hedge
penod while the overall fair value of the mumcipal debt secunties was relatively unchanged, the effect of reclassifying fair value gains on these secunties from
Accumulated other comprehensive mcvme flosses} (AOCI) to earnings, attnibutable solely to changes 1n the LIBOR Swap Rate, resulted 1n net unrealized losses
remaining 1n AQOCI that relate to the unhedged components of these secunties
At December 31 2014, the amortized cost of evaluate whether the impairment 1s other-than-temporary Any

approximately 6.100 investments in equity and fixed-income credit-related impairment related to debt securities 1s recorded

securities exceeded their fair value by 51,558 million $362 in earnings as OI'T] Non-credit-related impatrment 1s

mitlion represented fived-income investments that have been recogmized in AOCI 1f the Company does not plan to sell and

in a gross-unrealized-loss position for less than a year and. of 15 not likely to be required to sell For other debt securities

these. 92% are rated investment grade, $1 196 muillion with OTTI, the entire impairment 1s recognized n the
represents fised-income investments that have been 1n a gross- Consolidated Statement of Income

unrealized-loss position for a year or more and. of these 98%
are rated investment grade

At December 31, 2014, the AFS mortgage-backed

securities portfolio fair value balance of $43 785 mullion
consisted of $35 476 milhion of government-sponsored agency
secunities, and $8,309 nullion of privately sponsored
securities, substantrally all of which were backed by non-U S
residential mortgages

As discussed 1n more detail below, the Company cenducts

peniodic reviews of all securities with unrealized losses to
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The table below shows the fair value of AFS secunties that have been in an unrealized loss position for less than 12 months. or for
, 2014 and 2013

12 months or longer. each as of December 31

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Gross Gross Gross
unrealized unreahized unreahzed

In nullions of dotlars Fair value losses Fair value losses Fair value losses
December 31, 2014
Securities AFS
Mortgage-backed securities

US government-agency guaranteed S 4180 s 30 5 5495 8§ 96 |5 9675 § 126

Non-U § residential 1,277 3 199 4 1,476 7
Total mortgage-backed securitics § 5,457 8 33 § 5,694 b3 100 ($ 11,151 $ 133
U S Treasury and federal agency securities

U S Treasury $ 36,303 g 119 § 1,013 s 8|5 37316 $ 127

Agency obligations 5,698 9 745 4 6,443 13
Total U S Treasury and federal agency securities § 42,001 $ 128 1,758 $ 12 |$ 43,759 140
State and municipal b 361 s 14 § 5519 1 907 1% 5,880 s 921
Foreign government 16,694 131 2,544 121 19,238 252
Corporate ) 2,615 41 857 13 3472 54
Asset-backed securities 3,563 12 3,748 46 7311 58
Total securities AFS $ 70,691 h 359 $ 20,120 5 1,199 S8 90,811 § 1,558
December 31, 2013
Securities AFS
Mortgage-backed securities

U § government-agency guaranteed $ 19,221 A 5291 § 5622 % 3321 % 24843 % 861

Non-U § residential 2,184 4 5 — 2,189 4
Total mortgage-backed securities $ 21405 % 533 § 5627 % 332| §$ 27032 % 865
U S Treasury and federal agency securities

US Treasury § 34219 § 131 $ 268 $ 4] $ 34,487 $ 145

Agency obligations 6,677 65 101 1 6,778 66
Total U § Treasury and federal agercy securities $ 40,896 § 196 | $ 369§ 1501 § 41,265 3% 211
State and municipal 3 508 $ 26 3 11,162 $ 1910 $ 11,670 $ 1,936
Foreign government 34,189 531 2,313 59 36,502 590
Corporate 2,671 42 242 2 2,913 44
Asset-backed securities 10,943 57 1,864 62 12,807 119
Marketable equity secunities AFS 1,239 39 — — 1,239 89
Total securities AFS $111,851 $ 1,474 § 21,577 $ 2,380 $ 133,428 | $ 3854
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The following table presents the amortized cost and fair value of AFS debt securities by contractual maturity dates as of

December 31 2014 and 2013

2014 2013

Amortized Amortized
in mithons of dollars cost Fair value cost Fair value
Mortgage-backed securities ™
Due within 1 year $ 44 § 44 3 87 8§ 87
After 1 but within 5 years 925 928 340 348
After 5 but within 10 years 1,334 1,358 2,869 2,902
After 10 years @ 40,971 41,455 48,540 48,098
Total $ 43,274 § 43,785 % 51,836 § 51,435
U S Treasury and federal agencies
Due within | year 5 13,032 § 13,046 3 15,779 & 15,840
Afier 1 but within 5 years 104,467 104,579 65,927 66,110
Afier 5 but within 10 years 2,269 2,307 2,116 2,173
After 10 years® 2,958 3,008 2,941 2,957
1 otal ) 122,726 8 122940 % 86,763 % 87,080
State and mumicipal
Due within 1 year S 583 8 583 % 565 % 569
After | but withun 5 years 3,568 3,570 3,660 3,664
After 5 but withun 10 years 421 428 338 379
After 10 years'? 8,271 7.466 15,560 13,747
Total $ 12,843 § 12,047 % 20,123 § 18,359
Foreign government
Due within | year 5 27,276 § 27,299 3§ 32,895 % 32,829
After 1 but withun 5 years 36,192 36,717 38,055 37.890
After 5 but within 10 years 12,229 11,951 5,328 5,174
After 10 years @ 402 400 299 272
Total s 76,099 § 76,367 3 76,577 § 76,165
All other ¥
Due within 1 year b 879 § 879 § 2,287 § 2,228
After 1 but within 5 years 8,384 8,396 8,441 8,467
After 5 but within 10 years 4,963 4,946 3,537 3,533
After 10 years @ 5,638 5,594 7,065 7,023
Total § 19,864 § 19,815 § 21,330 § 21,251
Total debt securities AFS A 274,806 § 274954 § 256,629 $ 254,290

(1} Includes mortgage-hacked secunities of U S government-sponsored agencies
(2} Investments with no stated matunties are included as contractual matunties of greater than 10 years Actual matunities may differ due to call or prepavment nghts
(3) Includes corporate, asset-backed and other debt secunties
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Debt Securities Held-to-Matunty
The carrying value and fair value of debt securities HTM at December 31 2014 and 2013 were as follows

Net
unreahzed
gain/ (loss) Gross Gross
Amortlllz,cd recogmzed Carryllrgg unrealized unrealized

In millions of dollars cost m AQCI value gamns (losses) Fair value
December 31, 2014
Debt secunities held-to-maturity
Mortgage-backed securmes ¥

U S government agency guaranteed b 8795 § 95 8 8,890 8 106 § 6) $ 8,990

Alt-A 34 ) 27 9 — 36

Subprime 3 n 2 —_ — 2

Non-U 8§ residential 983 (137) 846 92 — 938

Commercial 8 —_ 8 1 —_ 9
Total morngage-backed secunties $ 9,823 § (50) 9,773 8 208 § 6) 3 9,975
State and municipal s 7,502 § 451) § 7051 § 159 § (36) 5 7,174
Corporate —_ —_ _ —_ — —
Asset-backed secunities 422 (8) 414 17 9) 422
Total debt securities held-to-maturity © 5 17,747 8 (509) § 17,238 § 384 8 1S 17,571
December 31, 2013
Debt securities held-to-maturity
Mortgage-backed secunties @

Alt-A $ 41 3 GRS 323 10 § (s 41

Subprime 2 — 2 — — 2

Non-U S residential 1,372 (206) 1,166 60 (20) 1,206

Commercial 10 — 10 1 — L
Total mortgage-backed securities $ 1,425 § (215) $ 1,210 $ 71 8 21 s 1,260
State and municipal 3 345 % 5 s 340 8 7% (13) $ 334
Corporale 818 (78) 740 11 — 851
Asset-backed securiies ¥ 441 (12) 429 19 I 447
Total debt securities held-to-maturity ) 3,020 % 3100 8 2,719 $ 208 §$ (353 2,892

(1}

(3

4}

(5)

For securities transferred to HTM from Trading accownt assets, amortized cost basis 1s defined as the fair value of the secunties at the date of transfer plus any
accretion income and less any impanments recogmzed in earmings subsequent to transfer For secunties transferred to HTM from AFS, amortized cost 1s defined
as the onginal purchase cost adjusted for the cumulative accretion or amortization of any purchase discount or premium plus or minus any cumulative fair value
hedge adjustments, net of accretion or amoruzation and less any other-than-temporary impairment recogmized in eamings
HTM secunttes are carned on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at amortized cost basis plus or minus any unamortized unrealized gains and losses and fair value
hedge adjustments recogmzed in AOCIH prior to reclassifying the securnities from AFS 1o HTM Changes in the values of these securities are not reported in the
financial statements, except for the amoriization of any difference between the carrying value at the transfer date and par value of the securities, and the
recognition of any non-credit fair value adjustments in AOCI 1n connection with the recognition of any credit impaioment 1n earnings related to securities the
Company continues to intend to hold until matunty
The Company nvests in mortgage-backed and asset-backed secunties These secuntizations are generally censidered VIEs The Company s maximum exposure
to loss from these VIEs 15 equal to the carrying amount of the secunties which i1s reflected wn the table above For mortgage-backed and asset-backed
securitizations 1n which the Company has other involvement see Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
The net unrealized losses recogrized 1n AOCI on state and mumcipal debt secunties are pnmanly attnibutable to the effects of fair value hedge accounting apphed
when these debt securities were classified as AFS Specifically, Cittbank hedged the LIBOR-benchmark interest rate component of certain fixed-rate tax-exermnpt
state and municipal debt secunities utihzing LIBOR-based interest rate swaps Duning the hedge period losses incurred on the LIBOR-hedging swaps recorded 1n
earnings were substantially offset by gains on the state and municipal debt secunties attnbutable to changes in the LIBOR swap rate being hedged However,
because the LIBOR swap rate decreased sigmificantly during the hedge penod while the overall fair vatue of the mumicipal debt secunties was relatively
unchanged the effect of reclassifying fair value gains on these securities from AOCI to earmings attnibutable solely to changes in the LIBOR swap rate resulted in
net unrealized losses remaining 1n ACCI that relate to the unhedged components of these secunities Upon transfer of these debt secunities to HTM, all hedges have
been de-designated and hedge accounting has ceased
During 2014, secunues with a total fair value of approumately $11 8 bilhion were transferred from AFS to HTM and compnised 35 4 billion of U S government
agency mortgage-backed securities and $6 4 illion of obligations of U 8 states and mumicipahities The transfer reflects the Company's intent to hold these
securities to matunty or to issuer call i order to reduce the impact of pnce volatility on AOCI and certain capital measures under Basel 111 While these secunties
were transferred to HTM at farr value as of the transfer date no subsequent changes in value may be recorded other than in connection with the recogmition of any
subsequent other-than-temporary impairment and the amertization of differences between the carrying values at the transfer date and the par values of each
security as an adjustment of yield over the rematmng contractual hfe of each secunty Any net unrealized holding losses within AOCI related to the
respective securities at the date of transfer, inclusive of any cumulative fair value hedge adjustments will be amorized over the remaining contractual life of each
secunty as an adjustment of yicld 1n a manner consistent with the amortization of any prenuum or discount
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Ciubank has the positive intent and ability to hold these
securities to matunty or where applicable the exercise of any
issuer call options, absent any unforeseen further significant
changes 1n circumstances, including deterioration 1n credit or
changes in regulatory capital requirements

The net unrealized losses classified in AOCI primanly
relate to debt secunities previously classified as AFS that have
been transferred 10 HTM, and include any cumulative fair
value hedge adjustments The net unrealized loss amount also
includes any non-credit-related changes in fair value of HTM

securities that have suffered credit impairment recorded in
earnings The AQCI balance related to HTM securities 1s
amortized over the remaining contractual life of the related
securities as an adjustrment of yield 1n a manner consistent
with the accretion of any difference between the carrying
value at the transfer daie and par value of the same debt
securities The table below shows the fair value of debt
securities in HTM that have been in an unrecognized loss
position as of December 31 2014 and 2013 for less than 12
months and for 12 months or longer

The table below shows the fair value of HTM debt securities that have been n an unrecogmzed loss position as of December 31, 2014

and 2013
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Gross Gross Gross
unrealized unrealized unrealized

In millions of dollars Fair value losses Fair value losses Fair value losses
December 31, 2014
Debt securities held-to-matunty
Mortgage-backed secunties 5 — — 8 LIS 8 6 5 L1115 § 6
State and municipal 2,515 34 90 2 2,615 36
Asset-backed secursuies — - 171 9 171 9
Total debt secunities held-to-maturnity 8 2,525 34 3 1,376 § 17 5 3901 8§ 51
December 31, 2013
Debt securities held-to-maturity
Mortgage-backed securities $ — — 3 334§ 21§ 334 $ 21
State and mumcipal 87 i} 9 2 96 13
Asset-backed securities — — 179 1 179 1
Total debt secunties held-to-matunity $ 87 11 3 522 % 24 8 609 § 35

Excluded from the gross unrecognized losses presented 1n
the above table are the $(509) milhon and $(310) mullion of
net unrealized losses recorded 1in AQCI as of December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively primarnly related to the difference
between the amortized cost and carrying value of HTM
securities that were reciassified from AFS Substantally all of
these net unrecognzed losses relate to securittes that have
been in a loss position for 12 months or longer at
December 31, 2014 and 2013
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The following table presents the carrymng value and fair value of HTM debt secunties by contractual maturity dates as of December

31 2014 and 2013

As of December 31, 2014

As of December 31, 2013

In milions of doflars Carrymng value Fair value Carrying value Fair value
Mortgage-backed secunities

Due within 1 year — 8 — 5 — 3 —
Afier 1 but within 5 years — — — —
After 5 but within 10 years 863 869 10 11
Afier 10 years " 8,910 9,105 1,200 1,249
Total 9,773 § 9974 § 1,210 § 1,260
State and municipal

Due within 1 year KL J8 % 5% 5
After 1 but withun 5 years 10 10 3

Afier 5 but within 10 years 123 126 50 53
After 10 years " 6,883 7,000 282 273
Total 7,051 § 7174 § 340 % 334
All other ¥

Due within 1 year — 8 — % — % —
After 1 but within 5 years — — 740 851
After 5 but within 10 years —_ — — —
After 10 years ¥ 414 423 429 447
Total 414 § 423 % 1,169 % 1,298
Total debt securities held-to-maturity 17,238 § 17,571 § 2,719 % 2,892

(1} Investments with no stated matunties are included as contractual matunities of greater than 10 years Actual matunties may differ due to call or prepayment nghts

(2) Includes corporate and asset-backed secunities

Evaluating Investments for Other-Than-Temporary
Impairments

Overview
The Company conducts periodic reviews of all securities with
unrealized losses to evaluate whether the impairment 1s other-
than-temporary

An unrealized loss exists when the current fair value of an
individual security 1s less than 11s amortized cost basis
Unrealized losses that are determined to be temporary 1n
nature are recorded, net of tax, in AOCI for AFS securities
Losses related to HTM securities generally are not recorded,
as these investments are carmied at amortized cost basis
However for HTM securities with credit-related losses, the
credit loss 15 recogmzed 1n earnings as OTTI and any
difference between the cost basis adjusted for the O I'T [ and
fair value 1s recognized 1n AOCI and amortized as an
adjustment of yield over the remaining contractual life of the
security For securities transferred to HTM from Trading
account assets, amortized cost 1s defined as the fair value of
the securinies at the date of transfer, plus any accretion income
and less any impairment recognized 1n earnings subsequent to
transfer For securities transferred to HTM from AFS
amortized cost 15 defined as the original purchase cost,
adjusted for the cumulative accretion or amortization of any
purchase discount or premium plus or minus any cumulative
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fair value hedge adjustments net of accretion or amortization
and less any impairment recognized 1n earnings

Regardless of the classification of the secunties as AFS or
HTM, the Company assesses each position with an unrealized
loss for OTTI Factors considered in determining whether a
loss 1s temporary nclude

*  the length of ume and the extent to which fair value has
been below cost,

+  the severity of the impairment,

« the cause of the impairment and the financial condition
and near-term prospects of the i1ssuer,

* activity in the market of the 1ssuer that may indicate
adverse credit conditions, and

»  the Company s ability and intent to hold the investment
for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated
recovery

The Company’s review for impairment generally entails

= dentification and evaluation of impaired investments,

* analysis of individual investments that have fair values
less than amortized cost including consideration of the
length of time the investment has been 1n an unrealized
loss position and the expected recovery penod,

«  consideration of evidential matter, including an evaluation
of factors or triggers that could cause individual
mvestments to qualify as having other-than-temporary
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impairment and those that would not support other-than-
temporary impairment, and

* documentation of the results of these analyses as required
under business policies

Debt
The entire difference between amorttzed cost basts and fair
value 1s recognized 1n cartings as OTTI for impaired debt
securities that the Company has an intent to sell or for which
the Company believes 1t will more-likely-than-not be required
to sell prior to recovery of the amoruzed cost basis However,
for those securities that the Company does not intend to sell
and 1s not likely to be required to sell, only the credit-related
impatrment 1s recognized in earnings and any non-credit-
related impairment 15 recorded in AOCI

For debt securities credit imparrment exists where
management does not expect to recerve contractual principal
and interest cash flows sufficient to recover the entire
amortized cost basis of a security

Equity

For equity securities, management considers the various
factors described above, including its intent and ability to hold
the equity secunity for a period of time sufficient for recovery
ta cost or whether 1t 1s more-likely-than-not that the Company
will be required to scll the secunity prior to recovery of 1ts cost
basis Where management lacks that intent or ability, the
securily $ decline in fair value 15 deemed to be other-than-
temporary and 1s recorded 1n earmngs AFS equity securities
deemed to be other-than-temporarily unpaired are written
down to fair value, with the full difference between fair value
and cost recogmized in earnings

Management assesses equity method investments that
have fair values that are less than their respective carrying
values for OTTI Fair value 1s measured as price multiplied by
quanuity 1f the investee has publicly listed secunities If the
investee 15 not publicly listed other methods are used (see
Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements)

For impaired equity method investments that Citi plans to
sell prior to recovery of value or would likely be required to
sell, with no expectation that the fair value will recover prior
to the expected sale date, the full impairment 1s recognized in
earnings as OTTI regardless of sevenity and duration The
measurement of the OTTI does not include partial projected
recoveries subsequent to the balance sheet date

For impaired equity method mvestments that management
does not plan to sell and 15 not likely to be required to sell
prior to recovery of value the evaluation of whether an
impairment 1s other-than-temporary ts based on (1) whether
and when an equity method investment will recover in value
and (1) whether the investor has the intent and abihty to hold
that investment for a period of time sufficient to recover the
value The determination of whether the impairment 15
considered other-than-temporary considers the following
indicators, regardless of the ttme and extent of impairment

+  the cause of the impairment and the financial condition
and near-term prospects of the issuer including any
specific events that may influence the operations of the
1ssuer
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+  the intent and ability to hold the investment for a period
of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in
market value, and

«  the length of tme and extent to which fair value has been
less than the carrying value

The sections below describe the Company s process for
identifying credit-related impairments for security types that
have the most significant unrealized losses as of December 31,
2014

Akbank

As of December 31, 2014 Ciubank s remamning 9 9% stake in
Akbank TA S an equity investment in Turkey (Akbank) 1s
recorded within marketable equity securities available-for-
sale The revaluation of the Turkish lira was hedged so the
change m the value of the currency related to Akbank
mvestment did not have a significant impact on earnings
during the year On March 5, 2015, Citibank sold 396 multion
common shares in Akbank, which represents its entire 9 9%
equity interest in Akbank Total proceeds from the transaction
are expected to be $1 15 billion, with no matenal financial
impact to Crubank

Mortgage-backed securities

For U S mortgage-backed securities {and in particular for Alt-
A and other mortgage-backed secunities that have significant
unrealized losses as a percentage of amortized cost), credit
impairment 15 assessed using a cash flow model that estimates
the principal and interest cash flows on the underlying
mortgages using the security-specific collateral and
transaction structure The model distnbutes the estimated cash
flows to the vanious tranches of securities, considering the
transaction structure and any subordination and credit
enhancements that exist in that structure ‘1 he cash flow model
incorporates actual cash flows on the mortgage-backed
securities through the current peried and then estimates the
remaining cash flows using a number of assumptions,
including default rates. prepayment rates, recovery rates (on
foreclosed properties) and loss severity rates (on non-agency
murlgage-backed securitics)

Management develops specific assumptions using
market data internal estimates and esumates published by
rating agencies and other third-party sources Default rates are
projected by considering current underlying mortgage loan
performance generally assuming the default of (1) 10% of
current loans (1) 25% of 30-59 day delinquent loans,

(11) 70% of 60-90 day delinquent loans and (1v) 100% of 91+
day delinquent loans These estimates are extrapolated along a
default timing curve to estimate the total lifeime pool default
rate Other assumptions contemplate the actual collateral
attributes, including geographic concentrations rating actions
and current market prices

Cash flow projections are developed using different stress
test scenartos Management evaluates the results of those
stress tests (including the sevenity of any cash shortfall
indicated and the likelihoed of the stress scenartos actualtly
occurring based on the underlying pool's characteristics and
performance) to assess whether management expects to
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recover the amortized cost basis of the secunty [f cash flow Aa3/AA- Inthe event of an extemal rating downgrade or

projections indicate that the Company does not expect to other indicator of credit itmpairment (1 ¢, based on instrument-
recover 1ts amortized cost basis. the Company recognizes the specific estimates of cash flows or probability of 1ssuer
estimated credit loss in earnings default), the subject bond 1s specifically reviewed for adverse
changes in the amount or tuming of expected contractual
State and municipal securities principal and interest payments
The process for idenufying credit impairments n Citibank’s For state and mumcipal bonds with unrealized losses that
AFS and HTM state and mumeipal bonds 1s primarily based Ciubank plans to sell (for AFS only) would likely be required
on a credit analysis that incorporates third-party credit ratings to sell or will be subject to an 1ssuer call deemed probable of
Ciubank momitors the bond 1ssuers and any insurers providing exercise prior to the expected recovery of 1ts amort:zed cost
default protection in the form of financial guarantee insurance basis (for AFS and HTM), the full impairment 1s recognized in
The average external credit rating. 1gnoring any insurance 1s earnings

Recogmiton and Measurement of OTTI
The following table presents the total OTTI recognized n earnings for the year ended December 31, 2014

OTTI on Investments and Other Assets Year ended December 31, 2014
Other
In millions of dollars AFS HTM assets Total

[mpairment losses related to securities that the Company does not intend to sell nor will likely be
required to sell

Total OTTI losses recogmized during the year ended December 31, 2014 5 — 5 — 5 — § —
Less portion of impairment loss recogized in AQCI (before taxes) — — — —

Net impairment losses recognized in earnings for secunities that the Company does not intend to

sell nor will hikely be required to sell ) — 8 — 5 — 3 —_
Impairment losses recogmzed in earmings for securiues that the Company ntends to sell or more-

likely-than-not will be required to sell before recovery 312 26 — 338
Total impairment losses recognized n earnings ) 312 § 26 § — 3 338

(1) Includes OTTI on non-marketable equity secunties
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The following table presents the total OTTI recogmzed in earmings for the year ended December 31,2013

OTTI on Investments and Other Assels

Year ended December 31, 2013

In multions of dollars

AFS

HTM

Other
assets

Total

Impairment losses related to securities that the Company does not ntend to sell nor will likely be

required to sell

Total OTTI losses recogmized duning the year ended December 31, 2013

Less portion of impairment loss recognized in AQCI (before taxes)

Net impairment losses recogmzed in earmings for secunities that the Company does not mtend to

sell nor will hikely be required to sell

Impairment losses recognized mn earmings for secunities that the Company mtends to sell or more-

likely-than-not will be required to sell before recovery

159

168

Total iImpairment losses recognized 1n earnings

3 165 §

174

(1) Includes OTTI on non-marketable equity secunties

The following table presents OTTI activity during 2014 of the credit-related impairments recognized in earnings for AFS and HTM
debt secunties held as of December 31, 2014 that the Company does not intend to sell nor will likely be required to sell

OTTI activity for the year ended December 31, 2014

Credit
imparments
recognized in

earnings on

Credit

impairments
recognized in
earnngs on

securittes that

Reduchons
due to credit-

mpaired

securities not have been secunties sold,
previously previously transferred or

In millrons of doliars impaired mmpaired matured Total
AFS debt securities
Corporate — % S (ns §))]
Other debt secunities —_ —_ —
lotal OT 11 credit losses recogmized for AFS debt securihes — § ) ms m
HTM debt securities
Corporate — 8 3 (56) 8 (56)
Total OTTI credit losses recogmzed for HTM debt securities — 8 $ (56) $ (56)
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13 LOANS

Citibank loans are reported in two categornies—Consumer and
Corporate These categories are classified primarily according
to the segment and subsegment that manage the loans

Consumer Loans
The following table provides information by loan type at
December 31, 2014 and 2013

In milirons of dollars 2014 2013

Consumer loans

InUS offices
Cards § 112917 § 115,376
Mortgage and real estate ! 86,321 96,160
Installment, revolving credit and other 4,692 3,781
Commercial and industnial 5,895 6,592

$ 209,825 § 222,109

In offices outside the U S

Cards $ 25236 5 29,350

Morigage and real estate 45,940 46,234

Installment, revolving credit and other 22,391 22,676

Commercial and industnal 16,530 17,545

Lease financing 496 638

§ 110,593 § 116,443

Total Consumer loans $ 320,418 $ 338,552

Net uneammed income NS 984
Consumer loans, net of unearned

mncome $ 321,326 § 339,536

(1) Loans secured primanily by real estate

Citibank has established a risk management process to
monitor evaluate and manage the principal risks associated
with its consumer loan portfohio Credit quahty indicators that
are acuvely monitored include delinquency status consumer
credit scores (FICO), and loan to value (LTV) ratios each as
discussed 1n more detail below

Included in the loan table above are lending products
whose terms may give rise to additional credit 1ssues Credit
cards with below-market introductory interest rates and
interest-only loans are examples of such products These
products are closcly managed using credit technigues that are
intended to mitigate their higher inherent rnisk

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
Citibank sold and/or reclassified to held-for-sale $8 billion and
$11 billion, respectively. of consumer loans The Company did
not have significant purchases of consumer loans during the

year ended December 31, 2014 During the year ended
December 31 2013, Citibank acquired approsimately $7
billion of loans related to the acquisition of Best Buy's U S
crecht card portfolio

Delinguency Status
Delinquency status 1s monitored and considered a key
indicator of credit quality of consumer loans Principally the
U S residential first mortgage loans use the Mortgage
Banking Association (MBA) method of reporting
delinquencies, which considers a loan delinquent 1f a monthly
payment has not been recerved by the end of the day
immediately preceding the loan s next due date  All other
loans use a method of reporting delinquencies, which
considers a loan delinquent 1f a monthly payment has not been
recelved by the close of business on the loan’s next due date

As a general policy, residential first mortgages, home
equity loans and installment loans are classified as non-accrual
when loan payments are 90 days contractually past due Credit
cards and unsecured revolving loans generally accrue interest
until payments are 180 days past due Home equity loans are
classified as non-accrual iIf the related residential first
mortgage 1s 90 days or more past due Morigage loans
discharged through Chapter 7 bankruptcy, other than Federal
Housing Administration (FHA}-insured loans, are classified as
non-accrual Commercial market loans are placed on a cash
(non-accrual) basis when 1t 1s determined, based on actual
experience and a forward-looking assessment of the
collectability of the loan in {ull, that the payment of interest or
principal 1s doubtful or when interest or principal 1s 90 days
past due

The policy for re-aging modified U 8§ consumer loans to
current status vanes by product Generally. one of the
cenditions to qualify for these modifications is that a
minimum number of payments (typically ranging from one to
three) be made Upon modification the loan 15 re-aged to
current status However, re-aging practices for certain open-
ended consumer loans, such as credit cards. are governed by
Federa! Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC)
guwdelines For open-ended consumer loans subject to FFIEC
gudelines one of the conditions for the loan to be re-aged to
current status 1s that at least three consecutive minimum
monthly payments, or the equivalent amount must be
recerved In addition, under FFIEC guidelines, the number of
times that such a loan can be re-aged 1s subject to limitations
{generally once 1in 12 months and twice 1n five years)
Furthermore, FHA and Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)
loans are modified under those respective agencies’ guidelines
and payments are not always required in order to re-age a
modified loan to current
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The following tables provide details on Ciubank’s consumer loan delinquency and non-accrual loans as of December 31 2014 and
December 31 2013

Consumer Loan Delinquency and Non-Accrual Details at December 31, 2014

. Past due 90 days past
Totalmm 30-89 dag =90 day(s, governmen{t4 , Tola}” Total due
In mithons of dollars current past due past due guaranteed loans non-accrual  and accruing
In North America offices
Residenual first mortgages L3 53,911 8 906 $ 752§ 3432 8 59,001 3 2,032 § 2,759
Home equity loans & 25,063 275 458 — 25,796 1,207 —
Credit cards 111,435 1,318 1,273 —_ 114,026 —_ 1,273
Installment and other 3,583 48 18 _ 3,649 — —
Commercial market loans 8,638 33 14 — 8,685 139 14
Total s 202,630 § 2,580 § 2,515 § 3432 S 211,157 § 3378 § 4,046
In offices outside North America
Residential first mortgages ) 40,017 $ 198 § 97 §$ — 3 40,312 § 123 8 —
Home equuty loans @ - —_ - —_ - - -
Credit cards 24,079 377 306 — 24,762 63 306
[nstallment and other 12,996 234 122 —_ 23,352 123 15
Commercial market loans 21,593 59 921 — 21,743 177 —
Total 8 108,685 S 868 § 616 § — 8 110,169 $ 486 8 n
Total Citibank ] 311,315 § 3,448 § 3,131 5 3,432 § 321,326 § 3,864 § 4,367

(1) Loans less than 30 day s past due are presented as current

(2} Includes $43 million of residennal first mortgages recorded at far value

(3} Excludes loans guaranteed by U S povernment-sponsored entities

(4) Consists of residenual first mortgages that are guaranteed by U S5 government sponsored entities that are 30-89 days past due of 30 6 hillion and > 90 days past
due of $2 8 billion

(5) Fixed-rate home equity loans and loans extended under home equity lines of credit which are typically in jumor hen positions

Consumer Loan Delinquency and Nen-Accrual Details at December 31, 2013

Past due 90 days past
Total 30-89 days > 90 days government Total Total due
in enltions of doltars current ‘P2 pagt due past due @ guaranteed loans ¥ non-accrual  and aceruing
In North America offices
Residential first mortgages 5 57,121 § 1,553 § 1,303 § 5271 $ 65248 § 2,652 % 3,997
Home equity loans 27,999 368 533 — 28,900 1,379 —
Credn cards 113,874 1,495 1 456 — 116,825 — 1,436
Installment and other 3,765 68 23 — 3,856 30 3
Commercial market loans 8744 29 29 — 8,802 124 7
Total 3 211,503 3 3,513 % 3344 § 5271 §$ 223631 $ 4,185 $ 5,463
In offices outside North America
Residenual first mortgages ) 40,491 § 273 3 179§ — $ 40,943 § 203§ —
Home equity loans — — — — — — —
Credit cards 27,772 541 417 — 28,730 72 412
[nstallment and other 22,541 274 115 — 22930 123 —
Commercial market loans 23,082 94 126 — 23,302 215 —
Total b 113,886 $ 1,i82 % 837 3% — 3 115,905 § 613 § 412
Total Citibank $ 325389 8 4,695 § 4,181 §$ 5271 § 339536 $ 4,798 § 5,875

{1} Loans less than 30 days past due are presented as current

(2) Includes $0 9 billion of residential first mortgages recorded at fair value

(3) Excludes loans guaranteed by U S government-sponsored entities

(4) Consists of residenual first morigages that are guaranteed by U S govemment-sponsored entities that are 30-89 days past due of $1 2 billion and > 90 days past
due of $4 | billion

(5) Fined-rate home equity loans and loans extended under home equity lines of credit which are typically in junior hen positions
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Consumer Credit Scores (FICQ)

In the U § , independent credit agencies rate an indivedual’s
risk for assuming debt based on the individual s credit history
and assigh every consumer a "FICO" (Fair Isaac Corporation)
credit score These scores are continually updated by the
agencies based upon an individual s credit actions (c g taking
out a loan or mussed or late payments)

The following tables provide details on the FICO scores
attributable to Citibank’s U § consumer loan portfolio as of
December 31 2014 and 2013 (commercial market loans are
not included in the table since they are business-based and
FICO scores are not a primary driver in their credit
evaluation) FICO scores are updated monthly for
substantially all of the portfolio. or, otherwise, on a quarterly
basis, for the remaining portfolio

FICQ score distribution 1n

US portfolio'® December 31,2014

>620but Equal to
Less than less than  or greater

In milhons of dollars 620 660 than 660
Residential first mortgages § 4590 § 3665 § 43,383
Home equity loans 2,57 2,112 20,419
Credit cards 7,645 10,295 92,871
Instaliment and other 351 270 2,692
Total $ 15,158 § 16,342 § 159,365

(1) Excludes loans guaranteed by U S government entities, loans subject to
long-term standby commitments (LTSCs) with U S govermnment-
sponsored entities and loans recorded at faur value

(2) Excludes balances where FICO was not available Such amounts are not
matenal

FICO score distribution in

US portfolio'® December 31,2013

> 620 but Equal to
Less than less than or greater

In mulitons of doliars 620 660 than 660
Residential first mortgages § 6365 3% 4304 3 43,498
Home equity loans 3,204 2,379 22,551
Credit cards 8,121 10,691 94,427
Installment and other 408 277 2,829
Total $ 18098 3 17,651 % 163,305

(1) Excludes loans guaranteed by U S government agencies, loans subject
to LTSCs with U § government-sponsored entities and loans recorded at
fair value

(2) Excludes balances where FICO was not available Such amounts are not
matenal

Loan to Value (LTV) Ratios
LTV ratios (loan balance divided by appraised value) are
calculated at ongination and updated by applying market price
data

The following tables provide details on the LTV ratios
attributable to Citibank s U S consumer mortgage portfolios
as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 LTV ratios are updated
monthly using the most recent Core Logtc Home Price Index
data available for substantially all of the portfolio applied at
the Metrepolitan Statistical Area level, 1f available or the state
level 1f not The remainder of the portfolio 1s updated in a
similar manner using the Federal Housing Finance Agency
indices

LTV distribution m U S

portfolio'"® December 31, 2014
> 80%
but less
Less than  thanor Greater
orequal  equal to than
in mulions of dollars to 80% 100% 100%
Residenual first mortgages $ 428418 739 § 1,53
Home equity loans 13,964 6,686 4,339
Total $ 56805 8§ 14076 § 5870

(1) Excludes loans guaranteed by U S government entiies loans subject 1o
LTSCs with U § govemment-sponsored entities and loans recorded at
fair value

(2) Excludes balances where LTV was not available Such amounts are not
malterial

LTV Dlstll‘ll(ll))ullon mUS

Portfolio' December 31, 2013
> 80%
but less
Less than  thanor Greater
orequal equal to than
In nullions of dollars to 80% 100% 100%
Residential first mortgages $ 40,199 § 10,849 § 3,250
Home equity loans 13,569 7,849 6,596
Total $ 53,768 § 18,698 § 9,846

(1) Excludes loans guaranteed by U S government agencies loans subject
to LTSCs with U § government-sponsored entities and loans recorded
at fair value

(2) Excludes balances where LTV was not avallable Such amounts are not
material

Impaired Consumer Loans

Impaired loans are those loans where Citibank believes it 1s
probable all amounts due according to the original contractual
terms of the loan will not be collected Impaired consumer
loans include non-accrual commercial market loans as well as
smaller-balance homogeneous loans whose terms have been
modified due to the borrower’s financial difficulties and where
Cinbank has granted a concession to the borrower These
modifications may include interest rate reductions and/or
principal forgiveness Impatired consumer loans exclude
smaller-balance homogeneous loans that have not been
modified and are carmed on a non-accrual basis In addition
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impaired consumer loans exclude substanually all loans
mod:fied pursuant to Ciibank’s short-term loan modification
programs (1 ¢ for periods of 12 months or less) that were
modified prior to January 1, 2011

The following tables present information about total impaired consumer loans at and for the penods ending December 31 2014
and 2013, respectively and for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 for interest income recognized on impaired consumer
loans

At and for the year ended December 31, 2014

Recorded plimr;?;gl Related specific Average Interest income

In mullrons of dollars investment'? balance allonance®  carrying value®  recogmized™
Mortgage and real estate

Residential first mortgages $ 10,014 § 10,774 § 1,224 8 11,399 § 443

Home equity loans 1,541 2,184 459 1,557 28
Credit cards 2,310 2,350 834 2,624 187
Installment and other

[ndividual installment and other 300 315 169 337 24

Commercial market loans 210 383 47 173 21
Total b 14375 § 16,006 $ 2,733 § 16,090 $ 703

(13 Recorded invesiment in a loan includes net defurred loan fees and costs, unamortized premium or discount and direct write-downs and includes accrued nterest
only on credit card loans

(2}  $1,750 million of residential first mortgages $553 milhion of home equity loans and $148 muliion of commercial market loans do not have a specific allowance

(3) Inctuded in the Affowance for loan losses

{4) Average carrying value represents the average recorded imvestment ending balance for the last four quarters and does not inctude the related specific allowance

(5} Cash interest receipts on smaller-balance homogeneous loans are generally recorded as revenue The interest recognition policy for commercial market loans 1s
identical to that for corporate loans, as descnbed below

At and for the year ended December 31, 2013

Recorded pl:::llzj:;:] Related specific Average Interest income

Int mliions of dollars investment' balance allowance™  carrymg value™  recogmized
Mortgage and real estate

Residential first mortgages 3 12,515 8 13412 $ 1,516 § 13,115 § 514

Home equity loans 1,573 2,236 293 1,525 28
Credit cards 3,228 3,274 1,170 3,662 224
Installment and other

Individual installment and other 431 460 260 435 38

Commercial market loans 182 381 40 255 22
Total 3 17,929 § 19763 § 3279 % 18992 § 826

(1Y Recorded investment 10 a loan includes net deferred loan fees and costs unamortized premium or discount and direct wnite-downs and includes accrued interest
only on credit card loans

(2) 32 007 million of restdential first mortgages, $566 mullion of home equity loans and $92 million of commercial market loans do not have a specific allowance

(3} Included in the Allowance for loan losses

(4) Average carrying value represents the average recorded investment ending balance for the last four quarters and does not include the related specific allowance

(5) Cash interest receipts on smaller-balance homogengous loans are generally recorded as revenue The interest recognition policy for commercial market loans 15
1dentical to that for corporate loans as descnbed below
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Consumer Troubled Debt Restructurings
The following tables present consumer TDRs occurring during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

At and for the year ended December 31, 2014

modl]llqlsc:llon Contingent Average
In nuliions of dollars except number of loans Number of recorded Deferred principal Principal interest rate
modfied loans modified nvestment principal © forgiveness forgn eness reduction
North America
Residential first mortgages 11,226 § 1,566 $ 48 8§ 328 15 1%
Home equity loans 3,757 168 3 _ 13 3
Credit cards 185,962 808 -—_ — —_ 15
Installment and other revolving 1,848 11 — — — 4
Commercial markets © 191 35 —_ —_— 1 —
Total 202,984 § 1588 § 51 8 328 29
International
Res:dential first mortgages 482 § 525§ — § — § _— —%
Home equity loans 67 11 — — —_ —
Credit cards 96,534 365 — — 8 12
Installment and other revolving 34,360 182 _ —_— 7
Commercial markets 346 200 — — — —
Total 131,789 § 810 § — 8 — 5 15
At and for the year ended December 31, 2013
Post-
modification Contingent Average
In nullions of dotlars except number of laans Number of recorded Deferred principal Prmncipal interest rate
modified loans modified  investment "' principal forgneness forgineness reduction
North Amerwca
Residenual first mortgages 19,021 2829 § 61 $ 22 % 132 1%
Home equity loans 7,466 404 1 — 85 |
Credit cards 172,211 826 —_ _ — 14
[nstallment and other revolving 8,753 56 —_ _ — 12
Commercial markets 202 39 — — — —
Total 207,653 4,154 % 62 § 22 % 217
International
Residential first mortgages 1,556 127 $ — 3 — 3 — 1%
Home equity loans 58 1 — — — |
Credit cards 101,772 442 — — 10 13
Installment and other revolving 41,869 276 —_ — 7 7
Commercial markets 413 104 2 — — —
Total 145,668 950 § 2s — 3 17

(13 Post-modification balances include past due amounts that are capitahzed at the modification date

(2) Post-modification balances in North Amertca include $186 million of residential first mortgages and $46 million of home equity loans to berrowers who have
gone through Chapter 7 bankruptcy in the year ended December 31, 2014 These amounts include $111 million of residential first mortgages and $41 mulkion of
home equity loans that were newly classified as TDRs n the year ended December 31 2014 as a result of OCC guidance

(3) Represents portion of contractual loan principal that 1s noe-interest beanng but snll due from the borrower Such deferred pnncipal 1s charged off at the time of
permanent medification to the extent that the related toan balance exceeds the underlying collateral value

{4) Represents portion of contractual loan principal that 1s non-interest beanng and depending upon borrower performance eligible for forgiveness

(5) Represents pertion of contractual loan principal that was forgiven at the ime of permanent modification

(6) Commercial markets loans are generally borrower-specific modifications and incorporate changes 1n the amount and/or timing of principal and/or interest

(7) Post-modification balances in Nordh America include $380 milhon of residential first mortgages and $64 million of home equity loans to borrowers who have gone
through Chapter 7 bankruptcy in the year ended December 31 2013 These amounts include $230 mallion of residential first mortgages and $58 mulhion of home
equity loans that were newly classified as TDRs 1n the year ended December 31 2013, as a result of OCC guidance
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The following table presents consumer TDRs that
defaulted during the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013. respectively for which the payment default occurred
within one year of a permanent modification Default 15
defined as 60 days past due, except for classifiably managed
commerctal markets loans, where default 1s defined as 90 days
past due

Years ended December 31,

n pulfrons of dollars 2014 2013
North America
Resident:al first mortgages s 471 $ 1,053
Home equity loans 36 78
Credit cards 194 204
Installment and other revolving 2 7
Commercial markets 9 3
Total $ 712 § 1,345
International
Residential first mortgages 5 LIS 28
Home equity loans — —
Credit cards 163 187
[nstallment and other revolving 80 96
Commercial markets 105 15
Total $ 356 $ 326

Corporate Loans

Corporate loans represent loans and leases managed by
Corporate businesses  The following table presents
formation by Corporate loan type as of December 31, 2014
and 2013

Dec 31, Dec 31,

In mullians of dollars 2014 2013

Corporate

InUS offices
Commercial and industrial S 34447 § 31,762
Financial insututions 36,247 24.945
Mongage and real estate'” 32,392 29,100
Installment, revolving credit and other 29,190 34,431
Lease financing 1,410 1,269

$ 133,686 $ 121,507

In offices outstde the U S

Commergial and mdustrial S 73246 § 77206
Financial institutions 33,767 38,705
Mortgage and real estate™ 5,597 5,826
Installment, revolving credit and other 17,903 16,849
Lease financing 236 350
Governments and official tnstitutions 1,778 1,480
$ 132,527 § 140416
Total Corporate loans $ 266,213 § 261923
Net unearned 1income (532) (513)

Corporate loans, net of uncarned
mcome $ 265681 § 261410

(1} Loans secured pnmanly by real estate

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
Citibank sold and/or reclassified (to held-for-sale) $4 8 billion
and $5 7 billion of held-for-tnvestment Corporate loans,
respectively Citibank did not have significant purchases of
loans classified as held-for-investment for the yvear ended
December 31 2014

Corporate loans are 1dentified as impaired and placed on a
cash (non-accrual) basis when it 1s determined, based on
actual experience and a forward-tooking assessment of the
collectability of the loan in full, that the payment of interest or
principal 1s doubtful or when interest or principal 15 90 days
past due except when the loan 1s well collaterahzed and in the
process of collection Any interest accrued on impaired
Corporate loans and leases 1s reversed at 90 days and charged
against current earnings, and nterest 1s thereafier included 1n
earmings only to the extent actually received in cash  When
there 1s doubt regarding the ultimate collectability of principal,
all cash receipts are thereafter applied to reduce the recorded
investment 1n the loan While Corporate loans are generally
managed based on their internally assigned nisk rating (see
further discussion below) the following tables present
delinquency information by Corporate loan type as of
December 31 2014 and December 31, 2013
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Corporate Loan Delinquency and Non-Accrual Details at December 31, 2014

30-89 days > 90 days

past due past due and Total past due Total Total Total
In millions of dollars and accrumng'" accrumg'! and accrming  non-accrual® current™ loans
Commercial and industnal k) 50 § — § 50 § 567 § 104,756 $ 105373
Financial institutions 2 —_ 2 248 68,056 68,306
Mortgage and real estate 86 —_ 86 238 37,622 37,946
Leases —_— — — 49 1,597 1,646
Other 49 1 50 55 48,026 48,131
Loans al fair value 4,279
Total s 187 § 18 188 § 1,157 § 260,057 § 265,681

(1) Corporate loans that are greater than 90 days past due are generally classified as non-accrual Corporate foans are constdered past due when principal or interest1s

contractually due but unpaid

(2) Citbank generally does not manage Corporate loans on a delinquency basis Non-accrual loans generally mclude those loans that are > 90 days past due or those
loans for which Citibank belteves based on actual experience and a forward-looking assessment of the collectabihity of the loan in full that the payment of interest

or pnngipal is doubtful
(3) Corporate loans are past due when pnncipal or interest 1s contractually due but unpaid Loans less than 30 days past due are presented as current

Corporate Loan Delinquency and Non-Accrual Details at December 31, 2013

30-89 days 290 days

past due past due and Total past due Total Total Total
In millions of doilars and accruing accruing and accruing non-accrual™ current™® loans
Commercial and industnal $ 72 8 5% 77 8 694 § 107,108 § 107,879
Financial institutions — — 362 61,883 62,245
Mortgage and real estate 183 186 507 33,439 34,132
Leases 3 4 189 1,426 1,619
Other 47 49 70 51,766 51,883
Loans at fair value 3,650
Total b 305 § b 316 § 1,822 § 255,622 § 261,410

(1) Corporate loans that are greater than 90 days past due are generally classified as non-accrual Corporate loans are considered past due when pnncipal or interest 1s

contractually due but unpaid

{2) Citibank generally does not manage Corporate loans on a delinquency basis Non-accrual loans generally include those loans that are > 90 days past due or those
loans for which Citibank believes based on actual expenence and a forward-looking assessment of the collectability of the loan in full, that the payment of interest

or pnincipal 15 doubtful

{3) Corporate loans are past due when principal or interest 15 contractually due but unpaid Loans less than 30 days past due are presented as current

Citibank has a risk management process 1o monitor,
evaluate and manage the principal risks associated with its
Corporate loan portfolio As part of its risk management
process, Citibank assigns numeric risk ratings to its Corporate
loan facilities based on quantitative and qualitative
assessments of the obligor and facihty These nisk ratings are
reviewed at least annually or more often 1f material events
related to the obligor or facility warrant Tactors considered in
assigning the nisk ratings include financial condition of the
obligor. qualitative assessment of management and strategy.
amount and sources of repayment, amount and type of
collateral and guarantee arrangements amount and type of any
contingencies associated with the obligor, and the obligor’s
mndustry and geography
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The obligor sk ratings are defined by ranges of default
probabilities The facility risk ratings are defined by ranges of
loss norms which are the product of the probability of default
and the loss given default The investment grade rating
categories are similar to the category BBB-/Baa3 and above as
defined by S&P and Moody s Loans classified according to
the bank regulatery definitions as special mention,
substandard and doubtful will have risk ratings within the non-
investment grade categoeries
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Corporate Loans Credit Quality Indicators at
December 31, 2014 and 2013

Recorded investment in

loans
December 31,
In mitttons of dollars 2014 2013
Investment grade™
Commercial and industnal $ 76,910 § 74,719
Fiancial institutions 56,632 49951
Mortgage and real estate 15,741 12,949
Leases 1,282 1,097
Other 44,548 48,716
Total investment grade $ 195113 § 187432
Non-investment gradem
Accrual
Commercial and industnal $ 27897 § 32,466
Financial institutions 11,426 11,932
Mortgage and real estate 3,351 3,674
1 eases 315 333
Other 3,527 3,099
Non-accrual
Commercial and industnal 567 694
Financial insiitutions 248 362
Mortgage and real estate 238 507
Leases 49 189
Other 55 70
Total non-mmvestment grade S 47,673 § 53,326
Private Banlang loans managed on
a delinquency basis $ 18,616 $ 17,002
Loans at fair value 4,279 3,650
Corporate loans, net of unearned
mcome § 265681 § 261410

{13 Recorded investment in a loan includes net deferred loan fees and costs,
unamortized premium or discount less any direct wnie-downs
(2) Held-for-investment loans accounted for on an amortized cost basis
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Corporate loans and leases identified as impaired and
placed on non-accrual status are writien down to the extent
that principal 15 judged to be uncollectible Impaired
collateral-dependent loans and leases, where repayment 1s
expected to be provided solely by the sale of the underlying
collateral and there are no other available and reliable sources
of repayment, are written down to the lower of cost or
collateral value, less cost to sell Cash-basis loans are returned
to an accrual status when all contractual prnincipal and interest
amounts are reasonably assured of repayment and there 1s a
sustained peried of repayment performance, generally six
months in accordance with the contractual terms of the loan
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The following tables present non-accrual loan information by Corporate loan type at and for the years ended December 31, 2014

and 2013 respectively

Non-Accrual Corporate Loans

December 31, 2014

Recorded Unpad Related specific Average Interest income
In millrons of doliars mvestment!”  principal balanee allowance carrying value! recognized
Non-accrual Corperate loans
Commercial and industrial 567 § 686 § 154 § 617 3 14
Loans to financial institutions 248 259 7 276 4
Mortgage and real estate 238 255 24 249 9
Lease financing 49 50 29 84 —
Other 55 638 21 60 2
Total non-acerual Corporate loans 1,157 § 1,318 § 235 § 1,286 § 29
December 31, 2013
Recorded Unpaid Related specific Average Interest income ‘
In mulltons of dollars mvestment' principal balance allowance carrymg value'? recogmzed |
Non-accrual Corporate loans |
Commercial and industrial 694 $ 998 $ 74 $ 845 § 10 |
Loans to financial institutions 362 380 3 375 |
Mortgage and real estate 507 630 35 576 1
Lease financing 189 190 131 189 — |
Other 70 216 20 64 1
Total non-accrual Corporate loans 1,822 § 2414 8§ 263 $ 2,049 § 23
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Related Related
Recorded specific Recorded spectfic
In miflions of dotiars nvestment allowance investment allowance
Non-accrual Corporate loans with valuation allowances
Commercial and industrial ) 223 § 154 3 370 % 74
Loans to financial institutions 37 7 24 3
Mortgage and real estate 69 24 253 35
Lease financing 47 29 186 131
Other 55 21 61 20
Total non-accrual Corporate loans with specific allowance s 431 $ 235 % 894 §$ 263
Non-accrual Corporate loans without specific allonance
Commercial and industnial 5 344 $ 323
Loans to financial nstitutions 211 338
Mortgage and real estate 169 254 |
Lease financing 2 3 ‘
Other —_ 9 |
Total non-accrual Corporate loans without specific allowance 5 726 NA S 927 N/A |

(1) Recorded investment m a loan includes net deferred loan fees and costs unamortized premium or discount, less any direct wnte-downs
(2) Average carrying value represents the average recorded investment balance and does not include related specific allowance

N/A Not Applicable
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Corporate Troubled Debt Restructurings
The following table presents Corporate TDRs occurring during the year ended December 31, 2014

TDRs
nvohing
TDRs TDRs changes
volving mvolving in the amount
changes changes and/or timing of
in the amount in the amount both principal
and/or timing of and/or timing of and
Carrying principal mterest interest
In milhons of dollars Value payments payments ¥ payments
Commercial and industnal $ 48 5 30 s 17 § 1
Mortgage and real estate 8 5 1
Total 8 56 8 35 8 18 § 3

(1} TDRs involving changes in the amount or ttming of principal payments may involve principal forgiveness or deferral of penodic and/or final principal payments
Because forgiveness of pnincipal 1s rare for commereial loans modifications ty pically have listle 1o no impact on the loans’ projected cash flows
and thus [itle to no impact on the allowance established for the loan Charge-offs for amounts deemed uncollectable may be recorded a1 the time of the
restructunng or may have already been recorded in prior periods such that no charge-off 1s required at the time of the modification

(2) TDRs involving changes in the amount or timing of tnterest payments may involve a below-market (nterest rate

The following table presents Corporate TDRs occurring during the year ended December 31 2013

TDRs
TDRs TDRs mvolving changes
involving changes mvolving changes in the amount

in the amount in the amount and/or timing of

Carrymmg and/or timmg of and/or timing of both prineipal and

In milhons of doliars Value principal payments ) interest payments @ interest payments
Commeraial and industnal $ 130 § 55 % 58 % 17
Mortgage and real estate 34 19 14 1
Other 5 _ —_ 5
Total b 169 § 74 3 ) 728 - 23

(1} TDRs involving changes in the amount or uming of principal payments may involve principal forgiveness or deferral of penodic and/or final pnncipal payments
Because forgiveness of pnincipal 1s rare for commercial loans modificanions typically have litle to no tmpact on the loans projected cash flows
and thus Irttle 10 no 1mpact on the allowance established for the loan Charge-offs for amounts deemed uncollectable may be recorded at the ume of the
restructuring or may have already been recorded in prior periods such that no charge-off 15 required at the tume of the modification

(2} TDRs mvolving changes in the amount or nmung of interest payments may tnvolve a below-market interest rate

T he following table presents total Corporate loans modified 1n a TDR at December 31 2014 and 2013 as well as those TDRs that
defaulted during the years ended 2014 and 2013 and for which the payment detault occurred within one year of a permanent

modification Default 1s defined as 60 days past due except for classifiably managed commercial markets loans where default 1s
defined as 9U days past duc

TDRs TDRs
w payment defaunlt in payment default

TDR balances at during the year ended TDR balances at during the year ended
in mitteons of dollars December 31, 2014 December 31,2014 December 31, 2013 December 31, 2013}
Commeraial and industral $ 117 § — 3 197 $ 27
Financial institutions —_ — 14 —
Mortgage and real estate 104 — 156 17
Other 354 — 423 —
Total $ 5715 % — % 790 § 44

(1) Payment default constitutes failure to pay principal or interest when due per the contractual terms of the loan
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Purchased Distressed Loans

Included in the Corporate and Consumer loan outstanding
tables above are purchased distressed loans, which are loans
that have evidenced significant credit deterioration subsequent
to origination but prior to acquisition by Citibank In
accordance with SOP 03-3 (codified as ASC 310-30), the
difference between the total expected cash flows for these
loans and the imtal recorded investment 1s recognized 1n
mcome over the hife of the loans using a level yield
Accordingly. these loans have been excluded from the
impatred loan table information presented above In addition,
per SOP 03-3, subsequent decreases 1n the expected cash
flows for a purchased distressed loan require a build of an

allowance so the loan retains its level yield However,
increases n the expected cash flows are first recognized as a
reduction of any previously established allowance and then
recognized as income prospectively over the remaiming hife of
the loan by increasing the loan’s level yield Where the
expected cash flows cannot be rehably estimated, the
purchased distressed loan 1s accounted for under the cost
recovery method

The carrying amount of the Company s purchased
distressed loan portfolio was $355 million and $557 mullion,
net of an allowance of $15 millton and $29 million at
December 31, 2014 and 2013 respectively

The changes 1n the accretable yield, related allowance and carrying amount net of accretable yield for 2014 and 2013 are as follows

Carrying
Accretable  amount of lean

In milhons of dollars yvield receivable Allowance
Begmning balance at December 31,2012 3 338 428 § 35
Purchases " 46 404 —
Disposals/payments received (5) (201) [t}
Accretion (1 10 —
Builds (reductions) to the allowance 3 — 6
Increase 1o expected cash flows 3 — —
FX/other 3 {33) {4)
Begimning balance at December 31, 2013 S 67 % 586 § 29
Purchases " 1 46 —
Disposals/payments received (6) (248) (15)
Accretion 24) 24 —
Builds (reductions) to the allowance Q)] — 8
Increase to expected cash flows 23 —_ —
FX/other (4) (38) (7)
Balance at December 31, 2014 % 5 56 § 370 8 15

(1) The amounts reported in the column ‘Camrying amount of loan recervable  consist of $46 million and $404 nullion in 2014 and 2013, respectively, of purchased
loans accounted for under the level-yteld method No purchased loans were accounted for under the cost-recovery method These balances represent the fair value
of these loans at their acquisition date The related total expected cash flows for the level-yield loans at thewr acquisition dates were $46 mullion and $451 million

in 2014 and 2013, respectively

{2) The balances reported 1n the column “Carrying amount of loan receivable” consist of $362 rmllion and $574 million of loans accounted for under the level-yield
method and $8 mullion and $12 million accounted for under the cost-recovery method in 2014 and 2013, respectively
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14 ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

In mithons of dollars 2014 2013
Allowance for loan losses at beginming of year s 15,693 % 20,913
Gross credit losses (8,061) (9,815)
Gross recovenies (D 1,826 1,961
Net credit (losses) recoveries (NCLs) 5 (6,235) % {7,854)
NCLs $ 6,235 § 7,854
Net reserve releases (2,060) (1,993)
Net specific reserve releases (186) (1,044)
Total provision for loan losses 5 3,989 § 4,817
Other, net @ (1,192) (2,183)
Allowance for loan losses at end of year 5 12,255 § 15,693
Allowance for erecht losses on unfunded lending commitments at beginning of year S 1,136 § 1,026
Proviston for unfunded lending commuments (136) 86
Other, net @) 24
Allowance for credit losses on unfunded lending commitments at end of year "’ ) 996 § 1,136
Total allowance for loans, leases, and unfunded lending commitments $ 13,251 % 16,829

(1} Recovenes have been reduced by certain collection costs that are incurred only 1f collection efforts are successful

(2) 2014 includes reductions of approximately $0 9 billion related 10 the sale or transfer to held-for-sale (HFS) of various loan portfolios which meludes
approsamately $390 mullion related to the transfer of various real estate loan porntfolios to HFS, approximately $204 million related 1o the transfer to HFS of a
business in Greece approximately $177 malhion related to the transfer to HFS of a business m Spain, approxamately $29 million related to the transfer to HFS of a
business in Honduras and approximately $108 milhion related to the transfer 1o HFS of vanous EMEA loan portfohies Additionally, 2014 includes a reduction of
approumately $184 mullion related to foreign currency translation 2013 includes reductions of approximately $1 6 billion related to the sale or transfer 1o held-
for-sale of vanous loan portfolios which includes approximately $360 nullion related to the sale of Credicard and approxamately $255 milhion related to a transfer
to held-for-sale of a loan portfolio in Greece and approximately $129 million related to foreign currency translation

(3) Represents additional credit loss reserves for unfunded lending commutments and letters of credit recorded in Orher Liabifities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet

Allowance for Credit Losses and Investment in Loans at December 31, 2014

In mutfons of dollars Corporate Consumer Total
Allowance for toan losses at beginning of year S 2,300 § 13393 |5 15,693
Charge-offs (229) (7,832) (8,061)
Recovenes 115 1,711 1,826
Replemishment of net charge-offs 114 6,121 6,235
Net reserve releases (31) (2,009) (2,060)
Net specific reserve releascs (16) (170) (186)
Other (26) {1,166} (1,192)
Ending balance b 2,207 § 10,048 |S 12,255
Allowance for loan losses
Determuned 1n accordance with ASC 450 $ 1,972 § 7,300 |S 9272
Dectermined 1n accordance with ASC 310-10-35 235 2,733 2,968
Determined i accordance with ASC 310-30 — 15 15
Total allowance for loan losses 5 2,207 § 10,048 |S 12,255
Loans, net of uneamed income
Loans collectively evaluated for impairment in accordance with ASC 450 5 259,941 § 306,538 |8 566,479
Loans individually evaluated for impasrment in accordance with ASC 310-10-35 1,461 14,375 15,836
Loans acquired with detertorated credit quality 1n accordance with ASC 310-30 — 370 370
Loans held at fair value 4,279 43 4,322
Total loans, net of unearned income g 265,681 5 321,326 |S 587,007
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Alloewance for Credit Losses and Investment in Loans at December 31, 2013

In mithons of dollars Corporate Consumer Total
Allowance for loan losses at beginning of year ) 2495 § 18,418 20,913
Charge-offs (340} (9,475) (9.815)
Recovenes 157 1,804 1,961
Replenishment of net charge-offs 183 7,671 7,854
Net reserve releases (197) (1,796} (1,993)
Net specific reserve releases {1) (1,043} (1,044)
Other 3 {2,186) (2,183)
Ending balance $ 2300 § 13,393 15,693
Allowance for loan losses
Determined i accordance with ASC 450 $ 2037 % 10,085 12,122
Determined 1n accordance with ASC 310-10-35 263 3,279 3,542
Determined in accordance with ASC 310-30 -— 29 29
Total allowance for loan losses b 2,300 $ 13,393 15,693
Loans, net of uneamed income
Leans collectively evaluated for impairment in accordance with ASC 450 $ 255,616 $ 320,019 575,635
Loans individually evaluated for impairment n accordance with ASC 310-10-35 2,143 17,929 20,072
Loans acquired with detertorated credit quality in accordance with ASC 310-30 1 631 632
Loans held at fair value 3,650 957 4,607
Total loans, net of unearned mcome $ 261,410 § 339,536 600,946
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15 GOODWILLAND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwll
The changes in Goodwill duning 2014 and 2013 were as follows

In milions of doilars

Balance at December 31, 2012 3 11,730
Foreign exchange translation (13
Acquisitions/divestitures, purchase accounting adjustments and other (25)
Sale of Brazil Credicard (62)
Balance at December 31, 2013 b 11,630
Foreign exchange translation (400)
Acquisiions/divestitures, purchase accounting adjustments and other (104)
Balance at December 31,2014 $ 11,126

Goodwill impairment testing 1s performed at the level
below the business segments (referred to as a reporting unit)
The Company performed 1ts annual goodwi1ll impairment test
as of July 1, 2014 resulting 1n no impairment for any of the
reporting units The reporting unit structure 1in 2014 was the
same as the reporting unt structure in 2013 except for the sale
imvolving Citi Holdings—Cards reporting unit during the third
quarter of 2014

On September 22 2014 Citigroup sold its consumer
operations n Spain which included the Cit1 Holdings—Cards
reporting unit As a result, 100% of the Citi Holdings—Cards
goodwill balance was allocated to the sale

No goodwill was written off due to impairment 1n 2014
and 2013

The following table shows the reporting units with goedwll balances as of December 31,2014

Reporting Umit

Fair value as a % of

in muitlions of dollars B allocated book value Goodwill
North America Global Consumer Banking 321% % 2012
EMEA Global Consumer Banking 231 95
Asia Global Consumer Banking 362 1,961
Latin America Global Consumer Banking 153 432
Institutional Chents Group 271 6,626
Total 5 11,126

(1) Cits Holdings—Orher this reporting unut 1s excluded from the table as there 15 no goodwill allocated to it

Cittbank engaged an independent valuation specialist in
2014 and 2013 to assist in Citibank s valuation for most of the
reporting units employing both the market approach and the
discounted cash flow (DCF) method For the reporting units
where both methods were utilized in 2314 and 2013, the
resulting fair values were relatively consistent and appropriate
weighting was given to outputs from both methods

During 2014, Citigroup announced its intention to exit 1ts
consumer businesses in 11 markets in Latin America Asia and
EMEA, as well as 1ts consumer finance business in Korea
Citigroup also announced 1ts intention to exit several non-core
transactions services businesses withuin ICG Effective January
1, 2015, these businesses were transferred to Citt Holdings and
aggregated to five new reporting units Cit1 Holdings—
Consumer EMEA Citt Holdings—Consumer Latin America
Ciu Holdings—Consumer Japan Citi Holdings—Consumer
Finance South Korea, and Cit1 Holdings—/CG Goodwill
balances associated with the transfers were allocated to each
of the component businesses based on their relative fair values
to the legacy reporting units

As required by ASC 350, a goodwill impairment test 15
being performed as of January 1, 2015 under the legacy and
new reporting structures which may result in an impairment
for one or more of the new reporting units Such imparrment
1f any, 1s not expected to be significant
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Intangible Assets
The components of intangible assets as of December 31 2014 and 2013 respectively. were as follows

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Gross Net Gross Net

carrying  Accumnulated  carrying Carrying Accumnulated carrymg
in mullrons of dollars amount amortization amount amount amortization amount
Purchased credit card relationships S 7548 § 6,227 § 1,321 % 7463 § 5934 § 1,529
Core deposit mtangibles 652 561 91 691 546 145
Other customer relationships 63 37 26 102 92 10
Indefinite-lived intangible assets 48 — 48 50 — 50
Other \V 4,419 2,067 2,352 4,225 1,798 2,427
Intangible assets (excluding MSRs) $§ 12,730 S 8892 5 3838 § 12531 § 8370 § 4,161
Morigage servicing rights (MSRs) 1,845 — 1,845 2,718 — 2,718
Total intangible assets s 14578 § 3,892 3§ 5683 $ 15,249 § 8370 8§ 6,879

{1) [ncludes contract-related intangible assets

Intangible assets amortization expense was 3668 million and $708 million for 2014 and 2013 respectively Intangible assets
amortization expense 1s estimated to be $611 million 1n 2015, $559 mtllion in 2016, $867 nullion 1n 2017, $342 nullion 1in 2018 and
$305 milhion in 2019

The changes in intangible assets during 2014 were as follows

Net carrying Net carrying
amount at FA amount at
December 31,  Acquisihions/ and December 31,
In millions of doliars 2013 divestitures Amortization  Impairments other 2014
Purchased credit card relationships $ 1,529 § 114 § (320) § — § (P3N 1,321
Core deposit intangibles 145 ()] 47 — 3 91
QOther customer relatienships 10 14 (4) — 6 26
Indefinite-lived intangible assets 50 (2) — — — 48
Other 2427 220 (297) — 2 2,352
Intangible assets (excluding MSRs) ) 4,161 § 342 5 (668) $ — § 3 s 3,838
Mortgage servicing nights (MSRs) o 2,718 1,845
Total intangible assets $ 6,879 $ 5,683

(1} Inciudes foreign exchange translation and purchase accounting adjustments
(2) See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the roll-forward of MSRs
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16 DEBT

Short-Term Borrowings
Short-term borrowings consist of commercial paper and other
borrowings with weighted average interest rates as follows

2014 2013
Weighted Weighted

In pullions af dollars average average

at December 31, Balance rates Balance rates
Commercial paper $ 16,325 022% § 17,924 025%
Other borrowings'" 21,045 074 21,793 106
Total 5 37370 $ 3977
(1) Includes borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Banks and other market

participants Al both December 31 2014 and December 31 2013
cotlateralized short-term advances from the Federal Home Loan Banks
were $11 2 bithion

Borrowings under bank lines of credit may be at interest
rates based on LIBOR CD rates the prime rate, or bids
submitted by banks Ciubank pays commutment fees for its hines
of credit

Citibank has credit faciliies with some of Citigroup s non-
bank subsidiaries Borrowings under these facihties must be
secured in accordance with Section 23A of the Federal Reserve
Act

Long-Term Debt

Balances at

December 31,
Weighted
average
In mihons of doilars coupon Maturities 2014 2013

Cititbank head office

Sentor notes M 067% 2015-2037 $34,825 §26,030
Subordinated notes**” 343 2022-2024 10,500 7,499
Domestic subsidiaries
Sentor notes 179 2015-2037 37,022 34,015
Subordinated notes®™ —_ —_ —_ 102
Citthank Overseas
Investment Corp

Senior notes 332  2015-2038 6,101 6,449
Subordinated notes™ — — - 308
Other Citaibank

subsidiartes and

branches
Senior notes 040  2015-2029 910 39
Subordinated notes® — —_ — 9
Total 164% $89,358 §74,451
Senior notes $£78,858 $66,533
Subordinated notes® 10,500 7,918
Total $89.358 $74,451

(1) Includes borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Banks and other market

participants At December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 collateralized
advances from the Federal Home Loan Banks were $19 8 billion and $14 0
billion respectively

Predominately 1ncludes floating-rate debt priced at LIBOR

Includes notes that are subordinated within certain countnes, regions or
subsidianes

(2}
(3)

The Company issues both fixed- and variable-rate debt in a
range of currencies It uses derivative contracts primanly
interest rate swaps. o effectively convert a portion of 1ts fixed-
rate debt to varable-rate debt and variable-rate debt to fixed-rate
debt The maturity structure of the derivatives generally
corresponds to the matunty structure of the debt being hedged
In addition, the Company uses other derivative contracts to
manage the foreign exchange impact of certain debt 1ssuances
At December 31, 2014, the Company s overall weighted
average tnterest rate for long-term debt was 1 64% ona
contractual basis and 1 60% including the eftects of derivatve
contracts

Aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt obligations (based on final matunity dates) are as follows

In millions of doflars 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter Total

Citibank head office 3 6,255 % 11,610 % 6,751 % 2,329 % 2740 $ 15640 $ 45325
Domestic subsidianies 7,422 10,002 6,247 8,222 1,800 3,329 37,022
Ciubank Overseas Investment Corp 1,812 1,894 1,260 328 324 483 6,101
Other Citibank subsidiaries and branches 888 2 | 18 — | 910
Total 3 16377 % 23508 § 14259 $ 10897 § 484 § 19453 § 89358
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17. CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview
Cutibank primanly generates capital through earnings from tts
operating businesses Citibank may augment its capital through
capital contributions from its parent. Citicorp a direct
subsidiary of Citigroup and, 1n the case of regulatory capital
also through the 1ssuance of qualifying subordinated debt
Further, Citbank's capital levels may also be affected by
changes 1n regulatory and accounting standards as well as the
impact of future events on Citibank’s business results, such as
corporate and asset dispositions

Capital 15 used primarily to support assets in Citibank s
businesses and to absorb credit, market and operational losses
Capital may also be used for other purposes, such as to pay
dividends Citibank s ability to utilize its capital for these
purposes may be imited under federal banking regulations

Capital Management
Citibank’s capital management framework 1s designed to ensure
that Citibank and its principal subsidiaries maintain sufficient
capital consistent with each entity’s respective nisk profile and
all apphicable regulatory standards and guidehines, as well as
external rating agency considerations

Sentor management 1s responstble for the capital
management process mainly through Citibank’s Asset and
Liability Management Committee (ALCO) with oversight from
the Risk Management Commuttee of Citibank’s Board of
Directors ALCO 1s composed of the senior-most management
of Citibank for the purpose of engaging management in
decision-making and related discussions on capital and Liquidity
matters Among other activities ALCO’s responsibilitics
mclude monitoring the Company's assets liabilities and
commutment trends and forecasts, establishing and maintaining
the Company s contingency funding plan, identifying the
Company’s hquidity nsks and ensuring those risks are
adequately monitored and controlled, and ensuring prudent
mterest rate and foreign exchange risk positions for the
Company’s accrual portfolios
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Current Regulatory Camital Standards

Overview
Cittbank 1s subject to regulatory capital standards 1ssued by the
OfTice of the Comptrolter of the Currency (OCC) which,
commencing with 2014, constitute the substantial adoption of
the final U S Basel 11l rules (Final Basel 1l Rules) such as
those governing the composition of regulatory capital (including
the application of regulatory capital adjustments and deductions)
and, imtiatly for the second quarter of 2014 1n comjunction with
the granting of permission by the OCC to exit parallel reporting,
approval to apply the Basel 11l Advanced Approaches
framework n deriving risk-based capital ratios Further. the
Final Basel 11l Rules implement the “capital floor provision” of
the so-called * Collins Amendment” of the Dodd-Frank Act.
which requires Advanced Approaches banking orgamzations,
such as Citibank upon exating parallel reporting, to calculate
each of the three nisk-hased capital ratios (Common Equity Tier
1 Capital Tier 1 Capital and Total Capital) under both the
Standardized Approach starting on January 1, 2015 {or for
2014, pnior to the effective date of the Standardized Approach
the Basel [ credit risk and Basel II 5 market nisk capital rules
subsequently referred to as the Basel 111 2014 Standardized
Approach} and the Advanced Approaches and publicly report
{as well as measure compliance against) the lower of each of the
resulting capital ratios

Under the Fina! Basel Il Rules, Citibank as with
principally all U S banking organizations, 1s also required to
mantain a mmmum Tier 1 Leverage ratio of 4% commencing
in 2014 The Tier 1 Leverage ratio. a non-risk-based measure of
capital adequacy 15 defined as Tier 1 Capital as a percentage of
quarterly adjusted average total assets less amounts deducted
from Tier 1 Capital

Basel IH Transition Arrangements

The Final Basel 111 Rules contain several diffening largely
multi-year transition provisions (1 ¢ * phase-ins” and “phase-
outs™) with respect to the stated mimimum Commen Equity Tier
I Capital and Tier 1 Capital ratio requirements, substantially all
regulatory capital adjustments and deductions, non-quahfying
Tier I and Ter 2 Capital instruments, and apphcable capital
buffers All of the transition provisions to which Citibank 1s
subject will be fully implemented by January 1, 2019 (full
implementation)
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Cithank's Capital Resources Under Current Regulatory

Standards

The following table sets forth the capital tiers, nsk-weighted
assels quarterly adjusted average total assets and capital ratios
under current regulatory standards (reflecting Basel 111
Transition Arrangements) for Citibank as of December 31,2014

Citibank, N.A Capital Components and Ratios Under Current Regulatory Standards (Basel HI Transition Arrangements)

December 31, 2014

Stated

Well
capitalized

mimmum minmum

Advanced Standardized

In mithons of dollars except ratios ratios ratios Approaches Approach"’
Common Equity Tier 1 Capatal N/A NIA $ 128574 § 128,574
Tier | Caputal N/A NIA 128,574 128,574
Total Capital (Tier 1 Capital + Tier 2 Caprtal) @ N/A N/A 139,558 149,647
Risk-Weighted Assets N/A N/A 945,738 905,682
Quarterly Adjusted Average Total Assets ¥ N/A N/A 1,366,883 1,366,883
Common Equity Tier 1 Caputal rato ¥ 4 0% N/A 13 60% 14 20%
Tier | Capital ratio ¥ 55 6 0% 13 60 1420
‘Total Capital ratio ¥ 80 100 1476 16 52
Tier 1 Leverage ratio 40 5.0 941 341

(1) Basel 111 2014 Standardized Approach which reflects the application of the Baset | credst risk and Basel 11 5 market nish capital rules

(2) Under the Advanced Approaches framework eligible credit reserves that exceed expected credit losses are eligible for inclusion in Tier 2 Capital 1© the extent the
evcess reserves do not exceed 0 6% of credit nsk-weighted assets, which differs from the Standardized Approach in which the allowance for credit losses 15
includable in Tier 2 Capital up 10 1 25% of credit nsk-weighted asseis, with any excess allowance for credu losses being deducted 1n amving at credi nisk-

weighted assets
(3) Ter 1 Leverage ratio denominator

(4) Asof December 31 2014, Cibank N A s reportable Common Equity Tier | Capatal Tier | Capital, and Total Caputal ratios were the lower denived under the

Basel 111 Advanced Approaches framework
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Components of Citibank Capital Under Current Regulatory Standards
(Basel 111 Advanced Approaches with Transition Arrangements)

December 31,

In nulltons of doflars 2014
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
Ciubank common stockholder’s equity S 147,375
Add Qualifying noncontrolling interests 539
Regulatory Capital Adjustments and Deductions
Less Net unrealized losses on secunties AFS, net of tax'” {17
Less Defined benefit plans hability adjustment, net of tax (1,648)
Less Accumulated net unrealized losses on cash flow hedges, net of ax'? (802)
Less Cumulative unrealized net gan related to changes in fawr value of financial habilities attnibutable to own creditworthimess,

net of tlax & 35
Less Intangible assets

Goodwall, net of related deferred tan liabalities (DTLs) ¢ 11,255

Identifiable intangible assets other than mortgage servicing nghts (MSRs), net of related DTLs 721
Less Defined benefit pension plan net assets 59
Less Deferred tax assets (DTAS) ansing from net operating loss, foreign tax credi and general business credit carry-forwards © 1,765
Less Excess over 10%/15% limuatons for other DTAs, certam common stock mnvestments, and MSRs @4 541
Less Deductions applied to Common Equuty Tier | Capital due to insufficient amount of Additionat Tier | Caputal to cover

deductions 7,431
Total Common Equity Tier | Capital 13 128,574
Additional Tier 1 Capatal
Qualifying noncontroliing mnterests § 7
Regulatory Capital Adjustment and Deductions
Less Cumulative unrealized net gain related to changes in fair value of financial habilities attributable to own ereditworthiness,

net of tax © 141
Less Defined benefit pension plan net assets 235
Less DTAs ansmg from net operating loss, foreign tax credit and general business credit carry-forwards 7,062
Less Deductions applied to Common Equity Tier 1 Capital due to msufficient amount of Additional Tier | Caputal to cover

deductions (7,431)
Total Additional Tier 1 Capatal $ —
Total Tier 1 Capital (Common Equity Tier 1 Capital + Additional Tier 1 Capital) ) 128,574
Tier 2 Capital
Qualifying subordinated debt $ 10,500
Quahfying noncontrolling interests 12
Excess of eligible credit reserves over expected credit losses'” 472
Total Tier 2 Capital $ 10,984
Total Capital (Tier 1 Capital + Tier 2 Capatal) $ 139,558

68
CITIBANK, N A 2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS




Cinbank Risk-Weighted Assets (Basel 1] Advanced Approaches with Transttion Arrangements)

In milhons of dollars

December 31,
2014

Credit Risk
Market Risk
Operational Risk

5 713,102
57,636
175,000

Total Risk-Weighted Assets ]

945,738

(n
(2}
(3}

)
(5}

(6)
Q)]

Includes the net amount of unamortized loss on held-to-matunty (HTM) secunties This amount relates to secunities that were previously transferred from AFS to
HTM and non-credit related factors such as changes in interest rates and hquidity spreads for HTM securities with other-than-temporary impaimment

Commeon Equity Tier 1 Capatal 15 adjusted for accumulated net unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges included in AQCI that relate to the hedging of items
not recogmized at fair value on the balance sheet

The cumulative impact of changes in Citibank s own creditworthiess in valuing habihities for which the fair value option has been elected and own-credit
valuation adjustments on denivatives are excluded from Common Equity Tier ! Capttal 1n accordance with the Final Basel [11 Rules

Inctudes goodwill embedded 1n the valuation of sigmficant common stock investments th unconsolidated financial institutions

Of Citibank s approximately $24 6 bitlion of net DTAs at December 31 2014, approximately $15 8 bilhion of such assets were includable in regulatory capital
pursuant to the Final Basel III Rules, while approximately $8 8 billion of such assets were excluded in arnving at regulatory capital Compnsing the encluded net
DTAs was an aggregate of approximately 59 4 billion of net DTAs ansing from net operating loss, foreign tax credst and general business credst carry -forwards as
well as temporary differences, of which 89 4 bithen were deducted from Common Equity Tter 1 Capital In addition, approximately $0 & billion of net DTLs
primarily consisting of DTLs associated with goodwill and centain other intangible assets, partially offset by DTAs related to cash flow hedges, are pennutted to be
excluded prior to deniving the amount of net DTAs subject to deduction under these rules Separately under the Final Basel I1I Rules, goodwili and these other
intangible assets are deducted net of assoctated DTLs in amving at Common Equity Tier 1 Capital while Citibank’s current cash flow hedges and the related
deferred 1ax effects are not required to be reflected in regulatory capital

Aside from MSRs reflects DTAs ansing from temporary differences and significant common stock investments 1n unconsolidated financial institutions
Advanced Appreaches banking organizations are permtted to include wn Taer 2 Capital ehigible credit reserves that evceed expected credit losses to the extent that

the excess reserves do not exceed 0 6% of credit nsk-weighted assets

Supplementary Leverage Ratio
Under the Final Basel 111 Rules, Advanced Approaches banking
orgamzations including Ciubank, are also required to calculate
a Supplementary Leverage ratio, which significantly differs
from the Ther 1 Leverage ratio by also including certain off-
balance sheet exposures within the denominator of the ratio
( Total Leverage Exposure) Advanced Approaches banking
organizations are required to disclose the Supplementary
Leverage ratio commencing January 1, 2013, and are required to
be comphant with a 3% stated mimimum Supplementary
Leverage ratio on January 1, 2018

In April 2014 the U § banking agencies released a final rule
which establishes enhanced Supplementary Leverage ratio
standards for the eight largest U S bank holding compames
(currently 1dentified as global systemically important banking
orgamizattons (GSIBs) by the Financial Stabihty Board
mmcluding Citigroup) and therr insured depository nstitutions
The enhanced Supplementary Leverage ratio rule, which revises
the Final Basel 111 rules, requires insured depository institution
subsidiaries of these bank holding compantes, mcluding
Citibank, to maintain a Supplementary Leverage ratio of 6% to
be considered * well capitalized under the revised prompt
corrective action framework establhished by the Final Basel 11
Rules Citibank 1s required to be comphant with the higher
effective minimum ratio requirement on January 1, 2018
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In September 2014 the U S banking agencies adopted
revisions to the Final Basel 111 Rules (Revised Final Basel 111
Rules) with respect to the definiuon of T'otal Leverage Exposure
as well as the frequency with which certain components of the |
Supplementary Leverage ratio are calculated As revised. the
Supplementary Leverage ratio represents end of period Tier 1
Capital to Total Leverage Exposure, with the latter defined as
the sum of the daily average of on-balance sheet assets for the
quarter and the average of certain off-balance sheet exposures
calculated as of the last day of each month in the quarter, less
applicable Tier 1 Capital deductions

Under the Revised Final Basel 11l Rules, the defimition of
Total Leverage Exposure has been modified from that of the
Final Basel 111 Rules in certain respects such as by permitting
lumited netting of repo-style transactions (1 ¢ , qualifying
repurchase or reverse repurchase and securities borrowing or
lending transactions) with the same counterparty and allowing
for the application of cash variation margin to reduce dervative
exposures both of which are subject to certain specific
conditions, as well as by distinguishing and expanding the
measure of exposure for wniten credu derivatives Moreover
the credit conversion factors (CCI) to be applied to certain off-
balance sheet exposures have been conformed to those under the
Basel 1] Standardized Appreach for determining credit nisk-
weighted assets, with the exception of the imposition of a 10%
CCF floor
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18 CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Changes 1n each component of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the two-year penod ended December 31. 2014 are
as follows

Foreign |
currency 1
Net unrealized translation
gams (losses) Benefit plan  adjustment, Accumulated other
on mvestment  Cash flow hability net of comprehensive
In muttltons of dollars securities hedges'"”  adjustment™  hedges™™ income (loss)
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 805 § (1,9200 $ (1,993) § 48108 (7.919)
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications $ (2,143 § 453 § 364 § (1,35 % (2,673)
Increase {decrease) due to amounts reclassified from ACCI (239) 411 85 205 462
Change, net of taxes (2,380} 864 449 (1,146) 2,213)
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ (1.575) % (1,056) § (1,544) § (5,957) § (10,132)
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 3 1,573 % 80 $ (603) $ (3,168) % (2,118)
Increase (decrease) due to amounts reclassified from AOCI (19) 174 87 — 242
Change, net of taxes 1,554 254 (516) (3.168) (1.876)
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 21S (8302) § (2,060) § (9,125) 8 (12,008)

(1)  Prmanly daven by Citibank s pay fixed/receive floating interest rate swap programs that are hedging floating rates on habilities

(2) Pnmanly reflects adjustments based on the quarterly actuanal valuations of the Company’s sigmficant pension and postretirement plans, annual actuarial
valuations of all other plans, and amortization of amounts previously recognized 1n other comprehensive income Reflects the adoption of new mortality tables
effective December 31, 2014 (see Note 8 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements)

(3) Primarily reflects the movements in (by order of impact) the Russian ruble Korean won, Brazihan real and the Japanese yen against the U S dollar, and changes
n related tax effects and hedges 1n 2014 Pnmanly reflects the movements in (by order of impact) the Brazilian real, Japanese yen Austrahian dollar and the
Indian rupee agawnst the U S dollar and changes in related tax effects and hedges in 2013

(4) During 2014, $137 million ($84 million net of tax) was reclassified to reflect the allocation of foreign currency translation between net unrealized gains (losses) on
investment secunties to CTA

The pretax and after-tax changes in each component of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the two-year period
ended December 31 2014 are as follows

In mulhons of dollars Pretax Tax effect After tax

Balance at December 31, 2012 (13,858) § 5939 |% (7,919)
Change 1n net unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities 3,797) 1,417 (2,380)
Cash flow hedges 1,405 {541) 864
Benefit plans 694 {245) 449
Foreign currency translation adjustment (1,606) 460 (1,146)
Change (3,304) § 1,091 |% (2,213)
Balance at December 31,2013 (17,162) § 7,030 |$ (10,132)
Change 1n net unrealized gains (losses) on ivestment securities 2,484 (930} 1,554
Cash flow hedges 410 {156 254
Benefit plans (820) 304 (516)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (3,419 251 (3,168)
Change (1,345) % (531)]8 (1,876)
Balance at December 31, 2014 (18,507) § 6,499 |8 (12,008)
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During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recognized a pretax loss of $394 million ($242 mullion net of tax),
related to amounts reclassified out of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into the Consolidated Statement of Income

In millions aof dallars

Increase (decrease) in AQCI
due to amounts reclassified to

Consolidated Statement of Income

Year ended December 31, 2014

Realized (gains) losses on sales of investments 5 (369)
OTT!1 gross imparment losses 338
Subtotal 5 (31)
Tax effect 12
Net realized (gans) losses on 1nvestment securities 0 s (19)
Interest rate contracts 210
Foreign exchange contracts 74
Subtotal 5 284
Tax effect (110)
Amortization of cash flow hedges [3 174
Amortization of unrecognized
Prior service cost (bencfit) s (18)
Net actuanal loss 112
Curtallment/settlement impact 1
Cumulauve effect of change in accounting poliey ¥ 46
Subtotal § 141
Tax effect (54)
Amortuzation of benefit plans & S 87
Foreign currency translation adjustment 3 —
Total amounts reclassified out of AOCI —pretax 394
Total tax effect (152)
Total amounts reclassified out of AQCI—after-tax s 242

(1)  The pretax amount 1s reclassified to Realized gans (Tosses) on sales of imestments net and Gross impairment losses on the Consohidated Statement of Income

See Note 12 to the Consohdated Financial Statements for additional details
(2) See Note 20 to the Consohdated Financial Statements for additional details
(3) See Note 8 10 the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details
(4) See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statermnents for addiienal detatls
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During the year ended December 31,2013 the Company recognmized a pretax loss of $761 milhon ($462 million net of tax)

related to amounts reclassified out of Accumnlated other comprehensive income (loss) into the Consolidated Statement of Income

Increase (decrease) in AOCI
due to amounts reclassified to
Consohdated Statement of Income

In millions of dollars Year ended December 31, 2013
Reahized (gains) losses on sales of investments 3 (525)
OTTI gross impairment losses 165
Subtotal 3 (360)
Tax effect 121
Net reahized (gains) losses on investment securities L ] (239)
Interest rate contracts 645
Foreign exchange contracts 25
Subtotal 5 670
Tax eftect (259)
Amortization of cash flow hedges 5 411
Amortization of unrecognized
Prior service cost (benefit) 3 3
Net actuarial loss 124
Curtailment/setilement impact 20
Cumulative effect of change in accounting policy 1310 (1m
Subtotal 5 137
Tax effect (52)
Amortization of benefit plans $ 85
Foreign currency translauon adjustment 314
Tax effect (109)
Foreign currency translation adjustmen_tm 5 205
Total amounts reclassified out of AOCI —pretax 761
Total tax effect (299)
Total amounts reclassified out of AOCI—after-tax 5 462
(1) The pretax amount 1s reclassified to Reafized gains (losses) on sales of imestments net and Gross impairment losses on the Consohdated Statement of Income
See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details
{2) See Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details
(3) See Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details
(4) See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details
{5) Amount relates to the sale of Credicard see Note 3 to the Consohidated Financial Statements for additional details
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19 SECURITIZATIONS AND VARIABLE INTEREST
ENTITIES

Uses of Special Purpose Entities
A special purpose entity (SPE) 1s an entity designed to fulfill a
specific imited need of the company that orgamized it The
principal uses of SPEs by Citibank are to obtain liqudity and
favorable capital treatment by secuntizing certan financial
assels, to asstst clients (n securiizing their financial assets and
to create investment products for chents SPEs may be
orgamzed 1n various legal forms including trusts partnerships or
corporations In a secunitization. the company transferring asscts
to an SPE converts all {or a portion) of those assets into cash
before they would have been realized in the normal course of
busimess through the SPE’s 1ssuance of debt and equity
instruments, certificates, commercial paper or other notes of
indebtedness These 1ssuances are recorded on the balance sheet
of the SPE. which may or may not be consolidated onto the
balance sheet of the company that organized the SPE

Investors usually have recourse only to the assets in the
SPE, but may also benefit from other credit enhancements, such
as a collateral account, a line of credit or a iquidity facility
such as a liquidity put option or asset purchase agreement
Because of these enhancements, the SPE 1ssuances typically
obtain a more favorable credit rating than the transferor could
obtain for its own debt issuances This results 1n less expensive
financing costs than unsecured debt The SPE may also enter
into derivative contracts in order to converi the yield or currency
of the underlying assets to match the nceds of the SPE investors
or to himit or change the credit risk of the SPE Citibank may be
the provider of certain credit enhancements as well as the
counterparty to any related derivative contracts

Most of Citibank s SPEs are variable interest entities
(VIEs). as described below

Variable Interest Entittes

VIEs are entities that have either a total equity investment that 1s
mnsufficient to perrmit the entity to finance 1ts activities without
additional subordinated financial support or whose equity
investors lack the characterrstics of a controlling financial
interest (1 e, ability to make significant decisions through voting
rights and a right to recetve the expected residual returns of the
entity or an obligation to absorb the expected losses of the
entity) Investors that finance the VIE through debt or equuty
interests or other counterpartics providing other forms of
support such as guarantees subordinated fee arrangements or
certamn types of dernivative contracts are variable interest holders
in the entity

The variable interest holder 1f any, that has a controlling
financial interest 1n a VIE 1s deemed to be the pnmary
benefictary and must consolidate the VIE Ciubank would be
deemed to have a controlling financial interest and be the
primary beneficiary 1if it has both of the following
charactenstics

*  power to direct the activities of the VIE that most
significantly impact the entity's economic performance, and

+ an obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could
potentially be sigmificant 1o the VIE, or a nght to receive
benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant
to the VIE

The Company must evaluate each VIE to understand the
purpese and design of the entity, the role the Company had 1n
the entity s design and 1ts involvement n the VIE s ongoing
activiites The Company then must evaluate which activities
most significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE
and who has the power to direct such activities

For those VIEs where the Company determines that it has
the power to direct the activities that most sigruficantly impact
the VIE s economic performance, the Company must then
evaluate 1ts economic interests, 1f any, and determine whether 1t
could absorb losses or recerve benefits that could potentially be
sigmfiicant to the VIE When cvaluating whether the Company
has an obligation to absorb losses that could potentially be
significant, it considers the maximum exposure to such loss
without consideration of probability Such obligations could be
in varieus forms, including, but not limited to debt and equity
investments, guarantees, liquidity agreements and certain
derivative contracts

In various other transactions, the Company may (1) act as a
derivative counterparty (for example, interest rate swap, cross-
currency swap or purchaser of credit protection under a credit
default swap or total return swap where the Company pays the
total return on certain assets 1o the SPE) (1) act as underwriter
or placement agent, (11} provide administrative trustee or other
services, or (1v) make a market in debt secunities or other
mnstruments 1ssued by VIEs The Company generally considers
such invelvement, by 1itself, not to be variable interests and thus
not an indicator of power or potentially significant benefits or
losses

Sec Note 2 to the Consohidated Financial Statements for a
discussion of impending changes to targeted areas of
consolidation guidance
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or has continuing involvement through servicing a majority of the assets in a VIE, each as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 1s

Citibank’s involvement with consolidated and unconsolidated VIEs with which the Company holds significant variable interests

presented below

As of December 31,2014

Maximum exposure to loss in significant unconsohdated VIEs

Funded exposures

@

Unfunded exposures

Total
mohvement Consohdated Significant Guarantees
with SPE VIE/SPE unconsohdated Debt Equity Funding and
In mullions of dollars assets assets VIE assets”  investments investments commitments dernvatives  Total
Credui card secunitizations $ 60,503 $ 60,271 § 232 8§ — 8 — 8 — 8 e
Mortgage securitizations — J—
U S agency-sponsored 191,848 — 191,848 3,409 - — 10 3,519
Non-agency-sponsored 10,3%6 1,239 9,157 19 — — 1 20
Cnll?anli(-gdmlnlsteredlassel-
ommercial paper

conduis (AB(ejP) P 29,181 29,181 — — - - — —
Collateralized debt

obhga"ons (CDOs) 637 —_ 637 135 —_ —_ 52 187
Collateralized loan

obligations {CLOs) 3848 — 3,848 1,551 — —_ — 1,551
Asset-based financing 56,880 1,044 55,836 20,563 42 2,129 13 22,747
Muntecipal secunties tender

option bond trusts (TOBs) 12,202 6,593 5,609 — — 3670 —_ 3,670
Municipal investments 20,207 34 20,173 1,912 2,107 2213 -—_ 6,232
Chent intermedation 196 137 5% —_ — —_ — —
Other 3,784 44 3,740 99 763 23 — 885
Total Citaibank § 389682 S 98543 8§ 291,139 § 27,688 S8 2912 § 8,035 § 176 %33,311

As of December 31,2013

Maximum exposure to loss in significant unconsohdated VIEs

¢}

Funded exposures

[}

Unfunded exposures

Total
involvement Consolhdated Sigmificant Guarantees
with SPE VIE /SPE unconsohdat;d Debt Equty Funding and
in mihons of dollars assets assets VIE assets " investments investments commitments dernatnes  Total
Credit card securitizations $ 5409 § 53677 8 419 $ — 3 — 5 — 3 — % —
Mortgage securiizations
U S agency-sponsored 237,210 — 237,210 2,631 — —_ 113 2,744
Non-agency-sponsored 13,540 1,992 11,548 192 — —_ 2 194
Student loan secunitizations 1,520 1,520 — — — — — —
Cusbank-administered asset-
backed commercial paper
conduits (ABCP} 3,759 31,759 - - - - - -
Collateralized debt
obligations (CDOs) 780 —_— 780 185 — — 27 212
Collateralized loan
obligations (CLOs) 4,420 — 4,420 1,407 — —_ — 1,407
Asset-based financing 46,752 549 46,203 16,722 42 1,251 3 18,018
Mumcipal secunties tender
option bond trusts {TOBs) 12,605 6,928 5,677 — — 3,881 — 3,881
Municipal investments 19,299 102 19,197 1,750 2,164 2,096 — 6,010
Client intermediation 322 195 127 107 —_ — - 107
Other 1,041 134 907 126 13 20 —-— 159
Total Citibank $ 423344 § 96856 § 326,488 $ 23,120 § 2219 § 7248 % 145 $32.,732
(1} The definition of mavimum exposure to loss 1s included 1n the text that follows this table
(2) Included in Citbank’s Consolidated Balance Sheet
(3) A sigmficant unconsohdated VIE 15 an enuty where the Company has any vanable interest or centinuing involvement considered to be significant, regardless of

the Likelihood of loss or the notional amount of exposure
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The previous tables do not include

+  VIEs structured by third parties where the Company holds
securities mn inventory, as these investments are made on
arm s-length terms,

*  certain positions in morigage-backed and asset-backed
securities held by the Company which are classified as
Trading account assets or Investments where the Company
has no other involvement with the related secuntization
entity deemed to be sigmificant {for more informatton on
these positions see Notes 11 and 12 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements), and

*  certain representations and warranties exposures 1n Ciibank
residential mortgage securitizations where the original
mortgage loan balances are no longer outstanding
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The asset balances for consohdated VIEs represent the
carrying amounts of the assets consolidated by the Company
The carrying amount may represent the amortized cost or the
current fair value of the assets depending on the legal form of
the asset (e g, secunty or loan) and the Company s standard
accounung policies for the asset type and line of business

The asset balances for unconsolidated VIEs where the
Company has significant involvement represent the most current
mformation available to the Company [n most cases the asset
balances represent an amortized cost basis without regard to
impairments 1n fair value. unless fair value information 1s
readily available to the Company For VIEs that obtain asset
exposures synthetically through denivative instruments (for
example, synthetic CDOs), the tables generally include the full
original notional amount of the derrvative as an asset balance

The maximum funded exposure represents the balance
sheet carrying amount of the Company s investment 1n the VIE
It reflects the initial amount of cash invested 1n the VIE adjusted
for any accrued interest and cash principal payments received
The carry ing amount may also be adjusted ior increases or
declines 1n fair value or any impairment in value recognized n
earmings The maximum exposure of unfunded positions
represents the rematning undrawn commuitted amount, including
Liquidity and credit facilities provided by the Company, or the
notional amount of a derivative instrument considered to be a
vanable interest In certain transactions the Company has
entered inlo derrvative instruments or other arrangements that
are not considered variable (nterests in the VIE (e g interest
rate swaps, cross-currency swaps or where the Company 1s the
purchaser of credit protection under a credit default swap or
total return swap where the Company pays the total return on
certain assets to the SPE) Recervables under such arrangements
are not included 1n the maximum exposure amounts
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Funding Comnutments for Significant Unconsolidated VIEs—Liquidiuty Facilities and Loan Comnutments
The following table presents the notional amount of hquidity facihities and loan commitments that are classified as funding
commitments in the VIE tables above as of December 31 2014 and 2013

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Liquidity Loan Liquidity Loan
In nullions of dollars facilities commitments facilines commitments
Asset-based financing 58 2,124 | § 5% 1,246
Municipal securities tender option bond trusts (TOBs} 3,670 — 3,881 —
Municipal investments — 2,213 — 2,066
Other — 23 — 20
Total Citibank funding commitments 3675 § 4,360 |$ 388 § 3,362

Conscolidated VIEs
The Company engages 1n on-balance sheel secuntizations
which are securitizations that do not qualify for sales treatment,
thus, the assets remain on the Company’s balance sheet, and any
proceeds received are recognized as secured liabilities The
consolidated VIEs included in the tables below represent
hundreds of separate entities with which the Company 1s
involved In general the third-party investors in the obhigations
of consolidated VIEs have legal recourse only to the assets of
the respective VIEs and do not have such recourse to the
Company, except where the Company has provided a guarantce
to the investors or 15 the counterparty to certain derivative
transactions involving the VIE Thus the Company’s maximum
legal exposure to loss related to consohdated VIEs 1s
significantly less than the carrying value of the consolidated
VIE assets due to cutstanding thard-party financing
Intercompany assets and hab:hities are exctuded from the table
All VIE assets are restricted from being sold or pledged as
collateral The cash flows from these assets are the only source
used to pay down the associated lablities, which are non-
recourse to the Company s general assets

The following table presents the carrying amounts and
classifications of consolidated assets that are collateral for
consolidated VIE obligations as of December 31, 2014 and
2013

December 31, December 31,

n billions of dollars 2014 2013

Cash s 01 $ 01
Trading account assets 05 05
[nvestments 70 g4
Total loans, net 906 871
Other 03 08
Total assets S 985 § 969
Shont-term borrowings 5 229 % 245
Long-term debt 381 346
Other habilities 05 06
Total habilities ) 615 § 597

Stgruficant Interests in Unconsohdated VIEs—Balance Sheet
Classification

The following table presents the carrying amounts and
classification of significant variable interests in unconsohidated
VIEs as of December 31, 2014 and 2013

December 31, December 31,

In billions of dollars 2014 2013

Trading account assets § 42 3% 18
Investments 13 38
Total loans, net 224 173
Other 17 25
Total assets s 306 % 254
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Credit Card Securitizations
The Company securitizes credit card receivables through trusts
established to purchase the receivables Citibank transfers
receivables into the trusts on a non-recourse basis Credit card
securilizations are revolving securitizations, as customers pay
their credit card balances the cash proceeds are used to
purchase new receivables and replenish the receivables in the
trust

Substantially all of the Company s credit card securitization
activity 1s through two trusts—Citibank Credit Card Master
Trust (Master Trust) and the Citibank Omni Master Trust (Omni
Trust), with the substantial majority through the Master Trust
These trusts are consolidated entities because, as servicer,
Ciibank has the power to direct the activities that most

significantly impact the economic performance of the trusts,
Citibank holds a seller’s interest and certain securities 1ssued by
the trusis, and also provides hquidity facilities to the trusts
which could result in potentrally significant losses or benefits
from the trusts Accordingly the transferred credit card
receivables remain on Citibank s Consolidated Balance Sheet
with no gain or loss recogmzed The debt 1ssued by the trusts to
third parties 1s included on Citibank’s Consolidated Balance
Sheet

The Company utilizes securitizations as one of the sources
of funding for 1ts business in North America The following
table reflects amounts related to the Company s securitized
credit card receivables as of December 31, 2014 and 2013

December 31,

In billions of dollars 2014 2013
Ovwnership interests i principal amount of trust credet card receivables
Sold to investors via trust-1ssued securties s 37¢ 3 323
Retained by Citibank as trust-issued securnties 101 94
Retained by Citibank via non-certificated interests 142 121
Total ownership interests 1n principal amount of trust credit card recenables ) 613 % 538

The following table summarizes selected cash flow information
related to Citibank s credit card securitizations for the yvears
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

In billions of dollars 2014 2013
Proceeds from new secuntizations ) 126 § 117
Pay down of matuning notes (78) 22

Master Trust Liabilities (at par value)

December 31, December 31,

In billrons of dollars 2014 2013

Term notes 1ssued to third parties $ 357 % 279
Term notes retained by Ciubank affihates 82 62
Total Master Trust habihities 3 439 % 341

Managed Loans

Afier secunitization of credit card recervables, the Company
conimnues to mantain credit card customer account relationships
and provides servicing for receivables transferred to the trusts
As aresult the Company considers the secunittzed credit card
recetvables 1o be part of the business 1t manages As Citibank
consclidates the credit card trusts all managed securitized card
receivables are on-balance sheet

Fundmg, Liquudity Faciliies and Subordinated Interests
Ciubank securitizes credit card receivables through two
securitization trusts described above The liabilities of the trusts
arc included 1n the Consohidated Balance Sheet excluding those
retained by Cittbank

The Master Trust 1ssues fixed- and floating-rate term notes
Some of the term notes are 1ssued to multi-seller commercial
paper conduits The weighted average maturity of the term notes
1ssued by the Master Trust was 2 § years as of December 31.
2014 and 3 1 years as of December 31, 2013
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The Omni Trust i1ssues fixed- and floating-rate term notes
some of which are purchased by multi-seller commercial paper
condutts The weighted average maturity of the third-party term
notes 1ssued by the Omn: Trust was | 9 years as of
December 31 2014 and 0 7 years as of December 31, 2013

Omm Trust Liabilities (at par value)

December 31, December 31,
In betlions of doliars 2014 2013
Term notes 1ssued to third parties 5 13 % 44
Term notes retained by Cinbank affiliates 19 19
Total Omn: Trust habilities 5 32z % 63
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Mortgage Securitizations
The Company provides a wide range of mortgage loan products
to a diverse customer base Once onginated, the Company often
secuntizes these loans through the use of VIEs These VIEs are
funded through the 1ssuance of trust certificates backed solely
by the transferred assets These certificates have the same life as
the transferred assets [n addition to providing a source of
liquidity and less expensive funding, securitizing these assets
also reduces the Company s credit exposure to the borrowers
These mortgage loan securitizations are primanly non-recourse,
thereby effectively transfermng the risk of future credit losses to
the purchasers of the securities 1ssued by the trust However, the
Company s U S consumer mortgage business generally retains
the servicing rights and 1n certain nstances retains investment
securities, interest-only strips and residual interests in future
cash flows from the trusts and also provides servicing for a
limited number of Citibank businesses

The Company securitizes mortgage loans generally through
either a government-sponsored agency such as Ginnie Mae,
Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac (U S agency-sponsored
mortgages), or private-label (non-agency-sponsocred mortgages)

securitization The Company 15 not the primary beneficiary of uts
U § agency-sponsored mortgage securitizations because !
Citibank does not have the power to direct the activities of the
VIE that most significantly impact the entity s economic
performance 1herefore, Citibank does not consolidate these
U § agency-sponsored mortgage securitizations

The Company does not consolidate certain non-agency-
sponsored mortgage securitizations because Citibank 1s either
not the servicer with the power to direct the significant acuvities
of the entity or Citibank 1s the servicer but the servicing
relationship 1s deemed to be a fiduciary relationship and,
therefore Citibank is not deemed to be the primary beneficiary
of the entity

In certain instances, the Company has (1) the power to
direct the activittes and (11) the obligation to either absorb losses
or the right to receive benefits that could be potentially
significant to 1ts non-agency-sponsored mortgage securitizations
and therefore, 15 the prnimary beneficiary and thus consohdates
the VIE

The following table summarizes selected cash flow information related to Ciibank mortgage securitizations for the years ended

December 31,2014 and 2013

In billions of doflars 2014 2013

Proceeds from new securitizalions $ 204 § 562

Contractual servicing fees recerved 06 07

Cash flows received on retaimned nterests and other net cash flows 01 01 |

Gains recogmzed on the securitization of mortgages for the years ended December 31,2014 and 2013 were $209 million and

$173 million, respectively

Key assumpttons used in measuring the fair value of retained interests at the date of sale or securitization of mortgage receivables

for the years ended December 31 2014 and 2013 were as follows

2014 2013
Discount rate 117% 10 8%
Constant prepayment rate 61 45
Anticipated net credit losses NM NM
Weighted average life 7 1 years 8 0 years
NM Not meaningful Anticipated net credit losses are not meantngful due to U S agency guarantees
The interests retained by the Company range from highly rated
Dec 31, Dec 31,
and/or sentor 1n the capital structure to unrated and/or residual In muillions of dollars 2014 2013
interests Discount rate 101% 7 6%
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the key assumptions used Constant prepayment rate 15 9% 13 9%
to value retained interests, and the sensutivity of the fair value to Anticipated net credit losses™ 0 1% 0 0%
adverse changes of 10% and 20% 1n each of the key Weighted average life 50 years 61 years
assumptions are set forth in the tables below The negative effect Carrying value of refained mterests S 1948 § 2882 |
of each change 1s calculated independently, holding all other Discount rates
assumptions constant Because the key assumplions may not be Adverse change of 10% $ 66) § (87)
independent, the net effect of simultaneous adverse changes in Adverse change of 20% az7n (170)
the key assumptions may be less than the sum of the individual Constant prepayment rate
effects shown below Adverse change of 10% § On § (130
Adverse change of 20% (174) (253)
Anticipated net credit losses
Adverse change of 10% £ 4 $ (6)
Adverse change of 20% (7} (12)
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Substantially all retained interests are U 5 agency-sponsored
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Mortgage Servicing Rights
In connection with the secunitization of mortgage loans. the
Company s U § consumer mortgage business generally retains
the servicing rights, which entitle the Company to a future
stream of cash flows based on the outstanding principal balances
of the loans and the contractual servicing fee Failure to service
the loans 1n accordance with contractual requirements may lead
to a termination of the servicing rights and the loss of future
servicing fees

These transactions create an intangible asset referred to as
mortgage servicing rights {MSRs). which are recorded at fair
value on Citibank's Consolidated Balance Sheet The fair value
of Cittbank's capitalized MSRs was $1 8 lillien and $2 7 billion
at December 31. 2014 and 2013 respectively The MSRs
correspond to principal loan balances of $224 billion and $286
billon as of December 31 2014 and 2013 respectively The
following table summarizes the changes in capitalized MSRs for
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

In mitlions of dollars 2014 2013
Balance, beginning of year § 2,718 § 1,942
Oniginations 217 634

Changes 1n fair value of MSRs due to

changes i inputs and assumptions (344) 640
Other changes ' (429) (496)
Sale of MSRs 317) 2)

Balance, as of December 31 $ 1,845 § 2718

(1) Represents changes due to customer payments and passage of iime

The fair value of the MSRs 1s primanly affected by changes
n prepayments of mortgages that result from shifts in mortgage
interest rates Specifically higher interest rates tend to lead to
declining prepayments, which causes the fair value of the MSRs
to increase [n managing this risk, the Company economically
hedges a sigmficant portion of the value of its MSRs through the
use of interest rate derivative contracts, forward purchase and
sale commitments of mortgage-backed securities and purchased
securities classified as Trading account assets

The Company receives fecs during the course of servicing
previously securitized mortgages The amounts of these fees for
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were as follows

in millions of dotiors 2014 2013

Servicing fees $§ 63 § 800
Late fees 25 42
Ancillary fees 56 100
Total MSR fees § M9 3 942

These fees are classified in the Consolidated Statement of
Income as Qther revenue
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Citibank Adnunistered Asset-Backed Commercial Paper
Conduits
The Company 1s active 1n the asset-backed commercial paper
conduit business as administrator of several mulu-seller
commercial paper conduits and also as a service provider to
single-seller and other commercial paper condwits sponsored by
third parties

Citibank s multi-seller commercial paper conduits are
designed to provide the Company’s clients access to low-cost
funding 1n the commercial paper markets The conduits
purchase assets from or provide financing facilities to chients
and are funded by 1ssuing commercial paper to third-party
investors The conduits generally do not purchase assets
onginated by the Company The funding of the conduits 1s
facilitated by the hiquidity support and credit enhancements
provided by the Company

As adminustrator to Citibank's conduits, the Company 1s
generally responsible for selecting and structuring assets
purchased or financed by the conduits making decisions
regarding the funding of the conduits, including determining the
tenor and other featurcs of the commercial paper 1ssued
monttoring the quality and performance of the conduits assets,
and facilitating the operations and cash flows of the conduits In
return, the Company earns structuring fees from customers for
mdividual transactions and earns an admimistration fee from the
condutt which 1s equal to the income from the client program
and hiquidity fees of the conduit after payment of conduit
eapenses This administration fee 1s fairly stable, since most
risks and rewards of the underlying assets are passed back to the
chients Once the asset pricing 1s negotiated, most ongoing
income costs and fecs are relatvely stable as a percentage of
the conduit’s size

The conduits administered by the Company do not
generally invest in iquid securities that are formally rated by
third parties The assets are pnivately negotiated and structured
transactions that are generally designed to be held by the
conduit rather than actively traded and sold The yield earmed
by the conduit on each asset 1s generally ued to the rate on the
commerctal paper tssued by the conduit, thus passing interest
rate nsk to the client Each asset purchased by the conduit 1s
structured with transaction-specific credit enhancement features
provided by the third-party client seller including over
collateralization, cash and excess spread collateral accounts
direct recourse or third-party guarantees These credit
enhancements are sized with the objective of approximating a
credit rating of A or above based on the Company s internal nsk
ratings At December 31 2014 and 2013 the conduits had
approaimately $29 2 bilhon and $31 8 bilhon of purchased
assets outstanding respectively, and had incremental funding
commmtments with clients of approximately $15 3 bilhon and
$13 5 billion. respectively

Substantially all of the funding of the conduits 1s 1n the
form of short-term commercial paper At the respective periods
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the weighted average
reraining lives of the commercial paper 1ssued by the conduits
were approximately 57 and 67 days respectively

The primary credit enhancement provided to the conduit
investors 1s n the form of transaction-specific crednt
enhancements described above One conduit holds only loans
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that are fully guaranteed pnmanly by AAA-rated government
agencies that support export and development financing
programs In addition to the transaction-specific credit
enhancements, the conduits, other than the government
guarantced loan conduit have obtained a letter of credit from
the Company, which 1s equal to at least 8% to 10% of the
conduit s assets with a minimum of $200 milhon The letters of
credit provided by the Company to the conduns totat
approximately $2 3 billion as of December 31, 2014 and 2013
The net result across multi-seller conduits administered by the
Company other than the government guaranteed loan conduit 13
that 1n the event defaulted assets exceed the transaction-specific
credit enhancements described above, any losses tn each conduit
are allocated first to the Company and then the commercial
paper investors

The Company also provides the conduits with two forms of
hquidity agreements that are used to provide funding to the
conduits in the event of a market disruption, among other
events Each asset of the conduits 1s supported by a transaction-
specific hquidity facility 1n the form of an asset purchase
agreement (APA) Under the APA, the Company has generally
agreed lo purchase non-defaulted ehgible receivables from the
condutt at par The APA 1s not designed to provide credut support
to the condut, as 1t generally does not permit the purchase of
defaulted or impaired assets Any funding under the APA will
likely subject the underlying conduit clients to increased interest
costs [n addition, the Company provides the conduits with
program-wide iquidity i the form of short-term lending
commitmenis Under these commitments, the Company has
agreed to lend to the conduits 1n the event of a short-term
disruption 1n the commercial paper market, subject to specified
condiions The Company receives fees for providing both types
of hquidity agreements and considers these fees to be on fair
market terms

Finally, an affiliate of the Company 1s one of several named
dealers in the commercial paper 1ssued by the conduits and
earns a market-based fee for providing such services Along
with thied-party dealers, the Company makes a market in the
commercial paper and may from time to ime fund commercial
paper pending sale to a third party On specific dates with less
liquidity 1n the market, the Company may hold in inventory
commercial paper 1ssued by conduits administered by the
Company, as well as conduits administered by third parties
Separately, 1n the normal course of business the Company
invests 1n commercial paper, including commercial paper 1ssued
by the Company's conduits At December 31 2014 and 2013
the Company owned $10 6 billion and $13 9 llion
respectively, of the commercial paper issued by its administered
conduits The Company's investments were not driven by
market 1lhiquidhty and the Company 1s not obligated under any
agreement to purchase the commercial paper 1ssued by the
conduits

The asset-backed commercial paper conduits are
consolidated by the Company The Company determined that
through 1ts roles as admimstrator and hiquidity provider, 1t had
the power to direct the activities that most significantly
impacted the entities’ economic performance These powers
included its ability to structure and approve the assets purchased
by the conduits, its ongoing surveillance and credit mitigation

activities 1ts abihity to sell or repurchasc assets out of the
conduits and its hability management In addition, as a result of
all the Company’s involvement described above, 1t was
concluded that the Company had an econemic interest that could
potentially be significant However, the assets and habihities of
the conduits are separate and apart from those of Ciibank No
assets of any conduit arc available to satisfy the creditors of
Citibank or any of 1ts other subsidiaries

During 2013 Citibank consolidated the government
guaranteed loan conduit it admimisters that was previously not
consolidated duc to changes in the primary nsks and design of
the condunt that were 1dentified as a reconsideration event
Cittbank, as the admunustrator and liquidity provider, previously
determined 1t had an economic interest that could potentially be
significant Upon the reconsideration event 1t was determined
that Citibank had the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impacted the conduit’s economic performance The
impact of the conschidation resulted in an increase of assets and
habilities of approximately $7 billion each and a net pretax gain
to the Consolidated Statement of Income of approximately $40
million

Collateralized Debt and Loan Obligations
A securitized collateralized debt obligation (CDO) 1s a VIE that
purchases a pool of assets consisting of asset-backed securities
and synthetic exposures through derivatives on asset-backed
securities and 1ssues multiple tranches of equity and notes to
investors

A cash CDO, or arbitrage CDO 15 a CDO designed to take
advantage of the difference between the yield on a portfolio of
selected assets typically residential mortgage-backed securities,
and the cost of funding the CDO through the sale of notes to
mvestors *Cash flow’ CDOs are entities in which the CDO
passes on cash flows from a pool of assets, while “market
value” CDOs pay to investors the market value of the pool of
assets owned by the CDO at maturity In these transactions, all
of the equity and notes 1ssued by the CDO are funded, as the
cash 1s needed to purchase the debt securities

A synthetic CDO 1s similar to a cash CDO, except that the
CDO obtains exposure to all or a portion of the referenced assets
synthetically through derivative instruments, such as credut
default swaps Because the CDO does not need to raise cash
sufficient to purchase the entire referenced portfolio a
substantial portion of the senior tranches of risk 1s typically
passed on to CDO 1nvestors in the form of unfunded liabihues
or denivative instruments The CDO writes credit protection on
select referenced debt securities to the Company or third parties
Risk 1s then passed on to the CDO investors in the form of
funded notes or purchased credit protection through derivative
mstruments Any cash raised from investors 15 invested 1in a
pertfolio of collateral securities or investment contracts The
collateral 1s then used to support the obligations of the CDO on
the credit default swaps written to counterparties

A securitized collateralized loan obligation (CLO)1s
substantially similar to the CDO transactions described above
except that the assets owned by the VIE (either cash instruments
or synthetic exposures through derivative instruments) are
corporate loans and to a lesser extent corporate bonds rather
than asset-backed debt securities
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A third-party asset manager 1s typically retained by the
CDO/CLO to select the poo! of assets and manage those assets
over the term of the VIE

The Company eamns fees for warehousing assets prior to the
creation of a * cash flow’ or “market value CDO/CLO,
structuring CDOs/CLOs and placing debt securities with
mvestors In addition the Company has retained interests in
many of the CDOs/CLOs 1t has structured and makes a market
1n the 1ssued notes

The Company s continuing invelvement in synthetic CDOs/
CLOs generally includes purchasing credit protection through
credit default swaps with the CDO/CLO owming a portion of
the capital structure of the CDO/CLO in the form of both
unfunded denvative positions (pnimanly * super-semior’
exposures discussed below) and funded notes, entering into
interest-rate swap and total-return swap transactions with the
CDO/CLO lending to the CDO/CLO and making a market tn
the funded notes

Where a CDO/CLO enuty 1ssues preferred shares (or
subordinated notes that are the equivalent form), the preferred
shares generally represent an insufficient amount of equity (less
than 10%) and create the presumption that preferred shares are
insufficient to finance the entity’s activities without
subordinated financial support [n addition although the
preferred sharcholders generally have full exposure to expected
losses on the collateral and uncapped potential to receive
cxpected residual returns, they generally do not have the abihty
to make decisions significantly aftecting the entity’s financial
results because of their hmuited role in making day-to-day
decisions and their limited ability to remove the asset manager
Because one or both of the above conditions will generally be
mel, the Company has concluded. even where a CDO/CLO
entity 1ssued preferred shares, the entity should be classified as a
VIE

In general the asset manager, through 1ts ability to purchase
and sell assets or—where the reinvestment period of a CDO/
CLO has expired——the ability to sell assets. will have the power
to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impact
the economic performance of the CDO/CLO However where a
CDO/CLO has experienced an event of default or an optional
redemption period has gone anto effect. the activities of the asset
manager may be curtailed and/or certain additional rights wall
generally be provided to the investors 1n a CDO/CLO entity
including the right to direct the hquidation of the CDO/CLO
enlity

The Company does not generally have the power to direct
the activities of the entity that most significantly impact the
economic performance of the CDOs/CLOs, as this power s
generally held by a third-party asset manager of the CDO/CLO
As such, those CDOs/CL.Os are not consolidated The Company
may consolidate the CDO/CLO when (i) the Company 15 the
asset manager and no other single investor has the unilateral
ability to remove the Company or unilaterally cause the
hiquidation of the CDO/CLO, or the Company 1s not the asset
manager but has a unilateral right to remove the third-party asset
manager or unilaterally hquidate the CDO/CLO and receive the
underlying assets, and (1) the Company has economic exposure
to the entity that could be potentially significant to the entity

The Company continues to monitor its involvement 1n
unconsolidated CDOs/CLOs to assess future consolidation risk
For example, 1f the Company were to acquire additional
interests 1n these entities and obtain the nght due to an event of
default tngger being met, to umlaterally hiquidate or direct the
activities of a CDO/CLO, the Company may be required to
consolidate the asset entity For cash CDOs/CLOs, the net result
of such consolidation would be to gross up the Company s
balance sheet by the current fair value of the secunities held by
third parties and assets held by the CDO/CLO which amounts
are not considered material For synthetic CDOs/CLOs the net
result of such consolidation may reduce the Company’s balance
sheet, because iniercompany derivative receivables and payables
would be eliminated 1n consohdation, and other assets held by
the CDO/CLO and the securities held by third parties would be
recognized at their current fair values

Key Assumpnions and Retained Interests

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the key assumptions used to
value retained nterests tn CLOs, and the sensitivity of the fair
value to adverse changes of 10% and 20% are set forth in the
tables below

December 31, 2014
14%to 1 6%

December 31, 2013
15%to 1 6%

Discount rate

December 31, 2014

In miilions of dollars CLO
Carrying value of retained interests 5 1,539
Value of underlying portfolio
Adverse change of 10% $ 9)
Adverse change of 20% (18

December 31, 2013

in mulons of dollars CLO
Carrying value of retained interests b 1,333
Value of underlying portfolio
Adverse change of 10% $ (7
Adverse change of 20% (14)

Asset-Based Financing
The Company provides loans and other forms of financing to
VIEs that hold assets Those loans are subject to the same credit
approvals as all other loans oniginated or purchased by the
Company Financings in the form of debt securities or
derivatives are 1n most circumstances, reported in Trading
account assets and accounted for at fair value through earnings
The Company generally does not have the power to direct the
activities that most significantly impact these VIEs’ economic
performance and thus it does not consolidate them

The primary types of Citibank s asset-based financings
total assets of the unconsohdated VIEs with significant
involvement and the Company s maxumum exposure to loss at
December 31, 2014 and 2013 arc shown below For the
Company to realize the maximum loss the VIE (borrower)
would have to default with no recovery from the assets held by
the VIE
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December 31, 2014

Maximum

Total exposure to

unconsohidated unconsohdated
in milirons of dollars YIE assets VIEs
Type
Commercial and other real estate $ 20,568 § 7,595
Corporate loans 460 473
Aarplanes, ships and other assets 34,808 14,679
Total $ 55,836 § 22,747

December 31, 2013

Maximum
lotal exposure to
unconsolidated unconsohdated

In millions of dollars VIE assets VIEs
Type

Commercial and other real estate § 13,262 § 3,234
Corporate loans 2,334 1,850
Aarplanes, ships and other assets 30,607 12,934
Total 5 46,203 § 18,018

The following table summarizes selected cash flow
i formation related to asset-based financings for the years ended
December 31 2014 and 2013

In bilhons of dollars 2014 2013
Proceeds from new securitizations b 05 § 05
Cash flows received on retained interests

and other net cash flows 03 09

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the key assumption used
to value retained terests and the sensitivity of the fair value to
adverse changes of 10% and 20% are set forth in the tables
below

December 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Discount rate N/A 30%

December 31, 2013

Asset-based

in milons of dotiars financing
Carrying value of retained interests ¥ $ 1,411
Value of underlying portfolio
Adverse change of 10% b (1)
Adverse change of 20% 23)

8y

Cinbank held no retaned interests in asset-based financings as of
December 31 2014
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Municipal Secunties Tender Option Bond (TOB) Trusts
TOB trusts hold fixed- and floating-rate taxable and tax-exempt
securities 1ssued by state and local governments and
municipahities The trusts are typically single-issuer trusts whose
assets are purchased from the Company or from other investors
in the municipal secunities market The TOB trusts fund the
purchase of their assets by 1ssuing long-term, putable floating
rate ceruficates (Floaters) and residual certificates (Residuals)
The trusts are referred to as TOB trusts because the Floater
holders have the ablity to tender their interests penodically
back to the 1ssuing trust, as described further below The
Floaters and Residuals evidence beneficial ownership interests
in, and are collateralized by the underlying assets of the trust
The Floaters are held by third-party investors, typically tax-
exempt money market funds The Residuals are typically held
by the original owner of the municipal secunties being financed

The Floaters and the Residuals have a tenor that 1s equal to
or shorter than the tenor of the underlying municipal bonds The
Residuals entitle their holders to the restdual cash flows from
the 1ssuing trust the interest income generated by the underlying
municipal securities net of interest paid on the Floaters and trust
expenses The Residuals are rated based on the long-term rating
of the underlying municipal bond The Floaters bear variable
interest rates that are reset periodically to a new market rate
based on a spread to a high grade, short-term, tax-exempt index
The Floaters have a long-term rating based on the long-term
rating of the underlying municipal bond and a short-term rating
based on that of the hquidhty provider to the trust

There are two kinds of TOB trusts customer TOB trusts
and non-customer TOB trusts Customer TOB trusts are trusts
through which customers finance their investments 1 municipal
securities The Residuals are held by customers and the Floaters
by third-party investors typically tax-exempt money market
funds Non-customer TOB trusts are trusts through which the
Company finances 1ts own investments 1n municipal secunities
In such trusts the Company holds the Residuals and third-party
investors, typically tax-exempt money market funds hold the
Floaters

The Company serves as remarketng agent to the trusts
placing the Floaters with third-party investors at inception,
facilitating the periodic reset of the variable rate of interest on
the Floaters, and remarketing any tendered Floaters If Floaters
are tendered and the Company (in 1ts role as remarketing agent)
1s unable to find a new investor within a specified peried of
time, 1t can declare a failed remarketing, in which case the trust
1s unwound The Company may, but 1s not obhgated to, buy the
Floaters into its own inventory The level of the Company s
inventory of Floaters fluctuates over ime At December 31,
2014 the Company held no Floaters related to both customer
and non-customer TOB trusts while the Company held $§117
million at December 31 2013

For certain non-customer trusts the Company also provides
credit enhancement At December 31,2014 and 2013
approximately $114 million and $113 mullion, respectively, of
the municipal bonds owned by TOB trusts have a credit
guarantec provided by the Company

The Company provides liquidity to many of the outstanding
trusts If a trust 15 unwound early due to an event other than a
credit event on the underlying municipal bond, the underlying
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municipal bonds are sold mn the market If there 15 a shortfall in
the trust s cash flows between the redemption price of the
tendered Floaters and the proceeds from the sale of the
underlying municipal bonds, the trust draws on a hquidity
agreement 1n an amount equal to the shortfall For customer
TOBs where the Residual 15 less than 25% of the trust’s capital
structure the Company has a reimbursement agreement with the
Residual holder under which the Residual holder reimbursces the
Company for any payment made under the Liquidity
arrangement Through this reitmbursement agreement. the
Residual holder remains economically exposed to fluctuations in
value of the undertying municipal bonds These reimbursement
agreements are generally subject to daily margiming based on
changes 1n vaiue of the underlying municipal bond 1n cases
where a third party provides Lhiquidity to a non-customer 1OB
trust, a stmilar reimbursement arrangement 1s made whereby the
Company (or a consolidated subsidiary of the Company) as
Residual holder absorbs any losses incurred by the hiquidity
provider

At December 31,2014 and 2013 hiquidity agreements
provided with respect to customer TOB trusts totaled $3 7
billion and $3 9 billion respectively. of which $2 6 billion and
$2 8 billion respecuvely, were offset by reimbursement
agreements For the remainng exposure related to TOB
transactions, where the Residual owned by the customer was at
least 25% of the bond value at the inception of the transaction
no retmbursement agreement was executed The Company also
provides other iquidity agreements or letters of credit to
customer-sponsored municipal investment funds, which are not
variable interest entities, and municipality-related 1ssuers that
totaled $7 4 billion and $5 4 billion as of December 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively These hquidity agreements and letters of
credit are offset by reimbursement agreements with various
term-out provisions

The Company considers the customer and non-customer
TOB trusts to be VIEs Customer TOB trusts are not
consolidated by the Company The Company has concluded that
the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact
the economic performance of the customer TOB trusts s
primanly held by the customer Residual holder which may
unilaterally cause the sale of the trust s bonds

Non-customer TOB trusts generally are consolidated
Similar to customer TOB trusts, the Company has concluded
that the power over the non-customer TOB trusts 18 primanly
held by the Residual holder, which may unilaterally cause the
sale of the trust s bonds Because the Company holds the
Residual interest and thus has the power to direct the activities
that most significantly impact the trust s econemic performance
1t censolidates the non-customer TOB trusts

Municpal Investments

Municipal investment transactions include debt and equity
interests 1n partnerships that finance the construction and
rehabilitation of low-income heusing. facilitate lending 1n new
or underserved markets or finance the construction or operation
of renewable municipal energy facilities The Company
generally invests in these partnerships as a mited partner and
carns a return pnmarily through the receipt of tax credits and
grants earned from the investments made by the partnership
The Company may also provide construction loans or
permanent loans for the development or operations of real estale
properties held by partnerships These entities are generally
considered VIEs The power to direct the activities of these
entities 1s typically held by the general partner Accordingly
these entities are not consolidated by the Company

Chient Intermediation
Chient intermediation transactions represent a range of
transactions designed to provide investors with specified returns
based on the returns of an underlying secunty referenced asset
or index These transactions include credit-linked notes and
equity-linked notes In these transactions the VIE typically
obtains exposure to the underlying securtity, referenced asset or
index through a derivative instrument, such as a total-return
swap or a credit-default swap In turn the VIE ssues notes to
investors that pay a return based on the specified underlying
security, referenced asset or index The VIE invests the proceeds
in a financial asset or a guaranteed nsurance contract that serves
as collateral for the denivative contract over the term of the
transaction The Company’s involvement in these transactions
imcludes being the counterparty to the VIE’s derivauve
mstruments and investing in a portion of the notes 1ssued by the
VIE In certain transactions the investor’s maximum risk of loss
1s himited and the Company absorbs risk of loss above 2
specified level The Company does not have the power to direct
the activities of the VIEs that most significantly impact their
economic performance and thus 1t does not consolidate them
The Company s maximum risk of loss in these transactions
1s defined as the amount invested in notes 1ssued by the VIE and
the notional amount of any risk of loss absorbed by the
Company through a sepaiate instrument 1ssued by the VIE The
derivative instrument held by the Company may generate a
receivable from the VIE {for example, where the Company
purchases credit protection from the VIE in connection with the
VIE’s 1ssuance of a credit-linked note} which 1s collateralized
by the assets owned by the VIE These derivative instruments
are not considered variable interests and any associated
recervables are not included 1n the calculation of maximum
exposure to the VIE
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20 DERIVATIVES ACTIVITIES

In the ordinary course of business, Citibank enters into vartous
types of derivative transactions These derivative
transactions include

. Futures and forward contracts, which are commiutments to
buy or sell at a future date a financial instrument.
commodity or currency at a contracted price and may be
settled 1in cash or through delivery

*  Swap contracts, which are commutments to settle in cash at
a future date or dates that may range from a few daysto a
number of years, based on differentials between specified
indices or financial instruments, as applied to a notional
principal amount

*  Oprion contracts, which give the purchaser, for a premium
the right, but not the obligation to buy or sell withina
specified time a financial instrument, commodity or
currency at a contracted price that may also be settled in
cash, based on differentials between specified indices or
prices

Swaps and forwards and some option contracts are over-
the-counter (OTC) derivatives that are bilaterally negotiated
with counterparties and settled with those counterparties, except
for swap contracts that are novated and "cleared” through
central counterparties (CCPs) Futures contracts and other
option contracts are standardized contracts that are traded on an
exchange with a CCP as the counterparty from the inception of
the transaction Citibank enters into these derivative contracts
relating to interest rate, foreign currency, commodity and other
market/credit risks for the following reasons

»  Trading Purposes Citibank trades denivatives as an active
market maker Ciuibank offers 1ts customers derivatives in
connection with their nsk-management actions to transfer
modify or reduce their interest rate foreign exchange and
other market/credit nisks or for their own trading purposes
Citibank also manages its derivative risk positions through
offsetting trade activities, controls focused on price
verification, and daily reporting of positions 1o sensor
managers

+  Hedging Citibank uses derivatives in connection with its
risk-management activities to hedge certain risks or
reposition the risk profile of the Company For example
Cittbank issues fixed-rate long-term debt and then enters
into a receive-fixed pay-varable-rate mterest rate swap
with the same tenor and notional amount to convert the
interest payments to a net variable-rate basis This strategy
15 the most common form of an nterest rate hedge, as 1t
minimizes Interest cost in certain yield curve environments
Derivatives are also used to manage risks inherent in
specific groups of on-balance-sheet assets and liabulities,
including AFS securities and borrowings, as well as other
interest-sensitive assets and habilities In addition, foreign-
exchange contracts are used to hedge non-U S -dollar-
denominated debt foreign-currency-denominated AFS
secunties and net investment exposures
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Denvatives may expose Citibank to market credit or
hquidity risks in excess of the amounts recorded on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet Market risk on a derivative product
1s the exposure created by potential fluctuations in interest rates
foreign-exchange rates and other factors and 1s a function of the
type of product, the volume of transactions, the tenor and terms
of the agreement and the underlying volatihty Credit risk 1s the
exposure to loss 1n the event of nonperformance by the other
party to the transaction where the value of any collateral held 15
not adequate to cover such losses The recognition 1n earnings of
unrealized gains on these transactions 1s subject to
management’s assessment of the probability of counterparty
default Liquidity risk 1s the potential exposure that arises when
the size of a derivative position may not be able to be monetized
in a reasonable period of time and at a reasonable cost in periods
of high volatility and financal stress

Denvative transactions are customartly documented under
industry standard master agreements that provide that, following
an uncured payment default or other event of default, the non-
defaulung party may promptly terminate all transactions
between the parties and determine the net amount due to be paid
to, or by the defaulting party Events of default include (1)
fallure to make a payment on a derivatives transaction that .
remams uncured following applicable notice and grace penods, |
(1) breach of agreement that remains uncured after applicable |
notice and grace penods, (11) breach of a representation, (1v) |
cross default, either to third-party debt or to other derivauve '
transactions entered into between the parties, or, in some cases,
their affiliates. (v} the occurrence of a merger or consolidation
which results in a party s becoming a materially weaker credit,
and (v1) the cessation or repudiation of any applicable guarantee
or other credit support document Oblhigations under master
netting agreements are ofien secured by collateral posted under
an industry standard credit support annex to the master neiting
agreement An event of default may also occur under a credit
support annex 1f a party fails to make a collateral delivery that
remains uncured following applicable notice and grace periods

The netting and collateral rights incorporated in the master
netting agreements are considered to be legally enforceable 1f a
supportive legal opinion has been obtained from counsel of
recognized standing that provides the requisite level of certainty
regarding enforceability and that the exercise of rights by the
non-defaulting party to terminate and close-oul transactions on a
net basts under these agreements wall not be stayed or avoided
under applicable law upon an event of default including
bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceeding

A legal opinion may not be sought for certain jurisdictions
where local law 1s silent or unclear as to the enforceability of
such nights or where adverse case law or conflicting regulation
may cast doubt on the enforceability of such rights In some
Jurnisdictions and for some counterparty types the insolvency
law may not provide the requisite level of certainty For
example, this may be the case for certain sovereigns
municipalities central banks and U § penston plans

Exposure to credit nsk on denvatives 1s affected by market
volatility, which may impair the ability of counterparties to
satisfy their obhgations to the Company Credit imits are
established and closely monitored for customers engaged in
derivatives transactions Citibank considers the level of legal
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certainty regarding enforceability of 1ts offsetting nghts under
master netting agreements and credit support annexes to be an
impeortant factor in 1ts risk management process Specifically,
Citibank generally transacts much lower volumes of denvatives
under master nettiing agreements where Citibank does not have
the requisite level of legal certainty regarding enforceability,
because such derivatives consume greater amounts of single
counterparty credit Limuts than those executed under enforceable
master netting agreements

Cash collateral and security collateral in the form of G10
government debt secunities 1s often posted by a party to a master
netting agreement to secure the net open exposure of the other
party, the recerving party 1s free to commingle/rehypothecate
such collateral in the ordinary course of its business
Nonstandard collateral such as corporate bonds municipal
bonds U S agency securities and/or MBS may also be pledged
as collateral for derivative transactions Security collateral
posted to open and maintain a master netting agreement with a
counterparty, in the form of cash and/or secunties. may from
time to time be segregated in an account at a third-party
custodian pursuant to a tri-party account control agreement
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Information pertaining to Cittbank’s derivative activity,
based on notional amounts. as of December 31 2014 and
December 31, 2013, 1s presented 1n the table below Denvative
notional amounts are reference amounts from which contractual
payments are derived and 1n Citibank’s view., do not accurately
represent a measure of Crttbank’s exposure to derivative
transactions Rather as discussed above, Citibank’s derivative
exposure anses primarily from market fluctuations (1 € . market
risk), counterparty failure (1 ¢, credit nisk) and/er periods of
tugh volatility or financial stress (1 ¢ hguidity nisk), as well as

any market valuation adjustments that may be required on the factors

Dervative Notionals

Hedging mstruments under
ASC 8IS

Other dernative instruments

transactions Morcover notional amounts do not reflect the
netitng of offsetuing trades (also as discussed above) For
example, if Cibank enters into an interest rate swap with $100
million notional, and offsets this risk with an 1dentical but
opposite position with a different counterparty, $200 mitlion in
dernivative notionals 1s reported although these offsetting
positions may result in de minimus overall market risk
Aggregate derivative notional amounts can fluctuate from
peniod-to-period 1n the normal course of business based on
Citibank s market share, levels of client activity and other

Trading dervatives

Management hedges

|
1
I
|
T
i
T
1
I
]
T

December 31, December 31, 1 December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
In mithons of doilars 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Interest rate contracts 1
Swaps [ 58,969 § 47,942 18 31,851,987 § 38592168 § 13,019 § 83,980
Futures and forwards — 20 : 4,974,963 5,020,616 42,305 61,398
Written options — — : 2,958,927 3,274,812 3913 3,087
Purchased options - — ' 2922281 3,211,141 4,910 3,185
Total interest rate contract notionals b 58,969 3 47,962 |8 42,708,158 § 50,098,737 § 64,147 § 151,650
Foreign exchange contracts H
Swaps $ 12,362 § 543818 4,792,562 § 3,588,985 § — % 552
Futures and forwards 63,698 71,712 : 2,196,619 1,837,260 76 891
Written options —_ 101 : 1,363,853 989,431 —_ -—
Purchased options — 1061 1359622 963,435 — 7
Total foreign exchange contract notionals h) 76,060 § 773578 9,712,656 § 7379111 § 7% 3 1,514
Equity contracts H
Swaps $ — 3 —1s 145316 § 117479 § — 3 —
Futures and forwards — — : 5,953 4,356 — —_
Written options — — : 208,382 142,438 - —
Purchased options _ — : 312,839 130,860 -— —
Total equity contract notionals $ — 3 —$ 672,490 § 395133 § — 5 —
Commodity and other contracts 4
Swaps $ — 8 — s 96,475 $ 42,064 $ — 3 —
Futures and forwards — -1 50,568 52,648 — —
Written options — — : 105,537 87,708 — —
Purchased options — — 97,602 91,305 — -
Total commodity and other contract notionals § — % — 8 350,182 § 273,725 § —_ 3 —
Credit dernvatives ©' i
Protection sold $ — 8 — 1% 1223867 § 1257229 § — 3 -
Protection purchased S —_ 95 : 1,246,271 1,296,533 § 16,018 19,744
Total credit dernatives $ — 3 95,8 2,470,138 § 2,553,762 § 16,018 § 19,744
Total derivative notionals $ 135,029 § 125414 1% 55,913,624 $ 60,700,468 S 80,241 % 172,908

(1} Denvatives in hedge accounting relationships accounted for under ASC 815 are recorded 1n etther Orher assets/Other Labilittes or Trading account assets/Trading

account abdittes on the Consolidated Balance Sheet

(2) Management hedges represent derivative instruments used to mitigate certamn economic nsks but for which hedge accounting 1s not applied These dervatives are
recorded in esther Orher asseis/Other labilities or Trading account assets/Trading account liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet

(3) Credu denvatives are arrangements designed (0 allow one party (protection buyer) to transfer the credit nsk of a “reference asset” to another party (protection
seller) These arrangements allow a protection seller to assume the credit nsk associated wath the reference asset without directly purchasing that asset The
Company enters 1nto credit denvative pasiions for purposes such as risk management, yield enhancement reduction of credit concentrations and diversificahon

of overall risk
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The following tables present the gross and net fair values of
the Company 's derivative transactions and the related offsetting
amounts permuited under ASC 210-20-45 and ASC §15-10-45,
as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 Under
ASC 210-20-45, gross positive fair values are offset against
gross negative fair values by counterparty pursuant to
enforceable master netting agreements Under ASC 815-10-45
payables and receivables in respect of cash collateral recerved
from or paid to a given counterparty pursuant to a credit support
annex are included n the ofisetting amount 1f a legal opinion
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supporting enforceabihity of netting and collateral rights has
been obtaned GAAP does not permit stmilar offsetting for
secunty collateral The table also includes amounts that are not
permitted to be offset under ASC 210-20-45 and ASC
815-10-45, such as secunity collateral posted or cash collateral
posted at third-party custodians but would be ehgible for
offsetting to the extent an event of default occurred and a legal
opiion supporting enforceability of the netting and collateral
rights has been obtained
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Derivative Mark-to-Market (MTM) Recervables/Payables

Dervatives ciassified 1n Dervatives classified in
Trading Other
In millrons of dollars at December 31 2014 account assets/habilities V3 assets/hiabilities @
Derivatives instruments designated as ASC §15 hedges Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Over-the-counter 8 58 141 § 15 § 407
Cleared 235 829 — 25
Interest rate contracts $ 240 § 970 % 15 3 432
Over-the-counter s 2,621 $ 303 8 533 § 426
Foreign exchange contracts $ 2,621 $ 303 § 533 % 426
Total derwvative mmstruments designated as ASC 815 hedges A} 2,861 § 1,273 8 548 § 8§58
Derwvatives instruments not designated as ASC 815 hedges
Over-the-counter $ 436,501 § 427,563 § 64 8 15
Cleared 204,524 206,579 [ 21
Exchange traded 2 2 140 164
Interest rate contracts s 641,027 3 634,144 § 210 § 200
Over-the-counter 5 164,747 8 169,064 $ — § —
Cleared 366 387 — —
Exchange traded 7 46 —_— —
Foreign exchange contracts ] 165,120 8 169,497 § — 3 —
Over-the-counter $ 22,085 8 20953 § - % —
Exchange traded 4 10 — —
Equity contracts 5 22,089 § 20,963 3 — 3 —_
Over-the-counter 5 14,328 5 16,929 § — § —
Exchange traded 3,342 2,875 — —_
Commodity and other contracts $ 17,670 $ 19,804 § — 5 —
Over-the-counter $ 44,700 § 44,308 $ 264 § 384
Cleared 3,038 2,959 13 171
Credit dervatives™ [ 47,738 8 47,267 § 277 § 555
Total derivatives instruments not designated as ASC 815 hedges L] 893,644 § 891,675 § 487 § 755
Total derivatines S 896,505 § 892,948 § 1,035 § 1,613
Cash collateral paid/received ™ $ 15,567 § 8,754 § 110 § —
Less Netting agreements®” (800,113) (800,113) — _
Less Netting cash collateral recerved/pad® (38,952) (38,159) — (18)
Net recen ables/payables included on the consohidated balance sheet"” $ 73,007 § 63,430 1,145 § 1,598
Additional amounts subject 10 an enforceable master netting agreement but not offset on the Consolidated Balance Sheet
Less Cash collateral received/paid (863) {9 — —_
Less Non-cash collatera! recenved/pand {7,583) (4,766) —_ —_
Total net recervables/payables™ $ 64,561 § 58,655 § L145 § 1,598
(1Y The trading denvatives fair values are presented in Note 11 to the Consohdated Financial Statements
(2) Denvative mark-to-marhet receivables/payables related to management hedges are recorded in etther Other assets/Orher liabilines or Trading account assets/
Trading account habiliies
(3) Over-the-counter (OTC) denvatives are denvatives executed and setiled nlaterally with counterparties without the use of an orgamzed exchange or central
cteanng house Cleared dervatives include denvatives executed baiaterally with a counterparty 1n the OTC market but then novated to a central cleanng house,
whereby the central clearing house becomes the counterparty to both of the onginal counterparties Exchange traded denvatives include denivatives executed
directly on an orgamzed exchange that provides pre-trade pnice transparency
(4} The credit denvatives trading assets compnse $19 771 million related to protection purchased and $27,967 mullion related to protection sold as of December 31
2014 The credit denivatives trading hiabilities compnse $27 987 million related to protecuion purchased and $19,280 nullion related to protection sold as of
December 31, 2014
(5) For the trading account assets/liabilities reflects the net amount of the $53,726 nullion and $47 706 mullion of grass cash collateral pard and received,
respectively Of the gross cash collateral pard $38 159 multion was used to offset rading denvatve hiabilities and of the gross cash collateral receved, $38 952
mullton was used to offset trading derivative assets
(6) For cash collateral paid with respect to non-trading denvauve habilities reflects the net amount of $125 mullion the gross cash collateral pawd of which $15

mullion 15 netted against OTC non-trading denvative positions withan Orther Tabilities
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9

(8)

(9}

Represents the netting of denvative recervable and payable balances with the same counterparty under enforceable netting agreements Approximately $591
billien, 3297 bilhien and $2 billion of the netting against rading account asset/hiability balances 1s attributable to each of the OTC, cleared and exchange traded
denvatives, respectively

Represents the netting of cash collateral paid and received by counterparty under enforceable credit support agreements Substantially atl cash collateral received
15 netted against OTC denvative assets Cash collateral paid of approximately $35 bellion and $3 ilbion respectively 1s netted against OTC and Cleared
denivative liabilines, respectively

The net receivables/payables include approximately 310 billion of denivanve asset and $14 billion of denvative liability fair values not subject to enforceable
master nrmng agreeme nis
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Derivatives classified in Dernatives classified in

Trading ther
In nultions of doliars at December 31 2013 account assets/habilities (V"% assets/habilities '
Dervatives instruments designated as ASC 815 hedges Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Over-the-counter $ 338 285 % — 5 845
Cleared 543 192 5 —
Interest rate contracts $ 576 $ 477 § 5% 245
Over-the-counter % 1,285 § 1,130 % 620 § 127
Foreign exchange contracts b 1,285 $ 1,130 % 620 % 127
Over-the-counter $ — 5 — 3 — 5 2
Credit dernatives $ — 3 — % — 5 2
Total denvative mstruments designated as ASC 815 hedges b3 1,861 § 1,607 $ 625 % 974
Dervatives instruments not designated as ASC 815 hedges
Over-the-counter $ 331,535 § 321,048 % 57 % 15
Cleared 310,263 116,460 28 5
Exchange traded 8 9 — —
Interest rate contracts ) 641,806 $ 637517 § 85 % 20
Over-the-counter $ 96,769 % 94,222 § i3 —
Cleared 1 2 — -
Exchange traded 48 55 — —
Foreign exchange contracts $ 96,818 § 94,279 § 13 —
Over-the-counter b 17,548 § 19261 § — 8 —
Exchange traded 410 626 - —_
Equity contracts $ 12,958 % 19,887 § — 35 —
Qver-the-counter ] 5,223 § 4,443 § — 5 —
Exchange traded 508 527 — —
Commodity and other contracts $ 5731 § 4970 § — 5 —
Over-the-counter $ 41,879 § 40,504 % 718 562
Cleared 1,840 2,531 — —
Credit dernatives™ $ 43,719 § 43,035 % 78 562
Total derivatives instruments not designated as ASC 815 hedges $ 806,032 $ 799,688 $ 159 % 582
Total derivatives $ 807,893 § 801,295 % 784 % 1,556
Cash collateral paidirecerved™™® $ 10,679 $ 6,279 § 82§ 271
Less Netting agreememsm (737,201) (737,201) — —
Less Netung cash collateral recewved/paid™® (29,895) {33,868) (2) —
Net recevables/payables included on the Consohdated Balance Sheet $ 51,476 $ 36,505 $ 864 § 1,827
Additional amounts subject to an enforceable master netting agreement but not offset on the Consohidated Balance Sheet
Less Cash collateral recerved/pand 5 (365) % 3% — § —
Less Non-cash collateral recerved/paid (7,107) {3.274) — —
Total net recervables/payables $ 44,004 § 33,226 § 864 § 1,827

(1} The trading detivauves fair vatues are presented 1n Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Denvative mark-to-marhket receivables/payables related to management hedges are recorded in either Other assets/Other liabulities or Trading account assets/

Trading account habiiies

(3) Over-the-counter (OTC) denvatives include denivatives executed and settled bilaterally with counterparties without the use of an orgamized exchange or central
cleanng house Cleared denvatives include denvatives executed bilaterally with a counterparty i the OTC market but then novated to a central cleanng house
whereby the central cleanng house becomes the counterparty to both of the oniginal counterparties Exchange traded derivatives include denvatives execuied

directly on an organized exchange that provides pre-trade pnce transparency

(4) The credit denvatives trading assets compnse $14,880 million related to protection purchased and $28,839 mullion related to protection sold as of December 31,
2013 The credit denvatives trading lrabilities compnise $29,243 mullion related fo protection purchased and $13,792 million related to protection sold as of

December 31, 2013
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(5) For the trading account asseis/liabilities reflects the net amount of the $44,547 rullion and $36 174 million of gross cash collateral paid and received
respectively Of the gross cash collateral paid $33,868 million was used to offset trading derivauve habthiies and of the gross cash collateral received $29 895

rmullion was used to offset trading dentvative assets

(6) For cash collateral paid with respect to non-trading denvative liabilities reflects the net amount of $82 mullion the gross cash collateral received For cash
collateral received with respect to non-trading denvauve habilittes thus 1s the net amount of $273 aulhon of the gross cash collateral received of which $2 million

1$ netted agamst non-trading derivative positions within other assets

(7) Represents the netuing of denvative recervable and payable balances with the same counterparty under enforceable netting agreements Approximately $423
bilhon, $313 billion and $1 bilhen of the netting aganst trading account asset/habilty balances 1s attnbutable to each of the OTC cleared and exchange traded

denivatives, respectively

{8) Represents the netting of cash collateral paid and received by counterparty under enforceable credit support agreements Substantially all cash collateral received
15 netted against OTC denvative assets Cash collateral paid of approximately 528 billion and $6 bithion, respectively 1s netted against OTC and Cleared

denvanve Liabihties respectively

(9) The net receivables/payables include approvmately $14 billion of denvative asset and $13 bullion of denvative hability fair values not subgect to enforceable

master netting agreements

For the years ended December 31 2014 and 2013 the
amounts recognized 1n Principal transactions 1n the
Consolidated Statement of Income related to derivatives not
designated tn a quahfying hedging relationship. as well as the
underlying non-derivative instruments, are presented in Note §
to the Consolidated Financial Statements Citibank presents this
disclosure by business classification, showing dernivative gains
and losses related to its trading activities together with gains and
losses related to non-derivative instruments within the same
trading portfolios, as this represents the way these portfolios are
risk managed

The amounts recogmized in Other revenue in the
Consolidated Statement of Income for the years ended
December 31 2014 and 2013 related to derivatives not
designated 1n a qualifying hedging relationship are shown
below The table below does not include any offsetting gains/
losses on the economically hedged items to the extent such
amounts are also recorded in Other revenue

Gains {losses) included 1in Other revenue
Year ended December 31,

In mithons of dolars 2014 2013

Interest rate contracts  § 263 $ (373)
Forcign exchange 2 14
Credit derivatives (135) (594)
Total Citibank Ly 130 § (953)

Accounting for Derivative Hedging
Citibank accounts for its hedging activities 1n accordance with
ASC 815 Derwvatives and Hedging As a general rule, hedge
accounting 15 permiited where the Company 1s exposed to a
partrcular nsk such as interest-rate or foreign-cxchange risk
that causes changes in the fair value of an asset or habihity or
vanability in the expected future cash flows of an exisung asset
liability or a forecasted transaction that may affect earnings

Derivative contracts hedging the risks associated with
changes in fair value are referred to as fair value hedges. while
contracts hedging the vanahihity of expected future cash flows
are cash flow hedges Hedges that utihize denivatives or debt
instruments to manage the foreign exchange risk associated with
equity investments in non-U S -dollar-functional-currency
foreign subsidianes {net investment tn a foreign operation} are
net investment hedges

If certain hedging criteria specified in ASC 815 are met,
including testing for hedge effectiveness, hedge accounting may

9

be applied The hedge effectiveness assessment methodologies
for sinular hedges are performed in a stmilar manner and are
used consistently throughout the hedging relationships For fair
value hedges, changes in the value of the hedging derivative, as
well as changes 1n the value of the related hedged item due to
the nisk being hedged are reflected in current earnings For cash
flow hedges and net investment hedges, changes in the value of
the hedging denivauve are reflected in Accumulared other
comprehensive imncome (loss) m Citibank’s stockholder's equity
to the extent the hedge 1s highly effective Hedge
meffectiveness 1n either case s reflected 1n current earnings

For asset/lability management hedging fixed-rate long-
term debt 1s recorded at amortized cost under GAAP However,
by designating an interest rate swap contract as a hedging
instrument and electing to apply ASC 815 fair value hedge
accounting, the carrying value of the debt 1s adjusted for
changes in the benchmark interest rate, with such changes in
value recorded in current earnings The related interest-rate
swap also 1s recorded on the balance sheet at fair value with any
changes in fair value also reflected in earnings Thus any
ineffectiveness resulting from the hedging relatonship 15
captured In current earnings

Alternatively, for management hedges, that do not meet the
ASC 815 hedging cniteria, only the denvative 1s recorded at fair
value on the balance sheet, with the associated changes in fair
value recorded 1n earnings while the debt continues to be
carried at amortized cost Therefore current earnings are
affected only by the interest rate shifts and other factors that
cause a change in the swap's value This type of hedge 1s
undertaken when hedging requirements cannot be achieved or
management decides not to apply ASC 815 hedge accounting

Another alternative 15 to elect to carry the debt at fair value
under the fair value option Once the irrevocable election is
made upon sssuance of the debt, the full changes in fair value of
the debt are reported 1n earnings The related interest rate swap,
with changes in fair value, 1s also reflected in earmings, which
provides a natural offset to the debt’s fair value change To the
extent the two offsets are not exactly equal because the full
change n the fair value of the debt includes nisks not offset by
the interest rate swap the difference 15 captured in current
earnings

The key requirements to achieve ASC 815 hedge
accounting are documentation of a hedging strategy and specific
hedge reiationships at hedge inception and substantiating hedge
effectiveness on an ongoing basis A derivative must be highly
effective in accomplishing the hedge objective of offsetting
either changes in the farr value or cash flows of the hedged item
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for the risk being hedged Any ineffectiveness in the hedge
relationship s recogmzed in current earmings The assessment of
effectiveness may exclude changes 1n the value of the hedged
1tem that are unrelated to the nsks being hedged Simularly, the
assessment of effectiveness may exclude changes in the fair
value of a derivative related to time value that 1f excluded, are
recognized 1n current earnings

Fair Value Hedges

Hedging of benchmark interest rate risk
Citibank hedges exposure to changes 1n the fair value of
outstanding fixed-rate 1ssued debt and ceruficates of deposit
These hedges are designated as fair value hedges of the
benchmark interest rate nsk associated with the currency of the
hedged hability The fixed cash flows of the hedged items are
converted to benchmark variable-rate cash flows by entering
into receive-fined, pay-variable interest rate swaps These fair
value hedge relationships use either regression or dollar-ofTset
ratio analysis to assess whether the hedging relationships are
highly effective at :nception and on an ongoing basis

Citibank also hedges exposure to changes in the fair value
of fixed-rate assets, including available-for-sale debt securnities
and loans The hedging instruments used are recerve-variable,
pay-fixed interest rate swaps These faiwr value hedging
relationships use either regression or dollar-offset ratio analysis
to assess whether the hedging relationships are highly effective
at inception and on an ongoing basis

Hedging of foreign exchange risk

Citibank hedges the change in fair value attributable to foreign-
exchange rate movernents 1n available-for-sale securities that are
denomunated 1n currencies other than the functional currency of
the entity holding the securities, which may be within or outside
the U § The hedging instrument employed 15 generally a
forward foreign-exchange contract In this hedge, the change 1n
fair value of the hedged available-for-sale secunity attnibutable
to the portion of foreign exchange risk hedged 1s reported in
earnings, and not Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss)—which serves 1o offset the change in farr value of the
forward contract that 1s also reflected in earnings Citibank
considers the premium associated with forward contracts (1€,
the differential between spot and contractual forward rates) as
the cost of hedging, this 1s excluded from the assessment of
hedge effectiveness and reflected directly sn earmings The
dollar-offset method 1s used to assess hedge effectiveness Since
that assessment 1s based on changes in fair value attnbutable to
changes 1n spot rates on both the available-for-sale securities
and the forward contracts for the portion of the relationship
hedged the amount of hedge ineffectiveness 1s not significant
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The following table summarizes the gains (losses) on the Company s fair value hedges for the years ended December 31 2014 and

2013

Gams (losses) on fair value hedges w
Year ended December 31,

n mutions of dollars 2014 2013

Gan (loss) on the derivatives in designated and qualifying fair value hedges

Interest rate contracts 5 (1.311) § 1,207

Foreign exchange contracts 1,381 306

Total gain on the dervatives in designated and qualifying fair value hedges $ 70 3 1,513

Gain (loss) on the hedged item in designated and gualifying fair value hedges

Interest rate hedges $ 1,244 § (1,225)
Foreign exchange hedges (1,443) (225)
Total loss on the hedged item 1n designated and qualifying fair value hedges ) (199 $ (1,450)
Hedge meffectiveness recognized in earmings on designated and qualifying fair value hedges

Interest rate hedges $ 63) % (18)
Foreign exchange hedges (16) 8

Total hedge ieffectiveness recognized in earmings on designated and quahfying fair value hedges  § (79) $ [{10)]
Net gain (loss) excluded from assessment of the efTectin eness of fair value hedges

Interest rate contracts $ [CYIR —
Foretgn exchange contracts™® (46) 73

Total net gain (loss) excluded from assessment of the effectin eness of fair vatue hedges s 50) $ 73

(1) Amounts are included in Other revenue on the Consohidated Statement of Income The accrued interest income on fair value hedges s recorded in Net inrerest

revenue and 1s excluded from this wable

(2)  Amounts relate to the premium associated with forward contracts (differential between spot and contractual forward rates) These amounts are excluded from the

assessment of hedge effectiveness and are reflected directly 1n earmings

Cash Flow Hedges

Hedging of benchmark interest rate risk

Citibank hedges vanable cash flows associated with floating-
rate liabtlities and the rollover (re-1ssuance) of habiliies
Variable cash flows from those habihities are converted to fixed-
rate cash flows by entering into receive-vanable, pay-fixed
interest rate swaps and receive-variable, pay-fixed forward-
starting interest rate swaps Citibank also hedges vanable cash
flows from recogmzed and forecasted floating-rate assets
Variable cash flows from those assets are converted to fixed-rate
cash flows by entering into receive-fixed pay-variable interest
rate swaps These cash-flow hedging relationships use either
regression analysis or dollar-offset ratio analysis to assess
whether the hedging relationships are highly effective at
inception and on an ongoing basis When certain vanable
interest rates, associated with hedged items do not quahfy as
benchmark interest rates, Citibank designates the risk being
hedged as the risk of overall changes in the hedged cash flows
Since efforts are made to match the terms of the derivatives to
those of the hedged forecasted cash flows as closely as possible,
the amount of hedge ineffectiveness 1s not significant

Hedging of foreign exchange risk

Ciubank locks 1n the functional currency equivalent cash flows
of long-term debt and short-term borrowings that are
denominated 1n currencies other than the funcuonal currency of
the 1ssuing entity Depending on the risk management
objectives, these types of hedges are designated as either cash
flow hedges of only foreign exchange risk or cash flow hedges
of both foreign exchange and interest rate risk, and the hedging
mstruments used are foreign exchange cross-currency swaps and
forward contracts These cash flow hedge relationships use
dollar-offset ratio analysis to determine whether the hedging
relauonships are tughly effective at inception and on an ongoing
basis

Hedging total return
Citibank generally manages the nisk associated with leveraged
loans 1t has originated or 1n which 1t participates by transterring
a majority of its exposure to the market through SPEs pnior to or
shortly after funding Retained exposures to leveraged loans
recervable are generally hedged using total return swaps

The amount of hedge ineffectiveness on the cash flow
hedges recogmzed in earnings for the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013 15 not significant
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The pretax change 1n Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) from cash flow hedges 1s presented below

Year ended December 31,

In mithons of doliars 2014 2013
Effectrive portion of cash flow hedges included in AOCI

Interest rate contracts 3 281 § 742
Foreign exchange contracts (158) (19)
Credit denivauves 2 12
Total effective portion of cash flow hedges included in AOCI 5 125 § 735
Effective portion of cash flow hedges reclassified from AOCI to earnings

Interest rate contracts 5 (210) & (645)
Foreign exchange contracts (75) (25)
Total effective portion of cash fMow hedges reclassified from AOCI to earmings $ (285) § (670)

(1) Included primanly in Orher revenue and Net tneerest revenne on the Consolidated Statement of Income

For cash flow hedges the changes in the fair value of the
hedging denvative remaining (n Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) on the Consolidated Balance Sheet
will be included in the earnings of future penods to offset the
variability of the hedged cash flows when such cash flows affect
earnings The net loss associated with cash flow hedges
expected to be reclassified from Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) within 12 months of December 31
2014 15 approximately $0 3 bilhion The maximum length of
time over which forecasted cash flows are hedged 1s 10 years

The after-tan 1impact of cash flow hedges on AQCI 1s shown
in Note 18 to the Conschdated Financial Statements

Net Investment Hedges

Consistent with ASC 830-20 Foreign Currency Matters—
Foreign Currency Transactions ASC 815 allows hedging of the
foreign currency nisk of a net investment 1n a foreign operation
Citibank uses foreign currency forwards, options and foreign-
currency-denominated debt instruments to manage the foreign
exchange nrisk associated with Citbank s equity investments in
several non-U S -dollar-funcuional-currency foreign subsidiaries
Citibank records the change in the carrying amount of these
investments in the Foreign currency transiation adjustment
account within Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Simultaneously, the effective portion of the hedge of this
exposure 15 also recorded in the Foreign currency translation
adjustment account and the ineffecuve portion (f any 1s
immediately recorded 1n earnings

For denvatives designated as net investment hedges
Citibank follows the forward-rate method outlined in ASC
815-35-35-16 through 35-26 According to that methed, all
changes 1n fawr value, including changes related to the forward-
rate component of the foreign currency forward contracts and
the ume value of foreign currency options are recorded in the
Forergn currency translation adjustment account within
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

For foreign-currency-denominated debt instruments that are
designated as hedges of net investments the translation gain or
loss that 15 recorded in the Foreign currency fransiation
adyustment account 1s based on the spot exchange rate between
the functional currency of the respective subsidiary and the U 8
dollar, which 1s the functional currency of Citbank To the

extent the notional amount of the hedging instrument exactly
matches the hedged net investment and the underlying exchange
rate of the derivative hedging instrument relates to the exchange
rate between the functional currency of the net invesiment and
Citibank s functional currency (or, n the case of a non-
dervative debt instrument, such instrument 1s denomiunated (n
the functional currency of the net investment} no
ineffectiveness (s recorded 1n earnings

The pretax gain (loss) recorded 1n the Foreign currency
translatton adjustment account within Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), related to the effective portion of
the net investment hedges, 1s $1,490 million and $1,502 million
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively

Credit Derivatives
Citibank 15 a market maker and trades a range of credit
denivatives Through these contracts, Citibank either purchases
or writes protection on either a single name or a portfolio of
reference credits Citibank also uses credit derivatives to help
mitigate credit nsk in 1ts corporate and consumer loan portfolios
and other cash positions, and to facihitate client transactions

Citibank monitors 1ts counterparty credit nisk in credit
denvative contracts As of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
approximately 98% of the gross receivables are from
counterparties with which Citibank maintains collateral
agreements A majority of Citibank’s top 15 counterparties (by
receivable balance owed to Citibank) are banks, financial
institutions or other dealers Contracts with these counterparties
do not include ratings-based termination events However,
counterparty ratings downgrades may have an incremental effect
by lowering the threshold at which Ciubank may
call for additional collateral

The range of credit derivatives entered into includes credit
default swaps, total return swaps. credit options and credit-
linked notes

A credit default swap 15 a contract in which, for a fee, a
protection seller agrees to reimburse a protection buyer for any
losses that occur due to a predefined credit event on a reference
entity These credit events are defined by the terms of the
derivative contract and the reference credit and are generally
hmited to the market standard of failure to pay on indebtedness
and bankruptcy of the reference credit and, in a more hmited
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range of transactions debt restructuring Credit derivative
transactions that reference emerging market entities will aiso
typically include additional credit events to cover the
acceleration of indebtedness and the risk of repudiation or a
payment moratorium In certain transactions protection may be
provided on a portfolio of reference entities or asset-backed
securities If there 1s no credit event, as defined by the specific
derivative contract, then the protection seller makes no
payments to the protection buyer and recerves only the
contractually specified fee However. 1f a credit event occurs as
defined 1n the specific denivative contract sold the protection
seller wili be required to make a payment to the protection
buyer Under certain contracts the seller of protection may not
be required to make payment unitl a specified amount of losses
has occurred with respect to the portfolio and/or may only be
required to pay for losses up to a specified amount

A total return swap typically transfers the total economic
performance of a reference asset, which includes all associated
cash flows as well as caprtal appreciation or depreciation The
protection buyer receives a floating rate of interest and any
depreciation on the reference asset from the protection seller
and 1n return, the protection seller recerves the cash flows
associated with the reference asset plus any appreciation Thus,
according to the total return swap agreement, the protection
seller will be obligated to make a payment any time the floating
interest rate payment plus any depreciation of the reference asset
exceeds the cash flows associated with the underlying asset A
total return swap may terminate upon a default of the reference
asset or a credit event with respect to the reference entity subject
to the provisions of the related total return swap agreement
between the protection seller and the protection buyer

A credit option 1s a credit denivative that allow s mvestors to
trade or hedge changes in the credit quality of a reference entity
For example, in a credit spread option, the option wniter
assumes the obligation to purchase or sell credit protection on
the reference entuly at a specified strike” spread level The
option purchaser buys the right to sell credit default protection
on the reference entity to or purchase it from the option writer
at the strike spread level The payments on credit spread options
depend eirther on a particular credit spread or the price of the
underlying credi-sensitive assel or other reference The options
usually terminate 1f a credit event oceurs with respect (o the
underlying reference entity

A credit-linked note 1s a form of credit derivative structured
as a debt security with an embedded credit default swap The
purchaser of the note effectively provides credit protection to
the 1ssuer by agreeing to recetve a return that could be
negatively affected by credit events on the underlying reference
credit 1f the reference entity defaults, the note may be cash
settled or physically settled by delivery of a debt security of the
reference entity Thus the maximum amount of the note
purchaser s exposure 1s the amount paid for the credit-linked
note

The following tables summarize the key characteristics of
the Company s credit denvative portfolio as protection seller as
of December 31, 2014 and December 31 2013
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Maximum potential
amount of

future payments ‘"

n millions of dollars at December 31 20014

By instrument

Credit default swaps and options ) 1,204,324
Tetal return swaps and other 19,543
Total by mnstrument s 1,223,867
By rating

Investment grade 5 927,827
Non-investment grade ' 296,040
Total by rating ] 1,223,867
By maturity

Within 1 year S 246,516
From | to § years 900,919
After 5 years 76,432
Total by matunity s 1,223,867

(1) At December 31, 2014, the fair value amounts payable under credit
denvatives sold was $19 280 mullton  In addition fair value amounts
receivable under credit denvatives sold were $27 967 mullion

(2) Alsomncludes credit denvatives sold that are not rated

Maximum potential
amount of

future payments m

fn mifltons of doflars a December 31 2013

By mstrument

Credit default swaps and options $ 1,255,031
Total return swaps and other 2,198
Total by instrument $ 1,257,229
By rating

Investment grade 3 585,056
Non-mvestment grade ¥ 672,173
Total by rating ] 1,257,229
By maturity

Within | year ) 215,232
From 1 to § years 962,402
After 5 years 79,595
Total by maturity ¥ 1,257,229

(1) At December 31, 2013, the fair value amounts payable under credit
denvatives sold was $13,792 mulliton  In addition, fair value amounts
receivable under credit denivatives sold were $28 839 mullion

(2) Alsoncludes credit denvatives sold that are not rated

Fair values included in the above tables are prior to
application of any netting agreements and cash collateral For
notional amounts, Citibank generally has a musmatch between
the total notional amounts of protection purchased and sold, and
1t may hold the reference assets directly rather than entering
into offsetung credit derivative contracts as and when desired
The open nisk exposures from credit derivative contracts are
largely matched after certain cash positions 1n reference assets
are considered and after notional amounts are adjusted, either to
a duration-based equivalent basis or to reflect the level of
subordination 1n tranched structures The ratings of the credit
derivauves portfolio presented in the tables and used to evaluate
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payment/performance risk are based on the assigned internal or
external ratings of the referenced asset or entity Where external
ratings are used, investment-grade ratings are considered to be
Baa/BBB and above while anything below 1s considered non-
investment grade Citibank’s internal ratings are in line wath the
related external rating system
Citibank evaluates the payment/performance risk of the
credit dernivatives for which it stands as a protection seller based
on the credit rating assigned to the underlying referenced credit
Credit der1vatives wnitten on an underlying non-investment
grade reference credit represent greater payment risk to the
Company The non-investment grade category in the table above
also includes credit derivatives where the underly:ng referenced
entity has been downgraded subsequent to the inception of the
derivative
The maximum potential amount of future payments under

credil denivative contracts presented tn the table above 15 based
on the notional value of the derivatives The Company believes
that the notional amount for credit protection sold 1s not
representative of the actual loss exposure based on histonical
experience This amount has not been reduced by the value of
the reference assets and the related cash flows In accordance
with most credit derivative contracts should a credit event
accur the Company usually 1s hiable for the difference between
the protection sold and the value of the reference assets
Furthermore, the notional amount for credit protection sold has
not been reduced for any cash collateral paid to a given
counterparty, as such payments would be calculated after netting
all denvative exposures, including any credit derivatives with
that counterparty in accordance with a related master netting
agreement Due to such netting processes, determining the
amount of collateral that corresponds to credit derivative
exposures alone 15 not possible The Company actively monitors
open credit-risk exposures and manages this exposure by using a
variety of strategies, tncluding purchased credit derivatives, cash
collateral or direct holdings of the referenced assets This nisk
mitigation activity 1s not captured n the table above
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Credit-Risk-Related Contingent Features in Derivatives
Certain derivative instruments contaiwn provisions that require
the Company to either post additional collateral or immedrately
settle any outstanding habality balances upon the occurrence of a
spectfied event related 1o the credit risk of the Company These
events. which are defined by the existing derivative contracts,
are pnimanly downgrades in the credit ratings of the Company
and uts affiliates The fair value (excluding CVA) of all
derrvative instruments with credit-risk-related conungent
features that were in a Lhability posiuon at December 31, 2014
and December 31, 2013 was $24 billion and $23 bullion
respectively The Company had posted $23 billion and $21
billion as collateral for this exposure in the normal course of
business as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013,
respectively

Each downgrade would trigger additional collateral or cash
settlement requirements for the Company and 1ts affiliates In
the event that each legal entity was downgraded a single notch
by the three rating agencies as of December 31, 2014 the
Company would be required to post an additional $1 3 billion,
as either collateral or settlement of the derivative transactions
Additionally, as of December 31, 2014, any amounts the
Company would be required to segregate with third-party
custodians collateral previously received from existing
derivative counterparties upon the single notch downgrade are
immaterial
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21 CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Concentrattons of credit risk exist when changes in economic,
industry or geographic factors simularly affect groups of
counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure 1s matertal in
relation to Citibank s total credit exposure Although
Citibank s portfolio of financial instruments 1s broadly
diversified along industry, product, and geographic lines.
matenal transactions are completed with other financial
mshtutions, particularly 1n the securities trading denvatives
and foreign exchange businesses

In connection with the Company s efforts to maintain a
diversified portfolio the Company limits 1ts exposure to any
one geographic regton, country or individual creditor and
monitors this exposure on a continuous basts At
December 31, 2014 Citibank's most significant concentration
of credht risk was with the U § government and its agencies.
as well as foreign governments The Company s exposure,
which primarily resuits from trading assets and investments
1ssued by the U S government and its agencies amounted to
$176 bullion and $142 tilhion at December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively The Company s exposure to foreign governments
(pnmarnly trading assets and mnvestments) amounted to $109
billion and $111 tilhon at December 31, 2014 and 2013
respectively
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22 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

ASC 820-10 Fuir Value Measurement, defines fair value
establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value
and requires disclosures about fair value measurements Fair
value 1s defined as the price that would be recerved to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability 1n an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date Among
other things the standard requires the Company to maxtmize
the use of observable inputs and mimimize the use of
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value

Under ASC 820-10, the probability of default of a
counterparty 1s factored into the valuation of derivative
positions and includes the impact of Citibank s own credit nsk
on dervatives and other liabilities measured at {fair value

Fair Value Hierarchy

ASC 820-10 specifies a hierarchy of inputs based on whether
the inputs are observable or unobservable Observable inputs
are developed using market data and reflect market participant
assumptions, while unobservable inputs reflect the Company s
market assumptions These two types of tnputs have created
the following fair value hierarchy

«  Level 1 Quoted prices for tdentical instruments in active
markets

* Level 2 Quoted prices for simufar instruments in active
markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments
in markets that are not active, and model-derived
valuations 1n which all sigmificant inputs and sigruficant
value drivers are obsenable 1n active markets

« Level 3 Valuations derived from valuation techniques in
which one or more significant inputs or significant value
drivers are wnobservable

As required under the fair value hierarchy. the Company
considers relevant and observable market inputs in its
valuations where possible The frequency of transactions, the
size of the bid-ask spread and the amount of adjustment
necessary when companng similar transactions are all factors
in determining the hiquidity of markets and the relevance of
observed prices 1n those markets
The Company’s policy with respect to transfers between
levels of the fair value hierarchy 1s to recognize transfers into
and out of each level as of the end of the reporting period

Determnation of Fair Value
For assets and habilities carried at fair value, the Company
measures such value using the procedures set out below
irrespective of whether these assets and habilities are
measured at fair value as a result of an election or whether
they are required to be measured at fair value

When available the Company generally uses quoted
market prices to determine fair value and classifies such items
as Level 1 In some cases where a market price 15 available
the Company will make use of acceptable practical expedients
(such as matnx pricing) to calculate fair value n which case
the tems are classified as Level 2

CITIBANK, N A 2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS




The Company may also apply a price-based methodology,
which utihzes, where available, quoted prices or other market
information obtained from recent trading activity wn positions
with the same or simular characteristics to the position being
valued The market activity and the amount of the bid-ask
spread are among the factors constdered 1n determining the
hquidity of markets and the relevance of observed prices from
those markets If relevant and observable prices are available,
those valuations may be classified as Level 2 When less
liquidity exasts for a security or toan, a quoted price 1s stale, a
significant adjustment to the price of a similar security 1s
necessary Lo reflect differences n the terms of the actual
security or loan being valued or prices from independent
sources are insufficient to corroborate the valuauion the
‘price’ inputs are considered unobservable and the farr value
measurements are classified as Level 3

If quoted market prices are not available fair value 15
based upon internally developed valuation techniques that use,
where possible current market-based parameters, such as
interest rates, currency rates and option volatilities Items
valued using such internally generated valuation techniques
are classified according to the lowest level input or value
driver that s significant to the valuation Thus, an item may be
classified as Level 3 even though there may be some
significant inputs that are readily observable

Fair value estimates from internal valuation techniques
are verified where possible, to prices obtained from
independent vendors or brokers Vendors and brokers”
valuations may be based on a vanety of 1nputs ranging from
observed prices to proprietary valuation models

The following section describes the valuation
methodologies used by the Company to measure various
financial instruments at fair value, including an tindrcation of
the level in the fair value hierarchy in which each instrument
15 generally classifted Where appropnate, the description
includes details of the valuation models. the key mputs to
those models and any significant assumptions

Market valuation adjustments
Generally, the unut of account for a financial instrument 1s the
individual financial instrument The Company applies market
valuation adjustments that are consistent with the unit of
account, which does not include adjustment due to the size of
the Company s position, except as follows ASC 820-10
permits an exception, through an accounting policy election
to measure the fair value of a portfolio of financial assets and
financial liabilities on the basis of the net open nisk positien
when certain criteria are met Citibank has elected to measure
certain portfolios of financial instruments such as derivatives.
that meet those criteria on the basis of the net open nisk
posititon The Company applies market valuation adjustments,
including adjustments 1o account for the size of the net open
nisk position, consistent with market participant assumptions
and n accordance with the unit of account

Liquidity adjustments are applied to items in Level 2 or
Level 3 of the fair-value hierarchy in an effort to ensure that
the fair value reflects the price at which the net open nisk
position could be liquidated The Liquidity adjustment 1s based
on the bid/offer spread for an instrument When Citibank has
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elected to measure certain portfolios of financial investments,
such as derivatives, on the basis of the net open nisk position,
the liquidity adjustment 18 adjusted to take into account the
size of the position
Credit valuation adjustments (CVA) and efTective in the
third quarter of 2014 funding valuation adjustments (FVA)
are applied to over-the-counter (OTC) derivative instruments
in which the base valuation generally discounts expected cash |
flows using the relevant base interest rate curve for the
currency of the denivauve (e g LIBOR for uncollateralized
U S dollar derivatives) As not all counterparties have the
same credit nisk as that implied by the relevant base curve, a
CVA 15 necessary to incorporate the market view of both
counterparty credit risk and Citibank s own credit risk 1n the
valuation FVA reflects a market funding risk premium
tnherent 1n the uncollateralized portion of denvauve
portfohios, and in collateralized derivatives where the terms of
the agreement do not permit the reuse of the collateral
received
Citibank’s CVA methodology 15 composed of two steps
First the credit exposure profile for each counterparty 1s
determined using the terms of all individual derivative
positions and a Monte Carlo simulation or other quantitative
analysis to generate a series of expected cash flows at future
pomnts in ttme The calculation of this exposure profile
considers the effect of credit risk mitigants, including pledged
cash or other collateral and any legal right of offset that exists
with a counterparty through arrangements such as netting
agreements Individual denivative contracts that are subject to
an enforceable master netting agreement with a counterparty
are aggregated for this purpose, since 1t 1s those aggregale net
cash flows that are subject to nonperformance risk This
process identifies specific pownt-in-time future cash flows that
are subject to nonperformance nsk rather than using the
current recogmized net asset or hability as a basis to measure ‘
the CVA Second, market-based views of default probabilities \
derived from observed credit spreads in the credit default swap
(CDS) market are applied to the expected future cash flows
determined in step one Citibank s own-credit CVA 1s
determined using Citibank-specific CDS spreads for the
relevant tenor Generally, counterparty CVA 1s determined
using CDS spread indices for each credit rating and tenor For
certain identified netting sets where individual analysis is
practicable (e g exposures 10 counterparties with hquid
CDSs), counterparty-specific CDS spreads are used
The CVA and FVA are designed to incorporate a market
view of the credit and funding risk, respectively. inherent in
the derivative portfolio However most unsecured derivative
instruments are negotiated bilateral contracts and are not
commonly transferred to third parties Denvative instruments
are normally settled contractually or 1f terminated early are
terminated at a value negotiated bilaterally between the
counterparties Thus the CVA and FVA may not be realized
upon a settlement or termmation n the normal course of
busimess In addition, all or a portion of these adjustments may
be reversed or otherwise adjusted in future penods 1n the event
of changes 1n the credit or funding risk associated with the
derivative instruments




The table below summarizes the CVA and FVA applied 1o
the fair value of derivative instruments for the penods
indicated

Credit and funding valuation
adjustments
contra-hability (contra-asset)

December 31, December 31,

In millions of doliars 2014 2013
Counterparty CVA ) (L7131 § (1,657
Asset FVA “479) —_
Citigroup (own-credi) CVA 255 384
Liabiliy FVA 18 —
Total CVA—derivative

instruments ¢ 5 (1,939) § (1,273)

(1} FVAaisncluded with CVA for presentanon purposes

[he table below summarizes pretax gains (losses) related
to changes in CVA on denvative instruments, net of hedges
FVA on derivatives and debt valuation adjustments (DVA) on
Cit1 s own fair value option (FVO) habihties for the penods
indicated

Credit/funding/debt valuation
adjustments gam (loss)

In mulirons of dollars 2014 2013
Counterparty CVA L 4 3 304
Asset FVA (479) —
Own-credit CVA (125) (129)
Liability FVA 18 —
Total CVA—derivative

mstruments s 542) § 175
DVA related te own FVO

liabilities $ 3 s 22)

Total CVA and DVA ™

o

(539) § 153

(1}  FVAas included with CVA for presentation purposes

Valuation Process for Fair Value Measurements
Price verification procedures and related internal control
procedures are governed by the Ciubank Pricing and Price
Verification Policy and Standards, which 1s jointly owned by
Finance and Risk Management Finance has implemented the
ICG Pricing and Price Verificanon Standards and Procedures
to facilitate compliance with this policy

For fair value measurements of substantially all assets and
llabthities held by the Company individual business umits are
responsible for valuing the trading account assets and
habiliies and Product Control within Finance performs
independent price verification procedures to evaluate those
fair value measurements Product Control 1s independent of
the individual business units and reports to the Global Head of
Product Control 1t has authonty over the valuation of
financial assets and hiabulities Fair value measurements of
assets and liabihites are determined using various techniques
including but not limited to, discounted cash flows and
internal models, such as option and correlation models
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Based on the observabihty of inputs used, Product
Control classifies the inventory as Level 1 Level 2 or Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy When a position involves one or
more significant tnputs that are not directly observable price
venfication procedures are performed that may include
reviewing relevant historical data analyzing profit and loss
valuing each component of a structured trade individually, and
benchmarking, among others

Reports of inventory that 1s classified within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy are distributed to senior management
in Finance, Risk and the business This inventory 1s also
discussed in Risk Commuttees and in monthly meetings with
sentor trading management As deemed necessary, reports may
go to the Audit Commuttee of the Board of Directors or to the
full Board of Directors Whenever an adjustment 1s needed to
bring the price of an asset or hiability to 1ts exit price, Product
Control reports it to management along with other price
verification results

In addition, the pricing models used in measuring fair
value are governed by an independent control framework
Although the models are developed and tested by the
individual business units, they are independently validated by
the Model Validation Group within Risk Management and
reviewed by Finance with respect to their impact on the price
verification procedures The purpose of this independent
control framework 15 to assess model risk ansing from models’
theoretical soundness calibration technigues where needed
and the appropriateness of the model for a specific product in
a defined market To ensure their continued applicability
models are independently reviewed annually 1o additton Rusk
Management approves and maintains a list of products
permitted to be valued under each approved model for a given
business

Securires purchased under agreements to resell

No quoted prices exist for such instruments, so fair value 1s
determined using a discounted cash-flow technique Cash
flows are estimated based on the terms of the contract, taking
into account any embedded derivative or other features
Expected cash flows are discounted using interest rates
appropriate to the maturity of the instrument as well as the
nature of the underlying collateral Generally, when such
instruments are held at fair value, they are classified within
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, as the inputs used n the
valuation are readily observable However certain long-dated
positions are classified within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy

Trading account assets and iabilittes—itrading securities
and trading loans
When available, the Company uses quoted market prices to
determune the fair value of trading securities, such items are
classified as Level | of the fair value hierarchy Examples
include some government securities and exchange-traded
equity securities

For bonds and secondary market loans traded over the
counter, the Company generally determines fair value utilizing
valuation techmques including discounted cash flows, price-
based and (nternal models, such as Black-Scholes and Monte
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Carlo simulation Fair value estimates from these internal
valuation techniques are venfied where possible. to prices
obtained from independent sources, including third-party
vendors Vendors compile prices from various sources and
may apply matrix pricing for similar bonds or loans where no
price 1s observable A price-based methodology utillizes, where
available, quoted prices or other market information obtained
from recent trading activity of assets with similar
charactenistics to the bond or loan being valued The yiclds
used in discounted cash flow models are denived from the
same price information Trading securities and loans priced
using such methods are generally classified as Level 2
However. when less Liquidity exists for a secunty or loan, a
quoted price 1s stale, a significant adjustment to the
price of a simular security or loan 1s necessary to reflect
differences in the terms of the actual security or loan being
valued, or prices from independent sources are insufficient to
corroborate valuation, a loan or security 1s generally classified
as Level 3 The price input used 1n a price-based methodology
may be zero for a secunty, such as a subprime CDO, that 15
not receiving any principal or interest and 1s currently written
down to zero

Where the Company s principal market for a portfolio of
loans 18 the secunitization market, the Company uses the
securitization price to determine the fair value of the portfolio
The securitization price 1s determined from the assumed
proceeds of a hypothetical secuntization in the current market,
adjusted for transformation costs (1 e, direct costs other than
transaction costs) and securitization uncertainties such as
market conditions and hquidity As a result of the severe
reduction in the level of activity 1n certain securitization
markets since the second half of 2007, obscrvable
securitization prices for certain directly comparable portfolios
of loans have not been readily available Therefore, such
portfolios of loans are generally classified as Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy However for other loan securitization
markets, such as commercial real estate loans, price
verification of the hypothetical securitizations has been
possible, since these markets have remained active
Accordingly this loan portfolio 1s classified as Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy

Trading account assets and liabilines—derivatives
Exchange-traded derivatives, measured at fair value using
quoted (1€ exchange) prices in active markets, where
available, are classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy

Derrvatives without a quoted price in an active market
and dernivatives executed over the counter are valued using
internal valuation technmiques These denvative instruments are
classified as exther Level 2 or Level 3 depending upon the
observability of the sigmficant inputs to the model

The valuation techniques and inputs depend on the type of
derivative and the nature of the underlying instrument The
principal techniques used to value these instruments are
discounted cash flows and internal models, including Black-
Scholes and Monte Carlo simulation

The key inputs depend upon the type of derivative and the
nature of the underlymng instrument and include interest rate
yield curves, foretgn-exchange rates, volatilities and

correlation The Company uses overmight indexed swap (OIS)
curves as fair value measurement inputs for the valuation of
certain collateralized derivatives Citibank uses the relevant
benchmark curve for the currency of the derivauve (e g , the
London [nterbank Offered Rate for U S dollar derivatives) as
the discount rate for uncollateralized dernivatives

As referenced above, during the third quarter of 2014,
Citibank incorporated FVA nto the fair value measurements
due to what 1t believes to be an industry migration toward
incorporating the market’s view of funding nisk premium in
OTC derivatives In connection with 1ts implementation of
FVA 1n 2014 Citibank incurred a pretax charge of $461
miullion which was reflected in Principal transactions as a
change 1n accounting esumate  Citibank’s FVA methodology
leverages the existing CVA methodology to estimate a funding
exposure profile The calculation of this exposure profile
considers collateral agreements where the terms do not permit
the firm to reuse the collateral recerved, including where
counterparties post collateral to third-party custodians

Subprime-related direct exposures in CDOs
The valuation of high-grade and mezzanine asset-backed
security (ABS) CDO posttions utilizes prices based on the
underlying assets of each high-grade and mezzanine ABS
CDO

For most of the lending and structured direct subprime
exposures, fair value 1s determined utihzing observable
transactions where available, other market data for similar
assets in markets that are not active and other internal
valuation techniques

Investments
The investments category includes available-for-sale debt and
marketable equity securities whose fair value 15 generally
determined by utilizing similar procedures described for
trading securities above or. in some cases, using vendor
pricing as the primary source

Also included in investments are nonpublic investments
in private equity and real estate entities Determining the fair
value of nonpublic securitics involves a significant degree of
management resources and judgment as no quoted prices exist
and such secunties are generally very thinly traded In
addition there may be transfer restrictions on private equity
securities The Company’s process for determining the fair
value of such securities utihizes commonly accepted valuation
techmques including comparables analysis In determining
the fair value of nonpublic securtties the Company also
considers events such as a proposed sale of the investee
company 1mtial public offerings, equity 1ssuances or other
observable transactions As discussed in Note 12 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company uses net
asset value to value certain of these investments

Private equity securities are generally classified as
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
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Short-term borrowings and long-term debt
Where far value accounting has been elected the fair value of
non-structured liabilities s determined by utilizing internal
models using the appropriate discount rate for the applicable
maturity Such mstruments are generally classified as Leve! 2
of the fair value hierarchy when all sigmificant inputs are
readily observable

The Company determines the fair value of hybrid
financial instruments, including structured habilities. using the
appropriate derivative valuation methodology {described
above n ~Trading account assets and liabilities—derivatives™)
given the nature of the embedded nisk profile Such
instruments are classified as Level 2 or Level 3 depending on
the observability of significant inputs to the model
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Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following tables present for each of the fair value
hierarchy levels the Company s assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31,
2014 and 2013 The Company s hedging of positons that have
been classified in the Level 3 category 1s not hmuled to other
financial instruments (hedging instruments) that have been
classified as Level 3, but also instruments classified as Level 1
or Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy The effects of these
hedges are presented gross in the following table
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Fair Value Levels

Gross Net
In mithons of dollars ar December 31, 2014 Level1™  Level2™ Level 3 mventory  Netting © balance
Assets
Federal funds sold and securities borrowed or
purchased under agreements to resell — 8 — 237 8 237 8 — 5 137
Trading non-derivative assets
Trading mortgage-backed securities
U S government-sponsored agency guaranteed — $ 11,006 251§ 11,257 8 - 8 11,257
Commercial — 49 4 53 — 53
Total trading morigage-backed securities — 5 11,055 255 § 11,310 § — 8 11,310
US Treasury securities 6,079 § —_ —  § 6,079 § — § 6,079
State and municipal — 2,597 123 2,720 — 2,720
Foreign government 12,229 20,341 190 32,760 —_ 32,760
Corporate —_ 7,839 176 8,015 —_ 8,015
Equity securities 20,378 900 1,872 23,150 — 23,150
Asset-backed securities — — 36 36 — k1
Other trading securities — 7,506 4,297 11,803 — 11,803
Total trading non-derivative assets 38,686 § 50,238 6949 § 95,873 § — 8 95,873
Trading derivatives
Interest rate contracts — § 636,972 4,295 § 641,267
Foreign exchange contracts — 166,424 1,317 167,741
Equity contracts 2 19,725 2,362 22,089
Commodity contracts _— 16,789 881 17,670
Credit dervatives — 44,855 2,883 47,738
Total trading dervatives 2 § 884,765 11,738 5 896,505
Cash collateral pard™ h] 15,567
Netting agreements $  (800,113)
Netting of cash collateral received $ (38,952)
Total trading dernatives 2 S 884,765 11,738 § 912,072 § (839,065) § 73,007
Investments
Mortgage-backed securities
U S government-sponsored agency guaranteed — § 35461 15 8 35476 § — § 35,476
Residential — 8,301 8 8,309 —_ 8,309
Total investment mortgage-backed securities — 43,762 23 43,785 § — 8 43,785
U S Treasury and federal agency securities 110,126 12,808 6 122,940 § — § 122,940
State and muntcipal —_ 10,272 1,775 12,047 § —_ 12,047
Foreign government 37,224 38,477 666 76,367 — 76,367
Corporate —_ 6,934 444 7378 —_ 7378
Equity securities 1,609 39 — 1,648 —_ 1,648
Asset-backed securities — 11,243 533 11,776 —_ 11,776
Other debt securities — 661 — 661 — 661
Non-marketable equity securities — — 108 108 — 108
Total investments 148,959 § 124,196 3,555 8§ 276,710 § — § 276,710
Loans " — § 1514 2,808 § 4322 § -5 4322
Mortgage servicing nghts —_ —_ 1,845 1,845 — 1,845
Non-trading derinvatives and other financial
assets measured on a recurring basis, gross — 5 2,416 67 2,483
Cash collateral pmd 110
Non-trading derivatives and other financal
assets measured on a recurring basis — 5 2,416 67 § 2,593 8 — § 2,593
102
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Fair Value Levels

Gross Net
In mihons of dollars ar December 31 2014 Level 1Y Level2™ Level 3 mventory  Netting @ balance
Total assets § 187,647 851,063,129 § 27,199 § 1,293,652 § (839,065 8 454,587
Total as a percentage of gross assets © 14 7% 83 2% 21%
Liabilities
Interest-bearing deposits s — 8 1,198 § 486 S 1,684 § — 3 1,684
Trading account habthities
Securities sold, not yet purchased 6,457 854 372 7.683 —_ 7,683
Trading dernatives
Interest rate contracts 53 630,849 4,211 635,113
Foreign exchange contracts - 169,213 587 169,300
Equity contracts 3 18,887 2,073 20,963
Commodity contracts — 18,990 814 19,804
Credit derivatives — 43,634 3,634 47,268
Total trading dernatnes $ 56 $ 881,573 § 11,319 § 892,948
Cash collateral recenved 8,754
Netting agreements $  {(800,113)
Netting of cash collateral pa:d $ (38,159)
Total trading dervatives ) 56 $ 881,573 § 11,319 S5 901,702 § (838,272) S 63,430
Short-term borrowings — 22 — 22 — 22
Long-term debt — 793 165 958 — 958
Non-trading derivatives and other financial
Liabilines measured on a recurring basis, gross s — 3 1,606 $ 7 8 1,613
Netting of cash collateral paid (15)
Nontrading dernatives and other financial
habihties measured on a recurring basis - 1,606 7 1,613 (15) 1,598
Total habilities b 6,513 5 886046 S 12349 S 913,662 § (838,287)§ 75,375
Total as a percentage of gross liabihities ‘¢ 0 7% 97 9% 14%

(1) For the year ended December 31 2014 the Company transferred assets of $2 6 billion from Level | to Level 2, pnmanly related to foreign government bonds
which were not traded with enough frequency to constitute an active market During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company transferred assets of $3 6
bulien from Level 2 1o Level | pnimanly related to foreign government bonds which were traded wath sufficient frequency to constitute an active market Duning
the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company had no sigmificant transfers of hiabiliies between Level 1 and Level 2

(2) Represents netting of (1) the amounts due under securities purchased under agreements to resell and the amounts owed under securities sold under agreements to
repurchase, and (1) denvative exposures covered by a qualifying master netting agreement and cash collateral offsetting

(3) This 1s the net amount of the $53 726 nullion of gross cash collateral paid of which $38,159 nmullion was used to offset denivative habilities

(4)  There 1s no allowance for loan losses recorded for loans reported at fair value

(5) Reflects the net amount of $125 rmllion of gross cash collateral pad, of which $15 mullion was used to offsel non-tradmg denvative liabihities

(6) Because the amount of the cash collateral pad/received has not been atlocated to the Level 1, 2 and 3 subtotals these percentages are calculated based on total
assets and liabihities measured at fair value on a recurnng basis excluding the cash collateral paid/recerved on denvatives

(7) Ths 1s the net amount of the $47,706 million of gross cash collateral received of which $38 952 mullion was used to offset derivative assets
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Fair Value Levels

Gross Net
In mullsons of dollars at December 31, 2013 Level 1V Level2® Level 3 mventory  Netting balance
Assets
Federal funds sold and securities borrowed or
purchased under agreements to resell $ — 8 2 3 267 § 269 § — ¥ 269
1rading non-derivative assets
Trading mortgage-backed securities
U S government-sponsored agency Guaranteed $ — % 9,785 % 285 % 10,070 § — $ 10,070
Residential — — 1 1 — |
Total trading mortgage-backed securities 5 — 9785 § 286 % 10,071 § — 3 10,071
U S Treasury and federal agency securities $ 3,786 §% — 3 — 3 3,786 § — % 3,786
State and municipal — 2,491 109 2,600 — 2,600
Foreign government 16,668 17,922 394 34,984 — 34,984
Corporate — 10,256 208 10,464 — 10,464
Equity securities 25,227 165 836 26,228 — 26,228
Asset-backed securities — 1 49 50 — 50
Other trading securities — 7,748 3,7 10,925 — 10,925
Total trading non-derivative assets $§ 45681 § 48368 % 5,059 % 99,108 § — 5 99,108
Trading derivatives
Interest rate contracts b3 2 § 638805 § 3573 §8 642382
Foreign exchange contracts - 96,627 1,476 98,103
Equity contracts 429 15,774 1,755 17,958
Commodity contracts 129 3,975 1,627 5,731
Credit denivatives — 40,811 2,908 43719
Total trading derivatines $ 560 $§ 795992 $ 11,341 $ 8073893
Cash collateral pad® $ 10,679
Netting agreements $  (737,201)
Netting of cash collateral recenved $ (29,895)
Total trading derivatives h) 560 § 795992 § 1,341 § 818572 § (767,096) § 51,476
Investments
Mortgage-backed securities
U S government-sponsored agency guaranteed ) — $ 41,224 § 142 % 41,366 $ — 3 41,366
Residential — 10,069 — 10,069 — 10,069
Total investment mortgage-backed securities 5 — § 51,293 % 142 % 51,435 % — 8 51,435
U S Treasury and federal agency securities § 08872 $ 18200 % 8 3 87,080 § — § 87,080
State and municipal — % 17,030 % 1,329 $ 18,359 §$ — § 18,359
Foreign government 31,111 44,722 332 76,165 — 76,165
Corporate — 6,409 64 6,473 — 6,473
Equity securities 2,441 52 — 2,493 — 2,493
Asset-backed securities —_— 12,119 1,948 14,067 — 14,067
Other debt securitzes — 661 50 711 — 711
Non-marketable equity securities — — 100 100 —_ 100
Total investments $ 102424 % 150486 § 3973 % 256,883 §$ — § 256,883
Loans ¥ $ —~ 3 664 $ 3943 % 4,607 § — % 4,607
Mortgage servicing rights — - 2,718 2,718 — 2,718
Non-trading derivatives and other financial
assets measured on a recurring basis, gross 5 — 3 2,843 § 30 § 2,873
Cash collateral paid $ 82
Netting of cash collateral received $ (2)
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Fair Value Levels

Gross Net
In rulhions of dollars at December 31 2013 Level 1% Level 2™ Level 3 inventory Netting @ balance
Non-trading derivatives and other financial
assets measured on a recurring basis $ — § 2843 % 30 % 2955 § 2% 2,953
Total assets $ 148665 § 998355 § 27331 § 1,185112 § (767,098)% 418,014
Total as a percentage of gross assets 12 7% 850% 23%
Liabilities
Interest-bearing deposits 5 — 787 % 890 3§ 1,677 $ — 3 1,677
Trading account habihties
Securities sold, not yet purchased 5,143 666 447 6,256 6,256
Trading dernatives
Interest rate contracts 3 635,677 2,314 637,994
Foreign exchange contracts — 94,391 1,018 95,409
Equity contracts 628 17,396 1,863 19,887
Commodity contracts 104 3,781 1,085 4,970
Credit derivatives — 40,003 3,032 43,035
Total trading derivatives $ 735 § 791248 % 9312 § 801,295
Cash collateral recerved* $ 6,279
Netting agreements £ (737,201
Netting of cash collateral paid b (33,868)
Total trading derivatives $ 735 0§ 791243 % 9312 $ 807574 § (771,069) % 36,505
Short-term borrowings _ 18 7 25 — 25
Long-term debt — 867 1,037 1,904 — 1,904
Non-trading derivatives and other financial
liabihties measured on a recurring basis, gross $ — § 1,547 § 10 § 1,557
Cash collateral recen ed'” $ 27
Nontrading derivatives and other financial
liabilities measured on a recurring basis — 1,547 10 1,828 1,829
Total Labilities 3 5878 % 795133 § 11,703 § 819,264 § (771,069 § 48,196
Total as a percentage of gross habilities 07% 97 9% 14%
(1) For the year ended December 31 2013, the Company transferred assets of $2 0 lilhion from Level | to Level 2 substantially all related to foreign government

(3)
(4}
(5}

(6)
@)

bonds, which were not traded with sufficient frequency to constitute an active market Dunng the year ended December 31 2013 the Company transferred assets
of 348 8 bulhion from Level 2 to Level 1 substanually all related to U § Treasury securitses held across the Company’s major investment portfelios where
Citibank obtained addivonal information from its external pnicing sources to meet the cnteria for Level 1 classification There were no sigmificant transters of
liabihties between Level | and Level 2 during the year ended December 31 2013

Represents netting of {1) the amounts due under securities puschased under agreements to resell and the amounts owed under secunities sold under agreements to
repurchase, and (11} derivative exposures covered by a qualifying master netting agreement and cash collateral offsetting

Thus ts the net amount of the 344,547 million of gross cash collateral paid, of which $33 868 nullion was used to offset denvative iabiluttes

There 1s no allowance for loan losses recorded for loans reported at fair value

Because the amount of the cash collateral pard/received has not been allocated 1o the Level 1, 2 and 3 subiotals these percentages are calculated based on total
assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurnng basis, excluding the cash collateral paid/recerved on denivatives

This 1s the net amount of the $36,174 mullion of gross cash collateral received, of which $29 895 mullion was used to offset derivative assets

Tius 15 the net amount of the $273 million of gross cash collateral received, of which $2 milhion was used to ofiset denvatve assets
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Changes in Level 3 Fair Value Category

The following tables present the changes in the Level 3 farr
value category for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013 As discussed above the Company classtfies financial
instruments as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy when there
1s reliance on at least one significant unobservable mput to the
valuation medel In addition to these unobservable inputs, the
valuation medels for Level 3 financal instruments typically
also rely on a number of inputs that are readily observable
either directly or indirectly The gains and losses presented
below include changes in the fair value related to both
observable and unobservable inputs

Level 3 Fair Value Rollforward

Net realized/unrealized

The Company often hedges positions with offsetting

positions that are classified in a different level For example
the gains and losses for assets and liabilities in the Level 3
category presented in the tables below do not reflect the effect
of offsetting losses and gams on hedging instruments that have
been classified by the Company n the Level | and Level 2
categories In addition, the Company hedges items classified
in the Level 3 category with instruments alse classified in
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy The effects of these hedges
are presented gross in the following tables

gamns (losses) included in Transfers U“;:‘I"ll;lm
Dec 31, Princtpal nte out of Dec 31, (losses)
In mulions of doflars 2013 transactions Other "™ Level3 Level 3 Purchases Issuances  Sales  Settlements 2014 still held @
Assets
Federal funds sold and
securities borrowed or
purchased under
agreements to resell 3 267 § — 8 — 5 — & — 8 — 8 — — 5 30) % 237 8 -
Trading nen-dermatrve
assets
Trading mortgage-backed
securities
U S government-sponsored
agency guaranteed $ 2858 50 § — § 143 S8 (116) 8 74 S 26 (123) § B88)s 251 5% 25
Residential 1 _ —_ —_ — — — 1) —_ — —
Commercial 5 — 8 25 — § 28 — 8 18 — (1) s — 5 4 8 —
Total trading mortgage-
backed secunities $§ 286 % 52 8 — 5 145 35 (116) % 75 8 26 (125} § @B8)s 1255 § 15
State and municipal 109 8 —_ 115 (103) 5 — a1 —_ 123 4
Foreign government 394 (56) — 101 (130) 364 —_ (483) — 190 8
Corporate 208 (39) —_ 76 (57) 381 — (393) — 176 (11)
Equity securnties 836 131 — — — 905 — — — 1,872 211
Asset-backed Secunities 49 284 _— — — 8 — 305) —_ 36 —
Other trading assets 3,177 121 — 2,648 (2,277} 5,359 _ (4,354) (37 4,297 30
Total trading non-
denvative assets $ 5059 § s01 § — 5§ 3,085 S (2680 % 7,097 § 26 (5,671) 8 (465) 8 6949 § 267
Interest rate contracts 51261 § (1.183) $ — 5 174 § 75 s 11 3 — — 8 (104) 5 84 5 (556)
Foreign exchange contracts 458 210 —_ 47 29 113 — (110) 41 730 79
Equity contracts (108) 662 —_ (285) sS4 24 — (58) (460) 289 75
Commodity contracts 542 {432) — 85 {87) — _ —_ {41} 67 33
Credit denvatives (124) (649) —_ —_ (129) 89 — 3 65 (751) (328)
Total trading dervatives,
@ $ 2020 8 (1,392) § — 5 21§ 194§ 237 § — amns 499)s 419 S (697}
Investments
Mortzage-backed
securities
U S government-sponsored
agency guaranteed s 142 % — 3 65 § 48 § (I183) S 17 § — s (2) 8 15 § 1
Residential — — —_ 17 — [4)] — 8) — 8 —
Commercial — — (7) — _ 7 — — — - -
Total iavestment
morigage-backed
securities $ 142 § — 3 58 § 65 § (183) 8 13 % — (80) 2)s 23 8 1
U S Treasury and federal
agency securities 3 8 s — § — 8 — 5 — 5 — 8 —_ 2) 8 — § 6 8 —
State and municipal 1,329 —_ (79) 745 (578) 874 —_ (516) —_ 1,778 72
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Net realized/unrealized

gamns (losses) inctuded 1n Transfers U“;;‘:l:'sud
Dec. 31, Principal mto out of Dec 31, (losses)
In mulirons of dollars 2013 tramsactions Other ™ Level3 Level3 Purchases Issuances  Sales  Settlements 2014  still held
Foreign government 332 — 25) 186 (105) 849 — (490) (181) 666 an
Corporate 64 — — 19 (142) 687 — (184) — 444 —
Asset-backed securities 1,948 — 41 —_ 42) 85 — (193) (1,306) 533 (18}
Other debt securities 50 —_ (1) —_ —_ 116 — {116) 49) — _—
Non-marketable equity
securties 100 — 1) —_ — 32 —_— (3) — 108 _—
Total v estments $ 3973 8§ — 27 % 1,115 5 (1,05 % 2,666 S — § (1,584) § (1,538) § 3,555 § s
Loans 3943 § - (197) § 84 & 6 S 834 § — § (8258 {1,037)5 2808 § 36
Mortgage servicing rights 2,718 _ (390) — —_ — 217 317) (383) 1,845 (390)
Other financial assets
measured on a recurrng
basis 30 - 156 83 {134) 2 162 (10) (192) 67 14
Liabilities
Interest-bearing deposits  $ 890 § — 3 (357 § 58§ (12)8% — 5 127 § — % (167) $ 486 S (69)
Trading account habilities
Securities sold not yet
purchased 447 (1) — 33 {51) —_ — 417 (485) 372 (30)
Short-term borrowings 7 6 —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ (1) — —
Long-term debt 1037 3 49 — 45) —_ 88 — (863) 165 —
Other financial kabilities
measured on a recurring
hasis 10§ — § 58 8 S [KIR) s 18 3)s s 78 (€]
(1) Changes in fair value for available-for-sale investments (debt secunties) are recorded in Accumulared orher comprehensive mcome (loss) unless other-than-

temporanly imparred, whtle gains and losses from sales are recorded 1n Realized garns (Tosses) from sales of im estments on the Consolidated Statement of

Unreahzed gains (losses) on MSRs are recorded in Other revenue on the Consolidated Statement of Income
Represents the amount of total gains or losses for the penod, included 1n earnings (and Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for changes in fair value

for avatlable-for-sale investments) attributable to the change in fair value relating to assets and labihties classified as Level 3 that are sull held at December 31,

Income
@
3

2014 and 2013
#
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Net realized/unrealized

gams (losses) included 1n Transfers U“;:‘:'l:td
Dec 31, Principal wmto out of Dec 31, (losses)

In mulfions of dollars 2012 transactions Other "™ Level3  Level 3 Purchases lIssuances  Sales  Settlements 2013 still held @
Assets
Federal funds sold and

securities borrowed or

purchased under

agreements to resell $ 257 § 10 8 — — — 8 — § — § — 8 — 5 267 § —_
Trading non-denvative

assets
Trading mortgage-backed

securities
U S government-sponsored

agency guaranteed 237 § 68 $ —_ 4% (NS — 8 68 § (19) s B86)s 285 § 64
Residential 17 2 —_— 1 — — — (19) — 1 —
Total trading mortgage-

backed securities 254 8§ 70§ — 55 8 3N s — 5 68 $ 38) § (86) § 286 § 64
State and muntcipal 60 16 — 6 _ 37 — 10) — 109 3
Foreign government 168 5 — 126 (13) 194 — {8¢6) — 394 6
Corporate 1136 (14) — 4 @ 449 - (545) (818) 208 89
Equity securities — 136 — 4 —_ 712 — (16) — 836 79
Asset-backed Securities 4 15 — 1 (2) 62 — (31) —_ 49 —_
Other trading assets 2,266 216 —_ 954  (1,558) 3,769 — 214 326y 3177 )
Total trading non-

denvative assets $ 3888 § 444 3 — % 1,150 $(1.614) 5% 5123 § 68 § (2,870)§ (1,230} 8§ 5,059 § 233
Interest rate contracts $ 562 § 713 § — 123 § (124 8 71 5 — 5 — § (84)5 1261 § 1,116
Foreign exchange contracts ! 364 — (14) 14 27 — {ao) 76 458 7
Equity contracts (1,009) 337 _ 86 177 s — (85) 381 (108) (118)
Commodity contracts 193 426 — 17 4 — — — (98) 542 328
Credit denvatives (758) 84 — 123 {204) 20 — —_ 611 (124) (59)
Total trading dervatives,

net @ 5 (LIS 1,924 § — 3358 (A3s 123 § — 3 95) 8 886 $ 2,029 § 1,484
Investments
Mortgage-backed

securities
U S government-sponsored

agency guaranteed 1,451 8§ — § (5)% 2,025 $ (3,820)8 548 8§ — § — 8 (578 142§ —
Residennal 205 — — 60 (265) — — —_ — — -
Total investment

mortgage-backed

securities $ 1656 § — s (5)§ 2,085 § (4,085)§ 548 § —5 =35 (5778 142 § —
U S Treasury and federal

agency securnties 3 12§ — — — 5 -— 8 — § — 3 s — 8 8 s —
State and mumecipal 548 — (6] — (118) 1,222 — (191) (125) 1,329 1)
Foreigh government 328 — — 178 217) 496 — (391} (62) n (28)
Corporate 187 — 21) 155 {102) 78 — (144) (89 [ ] —
Equity securibies — — — — —_ — — — — — —
Asset-backed securtties 2,194 — 118 1,192 (1,669) 1,458 —_ 334 (1,011) 1,948 —
Other debt securities 258 -—_ — — (205) 50 _ (53) —_ 50 —
Non-marketable equity

securities 62 — 38 — —_ — — — — 100 —
Total investments § 5245 8§ — 8 123 § 3,610 § (6396)8 33852 § — § (1117 § (1,344)$ 3973 § (49)
Loans $ 4790 § — § (431§ 383§ — § 178 § 629 § (189)5  {1,675)S 3943 § (zn
Mortgage servicing rights 1942 — 555 — —_ — 634 ) {411) 2,718 553
Other financial assets

measured on a recurring

basis 434 — 63 1 1 — 471 (19) 921) 30 9
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Labihties

Interest-beanng deposits  § 786 §

Trading account habilities

Secunties sold, not yet

purchased 266
Short-term borrowings 54
Long-term debt 1526

Other financial habilitres
measured on a recurring
basis 3 23

$

(43)
35
(15)

$ (25§ 328 (1S — 5
— 13 en —
153 — 7 —

$  (@Nns 48 (@S 6) S

86 S

105 ¢

233

)

(118) 8

2)
(z)
(293)

(331) 8

890

447
7
1,037

10

s

$

(41)

(51)
Y]
107

(9)

(1} Changes 1n fair value for available-for-sale investments (debt securities) are recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) unless other-than-
temporanly impaured while gains and losses from sales are recorded i Realized gams (losses) from sales of imestments on the Consolidated Statement of

Income

(2) Unreahzed gains {losses) on MSRs are recorded in Other revenwe on the Consolidated Statement of Income
(3) Represents the amount of total gains or losses for the penod included in earmings (and Accumulated other comprehensne income floss) for changes in fair value
for available-for-sale investments), attribuiable 1o the change n fair value relating to assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 that are still held at December 31,

2014 and 2013

4y Total Level 3 denvative assets and habilities have been netted 1n these tables for presentation purposes anly
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Level 3 Fair Value Rollforward
The following were the significant Level 3 transfers for the
period December 31 2013 to December 31. 2014

+  Transfers of Other trading assets of $2 6 hillion from
Level 2 to Level 3, and of $2 3 billion from Level 3 to
Level 2, related to trading loans, reflecting changes in the
volume of market quotations

The following were the significant Level 3 transfers for the
period December 31 2012 to December 31, 2013

+  Transfers of other trading assets from Level 3 to Level 2
of $1 6 billion were primanly related to trading loans for
which there was an increased volume of market
quotatiens as well as positions that were reclassified as
Level 3 positions within Loans to conform to the balance
sheet presentation The reclassification has also been
reflected as transfers into Level 3 within Loans in the
rollforward table above

» Transfers of U 8 government-sponsored agency
guaranteed mortgage-backed securities 1n fnvestments of
$2 0 bilhion from Level 2 1o Level 3 and of $3 8 billion
from Level 3 to Level 2, due to changes in the level of
price observability for the specific securities

»  Transfers of asset-backed securities in Investiments of §1 2
biltlion from Level 2 to Level 3, and of $1 7 billion from
Level 3 to Level 2 These transfers were related to
collateralized loan oblhigations reflecting changes (n the
level of price observability

Valuation Techniques and Inputs for Level 3 Fair Value
Measurements
The Company s Level 3 inventory consists of both cash
securities and derivatives of varying complexities The
valuation methodologies applied to measure the fair value of
these positions include discounted cash flow analyses internal
models and comparative analysis A position 1s classified
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy when at ieast one
input 15 unobservable and 1s considered significant to 1ts
valuation The specific reason an mput 1s deemed
unobservable varies For example at least one significant
mput to the pricing model 15 not observable in the market, at
least one significant input has been adjusted to make it more
representative of the position being valued, or the price quote
available does not reflect sufficient trading activities

The following tables present the valuation techmiques
covering the majonty of Level 3 inventory and the most
significant unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair value
measurements as of December 31 2014 and December 31
2013 Dnfferences between this table and amounts presented in
the Level 3 Fair Value Rollforward table represent individually
immaterial items that have been measured using a variety of
valuation techniques other than those listed
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Valuation Techniques and Inputs for Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

Far Value™™

(en militons Weighted
As of December 31 2014 of doffars)  Methodology Input Low 9 High ¥ Average
Assets
Federal funds sold and securities
borrowed or purchased under Credit - IR
agreements to resell S 237 Model-based  Correlation (70 49)% 881% 47 17M%
Trading and investment securities
Mortgage-backed securities S 191 Cash flow Yield 6 48% 3421% 11 22%
84 Price-based WAL 3 31 years 789 years 5 19 years
Price $92 50 $114 71 10511
State and mumcipal, foreign government, s 5,327 Price-based Price $14 97 $117 56 $94 11
corporate and other debt securities 1,367 Cashflow  Credit Spread 25bps  600bps 238 bps
Equity Securities $ 1,872 Price-based Price $98 56 $98 56 $98 56
Asset-backed securities s 515 Price-based Price $98 73 $100 00 $99 94
Comparable
Non-marketable equity securities b} 107 Analysis Yield 15 00% 15 00% 15 00%
Derwvatives — Gross ¥
IR lognormal
Interest rate contracts (gross) § 8,364 Model-based volauhty 1805% 90 65% 3021%
Mean reversion 1 00% 20 00% 10 50%
Foreign exchange contracts (gross) $ 1,609 Model-based FX volaulity 037% 58 40% 8 82%
294 Cash flow IR-FX Correlation (45 13)% 60 00% 48 56%
[R-IR Correlation 40 00% 64 91% 40 26%
Interest Rate 292% 827% 4 99%
Equty contracts (gross) & § 4,136 Model-based Equity volatiity 9 56% 82 44% 2533%
Equuty forward 84 10% 100 80% 92 65%
Equity - IR
correlation 31 00)% 3799% (16 17Y%
Equity - FX
correlation (88 20)% 48 70% (18 22)%
Commodity
Commodity contracts (gross) ) 1,632 Model-based  volaulity 5 00% 83 00% 24 00%
Forward price 3534% 268 77% 101 74%
Commodity
correlation (57 00)% 91 00% 30 00%
Credu derwvatives (gross) $ 5,170 Model-based Recovery rate 1397% 75 00% 3748%
1,338 Price-based Credit correlation 000% 95 00% 58 83%
Credut spread 1 bps 1,400 bps 174 bps
Price $100 $144 50 $47 24
Upfront points 039 100 00 45 69
Nontrading derivatives and other financial assets  § 74 Model-based Redempuon rate 13 00% 99 50% 68 73%
and liabilities measured on a recurning basis
(gross)‘ Forward price 107 00% 107 10% 107 05%
Credit spread 1 bps 288 bps 168 bps
Recovery rate 20 00% 40 00% 3932%
Loans $ 1,081 Cash flow Yield 1 60% 4 50% 223%
740 Price-based  Prnice $472 $106 55 $98 56
546 Model-based Credit spread 35 bps 470 bps 207 bps
441 Yield analysis
Mortgage servicing rights 8 1,750 Cash flow Yield 519% 21 40% 10 25%
Model-based WAL 3 31 years 78%years 517 years
1t
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Liabilities

Interest-hearing deposits S 486  Model-based Equity-IR
Correlation 34 0% 37 00%% 3543%
Commodity
correlation (57 004 91 00% 30 00%
Commodity
volatihity 5 00% 83 00% 24 00%
Forward price 3534% 268 77% 101 74%
Trading account habilities
Credit [R
Securnities sold, not yet purchased h) 248 Model-based correlation (70 49% 881% (47 1%
93 Price-based Price $100 $105 54 $84 14
Short-term borrowings and long-term debt $ 114  Model-based Equity volatility 14 70% 33 00% 18 30%
$ 50 Price-based Equity forward 89 50% 100 §0% 95 80%
Equity-equity
correlation (66 30)% 94 80% 37 20%
Equity-FX
correlation (88 200% 48 70% (26 50)%
Price 3795% 76 57% 57 26%
IR-FX correlation (22 97)% 2691% 14 39%
IR-IR comrelation 13 46% 42 26% 40 22%

(1) The fair value amounts presented in ths table represent the pnmary valuation technique or techiuques for each class of assets or habihities

(2) Some inputs are shown as zero due to rounding

(3) When the low and high tnputs are the same, there 1s either a constant input apphed to all positions or the methodology involving the input applies to one large

posttion only

(4) Both trading and nontrading account denvatives—assets and habilities—are presented on a gross absolute vatue basis

(5) Includes hybnd products
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As of December 31, 2013

Fair Value™™

1 millions Weighted
f:;f doflars)  Methodology Input Low '™ High Average
Assets
Federal funds seld and securities
borrowed or purchased under 8 267 Price-based  Crednt spread 166 bps 180 bps 175 bps
agreements to resell Credit-IR correlation (68 ¢0Y%% 500% (50 00)%
Trading and investment securities
Mortgage-backed securihies ) 336 Cash flow Yield 1 28% 21 80% 12 12%
72 Price-based WAL 227 years 944 years 6 12 years
20 Yield analysis Price $14 99 $12575 $108 61
State and mun:cipal, foreign government, S 3,612 Price-based  Price $0 00 $11875 $94 54
corporate and other debt securities 1,610 Cashflow  Credst spread 11 bps 880bps 231 bps
Yield 007% 1223% 411%
Equity Securtties 836 Price-based  Price $93 66 $93 66 $93 66
Asset-backed secunities 1,307 Model-based Credit spread 25 bps 3178 bps 302 bps
646 Price-based  Price $97 73 $100 00 $£99 84
Comparable
Non-marketable equity securities 1) 100 analysis Yield 15 0% 15 00% 15 00%
Dernatives - Grass
IR lognormal
[nterest rate contracts {gross) A 5858 Model-based volauihity 10 60% 87 20% 21 10%
Foreign exchange
Foreign exchange coniracts (gross) ] 2,305 Model-based (FX) volathity 1 00% 28 00% 14 62%
IR-FX correlation 40 00% 60 00% 50 00%
IR-IR correlation 40 00% 40 00% 40 00%
Interest Rate 011% 13 88% 5 99%
Equity contracts (gross) ** $ 3,325 Model-based Equity volatility 10 02% 73 48% 26 59%
29¢ Price-based  Equity forward 79 10% 141 23% 99 70%
Equity-equity
correlation
Equity-FX (81 30)% 99 40% 48 30%
correlation (70 00)Y% 55 00% 0 60%
Equity-IR
correlation (38 00)y% 71 00% (0 40)%
Price 5000 3511875 $91 64
Commodity
Commuodity contracts (gross} $ 2,704 Model-based volatility 4 00% 146 00% 14 99%
Commodity
correlation (75 00)% 90 00% 32 00%
Forward price 23 00% 242 00% 105 00%
Credit derivatives (gross) ) 4,743 Model-based Recovery rate 20 00% 64 00% 37 82%
1,196 Price-based Credit correlation 500% 95 00% 48 19%
Price $0 00 11875 $28 712
Credut spread Jbps 1,335 bps 223 bps
Upfront pomnts 231 100 00 58 55
Nontrading derivauves and other financial $ 38 Model-based Redemption rate 7 50% 99 50% 80 16%
assets and liabilities measured on a recurning
basts (gross)
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Loans ) 2,153 Price-based  Price 50 00 £103 75 $91 19

1,241 Model-based Yield 1 60% 4 50% 2 10%
549 Yield analysis Credit spread 49 bps 213 bps 152 bps
Mortgage servicing rights 3 2,625 Cash flow Yield 3 64% 12 00% 719%
WAL 2 27 years 944ycars 6 12years
Liabthties
Interest-bearing deposits 1) 890 Model-based Equity volatlity 14 80% 42 15% 27 74%
Mean reversion 1 00% 20 00% 10 50%
Equity-IR
correlation 9 00% 20 50% 19 81%
Forward price 23 00% 242 00% 105 00%
Commodity
correlation (75 00)% 90 00% 32 00%
Commodity
volatily 4 00% 146 00% 15 00%
Trading account hahlities
Securnities sold, not yet purchased § 281 Model-based Credit spread 166 bps 180 bps 175 bps
Price-based Credn-IR correlation (68 00)% 500%  (5000)%
164 Price 398 88 $103 25 $100 96
Short-term borrowings and long-term debt § 898 Price-based Price 5063 $103 75 $80 85
145  Model-based Equity forward 79 10% 141 00% 99 87%
Equity velatlity 10 80% 57 20% 15 60%
Equity-equity (81 30)% 99 40% 48 30%
correlation
Equuty-FX (70 00)% 55 00% 0 60%
correlation

(1} The fair value amounts presented in this table represent the pnmary valuation techique or techniques for each class of assets or habilities

(2) Some mputs are shown as zero due 1o rounding

(3) When the low and hsgh inputs are the same there 15 erther a constant input applied to all positions or the methodology involving the input applies to one large

position only

(4) Both trading and nontrading account derivatives—assets and habilities—are presented on a gross absolute value basis

(5) Includes hybnd products

Sensitivity to Unobservable Inputs and Interrelationships
between Unobservable Inputs
The impact of key unobsecrvable inputs on the Level 3 fair
value measurements may not be independent of one another
In addition, the amount and direction of the impact on a fair
value measurement for a given change in an unobservable
mput depends on the nature of the instrument as well as
whether the Company holds the instrument as an asset or a
hability For certain instruments, the pricing. hedging and nisk
management are sensitive to the correlation between various
inputs rather than on the analysis and aggregation of the
individual mputs

The following section describes the sensitivities and
interrelationships of the most significant unobservable inputs
used by the Company 1n Level 3 fair value measurements

Correlation

Correlation 1s a measure of the co-movement between two or
more variables A variety of correlation-related assumptions
are required for a wide range of instruments 1ncluding equity
and credit baskets foreign-exchange options, CDOs backed by
loans or bonds mortgages, subprime mortgages and many
other instruments For almost all of these instruments,

correlations are not observable 1n the market and must be
estimated using histonical information Estimating correlation
can be especially difficult where it may vary over ime
Extracting correlation information from market data requires
significant assumptions regarding the informational efficiency
of the market (for example. swaption markets) Changes in
correlation levels can have a major impact favorable or
unfavorable on the value of an instrument, depending on s
nature A change 1n the default correlation of the fair value of
the underlying bonds comprising a CDQ structure would
affect the fair value of the semor tranche For example, an
increase 1n the default correlation of the underlying bonds
would reduce the fair value of the senior tranche, because
highly correlated instruments produce larger losses 1n the
event of default and a part of these losses would become
attributable 1o the sentor tranche That same change in default
correlation would have a different impact on junior tranches of
the same structure

Volatility

Volatility represents the speed and severity of market price
changes and 1s a key factor i pricing options Typically,
instruments can become more expensive if volatility increases
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For example, as an index becomes more volatile, the cost to
Cittbank of mamntaining a given level of exposure increases
because more frequent rebalancing of the portfolio 1s required
Volatility generally depends on the tenor of the underlying
instrument and the strike price or level defined 1n the contract
Volatilities for certain combinations of tenor and strike are not
observable The general relationship between changes mn the
value of a portfolio to changes in volatihity also depends on
changes in interest rates and the levet of the underlying index
Generally long option positions (assets) benefit from
mcreases in volatlity whereas short option positions
(habilities) will suffer losses Some instruments are more
sensitive to changes 1n volaulity than others For example, an
at-the-money option would experience a larger percentage
change 1 1ts fair value than a deep-in-the-money option In
additton the fair value of an option with more than one
underlying security (for example an option on a basket of
bonds) depends on the volatility of the individual underlying
securities as well as their correlations

Vield
Adjusted yield 1s generally used to discount the projected
future principal and interest cash flows on instruments, such as
asset-backed securities Adjusted yield 1s impacted by changes
n the nterest rate environment and relevant credi spreads

In some circumstances, the yield of an instrument 1s not
observable 1n the market and must be estimated from histoncal
data or from yields of similar securities This estimated yield
may need to be adjusted to capture the characteristics of the
security being valued In other situations, the esttmated yield
may not represent sufficient market liquidity and must be
adjusted as well Whenever the amount of the adjustment 1s
significant to the value of the security, the fair value
measurement 1s classified as Level 3

Prepayment

Voluntary unscheduled payments (prepayments) change the
future cash flows tor the imvestor and thereby change the fair
value of the security The effect of prepayments 1s more
pronounced for residential mortgage-backed securities An
Increase 1n prepayments—in speed or magnitude—generally
creates losses for the holder of these securities Prepayment is
generally negatively correlated with delinquency and interest
rate A combination of low prepayment and high delinquencies
amphfy each input s negative impact on mortgage securities”
valuation As prepayment speeds change the weighted
average life of the security changes, which impacts the
valuation either positively or negatively, depending upon the
nature of the security and the direction of the change in the
weighted average life

Recovery

Recovery 15 the proportion of the total outstanding balance of
a bond or loan that 1s expected to be collected in a liquidation
scenario For many credit securities (such as asset-backed
securities) there 1s no directly observable market input for
recovery but inchcations of recovery levels are available from
pricing services The assumed recovery of a secunty may
differ from 1ts actual recovery that will be observable n the
future The recovery rate impacts the valuation of credit
securities Generally, an mcrease in the recovery rate
assumption increases the fair value of the security An increase
in loss severity, the inverse of the recovery rate reduces the
amount of principal available for distribution and as a result
decreases the fair value of the security

Credut Spread

Credit spread 1s a component of the secunty representing its
credit quahity Credit spread reflects the market perception of
changes in prepayment, delinquency and recovery rates,
therefore capturing the impact of other vanables on the fair
value Changes 1n credit spread affect the fair value of
securities differently depending on the characteristics and
maturity profile of the security For example, credit spread 1s a
more significant drniver of the fair value measurement of a high
yield bond as compared to an investment grade bond
Generally, the credit spread for an investment grade bond 15
also more observable and less volatile than 1ts high yield
counterpart

Qualitative Discussion of the Ranges of Significant
Unobservable Inputs

The following section describes the ranges of the most
significant unobservable inputs used by the Company in Level
3 farr value measurements The level of aggregation and the
diversity of instruments held by the Company lead to a wide
range of unobservable inputs that may not be evenly
distributed across the Level 3 inventory

Correlation

Therc are many different types of correlation inputs, including
credit correlation cross-asset correlation (such as equity-
interest rate correlatton) and same-asset correlation (such as
interest rate-interest rate correlation) Correlation inputs are
generally used to value hybnd and exotic instruments
Generally same-asset correlation inputs have a narrower range
than cross-asset correlation inputs However due to the
comptex and unique nature of these instruments the ranges for
correlation nputs can vary widely across portfolios

Volatily

Similar to correlation, asset-specific volatility inputs vary
widely by asset type For example ranges for foreign
exchange volatility are generally lower and narrower than
equity volatility Equity volatilities are wider due to the nature
of the equities market and the terms of certain exotic
instruments For most (nstruments, the interest rate volatihty
input 1s on the lower end of the range, however. for certain
structured or exotic instruments (such as market-linked
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deposits or exotic interest rate derivatives) the range 1s much
wider

Yield

Ranges for the yield inputs vary sigmificantly depending upon
the type of security Tor example securities that typically have
lower yields, such as municipal bonds, will fall on the lower
end of the range, while more 1lliquid securities or securities
with lower credit quality, such as certain residual tranche
asset-backed securiuies, will have much higher yield inputs

Credut Spread

Credit spread 1s relevant pnimarily for fixed income and credit
instruments, however, the ranges for the credit spread input
can vary across instruments For example, certain fixed
income mstruments such as certificates of deposit, typically
have lower credit spreads, whereas certain denivative
instruments with high-risk counterparties are typically subject
to higher credit spreads when they are uncollateralized or have
a longer tenor Other instruments, such as credit default swaps,
also have credit spreads that vary with the attributes of the
underlying obligor Stronger companies have tighter credit
spreads, and weaker companies have wider credit spreads

Price

The price input 1s a significant unobservable input for certain
fixed income instruments For these instruments the price
input s expressed as a percentage of the notional amount, with
a price of $100 meaning that the instrument 1s valued at par
For most of these instruments the price varies between zero to
$£100, or shightly above $100 Relatively ilhquid assets that
have experienced significant losses since 1ssuance such as
certain asset-backed securities, are at the lower end of the
range, whereas most investment grade corporate bonds will
fall 1n the muddle to the igher end of the range For certain
structured debt instruments with embedded derivatives, the
price input may be above $100 to reflect the embedded
features of the instrument (for example, a step-up coupon or a
conversion option)

The price input 1s also a significant unobservable nput for
certain equity securities, however the range of price inputs
varies depending on the nature of the position the number of
shares outstanding and other factors

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
Certain assets and habihities are measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis and. therefore, are not included in the
tables above These include assets measured at cost that have
been written down to fair value during the periods as a result
of an impairment In addition, these assets include loans held-
for-sale and other real estate owned that are measured at the
lower of cost or market

The following 1able presents the carrying amounts of all
assets that were still held as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
and for which a nonrecurming fair value measurement was
recorded during the year then ended

In milhons of doflars Fair value Level 2 Level 3
December 31, 2014

Loans held-for-sale $ 4,149 § 1,084 § 3,065
Other real estate owned 45 20 25
Loans " 2,818 2,720 98

Total assets at fair value
Oon a nonrecurring
basis $ 7,012 § 3824 § 3,188

(1) Represents impared loans held for investment whose carrying amount 1s
based on the fair value of the underlying collateral, including primanly
real-estate secured loans

In millons of dollars Fair value Level 2 Level 3
December 31, 2013

Loans held-for-sale $ 2,956 $ 1,646 § 1,310
Other real estate owned 53 14 39
Loans 4,149 3,704 445

Total assets at fair value
on a nonrecurrmg
basis $ 7,158 § 5364 § 1,794

(1} Represents impared loans held for investment whaose carrying amount 1s
based on the fair value of the underlying coliateral, including primarily
real-estate secured loans

The fair value of loans-held-for-sale 15 determined where
possible using quoted secondary-market prices 1f no such
quoted price exists the fair value of a loan 1s determined using
quoted prices for a simular asset or assets adjusted for the
spectfic attributes of that loan Fair value for the other real
esiate owned 15 based on appraisals For loans whose carrying
amount 1s based on the fair value of the underlywng collateral,
the fair values depend on the type of collateral Fair value of
the collateral 1s typically estimated based on quoted market
prices 1f available, appraisals or other internal valuation
techniques

Where the fair value of the related collateral 1s based on
an unadjusted apprarsed value, the loan 1s generally classified
as Level 2 Where significant adjustments are made to the
appraised value, the loan 1s classified as Level 3 Additienally,
for corporate loans, appraisals of the collateral are often based
on sales of similar assets, however, because the prices of
similar assets require significant adjustments to reflect the
unique features of the underlying collateral these fair value
measurements are generally classified as Level 3
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Valuation Technmiques and Inputs for Level 3 Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents the valuation technmiques covering the majonty of Level 3 nonrecurming fair value measurements and the
most significant unobservable inputs used 1n those measurements as of December 31, 2014 and 2013

December 31, 2014

Weighted

Fair Value " Methodology Input Low High Average
Loans held-for-sale s 2,736 Price-based Price $92 00 $100 00 $99 54
Credut spread 5 bps 358 bps 175 bps
Qther real estate owned loans 24 Price-based Appraised value $000 S$11,124,137  $3,626,215
Other Financial Non-Recurring $48 Pnice-based Appraised Value $34,817,375 4 817375 4,817,375
18 Recovery analysis  Recovery Rate $3800 $78 00 57 00%
16 Model-based Yield 8 50% 10 50% 9 50%

13 Cash flow
December 31, 2013

Weighted

Farr Value Methodology Input Low High Average
Loans held-for-sale $ 899 Price-based Price $60 00 $100 00 $98 79
393 Cash flow Credit spread 45 bps 80 bps 64 bps
Other Real Estate Owned Loans 33 Price-based Price $60 46 $100 00 $91 92
Appraised value §372,399 $8,518,230  $5284,237
Discount to price 24 00% 59 00% 5518%
Other Finaneial Non-Recurring §260 Pnice-based Pnice $5240 $68 319 $65 32
109 Model-based Appraised Value $6,500,000 $86,000,000 $43,532,719
56 Recovery analysis  Recovery Rate 38 00% 45 00% 42 77%

(1) The fair value amounts presented n this table represent the pnmary valuation technique or techmiques for each class of assets or hatnlines The fair value amounis

are in muthons of dollars

{2) Pnces are based on appraised values

{3) Represents loans held for investment whose carrying amounts are based on the fair value of the underlying collateral

Nonrecurring Fair Value Changes
The following table presents total nonrecurring fair value
measurements for the period, included 1n earmings, attributable
to the change in fair value relating to assets that are st1ll held

at December 31, 2014 and 2013

In mullions of dollars December 31, 2014
Loans held-for-sale $ 33
Orther real estate owned N
Loans ” (296)

Total nonrecurning fair value gans (losses) $

(270)

{1) Represents loans held for investment whose carry ing amount 1s based on
the fair value of the underlying collateral, including primanly real-estate

loans

17

In miliions of dollars

December 31, 2013

Loans held-for-sale

Other real estate owned

Loans

$

Total nonrecurring faiwr value gains (losses) §

(1) Represents loans held for investment whose carrying amount 1s based on
the fair value of the underlying collateral including pnmanly real-estate

loans
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Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments Not
Carried at Fair Value
The table below presents the carrying value and fair value of
Citibank’s financial instruments which are not carried at fair
value The table below, therefore, excludes items measured at
fair value on a recurring basis presented in the tables above

The disclosure also excludes leases, affiliate investments,
pension and benefit obligations and insurance policy claim
reserves In addition, contract-holder fund amounts exclude
certain insurance contracts Also, as required. the disclosure
excludes the effect of taxes, any premium or discount that
could result from offering for sale at one time the entire
holdings of a particular instrument excess fair value
assoclated with deposits with no fixed matunity and other
expenses that would be incurred 1n a market transaction In
addition, the table excludes the values of non-financial assets
and hiabilities, as well as a wide range of franchise,
relationship and ntangible values, which are integral to a full
assessment of Citibank s financial position and the value of 1ts
net assets

The fair value represents management’s best estimates
based on a range of methodologies and assumptions The

carrying value of short-term financial instruments not
accounted for at fair value, as well as receivables and payables
arising in the ordinary course of business approximates fair
value because of the relatively short period of ime between
their onigination and expected realization Quoted market
prices are used when available for invesiments and for
habihities such as long-term debt not carried at fawr value For
loans not accounted for at fair value cash flows are discounted
at quoted secondary market rates or estimated market rates If
available Otherwise, sales of comparable loan portfohos or
current market origination rates for loans with similar terms
and nsk characteristics are used Expected credit losses are
either embedded n the estimated future cash flows or
incorporated as an adjustment to the discount rate used The
value of collateral 15 also considered For liabilities such as
long-term debt not accounted for at fair value and without
quoted market prices, market borrowing rates of interest are
used to discount contractual cash flows

December 31, 2014 Estimated fair value
Carrying Estimated

In billions of dolfars value fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Investments s 237 8 241 8 — 3 236 8 05
Federal funds sold and secunties borrowed or purchased under

agreements to resell 623 623 — 48 8 135
Loans 568.3 5670 — 42 5628
Other financial assets % 1792 1792 66 1439 287
Liabilities
Deposits $ 2141 § 9105 $ — 8 7621 § 148 4
Federal funds purchased and secunities loaned or sold under agreements

to repurchase 154 154 — 151 03
Long-term debt & 884 877 — 636 241
Other financial liabihitres 732 732 — 249 483

December 31, 2013 Estimated tair value

Carrying Estimated

In biilrans of dollars value fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Investments b3 97 §% 99 % — 3 97 % 02
Federal funds sold and securities borrowed or purchased under

agreements to resell 679 679 — 554 125
Loans " 578 4 3774 — 38 5736
Other financial assets @' 2116 2116 77 1755 284
Liabilities
Deposits 5 9792 §$ 9781 % — § 7873 §$ 190 8
Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under agreements

to repurchase 190 150 — 18 8 02
Long-term debt ¥ 725 727 — 552 175
Other financial habilities ¥ 698 69 8 — 270 428

(1) The carrying value of loans 15 net of the Alfowance for loan losses of $12 3 billion for December 31, 2014 and $15 7 tallion for December 31, 2013 In addition
the carrying values exclude $2 1 billion and $2 3 billion of lease finance recetvables at December 31, 2014 and December 31 2013, respectively

(2) Includes items measured at fair value on a nonrecumng basis
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(3) Includes cash and due from banks deposits with banks, brokerage recervables reinsurance recoverable and other financial instruments included 1n Orher assets on
the Consolidated Balance Sheet for all of which the carrying value 1s a reasonable estimate of fair value

{4) The carrying value includes long-term debt bhalances under qualifying fair value hedges

{5) Includes brokerage payables, separate and vanable accounts short-term borrowings (camied at cost) and other financial instruments included 1n Qther hiabilities
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet for all of which the camrying value 1s a reasonable estimate of fair value

Fair values vary from peried to period based on changes in a
wide range of factors including interest rates, credit quality
and market perceptions of value, and as existing assets and
liabilities run off and new transactions are entered into The
estimated fair values of loans reflect changes in credst status
since the loans were made, changes 1n 1nterest rates in the case
of fixed-rate loans, and premium values at orsgination of
certain loans

The estimated fair values of the Company s corporale
unfunded lending commitments at December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013 were habilities of $4 7 bitlion and $5 0
billion respectively which are substantially classified as
Level 3 The Company does not estimate the fair values of
censumer unfunded lending commitments, which are
generally cancelable by providing notice to the borrower
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23 FAIR VALUE ELECTIONS

The Company may elect to report most financial instruments
and certain other items at fair value on an mstrument-by-
instrument basis with changes 1n fair value reported in
carnings The clection 1s made upon the 1nitial recognition
of an ehgible financial asset financial hability or firm
commitment or when certain specified reconsideration events
occur The fair value election may not be revoked once an
election 18 made The changes in fair value are recorded 1n
current earmings Additional discussion regarding the
applicable areas in which fair value elecions were made 13
presented 1n Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
All servicing rights are recogmized inttially at fair value
I'he Company has elected fair value accounting for its
mortgage servicing rights See Notes 2 and 19 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussions
regarding the accounting and reporting of MSRs

The following table presents the changes in fair value gains and losses for the vears ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 associated

with those items for which the fair value option was elected

Changes m fair value gains
{losses) for the years
ended December 31,

In mulltons of doilars 2014 2013
Assets
Trading account assets $ 188 % (190
l.oans

Certatn corporate loans'? (123 43

Certamn consumer loans'? {41) (155)
Total loans $ (164) § (112)
Other assets

MSRs s (344) § 553

Certain mortgage loans held-for-sale 474 951
Total other assets 130 $ 1,504

Total assets

154 § 1,201

Liabihities

Interest-bearing deposits b} (76) § 63
Trading account habilities 13 (5
Short-term borrowings 2 2
Long-term debt 166
Total habihities $ 59 S 226

(1) Includes morigage loans held by morigage loan secunitization VIEs consohidated upon the adoption of ASC 810, Consolidarion (SFAS 167), on January 1, 2010
(2) Includes gains (losses) associated with interest rate lock comnutments for those loans that have been onginated and elected under the fair value option
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Own Debt Valuation Adjustments

Own debt valuation adjustments are recognized on the
Company’s habilities for which the fair value option has been
elected using the Company’s credit spreads observed 1n the
bond market The fair value of habilities for which the fair
value option 1s elected (other than non-recourse and similar
liabilities) 1s impacted by the narrowing or widening of the
Company’s credit spreads The estimated change in the fair
value of these habilities due to such changes in the Company s
own credit nsk (or instrument-specific credit risk) was a loss
of $4 million and $16 milhion for the years ended December
31 2014 and 2013, respectively Changes in fair value
resulting from changes in instrument-specific credit msk were
estimated by incorporating the Company s current credit
spreads observable in the bond market into the relevant
valuation technique used to value each liabihity as described
above

The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Laabilities

Certain loans and other credit products

Citibank has elected the fair value option for certain onginated
and purchased loans. including certain unfunded loan
products such as guarantees and letters of credit, executed by
Citibank s trading businesses None of these credit products
are highly leveraged financing commitments $ignificant
groups of transactions include loans and unfunded loan
products that are expected to be erther sold or securitized 1n
the near term, or transactions where the economic nisks are
hedged with derivative instruments, such as purchased credit
default swaps or total return swaps where the Company pays
the total return on the underlying loans to a third party
Citibank has elected the fair value option to mitigate
accounting mismaiches tn cases where hedge accounting 1s
complex and to achieve operational simplhifications Fatir value
was not elected for most lending transactions across the
Company

The following table provides information about certain credit products carried at {air value al December 31, 2014 and 2013

in pullrons of dollars

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Carrying amount reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet
Aggregate unpaid principal balance in excess of (less than) fair value
Balance of non-accrual loans or loans more than 90 days past due

Aggregate unpaid principal balance 1n excess of fair value for non-accrual

loans or loans more than 90 days past due

Trading Trading
assets Loans assets Loans
$ 10,290 § 4322 § 9262 § 3,683
(26) 92 4 (82)
13 3 97 5
28 1 4] 5

[n addition to the amounts reported above, $2,335 million
and $2,308 million of unfunded loan commitments related to
certain credit products selected for fair value accounting were
outstanding as of December 31 2014 and 2013, respectively

Changes in fair value of funded and uniunded credit
products are classified in Principal transactions in the
Company's Consolidated Statement of Income Related
interest revenue 1s measured based on the contractual interest
rates and reported as fnterest revenue on Trading account
assets or loan interest depending on the balance sheet
classifications of the credit products The changes in fair value
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 due to
instrument-specific credit nsk totaled to a loss of $157 mllion
and a gain of $1 million respectively

Certain investments in unallocated precious metals

Citibank invests 1n unallocated precious metals accounts
(gold, stlver, platinum and palladium) as part of its commodity
and foreign currency trading activities or to economically
hedge certain exposures from 1ssuing structured habilibes
Under ASC 813, the investment 15 bifurcated into a debt host
contract and a commodity forward derivative instrument
Citibank elects the fair value option for the debt host contract,
and reports the debt host contract within Trading account
assets on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet The
total carrying amount of debt host contracts across unallocated

precious metals accounts was approximately $1 2 billion and
$1 3 bilhon at December 31 2014 and 2013 respectively The
amounts are expected to fluctuate based on trading activity in
future periods

As part of its commodity and foreign currency trading
activities, Citibank sells (buys) unallocated precious metals
investments and executes forward purchase (sale) dervative
contracts with trading counterparties When Citibank sells an
unallocated precious metals investment, Citibank's reccivable
from 1ts depository bank 1s repaid and Citibank derecognizes
its investment in the unallocated prectous metal The forward
purchase (sale) contract with the trading counterparty indexed
to unallocated precious metals 1s accounted for as a derivative
at fair value through earnings As of December 31 2014 there
were approximately $7 2 billion and $6 7 billion notional
amounis of such forward purchase and forward sale derivative
contracts outstanding. respectively
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Certatn moritgage loans HFS

Citibank has elected the fair value option for certain purchased
and originated prime fixed-rate and conforming adjustable-
rate first mortgage loans HFS These loans are intended for
sale or securitization and are hedged with derivative
instruments The Company has clected the fair value option to
mitigate accounting musmatches in cases where hedge
accounting 1s complex and to achieve operational
simplifications

The following table provides information about certain mortgage loans HFS carried at fair value at December 31 2014 and 2013

Inmilirons of dollars

December December
31, 2014 31,2013

Carrying amounti reported on the Conselidated Balance Sheet
Aggregate fair value w excess of unpaid principal balance

$ 1,447 § 2,089
67 48

The changes 1n fair values of these mortgage loans are
reported 1n Other revenue in the Company's Consolidated
Statement of Income There was no net change in fair value
during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 due to
insirument-specific credit nsk Related interest income
continues to be measured based on the contractual mterest
rates and reported as /nreres! revenue n the Consolidated
Statement of Income

Certain consolidated VIEs
The Company has elected the fair value option for all qualified
assets and liabilites of certain VIEs that were consolidated
upon the adoption of SFAS 167 on January | 2010, including
certain private-label mortgage securitizations, mutual fund
deferred sales commuissions and collateralized loan obligation
VIEs The Company elected the fair value option for these
VIEs as the Company believes this method better reflects the
economuc risks, since substantially all of the Company s
retained interests in these entities are carried at fair value

With respect to the consohidated mortgage VIEs the
Company determined the fair value for the mortgage loans and
long-term debt utilizing 1nternal valuation techniques The
fair value of the long-term debt measured using internai
valuation techniques 1s verified where possible, to prices
obtained from independent vendors Vendors compile prices
from various sources and may apply matrix pricing for sinmlar
securities when no price 1s observable Secunity pricing
associated with long-term debt that 1s valued using observable
inputs 1s classified as Level 2 and debt that 1s valued using one
or more significant unobservable inputs 15 classified as Level
3 The fair value of mortgage loans n each VIE 1s derived
from the secunity pricing  When substantially all of the long-
term debt of a VIE 15 valued using Level 2 inputs. the
corresponding mortgage loans are classified as Level 2
Otherwise. the mortgage loans of 2 VIE are classified as Level
3

With respect to the consolidated mortgage VIEs for which
the fair value option was clected. the mortgage loans are
classified as Loans on Citibank’s Consolidaled Balance Sheet
The changes in fair value of the loans are reported as Other
revenue 1n the Company’s Consohdated Statement of Income

Related interest revenue 1s measured based on the contractual
interest rates and reported as [nrerest revenue 1n the
Company's Consolidated Statement of Income Information
about these mortgage loans 1s included in the table below The
change n fair value of these loans due to nstrument-specific
credit nsk was a loss of $48 million and $156 million for the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively

The debt 1ssued by these consohidated VIEs 15 classified as
long-term debt on Citibank's Consolidated Balance Sheet The
changes n fair value for the majority of these liabilities are
reported in Qther revenue 1n the Company s Consolidated
Statement of Income Related interest expense 15 measured
based on the contractual interest rates and reported as Interest
expense n the Consolidated Statement of Income The
aggregate unpaid principal balance of long-term debt of these
consoltdated VIEs exceeded the aggregate fair value by $9
rmullion and $223 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.
respectively
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The following table provides information about corporate and consumer loans of consolidated V!IEs carried at fair value at

December 31,2014 and 2013

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Corporate  Consumer Corporate Consumer
In millions of dollars loans loans loans loans
Carrying amount reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet s — 3 — % 14 3 910
Aggregate unpaid principal balance in excess of fair value 9 — 7 212
Balance of non-accrual loans or loans more than 90 days past due — — — 81
Aggregate unpaid principal balance wn excess of fair value for non-accrual loans or
loans more than 90 days past due — — — 106

Certaun structured lhabiities
The Company has elected the fair value option for certain
structured liabilities whose performance 1s linked to structured
interest rates, inflation currency, equity referenced credit or
commodity nisks (structured habilities) The Company elected
the fair value option, because these exposures are considered
to be trading-related positions and, therefore, are managed on
a fair value basis These positions will continue to be
classified as debt deposits or derivatives (Trading account
habilities) on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet
according to therr legal form

The change in farr value of these structured habihities 1s
reported 1n Principal iransactions in the Company s
Consolidated Statement of Income Changes in fair value of
these structured liabilities include an economic component for
accrued interest. which s included in the change in fair value
reported in Principal transactions

Certain non-structured labilities

The Company has elected the fair value option for certain non-
structured habilities with fixed and floating interest rates (nen-
structured habihties) The Company has elected the fair value
optien where the interest-rate nsk of such habilities 1s
economically hedged with derivative contracts or the proceeds
are used to purchase financial assets that will also be
accounted for at fair value through earmings The clection has
been made to mitigate accounting mismatches and to achieve
operational ssmphfications These positions are reported in
Short-ternt borrowings and Long-term debt on the Company s
Consolidated Balance Sheet The change in fair value of these
non-structured habilities 1s reported in Principal transactions
1n the Company s Consolidated Statement of Income Related
interest expense on non-structured habelities 1s measured
based on the contractual interest rates and reported as farerest
expense n the Consolidated Statement of Income

The following table provides information about long-term debt carried at fair value, excluding debt 1ssued by consolidated VIEs, at

December 31 2014 and 2013

December 31, December3],
In millions of dollars 2014 2013
Carrying amount reported on the Consohidated Balance Sheet ) 958 3 995
Aggregate unpaid principal balance in eacess of (less than) fair value (32) 29

1 he following Lable provides information about short-term borrowings carried at fair value at December 31, 2014 and 2013

December 31, December 31,
In miltions of dollars 2014 2013
Carrying amount reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet § 22 3 25
Aggregate unpaid principal balance in excess of (less than) fair value 1 H
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24 PLEDGED ASSETS, COLLATERAL, GUARANTEES
AND COMMITMENTS

Pledged Assets

In connection with the Company’s financing and trading
activities, the Company has pledged assets to collateralize its
obligations under repurchase agreements, secured financing
agreements, secured habilities of consolidated VIEs and other
borrowings At December 31 2014 and 2013, the approximate
carrying values of the stgnificant components of pledged
assets recognized on the Company's Consolidated Balance
Sheet included

In millions of dollars 2014 2013

Investment securities § 161,875 § 163,861
Loans 211,904 228,082
Trading account assets 11,718 15,826
Total § 385497 $ 407,769

Collateral
At December 31 2014 and 2013 the approximate fair value of
collateral recerved by the Company that may be resold or
repledged. excluding the impact of allowable netung, was
$3.611 million and $2,391 million, respectively This collateral
was Teceived 1n connection with resale agreements, securities
borrowings and loans

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, a substantial portion of
the collateral received by the Company had been sold or
repledged 1n connection with repurchase agreements,
securities sold, not yet purchased, securiiies borrowings and
loans, pledges to clearing organizations, segregation
requirements under securities laws and regulations and bank
loans

In addition, at December 31, 2014 and 2013, the
Cempany had pledged $379 bilhion and $398 billion
respectively, of collateral that may not be sold or repledged by
the secured parties

Lease Commitments
Rental expense (principally for offices and computer
equipment) was $945 milhon and $982 million for the years
ended December 31 2014 and 2013, respectively

Future mimimum annual rentals under noncancelable
leases. net of sublease income, are as follows

In nullions of dollars

2015 5 697
2016 554
2017 410
2018 349
2019 308
Thereafter 265
Total § 3,283
Guarantees

The Company provides a variety of guarantees and
mdemnifications to its customers to enhance their credit
standing and enable them to complete a wide variety of
business transactions For certain contracts meeting the
defimuon of a guarantee, the guaranter must recognize, at
inception a hability for the fair value of the obligation
undertaken in 1ssuing the guarantee

In additon the guaranior must disclose the maximum
potential amount of future payments that the guarantor could
be required to make under the guarantee, if there were a total
default by the guaranteed parties The determination of the
maximum potential future payments 1s based on the notienal
amount of the guarantees without consideration of possible
recoveries under recourse provisions or from collateral held or
pledged As such, the Company believes such amounts bear no
relationship to the anticipated losses 1f any on these
guarantecs

The following tables present information about the
Company s guarantees at December 31 2014 and December
31,2013

Maximum potential amount of future payments

Carrying value

Total amount  (p muitions of

Expire within Expire after

In billions of doilars at December 31 2014 excepi carrying value m millions 1 year 1 year outstanding doliars)

Financial standby letters of credit b} 251 3% 717 8 98 % 2424
Performance guarantees 68 45 113 285
Derwvative instruments considered to be guaranices 108 788 896 2,343 3
Loans sold with recourse — 02 02 148
Securities lending indemnufications 1159 — 1159 —
Credit card merchant processing 795 — 795 —
Custody mndemmfications and other — 368 368 —
Total $ 2381 % 1920 $ 4301 8 2,6290
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Maximum peotential amount of future payments

) Carrying value
Expire within - Expireafter  Total amount (1 puftions of

In bilons of dollars at December 31 2013 except carring value in millions 1 year 1 year outstanding dollars)

Financial standby letters of credit $ 285 § 692 § 977 § 4288
Performance guarantees 72 47 19 418
Dervative instruments considered to be guarantees 640 616 676 7970
Loans sold with recourse — 03 03 223
Securiues lending mdemnifications 673 — 673 —
Credit card merehant processing ' 780 — 780 -
Custody indemnuficauiens and other — 243 243 —
Tatal $ 1870 $ 1601 § 3471 % 1,289 9

(1} The camrying values of securities lending indemmifications and credit card merchant processing were not matenial for erther penod presented, as the probability of

potential hatiliies ansing from these guarantees 1s mummal

Financual standby letters of credit

Citibank 1ssues standby letters of credit which substitute its
own credit for that of the borrower If a letter of credit 1s
drawn down, the borrower 15 obligated to repay Citibank
Standby letters of credit protect a third party from defaults on
contractual obhigations Financial standby letters of credit
include (1) guarantees of payment of insurance premwms and
remsurance risks that support industrial revenue bond
underwriting, (11) settlement of payment obligations to
clearing houses, including futures and over-the-counter
denivatives clearing (see further discussion below).,

(1) support options and purchases of securities 1n lieu of
escrow deposit accounts, and (1v) letters of credit that
backstop loans credit factlhities, promissory notes and trade
acceptances

Performance guarantees

Performance guarantees and letters of credit are issued to
guarantee a customer s tender bid on a constructton or
systems-installation progect or to guarantee completion of such
projects in accordance with contract terms They are also
1ssucd to support a customer’s obligation Lo supply specified
products, commodities or mamtenance or warranty services to
a third party

Derwvative instruments considered to be guarantees
Derivatives are financial instruments whose cash flows are
based on a notional amount and an underlying instrument.
reference credit or index, where there 15 hittle or no imtial
investment, and whose terms require or permmit net settiement
For a discussion of Ciibank s derivatives activities, see
Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Denvative instruments considered 1o be guarantees
include only those instruments that require Citibank to make
payments to the counterparty based on changes in an
underlying instrument that 1s related to an asset a lrabihity, or
an equity security held by the guaranteed party More
specifically denvative instruments considered 1o be
guarantees include certain over-the-counter written put options
where the counterparty 1s not a bank hedge fund or broker-
dealer (such counterparties are constdered to be dealers in
these markets and may therefore not hold the underlying
instruments) Credit derivatives sold

by Ciubank are excluded from the tables above as they are
disclosed separately in Note 20 to the Consohidated MNinancial
Statements In mnstances where Citibank’s maximum potential
future payment 15 unlimited the notional amount of the
contract 15 disclosed

Loans sold with recourse
Loans sold with recourse represent Citibank s obligations to
reimburse the buyers for loan losses under certamn
circumstances Recourse refers to the clause in a sales
agreement under which a scller/lender will fully reimburse the
buyer/investor for any losses resulting from the purchased
loans This may be accomplished by the seller taking back any
loans that become delinquent

In addition o the amounts shown 1n the tables above
Citibank has recorded a repurchase reserve for its potential
repurchases or make-whole liability regarding residential
mortgage representation and warranty claims related to its
whole loan sales to the U § government-sponsored enterprises
(GSEs) and to a lesser extent, private investors The
repurchase reserve was approximately $224 million and
$341milhon at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013,
respectively. and these amounts are included in Other
liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet

Dunng 2013 Cibank entered into previously disclosed
agrecments with Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in the amount
of $968 mulhion and $395 mullion respectively, to resolve
potential fulure originauon related representation and warranty
repurchase claims on a pool of residential first mortgage loans
that were. 1in each case onginated between 2000 and 2012

Secunities lending indemmifications

Owners of securities frequently lend those secunties for a fee
to other parties who may sell them short or deliver them to
another party to satisfy some other obligation Banks may
administer such securities lending programs for their clients
Securities lending mdemmnifications are 1ssued by the bank to
guarantee that a securities lending customer will be made
whole in the event that the secunty borrower does not return
the secunity subject to the lending agreement and collateral
held 15 insufficient to cover the market value of the secunty
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Credit card merchant processing
Credit card merchant processing guarantees represent the
Company’s indirect obligations 1n connection with
(1} providing transaction processing services o various
merchants with respect to 1ts private-label cards, and
() potential hability for bank card transaction processing
services The nature of the hability in erther case arises as a
result of a billing dispute between a merchant and a cardholder
that 1s ultimately resolved in the cardholder s favor The
merchant 15 hable to refund the amount to the cardholder In
general 1f the eredit card processing company is unable to
collect this amount from the merchant, the credit card
processing company bears the loss for the amount of the credit
or refund paid to the cardholder

With regard to (1) above, the Company has the primary
contingent hability with respect to its portfolio of private-label
merchants The risk of loss 1s mitigated as the cash flows
between Citibank and the merchant are settled on a net basis
and Cittbank has the night to offset any payments with cash
flows otherwise due to the merchant To further mitigate this
risk. Cititbank may delay settlement. require a merchant to
make an escrow deposit include event tnggers to provide
Citibank with more financial and operational control mn the
event of the financial detenoration of the merchant, or require
various credit enhancements {including letters of credit and
bank guarantees) In the unlikely event that a private-label
merchant 1s unable to deliver products, services or a refund to
its pnvate-label cardholders Citibank 1s contingently liable to
credit or refund cardholders

With regard to (1) above, the Company has a potential
lrabthity for bank card transactions where Citibank provides
the transaction processing services as well as those where a
third party provides the services and Citibank acts as a
secondary guarantor should that processor fail to perform

The Company s maximum potential contingent hability
related to both bank card and private-label merchant
processing services 1s estimated to be the total volume of
credit card transactions that meet the requirements to be valid
charge back transactions at any given time At December 31
2014 and December 31, 2013, this maximum potential
exposure was estimated to be $80 billion and $78 billion
respectively

However, the Company belicves that the maximum
exposure 1s not representative of the actual potential loss
exposure based on i1ts historical experience This contingent
hability 15 unhikely to arnise as most products and services are
delivered when purchased and amounts are refunded when
items are returned to merchants The Company assesses the
probability and amount of 1ts contingent Liability related to
merchant processing based on the financial strength of the
primary guarantor, the extent and nature of unresolved charge-
backs and 1ts historical loss experience At December 31 2014
and December 31, 2013, the losses incurred and the carrying
amounts of the Company s contingent obligations related to
merchant processing activities were immaterial
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Custody indemnifications

Custody indemmifications are 1ssued to guarantee that custedy !
clients will be made whole 1n the event that a third-party ‘
subcustodian or depository institution fauls to safeguard

clents’ assets

Other guarantees and indemmnifications

Credit Card Protection Programs

The Company, through its credit card businesses provides
various cardholder protection programs on scveral of its card
products, ncluding programs that provide insurance coverage
for rental cars, coverage for certain losses associated with
purchased products, price protecuon for certain purchases and
protection for lost luggage These guarantees are not included
in the table since the total outstanding amount of the
guarantees and the Company’s maximum exposure to loss
cannot be quantified The protection 1s himited to certain types
of purchases and losses and 1t 1s not possible to quantfy the
purchases that would qualify for these benefits at any given
time The Company assesses the probability and amount of its
petential iability related to these programs based on the extent
and nature of its historical loss experience At December 31,
2014 and December 31, 2013, the actual and estimated losses .
incurred and the carrying value of the Company s obligations

related to these programs were immaterial

Orher Represemtation and Warranty Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, the Company provides
standard representations and warranties to counterparties in
contracts in connection with numerous transactions and also
provides indemnifications. including indemmifications that
protect the counterparties to the eontracts in the event that
additional taxes are owed due either to a change 1n the tax law
or an adverse interpretation of the tax law Counterparties to
these transactions provide the Company with comparable
indemnifications While such representations, warranties and
indemmifications are essential components of many
contractual relationships, they do not represent the underlying
business purpose for the transactions The indemmfication
clauses are often standard contractual terms related to the
Company’s own performance under the terms of a contract
and are entered into 1n the normal course of business based on
an assessment that the nisk of loss 1s remote Often these
clauses are intended to ensure that terms of a contract are met
at inception No compensation 1s received for these standard
representations and warranties, and 1t 1s not possible to
determine their fair value because they rarely, if ever, result In
a payment In many cases, there are no stated or notional
amounts included in the indemmificauon clauses, and the
contingencies potentially triggering the obligation to
indemnify have not occurred and are not expected to occur As
a result, these indemnifications are not included n the tables
above

Value-Transfer Networks

The Company 1s a member of|, or shareholder 1n, hundreds of
value-transier networks (VTNs) (payment clearing and
settlement systems as well as securities exchanges) around the
world As a condition of membership, many of these VTNs
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require that members stand ready to pay a pro rata share of the
losses incurred by the organization due to another member s
default on 1ts obligations The Company s potential
obligations may be limited to 1ts membership interests tn the
VTNs contributions to the VTN s funds or, tn limited cases,
the obligation may be unhmited The maximum exposure
cannot be estimated as this would require an assessment of
future claims that have not yet occurred The Company
believes the rnisk of loss 15 remote given historical experience
with the VINs Accordingly the Company s participation in
VTNs 1s not reported 1n the guarantees tables above and there
are no amounts reflected on the Consohdated Balance Sheet as
of December 31, 2014 and December 31. 2013 for potential
obligations that could anise from the Company s involvement
with VTN assoclations

Carrying Value—Guarantees and Indemnifications

At December 31 2014 and December 31, 2013, the total

carry ing amounts of the liabilities related to the guarantees and
indemnifications included in the tables above amounted to
approximately $2 6 bilhon and $1 3 bilhon, respectively The
carrying value of financial and performance guarantees 15
included in QGther liabilities For loans sold with recourse, the
carrying value of the hability 1s included in Other liabilities

Collateral

Cash collateral available to the Company to reimburse losses
realized under these guarantees and indemnifications
amounted to $62 billion and $52 billion at December 31, 2014
and December 31 2013, respectively Securities and other
marketable assets available as collateral amounted to $59
billion and $24 billion at December 31 2014 and December
31 2013, respectively T'he majority of collateral is held to
retmburse losses realized under secunities lending
indemmifications Additionally, letters of credit in favor of the
Company held as collateral amounted to $4 0 billion and $5 2
biullion at December 31, 2014 and December 31 2013,
respectively Other property may also be available to the
Company to cover losses under certain guarantees and
indemntfications, however, the value of such property has not
been determined
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Performance risk
Citibank evaluates the performance nisk of ts guarantees
based on the assigned referenced counterpatty's internal or
esternal ratings Where cxtemnal ratings are used nvestment-
grade ratings are considered to be Baa/BBB and above while
anything below 1s considered non-investment grade
Cuwibank’s internal ratings are in line with the related external
rating system On certain underlying referenced assets or
entities, ratings are not available Such referenced assets are
included in the * not rated * category The maxtmum potential
amount of the future payments related to the outstanding
guarantees 15 determined to be the notional amount of these
contracts, which 1s the par amount of the assets guarantecd
Presented 1n the tables below are the maximum potential
amounts of future payments that are classified based upon
internal and external credit ratings as of December 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively As previously mentioned, the
determunation of the maximum potential future payments 15
based on the notional amount of the guarantees without
consideration of possible recoveries under recourse provisions
or from collatcral held or pledged As such Citibank believes
such amounts bear no relationship to the anticipated losses, If
any, on these guarantees
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Maximum potential amount of future payments

Non-
Investment investment Not

In billions of dollars at December 31 2014 grade grade rated Total

Financial standby letters of credit 3 720 § 153 § 95 3% 96 8
Performance guarantees 70 37 06 113
Dernvative instruments deemed to be guarantees _ —_ 896 896
Loans sold with recourse _ _ 02 02
Securstics lending indemmfications _ —_ 1159 1159
Credit card merchant processing — — 795 795
Custody indemmifications and other 367 01 — 368
Total ] 1157 § 191 8§ 2953 § 4301

Maximum potential amount of future payments

Non-
Investment investment Not

In billions of dollars ar December 31 2013 grade grade rated Total

Financial standby letters of credit $ 750 % 135 § 92 % 977
Performance guarantees 70 35 14 119
Dernwvative instruments deemed to be guarantees — — 676 676
Loans sold with recourse —_ — 03 03
Secunties lending indemmifications — — 673 673
Credit card merchant processing — — 780 780
Custody indemmfications and other 242 01 — 243
Total $ 1062 $ 171 § 2238 § 3471
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Credit Commitments and Lines of Credit

The table below summarizes Citibank’s credit commitments as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013

December 31, December 31,

In pullions of dollars 2014 2013

Commercial and sirmilar letters of credn $ 6,540 § 7,200
One- to four-family residential mortgages 5,674 4,946
Revolving open-end loans secured by one- to four-family residential properties 16,058 16,734
Commercial real estate, construction and land development 7,378 7,757
Credit card lines 596,578 623,557
Commercial and other consumer loan commitments 237,093 217,791
Other commitments and contingencies 3,227 1,484

Total

5 872,548 $ 879,469

The majority of unused commitments are contingent upon
customers maintaimng spectfic credit standards Commercial
commutments generally have floating interest rates and fixed
expiration dates and may require payment of fees Such fees
(net of certain direct costs) are deferred and, upon exercise of
the commitment amortized over the life of the loan or if
exercise 1s deemed remote, amortized over the commitment
pertod

Commercial and sinular letters of credit

A commercial letter of credit 1s an instrument by which
Citibank substitutes 1ts credit for that of a customer to enable
the customer to finance the purchase of goods or to incur other
commitments Citibank 1ssues a letter on behalf of its chent to
a supplier and agrees to pay the supplier upon presentation of
documentary evidence that the supplier has performed in
accordance with the terms of the letter of credit When a letter
of credit 1s drawn, the customer 1s then required to reimburse
Ciubank

One- to four-fanuly residential mortgages

A one- to four-famuly residential mortgage commitment 1s a
written confirmation from Citibank to a seller of a property
that the bank will advance the specified sums enabling the
buycr to complete the purchase

Revoiving open-end loans secured by one- to four-fanuly
residential properties

Revolving open-end loans secured by one- to four-family
residential propertics are essentially home equity lines of
credit A home equity line of credit 15 a loan secured by a
primary residence or second home to the extent of the excess
of fair market value over the debt outstanding for the first
morlgage

Commerctal real estate, construction and land development
Commercial real estate construction and land development
include unused portions of commatments to extend credit for
the purpose of financing commercial and multifamily
restdential properties as well as land development projects

Both secured-by-real-estate and unsecured commitments
are included in this line, as well as undistributed loan
proceeds, where there 1s an obligation to advance for
construction progress payments However this line only
includes those extensions of credit that, once funded. will be
classified as Total loans, net on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet

Credit card lines

Citibank provides credit to customers by 1ssuing credit cards
The credit card lines are cancellable by providing notice to the
cardholder or without such notice as permitted by local law

Commercial and other consumer loan comnutments
Commercial and other consumer loan commitments nclude
overdraft and hquidity factlities as well as commercial
commitments to make or purchase loans, to purchase third-
party recervables to provide note 1ssuance or revolving
underwniting facihties and to invest 1n the form of equity
Amounts include $54 billion and $52 billion with an original
maturity of less than one year at December 31 2014 and
December 31, 2013, respectively

In addition, included in this line item are highly leveraged
financing commitments, which are agreements that provide
funding to a borrower with higher levels of debt (measured by
the ratio of debt capital to equity capital of the borrower) than
ts generally considered normal for other companies This type
of financing 1s commonly employed in corporate acquisitions
management buy-outs and similar transactions

Other comnutments and contingencies

Other commitments and contingencies include commutted or
unsettled regular-way reverse repurchase agreements and all
other transactions related to commitments and contingencies
not reporied on the lines above
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25. REGIONAL DETAILS

The following 1s a geographic distribution of Citibank s operations on a managed geography basis that 1s. based on the domucile
region where the actvity 1s managed not necessarily the region where the transaction 1s recorded The accounting pohicies of these
regions are the same as those disclosed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Provision
Revenues, for credit losses and
net of interest Operating for benefits and Citibank Assets
expense expenses claims Net income at year end
In milhans of dollars, except
assets i bilfions 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

North Amenca'” $ 27559 % 26,674 § 19308 $ 14925 $ 2497 § 3094 $ 3489 $ 6165 S 817 § 783
EMEAY 9,278 9,546 5,768 5,491 57 398 2,119 2,477 172 198
Laun America @ 5,609 6,137 3,202 3,242 741 592 1,237 1,889 76 77
Asia 13,052 13,282 7,236 6,760 599 280 3,504 3,769 292 208
Total § 55,498 $ 55,639 § 35514 § 30418 § 3894 $ 4964 5 10,349 $ 14300 § 1,357 § 1,35

(1) North Amenca includes the Unned States, Canada and Puerto Rico

(2) Europe Middle East and Africa

(3) Laun Amenca includes Mexico (which as discussed in Note | to the Consolidated Financial Statements does not include Banamex and as a result 1s not
sigmficant)

(4) Asiancludes Japan
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26 COUNTRY RISK

Overview
Generally country rnisk 1s the nisk that an event in a country
(precipitated by developments internal or external to a
country) could directly or indirectly impair the value of Cit1 s
franchise or adversely affect the ability of obligors within that
country to honor their obhgations to Citibank, any of which
could negatively impact Cittbank’s results of operations or
financial condition Country nsk events could include
sovereign volatility or defaults, banking failures or defaults
and/or redenomination events (which could be accompanied
by a revaluation (either devaluation or appreciation}) of the
affected currency) While there 1s some overlap, cross-border
risk 15 generally the nisk that actions taken by a non-U S
government may prevent the conversion of local currency 1nto
non-local currency (1 ¢ , exchange controls) and/or the transfer
of funds outside the country among other risks thereby
impacting the ability of Citibank and 1ts customers to transact
business across borders

Certain of the events described above could result in
mandatory loan loss and other reserve requirements imposed
by U S regulators due to a particular country s economic
situatton  White Citibank continues to work to mitigate 1ts
exposures to potential country and cross-border risk events
the impact of any such event 1s highly uncertain and wall
ultimately be based on the specific facts and circumstances As
arcsult there can be no assurance that the various steps
Ciubank has taken to mitigate its exposures and risks and/or
protect 1ts businesses. results of aperations and financial
condiion against these events will be sufficient In addition
there could be negative impacts to Citibank s businesses,
results of operations or financial condition that are currently
unknown to Citibank and thus cannot be mitigated as part of
Its ongoing contingency planning

Crass-Border Risk Overview

Cross-border risk 15 the nisk that actions taken by a non-U S
government may prevent the conversion of local currency nto
non-local currency and/or the transfer of funds outside the
country among other nisks, thereby impacting the abihty of
Citibank and 1ts customers to transact business across borders
Examples of cross-border nisk include actions taken by foreign
governments such as exchange controls and restrictions on the
remittance of funds These actions might restrict the transfer of
funds or the ability of Citibank to obtain payment from
customers on their contractual obligations Management of
cross-border nisk 15 performed through a formal review
process that includes annual setung of cross-border himuts and
ongoing monitoring of cross-border exposures as well as
monitoring of economic conditions globally through

Citibank s independent sk management

Argentina
Since 2011. the Argentine government has been tightening its
foreign exchange controls As a result Citibank s access to
U S dollars and other foreign currencies, which apply to
caputal repatnation efforts, certain operating expenses and
discretionary investments offshore. 1s limited

As of December 31, 2014, Citibank’s net investment 1n 1ts
Argentine operations was approximately $780 million,
compared to $720 million at December 31, 2013 During
2014 Citibank Argentina paid dividends to Citibank of
approximately $60 million

Citibank uses the Argentine peso as the functional
cutrency in Argentina and translates 1ts financial statements
mnto U S dollars using the official exchange rate as published
by the Central Bank of Argentina  According to the official
exchange rate, the Argentine pese devalued to 8 55 pesos to
one U S dollar at December 31, 2014 compared to 6 52 pesos
toone US dollar at December 31, 2013 It 1s expected that
the devaluation of the Argentine peso will continue for the
foreseeable future

The immpact of devaluations of the Argentine peso on
Citibank s net investment in Argentina s reported as a
translation loss in stockholder's equity offset to the extent
hedged, by

= gains or losses recorded 1n stockholder's equity on net
investment hedges that have been designated as, and
qualify for, hedge accounting under ASC 815, Dernanves
and Hedging, and

*  gains or losses recorded in earnings for ts U S dollar-
denominated monetary assets or currency tutures held in
Argentina that do not qualify as net investment hedges
under ASC 813

As noted above, Citibank hedges currency risk 1o 1ts net
mvestment 1n Argentina to the extent possible and prudent
Suitable hedging alternatives have become less available and
more expensive and may not be available 1n the future to
offset future currency devaluation As of December 31 2014
Citibank’s total hedges against its net investment in Argentina
were approximately $810 million (compared to $940 million
as of December 31 2013) Of this amount approximately
$420 milhon consisted of foreign currency forwards that were
recorded as net investment hedges under ASC 815 (compared
to approximately $160 miliion as of December 31, 2013) The
remaining hedges of approximately $390 million as of
December 31 2014 (compared to $780 million as of
December 31 2013) were net U S dollar-denominated assets
and foreign currency futures 1n Citibank Argentina that do not
qualify for hedge accounting under ASC 815 The increase in
ASC 815 designated foreign currency forwards, which are
held outside Argentina and generally more expensive for
Citibank. and the decline in the non-ASC 815 qualifying
hedges held in Citibank Argentina, were due to increased
foreign currency limitations imposed by the Argentine
government durning 2014 that have limited Citibank's abihty to
hold U S dollar hedges in Argentina

Although Citibank currently uses the Argentine peso as
the functional currency for its operations in Argentina an
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increase 1o nflation resulting in a cumulative three-year
inflation rate of 100% or more would result in a change 1n the
functional currency to the U S dollar Citibank bases its
evaluation of the cumulative three-year inflation rate on the
official inflation statistics published by INDEC the Argentine
government’s statistics agency The cumulative three-year
inflation rate as of December 31, 2014 based on statistics
published by INDEC, was approximately 52% The official
inflation staustics are beheved to be underesumated. however,
and unofficial inflation statistics suggest the cuamulative three-
year inflation rate was approximately 123% as of December
31,2014 While a change in the functional currency to the
U S dollar would not result 1n any immediate gains or losses
to Citibank, 1t would result in future devaluations of the
Argentine peso being recorded in earnings for Citibank’s
Argentine peso-denominated assets and habilities

As of December 31, 2014, Citibank had total third-party
assets of approximately $4 1 billion in Ctubank Argentina
(compared to approximately $3 9 billion at December 31
2013), primarily composed of corporate and consumer loans
and cash on deposit with and short-term paper issued by the
Central Bank of Argentina A sigmificant portion of these
assets was funded with local deposits Included in the total
assets were U S dollar-denominated assets of approxtmately
$550 mullion, compared to approximately $920 mithon at
December 31 2013

As widely reported, Argentina s currently engaged in
litigation in the U S with certain  holdout™ bond mvestors
whao did not accept restructured bonds n the restructuring of
Argentine debt after Argentina defaulted on 1ts sovereign
obligations 1n 2001 Based on U § court rulings to date,
Argentina has been ordered to negotiate a settlement with

holdout™ bond investors and, absent a negotiated settlement,

not pay interest on certain of 1ts restructured bonds unless it
simultaneously pays all amounts owed to the “holdout™
investors that are the subject of the litigation During the third
quarter of 2014 Argentina s June 30 2014 interest payment
on certain of the restructured bonds was not paid by the trustee
as such payment would have violated U 8§ court orders and as
a result. Argentina has been deemed 1o be in technical default

The ongoing economic and political situation in Argentina
could negauvely impact Citibank s results of operations,
including revenues in 1ts foreign exchange business and/or
potentially increase 1ts funding costs It could also lead to
further governmental intervention or regulatory restrictions on
foreign investments 1n Argentina, including further
devaluation of the Argentine peso further hmits to foreign
currency holdings or hedging activities, or the potential
redenomination of certain U S dollar assets and liabilities into
Argentine pesos, which could be accompamed by a
devaluation of the Argentine peso In addition in January
2015, U S regulators informed Citibank of 1ts decision to
downgrade Argentina s transfer risk rating which will result in
mandatory transfer risk reserve requirements to be recognized
in the first quarter of 2015

Further, as widely reported. Citibank acts as a custodian
in Argentina for certain of the restructured bonds that are part
of the “holdout® bond litigation, specifically, U § dollar
denominated restructured bonds governed by Argentina law
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and payable in Argentina During the third quarter 0f 2014,
the U S court overseeing the Argentina liugation ruled that
Ciibank Argentina’s payment of interest on these bonds, as
custadian, was covered by the court s order and thus could not
be made without violating the order prohibiting the payments
While the court has granted a stay and permitted Cinbank
Argentina to make the required 2014 interest payments future
interest payments on these bonds could place Citibank
Argentina 1n violation of the court s order absent relief from
the court Conversely, Ciubank Argentina’s failure to pay
future interest on these bonds could result i significant
negative consequences to Citibank s franchise in Argentina,
including sanctions, confiscation of assets, criminal charges
or even loss of licenses in Argentina as well as expose
Cittbank and Citibank Argentina to litigation The next interest
payment on the bonds for which Citibank Argentina serves as
custodian 1s due March 31, 2015

Venezuela
Since 2003 the Venezuelan government has implemented and
operated restrictive foreign exchange controls These
exchange controls have limited Citibank’s ability to obtain
U S dollars in Venezuela, Citibank has not been able to
acquire U S dollars from the Venezuelan government since
2008

As of December 31 2014 the Venezuelan government
operates three separate official foreign exchange rates

» the preferential foreign exchange rate offered by the
National Center for Foreign Trade (CENCOEX) fixed at
6 3 bolivars toone U S dollar,

+  the SICAD I rate, which was 12 bolivars to one U S
dollar, and

= beginming in the second quarter of 2014 the SICAD II
rate, which was 50 bolivars to one U S dollar

On February 10, 2015 the Venezuelan government
published changes to 1ts foreign exchange controls, which
continue to maintain a three-tiered system The new exchange
controls maintain the CENCOEX rate at 6 3 bolivars per U S
dollar, however, the new exchange controls merge SICAD 11
into SICAD 1 which will be referred o as “SICAD  The
SICAD auctions will begin at 12 bolivars per U S dollar and
are expected to devalue progressively in the future In
addition, the new exchange controls establish the Marginal
Foreign Exchange System (SIMADI) which 1s mtended to be
a free floating exchange The SIMADI exchange himits the
volume of foreign currency that companies can purchase each
month, and banks and brokers, which include Citibank, are
prohibited from accessing this market for their own needs

Citibank uses the U § dollar as the functional currency
for 1ts operations 1n Venezuela As of December 31, 2014,
Cittbank uses the SICAD [ rate to remeasure its net bolivar-
denonunated monetary assets as the SICAD I rate 1s the only
rate at which Citibank 1s legally ehigible to acquire U §
dollars from CENCOEX despite the hmited availability of
U S dollars and although the SICAD I rate may not
necessanly be reflective of economic reality Re-measurement
of Cittbank s bolivar-denominated assets and habilities due to
changes in the exchange rate 15 recorded in earnings Further
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devaluation in the SICAD I exchange rate, a change by
Ciuibank to a less favorable rate or other changes to the foreign
exchange mechanisms would result in foreign exchange losses
in the period 1n which such devaluation or changes occur

At December 31 2014 Citibank’s net investment in its
Venezuelan operations was approximately $180 mullion
{compared to $240 mullion at December 31, 2013), which
included net monetary assets denominated 1n Venezuelan
bolivars of approximately $140 million (compared to
approximately $220 mullion at December 31, 2013) Total
third-party assets of Cittbank Venezuela were approvumately
$900 malhion at December 31 2014 (a decrease from $1 2
billion as of December 31 2013) primanly composed of cash
on deposit with the Central Bank of Venezuela corporate and
consumer loans and government bonds A significant portion
of these assets was funded with local deposits

Russia
Russia's engagement n recent events in Ukramne has continued
to be a cause of concemn 1o investors in Russtan assets and
parties doing business in Russia or with Russian entities
including as a result of the potental risk of wider
repercussions on the Russian economy and trade and
mnvestment as well as the imposition of additional sanctions,
such as asset freeses involving Russia or against Russian
entities, business sectors, individuals or otherwise The
Russian ruble has depreciated 72% against the U § dollar
from December 31, 2013 to December 31, 2014 and over the
same period, the MICEX Index of leading Russian stocks
decreased 1% n ruble terms

Citibank uses the Russian ruble as its functional currency
Citibank's net investment 1in Russia was approximately $1 1
billion at December 31, 2014, compared to $1 8 billion at
December 31, 2013 Substantially all of Ciibank’s net
investment was hedged (subject to related tax adjustments) as
of December 31 2014 using forward foreign exchange
contracts Total third-party assets of the Russian Citibank
subsidiary were approximately $6 1 bilhon as of December
31 2014 compared to $8 9 bilhon at December 31, 2013
These assets were pnmarily composed of corperate and
consumer loans, local government debt securities, and cash on
deposit with the Central Bank of Russia A significant majority
of these third-party assets was funded with local deposit
liabihities

Greece

As of December 31, 2014 Citibank had total third-party assets
and habiives of approximately $36 millien and $915 millien
respectively. in Citbank s Greek branch Included in the total
third-party assets and habilities as of such date were non-euro
denominated assets and habilities of $0 3 million and $174
millien, respectively

Greece elected a new government i1n January 2015 Asa
result of the impact of austerity measures on Greece the
newly elected government has commutted to renegotiating the
country’s debt with the European Union and the International
Monetary Fund If these negotiations are unsuccessful, 1t could
lead to Greece s defaulting on 1ts debt obligations and possibly
even 1o a withdrawal of Greece from the European Monetary
Union {(EMU)

If Greece were to leave the EMU, certain of its
obligations could be redenominated from the euro to a new
country currency (e g . drachma) While alternative scenarios
could develop, redenomination could be accompanied by an
immediate devaluation of the new currency as compared to the
euro and the U § dollar

Citibank 1s exposed to potential redenomination and
devaluation risks ansing from (1) euro-denominated assets
and/or habilities located or held within Greece that are
governed by local country law (local exposures), as well as ()
other euro-denominated assets and habihties such as loans
and secunitized products between entities outside of Greece
and a client within Greece that are governed by local country
law (offshore exposures)

If Greece were to withdraw from the EMU, and assuming
a symmetrical redenomination and devaluation occurred
Citibank believes 1ts risk of loss would be hmited as 1ts
liabilities subject to redenomination exceeded assets held both
locally and offshore as of December 31 2014 However the
actual assets and habilities that could be subyject to
redenomtnation and devaluation risk. as well as whether any
redenomination 1s asymmetrical are subject to substanual
legal and other uncertainty In addition other events outside of
Citibank’s control—such as the extent of any deposit flight
and devaluation. imposition by U § regulators of mandatory
loan reserve requirements or any functional currency change
and the accounting impact thereot—could further negatively
impact Citibank in such an event Other (non-Greek) Citibank
branches also have exposures to Greek obligors such as loans,
dernvatives and securitized products, that could experience
credit losses under potential country or cross-border risk
events
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Citicorp, a direct. wholly owned subsichary of Citigroup, owns
100% of the outstanding common stock of the Company
Pursuant te various intercompany agreements, a number of
significant transactions are carried out between the Company
and Citigroup and/or their affiliates, including Citigroup
parent company Management believes that the terms under
which these transactions and services are provided are no less
favorable to the Company than those that could be obtamed
from unaffiliated third parties

INCOME STATEMENT ITEMS

Detailed below 1s a summary of the Company’s
transactions with other Citigroup affiliates which are included
in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Income and
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2014 and 2013
These amounts exclude intra-Citibank balances that elimnate
in consohidation

Years ended December 31

In mithons of dollars 2014 2013
Revenues

Net interest revenue (expense) b (546) § (761)
Commissions and fees 91 101
Principal transactions'? {4,537) 1,252
Other revenue {expense) 29 {4)
Total non-interest revenue (4,417) § 1,349
Total revenues, net of interest expense $ (4,963) § 588
Operating expenses

Compensation and benefits $ (630) § (723)
Premuses and equipment 145 117
Other operating® 3,481 2,281
Total operating expenses $ 2996 § 1,675

(1)  Includes mark-to-market valuation adjustments for denvatives or hedges executed with non-consohdated Citigroup afiliates, but does not include mark-to-marhet
valuation adjustments related to any offseting derivatives or hedges executed with third-parties external to Citigroup

(2) Includes expenses from Citigroup parent company for shared services and charges
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BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

December 31,

In milions of dollars 2014 2013
Assets

Cash and due from banhs k) 130 § 100
Deposuts with banks 682 209
Federal funds sold and secuniues purchased under agreements to resell 21,908 22,364
Trading account assets 27,245 17,615
Loans, net of uneamed income 850 482
[nterest and fees receivable 9 8
Other assets 7,276 5,177

Total assets

$ 58,100 §$ 46,655

Liabthties

Non-interest-bearing deposits in U S offices § 2,343 % 3,395
Interest-bearing deposits m U S offices 40,061 36,070
Non-interest-bearing deposits in offices outside the U S 960 1,350
Interest-bearing deposits n offices outside the U S 11,123 12,591
Total deposits $ 54,487 § 53,406
Trading account habilities s 16,616 3 8,863
Federal funds purchased and securities loaned under agreements to repurchase 4,333 5,446
Short-term borrowings 1,217 196
Subordinated notes and other long-term debt 25,459 19,581
Other Liabilities 11,411 11,198

Total habilities

$ 113,523 § 98,690

Stock-Based Compensation

As discussed 1n Note 7 to the Consohdated Financial
Statements, the Company participates in various Crigroup
stock-based compensation programs under which Citigroup
stock or stock oplions are granted to certain of the Company’s
employees The Company has no stock-based compensation
programs in which its own stock ts granted The Company
pays Citigroup directly for participation in certain of its stock-
based compensation programs but recetves a capital
contribution for those awards related to participation in the
employee tncentive stock oplion program

Retirement Benefits

As chscussed in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Company participates in several non-
contributory defined benefit pension plans and a defined
contribution plan sponsored by Citigroup covering certain
eligible employees

Cinbank Tax-Sharing Agreement

As discussed 1n Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Company 1s included in the Citigroup
consolidated federal tax return and 15 a party to a tax-sharing
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agreement with Ciigroup  Under such agreement the
Company s entitled to a tax benefit for 1ts losses and credits
that are recognized in Crtigroup's Consolidated Financial
Statements Settlements between the Company and Citigroup
of current taxes occur throughout the year The Company also
files 1ts consohidated and combined state income tax retumns
with Citigroup and/or others of i1ts subsidiaries

Other Intercompany Agreements

Citigroup and 1ts subsidiaries engage 1n other transactions and
servicing activities with the Company, including cash
managemen! data processing telecommunications, payroll
processing and administration facilities procurement,
underwriting and others

Section 23A of the Federal Reserve Act

Ciubank can lend to Citigroup and Citigroup s nonbank
subsidiaries 1n accordance with Section 23A of the Federal
Reserve Act As of December 31. 2014 the amount avaiiable
for lending was approximately $17 billien, provided the funds
are appropnately collateralized
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28. CONTINGENCIES

Overview
In the ordinary coursc of business, Ciibank its indirect parent
Citigroup, and therr affiliates and subsidharies, as well as their
respective current and former ofTicers, directors and
employees (for purposes of this section, sometimes
collectively referred to as Citibank and Related Parties)
routinely are named as defendants 1n, or as parties to, various
legal actions and proceedings Certain of these actions and
proceedings assert claims or seck rehef in connection with
alleged violations of consumer protection securities, banking,
antifraud, antitrust, anti-money laundering, employment and
other statutory and common laws Certain of these actual or
threatencd legal actions and proceedings include claims for
substantial or indeterminate compensatory or pumtive
damages, or for injunctive relief and 1n some nstances seek
recovery on a class-wide basis

In the ordinary course of bustness, Citibank and Related
Paruies also are subject to governmental and regulatory
examinations. information-gathering requests investigations
and proceedings (both formal and informal) certain of which
may result in adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties
restituion  disgorgements, injunctions or other relief In
addition, Citigroup 1s a financial holding company Citibank 1s
a bank. and certain affiliates and subsidianies of Ciubank are
banks registered broker-dealers futures commission
merchants, investment advisers or other regulated entities and,
in those capacities, are subject te regulation by various U S,
state and foreign secunties. banking commodity futures and
other regulators In connection with formal and informal
inquirtes by these regulators, Citibank and Related Parties
recelve numerous requests, subpoenas and orders seeking
documents, testimony and other information in connection
with various aspects of their regulated activities From time to
time Cittbank and Related Parties also receive grand jury
subpoenas and other requests for information or assistance
formal or informal from federal or state law enforcement
agencies, including among others various United States
Attorneys Offices the Asset Forfeiture and Money
Laundering Section and other divisions of the Department of
Justice, the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network of
the United States Department of the Treasury. and the Federal
Bureau of Investigation, relating to Citibank and 1ts customers

Because of the global scope of Ciibank’s operations and
1ts presence in countries around the world, Citibank and
Related Parties are subject to litigation, and governmental and
regulatory examinations, information-gathering requests,
investigations and proceedings (both formal and informal), 1n
multiple junsdictions with legal and regulatory regimes that
may differ substantally, and present substantally different
risks. from those Citibank and Related Parties are subject to in
the United States [n some tnstances Ciubank and Related
Parties may be involved 1n proceedings involving the same
subject matter in multiple jurisdictions. which may result in
overlapping, cumulative or inconsistent outcomes

Citigroup and Citibank seek to resolve all htigation and
regulatory matters 1n the manner management believes 15 in
the best interests of Citigroup and 1ts shareholders and
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Citibank and uts depositors and contest hiability, allegations of
wrongdoing and, where applicable the amount of damages or
scope of any penalties or other relief sought as appropriate in
each pending matter

In accordance with ASC 450 Citibank establishes
accruals for contingencies ncluding hitigation and regulatory
matters when Citibank believes 1t 15 probable that a loss has
been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
esumated Once established, accruals are adjusted from time
to ime as appropniate, in hght of additional information In
view of the inherent unpredictabihty of htigation and
regulatory matters, partucularly where the damages sought are
substantial or indeterminate, the investigations or proceedings
are in the early stages, or the matters mvolve novel legal
theories or a large number of parties, Ciibank cannot predict
the timuing or ultimate resolution of liigation and regulatory
matters, and the actual costs of resolving htigation and
regulatory matters may be substantially higher or lower than
the amounts accrued for those matters

Subject to the foregoing. 1t 15 the opinion of Citibank s
management based on current knowledge and after taking into
account its current legal accruals, that the eventual outcome of
all matters would not be likely to have a material adverse
effect on the consolidated financial condition of Citibank
Nonetheless, given the substantial or indeterminate amounts
sought in certain of these matiers, and the inherent
unpredictability of such matters, an adverse outcome 1n certain
of these matters could, from time to time, have a material
adverse effect on Cittbank’s consolidated results of operations
or cash flows in particular periods

For a discussion of Citigroup’s material legal and
regulatory proceedings which includes Ciubank see
Citigroup’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2014, filed with the U S Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 25 2015
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